# **JMIR Medical Education**

# Impact Factor (2024): 3.2 Volume 4 (2018), Issue 1 ISSN 2369-3762 Editor-in-Chief: Blake J. Lesselroth, MD, MBI, FACP, FAMIA

# Contents

# **Original Papers**

Increasing Reasoning Awareness: Video Analysis of Students' Two-Party Virtual Patient Interactions (e4) Samuel Edelbring, Ioannis Parodis, Ingrid Lundberg.	. 3
A Web-Based Course on Public Health Principles in Disaster and Medical Humanitarian Response: Survey Among Students and Faculty (e2) Greta Tam, Emily Chan, Sida Liu.	13
Resident and Attending Physicians' Perceptions of Patient Access to Provider Notes: Comparison of Perceptions Prior to Pilot Implementation (e15)	
Deepa Nandiwada, Gary Fischer, Glenn Updike, Margaret Conroy.	33
Taking Constructivism One Step Further: Post Hoc Analysis of a Student-Created Wiki (e16)         Michael Pascoe, Forrest Monroe, Helen Macfarlane.	38
Evaluating the Effect of a Web-Based E-Learning Tool for Health Professional Education on Clinical Vancomycin Use: Comparative Study (e5)	
Stuart Bond, Shelley Crowther, Suman Adhikari, Adriana Chubaty, Ping Yu, Jay Borchard, Craig Boutlis, Wilfred Yeo, Spiros Miyakis.	49
Integrating Patient-Centered Electronic Health Record Communication Training into Resident Onboarding: Curriculum Development and Post-Implementation Survey Among Housestaff (e1) Maria Alkureishi, Wei Lee, Sandra Webb, Vineet Arora.	58
The Impact of a Small Private Online Course as a New Approach to Teaching Oncology: Development and Evaluation (e6)	
Charlotte Vaysse, Elodie Chantalat, Odile Beyne-Rauzy, Louise Morineau, Fabien Despas, Jean-Marc Bachaud, Nathalie Caunes, Muriel Poublanc, Elie Serrano, Roland Bugat, Marie-Eve Rougé Bugat, Anne-Laure Fize.	70
Self-Reflected Well-Being via a Smartphone App in Clinical Medical Students: Feasibility Study (e7) Elizabeth Berryman, Daniel Leonard, Andrew Gray, Ralph Pinnock, Barry Taylor.	83
An Internet-Based Radiology Course in Medical School: Comparison of Academic Performance of Students on Campus Versus Those With Absenteeism Due to Residency Interviews (e14)	104
Mobile Technology in E-Learning for Undergraduate Medical Education on Emergent Otorhinolaryngology–Head and Neck Surgery Disorders: Pilot Randomized Controlled Trial (e8) Li-Ang Lee, Shu-Ling Wang, Yi-Ping Chao, Ming-Shao Tsai, Li-Jen Hsin, Chung-Jan Kang, Chia-Hsiang Fu, Wei-Chieh Chao, Chung-Guei Huang, Hsueh-Yu Li, Cheng-Keng Chuang.	110

JMIR Medical Education 2018 | vol. 4 | iss. 1 | p.1

XSL•F<del>0</del> RenderX

Improving Internal Medicine Residents' Colorectal Cancer Screening Knowledge Using a Smartphone App: Pilot Study (e10)	
Zubair Khan, Umar Darr, Muhammad Khan, Mohamad Nawras, Basmah Khalil, Yousef Abdel-Aziz, Yaseen Alastal, William Barnett, Thomas Sodeman, Ali Nawras.	124
Consensus on Quality Indicators of Postgraduate Medical E-Learning: Delphi Study (e13) Robert de Leeuw, Kieran Walsh, Michiel Westerman, Fedde Scheele.	134
Instructional Video and Medical Student Surgical Knot-Tying Proficiency: Randomized Controlled Trial (e9)	1/1

# Viewpoint

Jordan Field Epidemiology Training Program: Critical Role in National and Regional Capacity Building	
(e12)	
Mohannad Al Nsour, Ibrahim Iblan, Mohammed Tarawneh	27

# Reviews

Medical YouTube Videos and Methods of Evaluation: Literature Review (e3)	
Brandy Drozd, Emily Couvillon, Andrea Suarez	64
Online Lectures in Undergraduate Medical Education: Scoping Review (e11)	
Brandon Tang, Alon Coret, Aatif Qureshi, Henry Barron, Ana Ayala, Marcus Law.	94

**Original Paper** 

# Increasing Reasoning Awareness: Video Analysis of Students' Two-Party Virtual Patient Interactions

Samuel Edelbring<sup>1,2</sup>, PhD; Ioannis Parodis<sup>3</sup>, MD, PhD; Ingrid E Lundberg<sup>3</sup>, MD, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Division of Community Medicine, Department of Medical and Health Sciences, Linköping University, Linköping, Sweden

<sup>2</sup>Department of Learning, Informatics, Management and Ethics, Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden

<sup>3</sup>Rheumatology Unit, Department of Medicine, Solna, Karolinska Institutet, Karolinska University Hospital, Stockholm, Sweden

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Samuel Edelbring, PhD Division of Community Medicine Department of Medical and Health Sciences Linköping University Hus 511, Fl 14, Campus US Linköping, 581 83 Sweden Phone: 46 700895794 Fax: 46 13 14 94 03 Email: <u>samuel.edelbring@liu.se</u>

# Abstract

**Background:** Collaborative reasoning occurs in clinical practice but is rarely developed during education. The computerized virtual patient (VP) cases allow for a stepwise exploration of cases and thus stimulate active learning. Peer settings during VP sessions are believed to have benefits in terms of reasoning but have received scant attention in the literature.

**Objective:** The objective of this study was to thoroughly investigate interactions during medical students' clinical reasoning in two-party VP settings.

**Methods:** An in-depth exploration of students' interactions in dyad settings of VP sessions was performed. For this purpose, two prerecorded VP sessions lasting 1 hour each were observed, transcribed in full, and analyzed. The transcriptions were analyzed using thematic analysis, and short clips from the videos were selected for subsequent analysis in relation to clinical reasoning and clinical aspects.

**Results:** Four categories of interactions were identified: (1) *task-related dialogue,* in which students negotiated a shared understanding of the task and strategies for information gathering; (2) *case-related insights and perspectives* were gained, and the students consolidated and applied preexisting biomedical knowledge into a clinical setting; (3) *clinical reasoning interactions* were made explicit. In these, hypotheses were followed up and clinical examples were used. The researchers observed interactions not only between students and the VP but also (4) *interactions with other resources,* such as textbooks. The interactions are discussed in relation to theories of clinical reasoning and peer learning.

**Conclusions:** The dyad VP setting is conducive to activities that promote analytic clinical reasoning. In this setting, components such as peer interaction, access to different resources, and reduced time constraints provided a productive situation in which the students pursued different lines of reasoning.

(JMIR Med Educ 2018;4(1):e4) doi:10.2196/mededu.9137

#### KEYWORDS

medical education; clinical decision making; problem solving; computer-assisted instruction

# Introduction

In professional education, students need to apply facts and concepts into relevant work-life situations. For medical students, it can be challenging to apply biomedical knowledge when

```
http://mededu.jmir.org/2018/1/e4/
```

RenderX

entering into clinical practice; this application has previously been described as "slow, awkward, or absent" [1]. It is therefore important that students are assigned activities that guide the transition from comprehension to higher-level problem solving and management [2]. Educational researchers suggest that

reasoning skills can and should be taught in order to develop deeper understanding of facts and concepts [2]. In the context of medicine, clinical experiences and thorough biomedical knowledge are combined within clinical reasoning, thus facilitating diagnostic and management processes in relation to patients [3]. The nature of clinical reasoning has been thoroughly researched; yet, in our experience, it is still rare for medical educators to arrange learning activities that enable any insight into, or guidance of, students' reasoning processes.

Two models are commonly used to describe the nature of clinical reasoning processes. The hypothetico-deductive model describes reasoning as starting with the generation of hypotheses, followed by analytic evaluation of these hypotheses [4]. This model is firmly rooted in laboratory and experimental empirical settings. However, research based on more naturalistic, real-life professional situations has challenged the hypothetico-deductive model and proposed more intuitive and experience-based nonanalytic models, often termed pattern recognition models [5]. In clinical professional practice, the nonanalytic pattern recognition model is emphasized because of the multidimensional characteristics of real-life practice [3]. This type of reasoning requires experience from clinical examples that generates an array of analogies as students develop their expertise [6]. However, in undergraduate education, students do not have large repertoires of patient encounters and need to rely on analytic use of their biomedical knowledge. The two reasoning approaches are not mutually exclusive; either one can be used or both in tandem, depending on the context and the educational goal [7,8].

An interactive virtual patient (VP) allows students to gather information in a stepwise manner and suggest diagnosis and management. Relevant VP cases have been shown to engage students in active thinking and decision making [9-11]. The engagement and perceived relevance are important to support meaningful learning [12]. VP activities are often designed with flexible, individual self-study in mind. However, one could assume that peer settings, in which students need to verbalize and argue their standpoints, would make reasoning processes more discernable to students and thus support their learning of reasoning strategies. In complex clinical settings, decisions are often based collaborative reasoning on [13]. Collaborative-thinking processes have been emphasized in complex processes such as managing a large military vessel [14], and the philosopher Dewey considered dialogue fundamental to logical thought [15]. Collaborative reasoning is therefore both a means to gaining professional competence and an educational goal for students in terms of gaining awareness of their own critical thinking [16].

The use of computer applications in small group settings has generally been shown to be beneficial for learning [17]. The dyad, which is a two-party peer collaboration setting, has been shown to generate learning outcomes at more abstract levels in problem solving than if the same task had been performed individually [18]. The dyad reasoning setting may also grant educators access to reasoning processes, thereby making it possible to refine and design engaging and challenging situations. Increasingly complex patient scenarios and challenges in health care have intensified the need for shared reasoning

XSL•FO

and collaboration in professional practice [13,19]. The aim of this study was to explore characteristics of medical students' two-party reasoning on clinical cases presented as computerized VPs.

## Methods

An exploratory observation was conducted to identify interactions and delineate their characteristics during VP case sessions performed by students in dyads. The students were third-year medical students during their clinical rotation at the Rheumatology Unit at the Karolinska University Hospital in 2011. Four VP cases constituted a mandatory task, which was recommended to be conducted in pairs. The VP assignment was not scheduled at a specific time or graded, but it served as a basis for discussion with a clinical supervisor at the end of the rotation. The VPs were based on authentic patients and authored in a derivative platform of the NUDOV system described in Wahlgren et al [20]. The main researcher (SE) recruited a convenience sample of 2 student pairs (all female) and obtained written informed consent to video-record their VP sessions. They were free to select one of the 4 VPs. Two different cases were selected, one by each of the two pairs. Each session lasted for approximately 1 hour.

The construction of themes was data-driven, that is, not directed by a priori categories. The first session (session #1) was transcribed in full and a preliminary thematic analysis was performed [21]. This analysis was initiated by the first author, followed by iterative analysis in collaboration with the coauthors. In the first phase, instances of interaction pertaining to learning and clinical reasoning were identified as themes. These themes were then used to identify corresponding instances in the second session (session #2). Emerging themes along with illustrative instances from the videos were analyzed collaboratively in two collaborative data analysis sessions [22]. The research group brought specialty-specific (rheumatology) and educational perspectives into the analysis based on their expertise. Different views and perspectives on the themes were resolved by consensus. Clinical information of the VPs is provided in Multimedia Appendix 1.

Ethical approval was granted by the regional Ethics Review Board in Stockholm, Sweden (#2009/609-32/5).

# Results

#### Overview

Four categories of interactions related to learning were identified: (1) task-related dialogue, (2) case-related insights and perspectives, (3) clinical reasoning interactions, and (4) interactions with other resources. Each category is presented below, and interactions from the different categories are illustrated using quotes from the two sessions, indicated by the session number and point in time of the respective session.

#### **Task-Related Dialogue**

Part of the dialogue was dedicated to understanding how to approach the task and navigate in the software. Interactions in this category were related to, for example, the students'

perceptions on how the assignment would be followed up by their supervisors, and, more directly, how the interface worked, in particular where they had to click to navigate in the VP software:

Yes, exactly. May I just ask: what are we going to report on Friday? It was going to be about the diagnosis we identified and then about the management, right?

Exactly.

OK, I just wanted to be sure. [#1, 09:25]

But, by the way, did we have any...It says 3 questions, but we could ask many questions, couldn't we?

Yes, it...

Whether he is on any medication, perhaps?

*Yes, but the question is...do you think it will register it?* 

No, but if we just imagined.

Yes, we can make up questions. [#2, 05:50]

I was just thinking...should we click through step by step? Or we can just adopt a specific approach.

Yes, perhaps we should just choose what's relevant and then look at things again later.

But for now we'll follow these ones, anyway.

Yes... [#1, 17:49]

Since only one person could select and write text into the software, there were negotiations about control, for example, what to select and what questions to put to the patient. Sometimes, the pairs divided tasks between themselves. For example, one could read on the screen while the other one looked up facts in a textbook:

It might be far-fetched, but...should I read all blood test results?

*Here: it should be below, or between 60 and 400, but go ahead and read. Keep reading.* 

I'll read quietly, so that you can check there.

OK. [#1, 56:33]

What more do we want to know? For the purposes of our own learning...We want to know more...about how the pain varies?

Yes, and when. Whether he suffers from morning stiffness, whether motion relieves it and whether rest worsens the pain.

I want to know if he is affected in any other way, if he has any other symptoms, any other... [#2, 19:16]

#### **Case-Related Insights and Perspectives**

Through interaction with the VP cases, the students obtained insights related to symptoms and diagnoses and identified new clinical perspectives. The process of identifying differential diagnoses and the progress toward the final diagnosis generated discussions and reflections, based on information obtained from the patient and clinical findings. The software and the way the VP cases were constructed allowed a free flow of ideas, several

```
http://mededu.jmir.org/2018/1/e4/
```

RenderX

of which were followed up at later stages. Students reflected upon differences between this setting and authentic patient encounters, which they perceived as more constrained because of time restraints. They referred to previous experiences of feeling pressured to appear as if they already had knowledge in front of patients and supervisors:

See how much we are able to think about when sitting like this. When you are with a patient so ehh...

It's because you don't have a lot of time. You have to focus on behaving properly in front of the patient and so on. [#2, 33:10]

There was plenty of time to elaborate on findings. Ideas and hunches could be followed up. The clinical information in the VP case was presented in a variety of ways namely, in text, short video clips of the patient answering questions, or filmed examination procedures. In session #2, the students were inspired to try out a practice physical examination on themselves while watching the procedure, and they watched the procedure one more time after that:

Well, let's check him over, okay?

Yes, I agree.

[At this point, an examination of the patient's (Carl) chest flexibility is displayed in the software: "Carl, now I would like you to breathe deeply while looking at me. Please, breathe so that my hands move."]

Then, it should normally move like this, right?

[The student shows her hands moving.]

May I try it on you?

[The student performs the examination on her peer, who is breathing deeply in and out.]

Somewhere here?

Yes. [#2, 36:48]

*Schober's test.* [Film clip showing the examination of the patient's back flexibility is displayed.]

So he is just bending the hip joints, not like that.

Yes, exactly.

Exactly, not like this when he also is bending the back.

[The student illustrates different types of back flexion using her hands.]

*Can we look at it again? I would like to see it one more time.* [#2, 39:47]

In one case, the reference of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) led to a discussion about the mechanism of action of such drugs and their effects in relation to the assumed diagnosis:

Yes, because it is an NSAID.

Yes, exactly.

But, oh my god, isn't this weird? Well, NSAIDs dampen the inflammation, but we want to prevent even more, don't we?

So you want to give corticosteroids, or something like that?

Yes, or wait, was he still on that? The white blood cell count was high as was the sedimentation rate...We don't want to just stop the symptoms, right? We want to stop the progression, don't we? If you understand what I mean...

Yes, I understand, but NSAIDs are anti-inflammatory drugs, this is what they do.

Well, yes, but it's only COX that is inhibited.

Yes, it's quite a weak inhibition of the inflammation one could say.

Then it's only leukotrienes and prostaglandins that are not being produced, which means that you don't see...

Leukotrienes are produced, it's the prostaglandins [that are not produced], and thromboxanes are not produced either.

Correct, it's only those that are not produced.

But still, it [the drug] inhibits quite a lot of the inflammation, one could say.

Yes, that's true.

But, yes, it's not the same thing as corticosteroids or methotrexate, or things like that.

It does not inhibit the lymphocytes per se, even if not as many of them stream out, maybe.

Yes, you are not supposed to see the same upsurge.

But again, we want to prevent something severe here so that it doesn't result in a bamboo spine, which is permanent.

Yes, I understand what you mean, but at the same time I think that there must be a reason why they treat it this way. But we could read more about it maybe. It is also stated here that continuous physical exercise prevents worsening of the functional status, so I note this recommendation: exercise! [#2, 1:07:34]

The VP cases were based on authentic patients; they were therefore not textbook examples. Students identified inconsistencies in relation to classification criteria; yet, their suggestion of diagnosis at different stages during the session—rheumatoid arthritis (RA) in the following instance—was also based on references from real-life clinical complexity:

I thought of RA.

I also thought of that.

But isn't it small joints that are affected first?

Yes, I also thought about that, and he mostly seems to have problems with large joints.

But we could note it down as an alternative diagnosis. Not everything has to be according to the textbooks.

Yes, true. [#2, 44:41]

The students brought previous knowledge into the reasoning. However, in many instances, the level of knowledge varied between the 2 individuals, and on several occasions it was incomplete. They supported each other by filling knowledge gaps and looked up information when they were uncertain:

http://mededu.jmir.org/2018/1/e4/

This sounds pretty much like Bechterew to me. I mean, I don't remember so much about that disease.

Could you remind me?

Sacroiliitis, and some other things... [#2, 11:03]

I always confuse CRP and ESR, which is which...One is supposed to be below 100, and the other one below 3...I think.

Yes, but the one with 100 - it's only when you have a bacterial infection that it can be over 100.

That was it. CRP, right? [#1, 54:08]

#### **Clinical Reasoning Interactions**

The clinical reasoning interactions consisted of uncertainty, questioning, clarifying, and verifying dialogues. The dyad setting encouraged the students to generate explicit hypotheses, as well as to proceed with confirming or rejecting these hypotheses. In both sessions, there was often one and the same peer giving suggestions to further advance the reasoning:

OK, then I think we can decide that he most probably has PMR, and so I think we initiate him with glucocorticoids to see whether he gets better. Because this way we can confirm the diagnosis, right?

Yes, sure. [#1, 52:57]

The following quote provides another example of how the reasoning is verbalized and the thread of the reasoning is made explicit. The students updated themselves on diagnostic criteria, and this information guided both their focus when further interviewing the patient and their interpretation of the patient's answers and other findings. The reasoning revolved around symmetry and the patient's ways to express the location of pain.

Should we consider polymyalgia rheumatica?

[The student looks up the classification criteria in the textbook.]

Yes, I am not sure what ...

I will check what it is.

Okay. But here it is stated that chronic idiopathic myositis can be an isolated inflammatory systemic disease, or part of another rheumatic disease such as Sjögren's syndrome, systemic sclerosis, mixed connective tissue disease, systemic lupus erythematosus or rheumatoid arthritis.

Yes...

And then with regard to polymyositis in particular, it is stated that the predominant symptoms are decreased muscle strength, decreased stamina in the proximal muscles, shoulders, nape of the neck, thighs, and the pelvis. Symmetric distribution. So we need to know whether it is symmetric. Myalgia may occur, but it is not as common as the weakness.

Was there no question about the symmetry?

[The student browses through the VP case in the software.]

No, not really.

And then it is stated that acute myositis, which mostly is seen in conjunction with viral infections, is established quicker and is often followed by myalgia. So it could be this.

I'm sorry, what did you say?

Acute myositis, which is mostly seen in conjunction with viral infections, is established quicker and is often followed by myalgia. So it could definitely be this, too.

That's true. And this was that...poly- and dermatomyositis?

Yes, exactly.

And he responds quite inadequately to the question about symmetry: "It is located in the shoulders and hips." So it should be that...Because otherwise, he would say: "the right shoulder." [The student pats her shoulder] and...

Hm, yes, it should be that.

And here, for polymyalgia rheumatica it is stated that [the student reads from the textbook] "new onset of relatively acute established mechanic pain in the proximal parts of the arms, shoulders, nape of the neck, and/or hip areas and thighs is characteristic of PMR, as it is abbreviated. Patients describe intense morning stiffness, difficulties turning over in bed, getting up out of bed, and putting on clothes during the morning hours."

Okay.

In general, the symptoms are fully developed within several days to a couple of weeks. Constitutional symptoms, such as fatigue, subfebrility, loss of appetite, and weight loss...

Well...hehe.

It's crystal clear! [#1, 23:32]

Furthermore, the students verbalized interpretations of radiographic images. In session #2, radiographic visualization of the spine evoked interest, and the peers helped each other to understand the findings and relate them to the patient's symptoms. The software displayed the images, but there were no indications of what to look for (eg, arrows), or how to interpret the findings. The students realized that they could not fully interpret one of the images:

Yes. Here, we can see a little better. Let's see. Here, it is very uneven; and here, it feels like it starts to become more linear.

*Hm, there they are evened out. They are evened out there.* 

These ones stick out like that...

And they are also evened out, I think.

Yes, exactly.

*Here, however, you can see that it's fine.* [#2, 59:00]

[Next radiographic image] Still evened out, that is what I see.

http://mededu.jmir.org/2018/1/e4/

Yes.

Yes, now we are up there.

Yes, the cervical spine.

This one is very difficult to interpret, I think.

I find it absurdly difficult, too. Yes.

Has it grown together here? And here, maybe? Here too. I don't think I am competent enough to interpret that one, actually.

No, that's true. I'm not competent enough for that one either. I mean, I'm not saying that you are not competent; I'm just saying that I'm not competent. [#2, 59:25]

The students worked on the VP cases in conjunction with other clinical tasks during their clinical rotation. Several times, they referred to patients and procedures they had seen before. Examples from real-life experiences at the clinic were used to illustrate representative instances in the VP cases and facilitated clarifications during reasoning:

Is it possible to have psoriatic arthritis without the typical skin lesions?

I think it is, but I think it most commonly affects the DIP [distal interphalangeal] joints.

The psoriatic arthritis?

*Yes, or am I wrong?* 

Yes, they are the ones most commonly affected, but it can also be...I mean...the man I saw earlier today, he had...

Yes?

Well, I was not responsible for him on my own, but I talked to him for a while. Both of his wrists were swollen, here, and here, and he had pain in one shoulder, an elbow, and in both of his feet; so it was quite extensive.

Yes. Did he have any other symptoms?

*No, those specific joints were swollen and tender.* [#2, 47:04]

#### **Interactions With Other Resources**

Resources other than the VP platform were also used; mostly a textbook but also Web-based medical resources, lecture notes, and a list of laboratory tests. The students were allowed to use other resources, and they did so when they found it helpful in making the diagnosis, when they wanted to relate content in the VP case to classification criteria, guidelines, and common management routines, and when identifying knowledge gaps:

*They were like evened-up corners of the vertebrae, I think.* 

Yes, I remember that. But what is the source of the pain? I mean, what's happening? What's the reason for the patient experiencing pain? Well, I think I should read a little about it in the textbook. I'll look it up. [The student opens the textbook].

Well, yes, we can have a look; it's something we should know anyway. [#2, 11:32]

*This is, in fact, an awesome way to learn! Yes, definitely.* 

Especially when you have such a good textbook.

Yes, it's actually a really good one.

Imagine if we had such a good textbook during all rotations.

*It's actually extremely useful to work in a problem-based manner sometimes.* [#1, 1:07:02]

*Hm*, okay. But wait...should we look at...what's that? Is the ESR [erythrocyte sedimentation rate] elevated? 55.

And it is supposed to be below 3, isn't it?

Yes, normally yes...

Well...we should look it up.

[The student uses the Internet.]

Yes.

Okay.

I will just check.

Ah...

My goodness, that was very slow...

*My son had an ESR of 29"...Okay, it is supposed to be below 8.* [#1, 53:25]

#### Discussion

#### **Principal Findings**

In this study, we identified and described interactions within student dyads in VP-based learning sessions. Our observations revealed elaborate reasoning processes supporting the development of analytic clinical reasoning. Overall, the dyad peer setting contributed to fruitful interactions and promoted the development of analytic expertise.

#### **Task-Related Dialogue**

The assignment that framed the students' task was loosely regulated by the teachers, and the VP interface allowed for relatively free exploration of the patient cases, which made the task-related dialogue between the students necessary. During the task-related dialogue, a shared understanding was created on how one should approach the task to gather patient data in the case-related context.

#### **Case-Related Insights and Perspectives**

Diagnosis-specific facts were elaborated upon, reference values from previous experience and other resources were used, and a variety of procedures were observed and discussed. The evaluation of key findings had positive consequences and resulted in structured gathering of further information and suggestions for managing the respective patient. To some extent, the knowledge was already present and readily available in the students' reasoning. However, in several cases, the students had to search for information or ask each other. The verbalization and application of knowledge seemed to add further value to preexisting knowledge, since it was put into a clinical context. Biomedical facts were thus interwoven with the clinical case

```
http://mededu.jmir.org/2018/1/e4/
```

RenderX

in a very active manner, connecting knowledge and procedures in a meaningful way.

#### **Clinical Reasoning Interactions**

The verbal interaction between students made it possible to elicit reasoning processes that otherwise might have remained implicit or would not have occurred. Some of the findings pertain to a specific case while others are more general, for example, processes related to the development of reasoning strategies or decision making.

Previous literature on clinical reasoning is generally characterized by categorization into hypothetico-deductive analytic approaches and experiential-based nonanalytic approaches [7]. In our data, a slowed-down analytic reasoning was salient. The students made efforts to elaborate upon clinical findings in relation to classification criteria. Uncertainties were resolved by discussion, and the students filled knowledge gaps by using resources such as a textbook or the Internet. Even if an analytic approach was prioritized, real-life experiences from the clinic were also used during reasoning. The complexity of the clinical reality was thus introduced into the situation. According to our observations, the students alternated freely between the two approaches to reasoning and did not appear to make a distinction between them. These findings support previous suggestions that combining the two approaches to clinical reasoning is more beneficial compared with the use of only one style in educational settings, as they promote each other [6,8,23].

#### **Interactions With Other Resources**

The setting in our study was based on VPs, using a structure that supported making a diagnosis and suggesting appropriate management of the patient before the real-life outcome of the respective patient was revealed. The students' interactions were clearly driven by the VP design, and the specific cases were always the central focus. Nevertheless, the students used several resources other than the VP software. A textbook, lecture notes, and the Internet were utilized to gather information that provided evidence needed for further reasoning and consolidation of knowledge. The actions within the learning activity were therefore not exclusively directed by the VP software. It is reasonable to assume that large variations in interactions were influenced by the possibility of accessing various other resources, as well as by the design of the VP scenario [24].

#### The Dyad Setting

Our observations suggest that the peer setting in dyads was pivotal for the elaborate reasoning observed, as it provided constructive resistance while processing the VPs. It is reasonable to assume that part of this reasoning could have occurred internally within an individual in a nonpeer setting; however, the reasoning would not have been explicitly voiced; it would have occurred in silence, and it would certainly not have been critiqued or evaluated by a peer. Experimental designs have found that group cognition differs from individual cognition and that the dyad setting is productive for abstractions [18]. Peer learning settings have also been shown to have benefits in terms of increased awareness of the learning process, stimulation of reflections during problem solving, and strengthened

confidence [25-27]. In terms of group size in shared reasoning, the dyad setting worked very well in this VP arrangement. In a previous study comparing triads with individual settings using computer-based cases, no increased depth or elaborations were identified [28]. Nonetheless, the dyad constellation has been shown to be beneficial in clinical skills settings [29,30]. To our knowledge, no comparison has been conducted between dyad and triad peer settings in the context of VP-based learning. Such a comparison would shed more light on the influence of the size of the peer group on the reasoning process.

The constructive resistance that forms part of peer contribution may help to adjust topics to individuals' level of knowledge and experience. Still, a concern that has been raised is the risk of knowledge imbalance within the dyad, or incompatible pairs [31,32]. In the two sessions of this study, we could see variations of previous knowledge within different fields. It is worth noting that instances when one student took the lead and suggested how the pair should continue during the reasoning process were apparent. In our data, negotiations and arguments for specific decisions were observed in both sessions. From a learning perspective, this might lead to consolidation of knowledge for the leading person while the more reflective peer contributes with different perspectives and suggestions. In session #2, one student was repeatedly referring to clinical experiences as a basis for the reasoning, whereas her peer was more analytical. In both sessions, different perspectives contributed to a richer picture, and disagreements were resolved during reasoning. During this process, the peer with a higher level of knowledge within a specific field had to provide arguments for their reasoning. However, one could assume that if one peer repeatedly displays lack of knowledge and needs to rely on the other, the reasoning process and the learning experience may be hampered. A study of online dyad settings reported inconclusive results of learning outcomes when pairs were asymmetric in terms of their level of knowledge [32]. More research on knowledge symmetry within the pairs is needed to identify optimal ways to match learners according to their level of knowledge and thus best support their learning.

The arranged VP situation allowed the pair to take the time to reason broadly, ponder over certain issues, and even experiment with physical examination procedures. This slowed-down, broader reflection is rare during a time-constrained real-life patient encounter. The VP setting provides a less stressful milieu for reasoning and reduces the perceived demands on having to appear knowledgeable in front of patients and educators [33]. Throughout the task, the students adopted the role of a treating physician, navigating themselves toward the right diagnosis, and making decisions about future management. However, the educational setting prevailed and the observed emotional engagement was not at the same level as when, for example, enacting acute patient scenarios in full-scale manikin-based medical simulations [34]. In addition to acting professionally, student roles were also adopted during the sessions. For example, the students referred to lecture notes, negotiated how one should approach the task, and referred to their own previous learning processes. The clear benefit of the VP case approach is a less formal and less demanding climate, allowing the students to expand their reasoning and reflection beyond what is possible in a full-scale simulation scenario or an authentic patient encounter, where decisions have to be made instantly.

#### **Methodological Considerations**

A major strength of this study was the in-depth analysis of the sessions. However, the low number of sessions studied could be considered a limitation, as it limits the generalizability of our observations when applying them to other contexts. Thus, the identified themes are neither exhaustive nor expected to be replicated in all settings. Moreover, the characteristics of the specific cases and the VP interface may have influenced the reasoning process, and therefore the findings cannot be generalized to any VP dyad setting. The methods of observation provided not only an increased awareness of how students' reasoning processes function while exploring a VP case but also an insight into how peer interactions may relate to clinical reasoning. However, it is worth noting that the students were aware of the fact that they were being filmed during the sessions, and a social desirability effect may have impacted their interactions.

#### Implications

By actively taking part in verbal reasoning and highlighting the process as well as the outcome, the students increase the meta-awareness of their reasoning [35]. Meta-awareness is related to diagnostic outcomes [36]. Such an awareness can be created in collaborative VP sessions and followed up further in seminars, during which the students reflect both on the reasoning process and clinical content. Even greater focus on reasoning strategies could possibly be achieved by taking notes or, for example, visualizing reasoning steps in a mind map and then discussing them in a follow-up seminar. A visual representation in adjunct to a VP system has recently been developed by other researchers [37].

The number of VPs in this setting was small. Therefore, they do not substantially contribute to the nonanalytic aspect of expert reasoning. However, the dyad setting contributes to an in-depth encounter with a few cases supporting the analytic thinking. This analytic thinking process, and the awareness thereof, requires cognitive efforts and time to be processed. VP scenarios and the surrounding educational framework should therefore be designed carefully, taking the benefits of reasoning into consideration [38].

VP activities can be organized in different ways; these different arrangements may influence both the learning process and learning outcomes [24]. When integrating VPs, it is logistically tempting to instruct the students to work with the VP scenarios individually and independently on their own accord. This type of integration design has the clear benefit of flexibility but relies on the students' own motivation and discipline. Edelbring et al found that fewer students (49% compared with 65%-96% of the students in a course) accessed the VPs, and these students also accessed fewer VP cases (an average of 1.27 out of 4 cases available) in an individual flexible integration compared with two different settings with scheduled follow-up seminars [39]. A link between VP course integration arrangements and student efforts to access and make use of VPs has been identified in various VP settings [40,41]. In this respect, arranged dyad

XSL•FO RenderX

settings may contribute to improved learning outcomes as a result of shared reasoning and provide a means for students to delve deeper and more broadly into the VP cases. Shared reasoning is clearly a means to better educational outcomes and fosters the collaborative and reflective practice needed in health care [13,19].

#### Conclusions

The dyad setting enabled a stepwise investigation of VP cases and elaborated reasoning. Both analytic and nonanalytic reasoning occurred during the interactions. The VP activity also triggered interactions with other sources, which served as tools for information gathering and contributed to consolidation of knowledge. The VP design and the dyad arrangement enabled reasoning and rigorous learning processes that are unlikely to occur in individual settings.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

#### Multimedia Appendix 1

Supplementary methods information.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 20KB - mededu v4i1e4 app1.pdf]

#### References

- Bowen JL. Educational strategies to promote clinical diagnostic reasoning. N Engl J Med 2006 Nov 23;355(21):2217-2225. [doi: 10.1056/NEJMra054782] [Medline: 17124019]
- 2. Ritchhart R, Perkins DN. Learning to think: the challenges of teaching thinking. In: Holyoak KJ, Morrison RG, editors. The Cambridge Handbook of Thinking and Reasoning. New York: Cambridge University Press; 2005:775-802.
- 3. Patel VL, Arocha JF, Zhang J. Thinking and reasoning in medicine. In: Holyoak KJ, Morrison RG, editors. The Cambridge handbook of thinking and reasoning. New York: Cambridge University Press; 2005:727-750.
- 4. Ledley RS, Lusted LB. Reasoning foundations of medical diagnosis; symbolic logic, probability, and value theory aid our understanding of how physicians reason. Science 1959 Jul 03;130(3366):9-21. [Medline: <u>13668531</u>]
- 5. Patel VL, Kaufman DR, Arocha JF. Emerging paradigms of cognition in medical decision-making. J Biomed Inform 2002 Feb;35(1):52-75. [Medline: <u>12415726</u>]
- Norman G, Young M, Brooks L. Non-analytical models of clinical reasoning: the role of experience. Med Educ 2007 Dec;41(12):1140-1145. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2923.2007.02914.x] [Medline: 18004990]
- Eva KW. What every teacher needs to know about clinical reasoning. Med Educ 2005 Jan;39(1):98-106. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2929.2004.01972.x] [Medline: 15612906]
- Eva KW, Hatala RM, Leblanc VR, Brooks LR. Teaching from the clinical reasoning literature: combined reasoning strategies help novice diagnosticians overcome misleading information. Med Educ 2007 Dec;41(12):1152-1158. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2923.2007.02923.x] [Medline: 18045367]
- 9. Posel N, Mcgee JB, Fleiszer DM. Twelve tips to support the development of clinical reasoning skills using virtual patient cases. Med Teach 2014 Dec 19;37(9):813-818. [doi: 10.3109/0142159X.2014.993951] [Medline: 25523009]
- 10. Peddle M, Bearman M, Nestel D. Virtual patients and nontechnical skills in undergraduate health professional education: an integrative review. Clin Simul Nurs 2016 Sep;12(9):400-410. [doi: 10.1016/j.ecns.2016.04.004]
- 11. Huwendiek S, Reichert F, Duncker C, de Leng BA, van der Vleuten CP, Muijtjens AM, et al. Electronic assessment of clinical reasoning in clerkships: a mixed-methods comparison of long-menu key-feature problems with context-rich single best answer questions. Med Teach 2017 May;39(5):476-485. [doi: 10.1080/0142159X.2017.1297525] [Medline: 28281369]
- 12. Kleinheksel A. Transformative learning through virtual patient simulations: predicting critical student reflections. Clin Simul Nurs 2014 Jun;10(6):e301-e308. [doi: 10.1016/j.ecns.2014.02.001]
- Kiesewetter J, Fischer F, Fischer MR. Collaborative clinical reasoning-a systematic review of empirical studies. J Contin Educ Health Prof 2017;37(2):123-128. [doi: <u>10.1097/CEH.00000000000158</u>] [Medline: <u>28562501</u>]
- 14. Hutchins E. Cognition in the Wild. Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press; 1995.
- 15. Dewey J. The public and its problems. In: Boydston JA, editor. The Later Works of John Dewey, Volume 2. Southern Illinois: University Press; 1984.
- Hautz WE, K\u00e4mmer JE, Schauber SK, Spies CD, Gaissmaier W. Diagnostic performance by medical students working individually or in teams. J Am Med Assoc 2015 Jan 20;313(3):303-304. [doi: <u>10.1001/jama.2014.15770</u>] [Medline: <u>25603003</u>]
- 17. Lou Y, Abrami PC, d'Apollonia S. Small group and individual learning with technology: a meta-analysis. Rev Educ Res 2001;71(3):449-521. [doi: 10.3102/00346543071003449]
- 18. Schwartz DL. The emergence of abstract representations in dyad problem solving. J Learn Sci 1995;4(3):321-354. [doi: 10.1207/s15327809jls0403\_3]

- Frenk J, Chen L, Bhutta ZA, Cohen J, Crisp N, Evans T, et al. Health professionals for a new century: transforming education to strengthen health systems in an interdependent world. Lancet 2010 Dec 04;376(9756):1923-1958. [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(10)61854-5] [Medline: 21112623]
- 20. Wahlgren C, Edelbring S, Fors U, Hindbeck H, Ståhle M. Evaluation of an interactive case simulation system in dermatology and venereology for medical students. BMC Med Educ 2006 Aug 14;6(1):40 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6920-6-40] [Medline: 16907972]
- 21. Braun V, Clarke V. Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qual Res Psychol 2006 Jan;3(2):77-101. [doi: 10.1191/1478088706qp063oa]
- 22. Heath C, Hindmarsh J, Luff P. Video in Qualitative Research. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications; 2010.
- 23. Norman GR, Eva KW. Diagnostic error and clinical reasoning. Med Educ 2010 Jan;44(1):94-100. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2923.2009.03507.x] [Medline: 20078760]
- 24. Ellaway RH. Virtual patients as activities: exploring the research implications of an activity theoretical stance. Perspect Med Educ 2014 Sep;3(4):266-277 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s40037-014-0134-z] [Medline: 25082311]
- 25. Baker M. Argumentative interactions and the social construction of knowledge. In: Muller Mirza N, Perret-Clermont AN, editors. Argumentation and Education. Theoretical Foundations and Practices. New York: Springer; 2009:127-144.
- 26. Lekkas P, Larsen T, Kumar S, Grimmer K, Nyland L, Chipchase L, et al. No model of clinical education for physiotherapy students is superior to another: a systematic review. Aust J Physiother 2007;53(1):19-28 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 17326735]
- 27. Tai J, Molloy E, Haines T, Canny B. Same-level peer-assisted learning in medical clinical placements: a narrative systematic review. Med Educ 2016 Apr;50(4):469-484. [doi: <u>10.1111/medu.12898</u>] [Medline: <u>26995485</u>]
- de Leng BA, Muijtjens AM, van der Vleuten CP. The effect of face-to-face collaborative learning on the elaboration of computer-based simulated cases. Simul Healthc 2009;4(4):217-222. [doi: <u>10.1097/SIH.0b013e3181a39612</u>] [Medline: <u>21330795</u>]
- 29. Shanks D, Brydges R, den Brok W, Nair P, Hatala R. Are two heads better than one? Comparing dyad and self-regulated learning in simulation training. Med Educ 2013 Dec;47(12):1215-1222. [doi: 10.1111/medu.12284] [Medline: 24206155]
- Tolsgaard MG, Madsen ME, Ringsted C, Oxlund BS, Oldenburg A, Sorensen JL, et al. The effect of dyad versus individual simulation-based ultrasound training on skills transfer. Med Educ 2015 Mar;49(3):286-295 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/medu.12624] [Medline: 25693988]
- Secomb J. A systematic review of peer teaching and learning in clinical education. J Clin Nurs 2008 Mar;17(6):703-716. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1365-2702.2007.01954.x</u>] [Medline: <u>18047577</u>]
- 32. Kozlov MD, Große CS. Online collaborative learning in dyads: effects of knowledge distribution and awareness. Comput in Human Behav 2016 Jun;59:389-401. [doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2016.01.043]
- Edelbring S, Dastmalchi M, Hult H, Lundberg IE, Dahlgren LO. Experiencing virtual patients in clinical learning: a phenomenological study. Adv Health Sci Educ Theory Pract 2011 Aug;16(3):331-345. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10459-010-9265-0</u>] [Medline: <u>21656337</u>]
- 34. Rudolph JW, Simon R, Raemer DB. Which reality matters? Questions on the path to high engagement in healthcare simulation. Simul Healthc 2007;2(3):161-163. [doi: <u>10.1097/SIH.0b013e31813d1035</u>] [Medline: <u>19088618</u>]
- 35. Kassirer JP. Teaching clinical reasoning: case-based and coached. Acad Med 2010 Jul;85(7):1118-1124. [Medline: 20603909]
- 36. Kiesewetter J, Ebersbach R, Tsalas N, Holzer M, Schmidmaier R, Fischer MR. Knowledge is not enough to solve the problems the role of diagnostic knowledge in clinical reasoning activities. BMC Med Educ 2016 Nov 24;16(1):303 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12909-016-0821-z] [Medline: 27881121]
- 37. Hege I, Kononowicz AA, Adler M. A clinical reasoning tool for virtual patients: design-based research study. JMIR Med Educ 2017 Nov 02;3(2):e21 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mededu.8100] [Medline: 29097355]
- Rencic J. Twelve tips for teaching expertise in clinical reasoning. Med Teach 2011;33(11):887-892. [doi: 10.3109/0142159X.2011.558142] [Medline: 21711217]
- Edelbring S, Broström O, Henriksson P, Vassiliou D, Spaak J, Dahlgren LO, et al. Integrating virtual patients into courses: follow-up seminars and perceived benefit. Med Educ 2012 Apr;46(4):417-425. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1365-2923.2012.04219.x</u>] [Medline: <u>22429178</u>]
- 40. Berman N, Fall LH, Smith S, Levine DA, Maloney CG, Potts M, et al. Integration strategies for using virtual patients in clinical clerkships. Acad Med 2009 Jul;84(7):942-949. [doi: 10.1097/ACM.0b013e3181a8c668] [Medline: 19550193]
- 41. Hege I, Ropp V, Adler M, Radon K, Mäsch G, Lyon H, et al. Experiences with different integration strategies of case-based e-learning. Med Teach 2007 Oct;29(8):791-797. [doi: 10.1080/01421590701589193] [Medline: 18236274]

#### Abbreviations

NSAID: nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug RA: rheumatoid arthritis VP: virtual patient



```
http://mededu.jmir.org/2018/1/e4/
```

Edited by M Focsa; submitted 08.10.17; peer-reviewed by D Davies, N Bragazzi, J Kiesewetter; comments to author 06.11.17; revised version received 20.12.17; accepted 11.01.18; published 27.02.18. Please cite as:

Edelbring S, Parodis I, Lundberg IE Increasing Reasoning Awareness: Video Analysis of Students' Two-Party Virtual Patient Interactions JMIR Med Educ 2018;4(1):e4 URL: http://mededu.jmir.org/2018/1/e4/ doi:10.2196/mededu.9137 PMID:29487043

©Samuel Edelbring, Ioannis Parodis, Ingrid E Lundberg. Originally published in JMIR Medical Education (http://mededu.jmir.org), 27.02.2018. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Medical Education, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://mededu.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



### Original Paper

# A Web-Based Course on Public Health Principles in Disaster and Medical Humanitarian Response: Survey Among Students and Faculty

Greta Tam<sup>1</sup>, MS; Emily Ying Yang Chan<sup>2</sup>, MSc, MD; Sida Liu<sup>2</sup>, MPH

<sup>1</sup>Jockey Club School of Public Health and Primary Care, The Chinese University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong, China (Hong Kong)

<sup>2</sup>Collaborating Centre for Oxford University and Chinese University of Hong Kong for Disaster and Medical Humanitarian Response, The Jockey Club School of Public Health and Primary Care, The Chinese University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong, China (Hong Kong)

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Emily Ying Yang Chan, MSc, MD Collaborating Centre for Oxford University and Chinese University of Hong Kong for Disaster and Medical Humanitarian Response The Jockey Club School of Public Health and Primary Care The Chinese University of Hong Kong Room 308, 3rd Floor, Prince of Wales Hospital 30-32 Ngan Shing St, Sha Tin Hong Kong, China (Hong Kong) Phone: 852 22528411 Email: emily.chan@cuhk.edu.hk

# Abstract

**Background:** Web-based public health courses are becoming increasingly popular. "Public Health Principles in Disaster and Medical Humanitarian Response" is a unique Web-based course in Hong Kong. This course aimed to fill a public health training gap by reaching out to postgraduates who are unable to access face-to-face learning.

**Objective:** The aim of this paper was to use a structured framework to objectively evaluate the effectiveness of a Web-based course according to Greenhalgh et al's quality framework and the Donabedian model to make recommendations for program improvement.

**Methods:** An interim evaluation of the first cohort of students in 2014 was conducted according to the Donabedian model and a quality framework by Greenhalgh et al using objective and self-reported data.

**Results:** Students who registered for the first cohort (n=1152) from June 16, 2014 to December 15, 2014 (6 months) were surveyed. Two tutors and the course director were interviewed. The Web-based course was effective in using technology to deliver suitable course materials and assessment and to enhance student communication, support, and learning. Of the total number of students registered, 59.00% (680/1152) were nonlocal, originating from 6 continents, and 72.50% (835/1152) possessed a bachelor's or postgraduate degree. The completion rate was 20.00% (230/1152). The chi-square test comparing students who completed the course with dropouts showed no significant difference in gender (P=.40), age (P=.98), occupation (P=.43), or qualification (P=.17). The cost (HK \$272 per student) was lower than that of conducting a face-to-face course (HK \$4000 per student).

**Conclusions:** The Web-based course was effective in using technology to deliver a suitable course and reaching an intended audience. It had a higher completion rate than other Web-based courses. However, sustainable sources of funding may be needed to maintain the free Web-based course.

#### (JMIR Med Educ 2018;4(1):e2) doi:10.2196/mededu.8495

# KEYWORDS

disaster planning; online education; Donabedian model; public health



RenderX

# Introduction

#### Web-Based Public Health Courses

With the recent advances in Internet connectivity and increased mobile phone usage, Web-based public health courses have become increasingly convenient and popular. These vary from accredited courses such as Web-based master's and doctoral degrees to credit-free courses such as the massive open online courses (MOOC), which became popular in 2011 after Stanford University launched its first MOOC [1]. A single MOOC can have enrollment exceeding 100,000 students [2]. The majority of schools accredited by the Council on Education for Public Health offer Web-based courses [3].

Web-based courses offer opportunities for flexible learning, as students are not restricted to learn at fixed times and places. Cost of travel, living expenses, and tuition are reduced as compared with on-site courses. Students may also benefit from exposure to peers from a wider range of global backgrounds. These advantages may be especially appealing to those working in disaster settings, often with irregular schedules in developing countries. The University of South Florida College of Public Health offers numerous Web-based courses but reported that the course in global disaster management and humanitarian relief grew most quickly in popularity [1].

#### "Public Health Principles in Disaster and Medical Humanitarian Response" Web-Based Course

This is a free 6-month program offered to anyone with interest in disaster and medical humanitarian response, although it is aimed at postgraduate level. All material is available on the Web and is completed independently at each participant's desired pace. Support from fellow students is available through online forums, and tutors answer queries via email. Program milestones consist of 4 formative quizzes and 1 final quiz, where a minimum score is required for course progression and certificate of course completion. Table 1 describes the program schedule.

#### **Effectiveness of the Web-Based Course**

A meta-analysis by the US Department of Education reported that purely Web-based learning is as effective as classroom instruction. Most studies surveyed students' demographics, knowledge, satisfaction, and completion rates [4,5]. Although these criteria are useful for comparing online learning with classroom instruction, they are insufficient for comprehensively evaluating online learning. Web-based courses encounter differing levels of participation and completion. Many students participate in MOOCs, but the completion rate is only 7.0% to 9.0% [6]. This may be due to potential barriers negatively affecting students' experience of online learning, such as technical problems, decreased instructor and peer presence, and difficulties in time management and self-directed learning [7]. These problems may be further exacerbated by the wide range of student backgrounds in education, culture, technical access, and time. There is lack of framework for standardized evaluation of Web-based courses. The Quality Assurance Agency for Higher Education does not assess MOOCs, as they are noncredit bearing and have no entry requirements [8]. The objective of this study was to use a structured framework to objectively evaluate the effectiveness of a Web-based course according to Greenhalgh et al's quality framework and the Donabedian model to make recommendations for program improvement.

#### Source of Data for Evaluation of the Web-Based Course

The Web-based course will be evaluated using multiple sources of data such as course website content, assessment scores (quiz results), incoming student survey (1152 respondents; see Multimedia Appendix 1) and outgoing student survey (244 respondents; see Multimedia Appendix 2), dropout student survey (170 respondents; see Multimedia Appendix 3), semistructured staff interview (tutor and course director), and staff curricula vitae. Table 2 summarizes sources of data used for evaluation and the information provided.

Table 1. Program structure of the "Public Health Principles in Disaster and Medical Humanitarian Response" Web-based course.

Lesson number and topic		Assessment	Program milestones	
1	Public Health Approaches to Medical Disaster Response	Quiz 1	Progress to lesson 3 after achieving 80.0% score	
2	Disaster Concepts and Trends			
3	The Impact of Disasters	Quiz 2	Progress to lesson 4 after achieving 80.0% score	
4	The Human Health Impact of Disasters	Quiz 3	Progress to lesson 5 after achieving 80.0% score	
5	Responding to Health Needs in Disasters (I)	Quiz 4	Progress to lesson 6 after achieving 80.0% score	
6	Responding to Health Needs in Disasters (II)			
7	Public Health Emergency Preparedness			
Les	ssons 1-7	Final quiz	Course completion certificate after achieving 60.0% score	



**Table 2.** Sources of data for evaluation.

Source of data	Existing data	Information provided	Missing information	
		Strength	Weakness	
Data on the Web-based course				
Course website	Structure and format of the course	Enables benchmarking with criteria to describe what is sufficiently in- cluded and what is lacking in the course	No qualitative or quantita- tive data analysis	No data on students, staff, or outcomes
Course assessment scores	Formative and final quiz results	Enables comparison with other pro- grams	Evaluation of knowledge gained during the course only	No data on staff and student perceptions
Data on students				
Incoming student survey	Student demographics	Standardized set of questions; high response rate (100.00%, 1152/1152); quantitative data analy- sis; provides information on student background; enables comparison with other programs	Does not directly evaluate the course	No data on staff and student perceptions or outcomes
Outgoing student survey	Student perceptions	Standardized set of questions; quantitative and qualitative data analysis; enables comparison with other programs	Low response rate (21.00%, 244/1152); self-reported da- ta; only students who com- pleted the course participat- ed; therefore, results are prone to bias	No data on staff per- ceptions
Dropout student survey	Student perceptions	Standardized set of questions; quantitative data analysis; enables comparison with other programs	Low response rate (19.0%, 170/908); self-reported data; prone to bias because of low response rate	
Data on staff				
Staff interview	Staff perceptions	Qualitative data analysis	Small sample size; cannot compare with other pro- grams	No data on out- comes
Curricula vitae of staff	Staff qualifications	Provides information on staff back- ground; enables comparison with other programs	No quantitative or qualita- tive data analysis	No data on out- comes and student and staff perceptions

# Methods

#### **Evaluation Framework**

Evaluation was based on the Donabedian model [9] and Greenhalgh et al's quality framework for evaluating Web-based courses [10]. Table 3 summarizes the overlapping components of the frameworks.

# Six Criteria of Quality Framework by Greenhalgh and Colleagues

Following are the six criteria of Greenhalgh et al's quality framework:

- 1. Course materials: Course materials will support the overall program aims, provide clear learning objectives, and promote active learning.
- 2. Interactive learning environment: Formal online discussions on key topics (virtual seminars) will support the overall program goals through high-quality, focused, academic discourse, collaboration, and lateral support.

- 3. Tutor performance and development: Module tutors will be appropriately qualified, trained, and supported to deliver high-quality learner support in the online environment.
- 4. Assessment: Assessment will be valid, reliable, fair, appropriate, efficient, timely, formative, and summative.
- 5. Student communication and support: The program will be supported by accessible, accurate, and up-to-date documentation. Support and advice will be tailored to the needs of individual students. There will be an effective system of student representation.
- 6. Administrative and technical support: Administrative and technical systems will support the program goals through high-quality service delivery, multidisciplinary teamwork, effective communication, and robust technological infrastructure. Administrative and technical staff will have clear roles and responsibilities and will be adequately supported in their work.

The Donabedian model [9], was originally developed to evaluate health care service programs but has also been adapted to evaluate courses with a Web-based component, such as blended learning [11]. In addition, it addressed practical outcomes such as whether the course reached the intended audience and cost.



RenderX

Tam et al

Greenhalgh et al's quality framework was developed to assess a Web-based MSc program [10].

#### **Study Period**

Study period was defined as the course period for the first cohort of students, that is, June 16, 2014 to December 15, 2014 (6 months).

#### **Study Subjects**

Students who registered for the first cohort (n=1152) were included in the study. Two tutors were interviewed for assessing tutor performance and development, as well as administrative

and technical support. The course director was interviewed when assessing the course cost. Verbal consent was obtained during interviews; all responses were anonymized; and permission was sought to review relevant documents such as course materials and surveys. This study fell under the auspices of learning and evaluation in the university and therefore did not need ethical approval.

#### **Data Source and Analysis**

Table 4 summarizes the data source and analysis corresponding to the framework dimensions.

Table 3. Matrix of overlapping components of the evaluation frameworks.

Donabedian model	Greenhalgh et al's framework
Structure and process	<ul> <li>Course materials</li> <li>Interactive learning environment</li> <li>Tutor performance and development</li> <li>Student communication and support</li> <li>Administrative and technical support</li> </ul>
Outcome <ul> <li>Whether the course reached the intended audience</li> <li>Cost</li> </ul>	• Assessment

#### Table 4. Framework dimensions, data source, and analysis.

Framework dimension	Data source and analysis	
Course materials	<ul> <li>Examine course materials from CCOUC<sup>a</sup> website</li> <li>Quantitative analysis of outgoing student survey: all students completing the final quiz responded (n=244)</li> </ul>	
Interactive learning environment	<ul> <li>Examine interaction in the student discussion forum</li> <li>Semistructured interview with the course tutor</li> <li>Summarize relevant comments in the outgoing student survey</li> </ul>	
Tutor performance and development	<ul> <li>Examine curricula vitae of the tutor</li> <li>Semistructured interview with the course tutor</li> </ul>	
Student communication and support	<ul> <li>Quantitative analysis of incoming and outgoing student survey</li> <li>Examine course website for evidence of clarity, accuracy, and completeness of information on program content</li> <li>Examine course website for individualized summary of progress</li> <li>Semistructured interview with the course tutor</li> </ul>	
Administrative and technical support	<ul> <li>Examine job descriptions and curricula vitae of staff in administrative and technical roles</li> <li>Examine funds allocated to administrative and technical support</li> <li>Summarize relevant comments in the outgoing student survey</li> <li>Semistructured interview with administrative and technical staff</li> </ul>	
Assessment	<ul> <li>Examine assessment materials and methods on course website</li> <li>Quantitative analysis of assessment scores: assessment consisted of multiple-choice questions automatically graded by the compute</li> <li>Quantitative analysis of the outgoing student survey</li> <li>Semistructured interview with the course tutor</li> </ul>	
Whether the course reached the intended audience	<ul><li>Quantitative analysis of incoming and outgoing student survey</li><li>Analysis of the dropout student survey</li></ul>	
Cost	• Interview with the course director	

<sup>a</sup>CCOUC: Collaborating Centre for Oxford University and CUHK for Disaster and Medical Humanitarian Response.

http://mededu.jmir.org/2018/1/e2/

RenderX

# Results

#### **Course Materials**

Overall program aims were as follows:

- Understand and discuss public health needs and gaps in disaster preparedness and response, specifically in the context of the Asia Pacific region.
- Systematically formulate key guiding questions during preand postdisaster phases to drive evidence-based disaster mitigation actions.
- Select and consult relevant and credible databases, guidelines, and documents to address the above issues.

Course materials supported the overall program aims by providing accessible online reading and multimedia materials. Reading materials were classified by level of difficulty, with optional "A-Closer-Look" text boxes to give additional context. A glossary was provided and a "Take-home Message" at the end of each section. Occasionally, students were directed to watch relevant videos on external websites. Clear learning objectives were provided at the start of the course and each chapter. Active learning was promoted by "Stop-and-Think" activities that posed a question, with answers behind a reveal button. There were polls for students to vote on a question and compare opinions.

Figure 1 shows responses to the outgoing student survey, recorded on a Likert scale, from 1=strongly disagree to 6=strongly agree.

Most students answered positively regarding course content. In all 8 areas, over 90.0% (220/244) of students selected 4 or above (slightly agree, agree, or strongly agree). In the following 5

Figure 1. Student responses to statements regarding course content.

areas, over 80.0% (195/244) of students selected 5 or 6 (agree or strongly agree):

- The course covered all the themes I expected it to
- The course enhanced my knowledge (concepts and principles) in this subject
- The course was well organized (clear objectives and logical sequence)
- The references and suggestions for further reading were useful
- The links to websites or other parties/organizations recommended in the course were useful

The course overview gave a clear estimation of workload, which was 1-3 hours per lesson, totaling 7-21 hours for 7 lessons. Figure 2 shows the total actual workload. Actual workload varied highly, from <3.5 hours to >35 hours. The most frequent responses were "7 hours to less than 10.5 hours" (14.7%, 36/244) and "35 hours or more" (14.3%, 35/244).

#### **Interactive Learning Environment**

Content analysis of the online forum was conducted. There were no formal online discussions. However, each lesson had an informal discussion forum. Participation was voluntary and asynchronous. Students were free to create new threads on any topics. This was facilitated by the course tutor who occasionally read through threads and responded to questions. However, most of the content was grounded, drawing on students' own experiences and course materials. For example, 1 student created a discussion thread on Ebola outbreak, which occurred during the course but was not covered in course materials. Others used the forum to reinforce learning of course materials by posting lesson summaries. Moreover, 6.60% of the students (76/1152) posted on the forum, generating 75 new threads and 216 posts.



Tam et al

Figure 2. Number of hours students spent studying.



Semistructured interview with the course tutor (who also served as the technical support officer) and subsequent content analysis revealed that there were no student complaints of difficulty in accessing the forum or problems with online etiquette. In the outgoing student survey, 1 question invited students to write any comments about the course or any specific suggestion as to how it could be improved: Several requested more online videos (eg, lectures) to supplement course materials, whereas only 1 student suggested the course could be improved by holding an online video conference.

#### **Tutor Performance and Development**

Semistructured interviews were conducted with the program director and tutors. Questions were adapted from Greenhalgh et al's quality framework criteria, standards, evidence, and quality failures. Subsequent content analysis was done according to these themes. The program director chose 2 tutors who also functioned as technical support officers throughout the course. Both were originally research assistants with Master of Public Health degrees who helped develop the course content. As there was no compulsory interaction on the course, tutors were only responsible for answering student queries and occasionally facilitating online discussion. This was done in addition to other roles and responsibilities that tutors had as research assistants for other projects. The program director appraised the tutors' performance annually, although not specifically for the Web-based course. Tutor development was encouraged. One tutor is a PhD student and has been promoted to assistant lecturer, whereas the other has published in the Lancet.

Interview with the course tutor revealed that their workload was manageable and questions posed by students were within their capability. Students usually emailed the first tutor listed on the

```
http://mededu.jmir.org/2018/1/e2/
```

RenderX

website. There were a few queries, ranging from course logistics to technical support. Students preferred to discuss academic questions among themselves in the forum, rather than asking the tutors. In the outgoing student survey, there were no complaints about the tutors or their level of input.

#### **Student Communication and Support**

The course website clearly stated learning objectives for each lesson, expected time commitment, and required assessments to progress and gain a certificate. A personal progress log was available to each student. The course tutor's contact details were listed for student queries. There were Web-based links to explore beyond course materials and an online forum for informal discussion. Student views were actively sought through a Web-based evaluation survey. In the outgoing student survey, 63.9% (156/244) had taken a similar course before, with 91.8% (224/244) rating the course as similar or better, and 93.9% (229/244) were satisfied with the course overall. Interview with the course tutor revealed that few students had queries regarding course navigation, material, or technical difficulties.

#### **Administrative and Technical Support**

The program director selected course tutors to provide administrative and technical support, in addition to academic support. There was no dedicated training budget for tutors. In the outgoing student survey, there were no complaints regarding lack of administrative or technical support. Of 244 students, 181 (74.2%) preferred online learning over face-to-face learning. However, several students requested a PDF version to aid revision, as they lived in areas with suboptimal Internet access. Interview with course tutors revealed that there were few queries requesting administrative or technical support. All were within their capabilities.

#### Assessment

Assessment consisted of Web-based multiple-choice questions completed anytime within the course. There were 4 short self-assessment quizzes and 1 final quiz for course completion. There were 10 questions in each short quiz. An 80.0% score was needed for students to proceed to the next lesson. Students were free to retake quizzes. As quizzes were drawn from a question bank, retake questions were not necessarily the same. The final quiz tested all course materials. A 60.0% score was required to achieve a certificate of completion. This method of assessment is reliable, as all questions are drawn from the same question bank and marked electronically. However, as there was no live monitoring during the quiz, it may not be a fair assessment, as it would be difficult to guard against cheating (eg, if someone else took the quiz in place of the student). This method has other advantages of being efficient, as minimal tutor time is required because of automatic computer marking. In addition, multiple formative quizzes allow students to have timely feedback on their progress.

The process of reviewing assessment questions was described in an interview with the course tutor. Course authors developed the assessment questions. These were reviewed by the program director, who is an international expert. Although course content was peer-reviewed by numerous academic colleagues, assessment questions were not reviewed by them, thereby decreasing content validity.

Figure 3 shows average and median grades of all quizzes. Average grades for first attempts of the first 4 formative quizzes were between 63.2% and 69.0%. The average student needed to reattempt each quiz at least once to achieve the required grade to progress to the next lesson. The average grade for the first attempt of the final quiz was 63.6%, which would have been high enough for the average student to obtain the completion certificate (issued for grades of 60.0% or above) on their first

attempt. Out of 1152 students registered in the cohort, 244 took the final quiz and 233 passed and gained a certificate of completion.

Figure 4 shows opinions on the assessment methods in the outgoing student survey. Most agreed that assessment methods of quizzes were appropriate. The scores and survey responses indicate an appropriate assessment, where course materials content is reasonably assessed in quizzes.

#### Whether the Course Reached the Intended Audience

The course was intended for postgraduates who are unable to access face-to-face learning. In a survey of all students (n=1152), the gender balance was roughly equal: 49.30% (568/1152) female, 50.50% (582/1152) male, and 0.00% (2/1152) who answered "others"). Figure 5 depicts student age. Most students were aged between 18 and 39 years. Figure 6 depicts students' occupations. Most worked in nongovernmental organizations, health care sector, or were students. Figure 7 depicts highest academic qualifications obtained by students. Students' highest academic qualifications were mostly a bachelor's or a master's degree. Figure 8 depicts students by continent. The majority of students came from Asia, with 41.00% being (472/1152) from Hong Kong.

The chi-square test comparing students who completed the course with dropouts showed no significant difference in gender (P=.40), age (P=.98), occupation (P=.43), or qualification (P=.17). Among those who completed the course, 48.7% (119/244) were local. A survey of 170 dropout students revealed that the main reasons for dropping out were change in schedule 71.2% (121/170) and lack of Internet access 25.9% (44/170). Moreover, 85.3% (145/170) would recommend the course to other people. As most students had at least a bachelor's degree and were nonlocal (and therefore would have difficulties attending face-to-face learning), the course managed to reach the intended audience.



Figure 3. Average and median quiz grades.

```
http://mededu.jmir.org/2018/1/e2/
```

JMIR Med Educ 2018 | vol. 4 | iss. 1 |e2 | p.19 (page number not for citation purposes)

Figure 4. Students' responses to statement that assessment methods (quizzes) were appropriate. N/A: not applicable.



Figure 5. Student age (years).





Figure 6. Student occupation.



#### Figure 7. Students' highest academic qualifications.



- Secondary/High School Certificate
- ■Postsecondary Diploma/Certificate
- ■Associate Degree
- Enrolled in an Undergraduate Program
- Bachelor's Degree
- Destgraduate Diploma/Certificate
- □ Master's Degree, Doctorate Degree



Figure 8. Students by continent.



#### Cost

Interview with the course director revealed that a grant of HK \$109,000 was given to enroll 4000 students across 6 cohorts. This resulted in an average cost of HK \$35 per enrolled student. In contrast, a face-to-face course with the same content at CUHK (The Chinese University of Hong Kong) charged a HK \$513 enrollment fee.

# Discussion

#### **Principal Findings**

Our study used Greenhalgh et al's quality framework and the Donabedian model to assess the effectiveness of a Web-based course. This was done through content analysis of the course website, quantitative analysis of assessment scores and students' surveys, semistructured interview with staff, and examining related administrative documents. Overall, the Web-based course was effective in using technology to deliver suitable course materials and assessment and to enhance student communication, support, and learning. It reached its intended audience of postgraduates who would have difficulties attending face-to-face learning, and the cost per student was much less compared with an equivalent face-to-face course.

The course materials supported the program aims by providing high-quality accessible reading and multimedia materials. These enabled students to "understand public health needs and gaps in disaster preparedness and response," but not necessarily to "discuss" them; as there were no interactive tutorials or formal discussions, the interactive learning environment was dependent on informal interaction on the discussion board. Although this was used throughout the course, only 6.60% of students posted comments. In addition, to "formulate key guiding questions" and "select and consult relevant and credible databases, guidelines and documents to address the above issues" were

```
http://mededu.jmir.org/2018/1/e2/
```

RenderX

part of the program aims. However, it would be difficult to develop these skills in depth during the course, as additional assignments (eg, exercises for group interaction or essay writing) would be needed to achieve these aims. Learning objectives were clearly stated and course materials promoted active learning, although not to the extent of fulfilling all program aims. Students were generally satisfied with the content and format of the course materials, suggesting that their personal aims might be less ambitious than the program aims. Additional assignments would require more tutor resources. Peer grading has been advocated in MOOCs, but suffers from difficulty in quality control [12]. In addition, the funnel of participation might further narrow, resulting in less students participating and completing the course [13]. Modifying the program aims to align with student aims might be more realistic than increasing active learning to achieve the current program aims.

One of the quality failures listed in the quality framework [10] noted that "poor performance by a majority of students on a course should raise questions about course design or tutor competence, whereas poor performance by a minority of students is usually attributable to other factors." As average performance in assessments was reasonably satisfactory, it could be concluded that course design and tutor competence were adequate. Course tutors were familiar with the course materials, as their research was in similar areas. However, tutors played a passive role in the course: students sought out tutors infrequently, and tutors monitored and occasionally participated in organic discussions. This approach to teaching has also been used in other MOOCs [14]. In a face-to-face setting, tutors could identify struggling students by inattention or lack of attendance, with early intervention to improve learning. However, identifying these students in a Web-based environment is difficult, especially with large enrollment numbers. This may account for the low completion rate of MOOCs [7]. Current research aims at using student engagement on the Web to

identify those who are struggling [15], which may improve completion rates while posing less additional burden on the tutor.

Assessment questions would have improved content validity if peer-reviewed by experts. Assessment using Web-based quiz was reliable, although not necessarily as fair as face-to-face assessment. The Web-based quizzes were appropriate, efficient, and timely and included both formative and summative assessment. The assessment format may have been conducive to the relatively high course completion rate (20.00%, 230/1152) as compared with MOOCs with completion rates of 7.0% to 9.0% [6]: the quizzes had flexible quiz deadlines and did not combine other assessment methods. One study comparing multiple MOOCs showed that courses with flexible deadlines had higher course completion rates (15.5%) compared with those with firm deadlines (4.6%). In addition, courses with solely Web-based quizzes as assessment methods had a higher course completion rate (14.9%) compared with those combining quizzes with other assessment methods such as peer assessment (7.9%) [14]. Another study reported that the result of multiple Web-based quizzes throughout the course was the strongest explanatory variable in final exam scores when compared with other assessment methods (eg, self- and peer assessment) [16].

Participants had similar backgrounds to those in other MOOCs; they were mostly young, well educated, and employed. However, they differed in gender and location. One study reported 56.9% of male participants across 32 MOOCs, whereas the Web-based course had 49.30%. In addition, most students at the University of Pennsylvania's MOOCs came from the United States or non-US OECD (Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development) countries [17]. In contrast, students in the Web-based course mostly came from Asia, with 41.00% (472/1152) from Hong Kong. This reflects the tendency of Web-based courses to attract participants locally as well as internationally. As most students were international (59.00%, 680/1152), the Web-based course effectively reached a diverse population who did not have easy access to a face-to-face course in Hong Kong.

Participant demographics point to a cohort who would likely be more self-motivated and technology literate than the general population. Most students in the Web-based course had at least a bachelor's degree, which coincided with the course's target audience, who were postgraduate-level public health practitioners working in the field of disaster management. Adequate learning infrastructure might provide sufficient support to these students. The Web-based course provided this infrastructure through resources on the Web, forums, and a "check your progress" tool. Most outgoing students reported satisfaction with the course, and there were no complaints regarding the level of communication and support provided. In addition, students dropped out mainly because of personal reasons. A higher level of student support could be provided by using the "check your progress tool" to alert the staff about students who are progressing poorly through the course.

Despite the lack of specific staff training budget, students who completed the course were generally satisfied with the administrative and technical support. This may be related to the choice of online platform. Moodle was used, with the advantage of being free and widely used globally [18]. In addition, the bulk of course material was in written format, enabling easier access to those with lack of high-speed Internet. Although some students suggested including video lectures, using this format would have increased access difficulty, which increased technical support may be unable to solve. On the other hand, some students requested a PDF version so as to increase access to the course material when the Internet was not available. Studies analyzing video use in MOOCs reported that only half of participants and certificate earners watched the majority of course videos [19,20]. Despite participants from developing countries such as India earning the most certificates compared with other countries, use of video lectures was conversely lower. One explanation was that poor Internet access was an obstacle to downloading videos [21]. Another study conducted in fragile contexts, which the Web-based course aims to reach, noted that video lectures were an insurmountable obstacle and that downloaded materials were widely shared locally, enabling a wider reach of learners than those who initially accessed the material on the Web [22]. The conflicting student comments from the Web-based course reflect a range in preferred learning styles and ease of technological access. Including video lectures would require more financial resources, yet appeal to more people. However, changing the format from written course material to video lectures might result in excluding those with limited Internet access. The lack of request for online video conference or live tutorial discussions could be because of the required technology, extra time commitment, and difference in student time zones, which may discourage participants.

The cost of the course was reasonable, with the Web-based course costing significantly less than a comparable face-to-face course.

#### **Implication of Findings**

Using the Donabedian model [9] and Greenhalgh et al's [10] structured quality framework enabled this evaluation to identify strengths and weaknesses that would be omitted in a conventional evaluation that assessed outcomes only. The resulting comprehensive approach to evaluation will be useful for providing recommendations to improve the program.

#### Limitations

Ideally, the Web-based course should have multiple independent reviewers to evaluate the program. However, in this report, there is only 1 reviewer (the author). As it was difficult to find frameworks to adequately evaluate free Web-based courses, the quality framework used was originally developed from evaluation of a Web-based MSc course. These Web-based MSc courses are accredited, fee paying, and last up to 5 years [23]. In contrast, the course is nonaccredited, free, and lasts for 6 months. Thus, some of the criteria were difficult to apply to the course, as the course would have less resources and educational time when compared with the Web-based MSc course.

As the Web-based course attracted students globally, it was not possible to evaluate the effectiveness of the program using a randomized controlled design, which would have compared the Web-based course to face-to-face learning. In addition, students

XSL•FO RenderX

came from a range of backgrounds, and each individual's learning experience varied. Although all incoming students answered a questionnaire concerning demographics, other aspects of evaluation dealt with students' experience on the course. Therefore, only those who completed the course answered the outgoing questionnaire. This may have resulted in possible overestimation of course satisfaction, as those who were dissatisfied may have dropped out early. In addition, the dropout student survey had a low response rate of 19.0% (170/908).

#### Recommendations

The program aims could be modified to align with student expectations and to reflect what could be achieved realistically with limited time and resources in a free, 6-month Web-based course. Moreover, to increase accessibility to course materials, a PDF version of the course material could be made available for download. Accompanying material such as books, CD-ROM (Compact Disc Read-Only Memory), and video lectures of the course material could supplement the existing course. These could potentially be available at a price, to subsidize the staff and technological infrastructure needed to run the course. Additional options for students who completed the course would enable them to continue their education. Students who completed the course could be invited to attend a fee-paying, face-to-face, short course to facilitate active learning, such as discussions and essay assignments. Completion of the face-to-face course could lead to university credit. Using the Web-based course as part of requirements to gain credit would motivate students who

desire advanced learning and accreditation. Struggling students could be identified by tracking their progress and engagement on the Web. These students could be automatically emailed to ask what problems they may be encountering. This would proactively identify which students may need a tutor's help. Finally, assessment questions would have higher content validity if peer-reviewed by experts.

#### **Barriers to Implementation of Recommendations**

Producing supplementary material would require additional resources. However, students may be unwilling to pay for the supplementary material or additional face-to-face courses. Necessary software would also be needed to track student progress and send automatic alerts. However, this may not be widely available yet and may pose additional costs to the course.

#### Conclusions

The "Public Health Principles in Disaster and Medical Humanitarian Response" Web-based course is effective in using technology to deliver suitable course materials and assessment and to enhance student communication (via discussion boards), support (via access to staff), and learning (using interactive Web-based tools). It is also effective in reaching the intended audience. However, there are a few areas for improvement. Program aims could be modified to align with student aims, while supplementing with increased active learning (eg, video lectures, essay writing, live tutorials, and discussions) for those who desire further learning. Assessment questions could be reviewed by experts. In addition, active efforts could be made to identify struggling students and to provide better support.

#### Acknowledgments

The author wishes to thank Carman Mark and Chunlan Guo and the rest of the CCOUC team for their work on the Web-based course. The project was supported by The Chinese University of Hong Kong.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

#### Multimedia Appendix 1

Incoming student survey.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 41KB - mededu\_v4i1e2\_app1.pdf]

# Multimedia Appendix 2

Outgoing student survey.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 32KB - mededu\_v4i1e2\_app2.pdf]

# Multimedia Appendix 3

Dropout student survey.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 31KB - mededu\_v4i1e2\_app3.pdf]

#### References

University of Oxford. Ox.ac.uk. International Trends in Higher Education 2015 URL: <u>https://www.ox.ac.uk/sites/files/oxford/International%20Trends%20in%20Higher%20Education%202015.pdf</u> [accessed 2017-11-13] [WebCite Cache ID 6uwI7j0xY]

http://mededu.jmir.org/2018/1/e2/

- 2. Gooding I, Klaas B, Yager JD, Kanchanaraksa S. Massive open online courses in public health. Front Public Health 2013;1:59 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2013.00059] [Medline: 24350228]
- 3. Krisberg K. Online public health education growing in popularity in US: more students forgoing classrooms. Nations Health 2012;42(6):1-14 [FREE Full text]
- 4. 2.ed.: U.S. Department of Education Evaluation of evidence-based practices in online learning: a meta-analysis and review of online learning studies URL: <u>http://www2.ed.gov/rschstat/eval/tech/evidence-based-practices/finalreport.pdf</u> [accessed 2017-11-13] [WebCite Cache ID 6uwIVlsyx]
- 5. Jaggars S, Bailey T. Ccrc.tc.columbia. Effectiveness of fully online courses for college students: response to a department of education meta-analysis URL: <u>http://ccrc.tc.columbia.edu/media/k2/attachments/</u> effectiveness-online-response-meta-analysis.pdf [accessed 2017-11-13] [WebCite Cache ID 6uwIcj440]
- Knowledge.wharton.upenn.edu/article/moocs-on-the-move-how-coursera-is-disrupting-the-traditional-classroom [accessed 2017-11-13] [WebCite Cache ID 6uwIvfLmg]
- Jaggars SS. Choosing between online and face-to-face courses: community college student voices. Am J Distance Educ 2014 Mar 06;28(1):27-38. [doi: 10.1080/08923647.2014.867697]
- 8. Qaa.ac.uk. Statement on massive open online courses URL: <u>http://www.qaa.ac.uk/en/Publications/Documents/</u> <u>QAA-position-statement-MOOCs.pdf</u> [accessed 2017-11-13] [WebCite Cache ID 6uwJ2xvpd]
- 9. Donabedian A. The quality of care. How can it be assessed? J Am Med Assoc 1988;260(12):1743-1748. [Medline: <u>3045356</u>]
- Greenhalgh T, Toon P, Russell J, Wong G, Plumb L, Macfarlane F. Transferability of principles of evidence based medicine to improve educational quality: systematic review and case study of an online course in primary health care. Br Med J 2003 Jan 18;326(7381):142-145 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>12531848</u>]
- 11. Chmiel AS, Shaha M, Schneider DK. Introduction of blended learning in a master program: developing an integrative mixed method evaluation framework. Nurse Educ Today 2017 Jan;48:172-179. [doi: 10.1016/j.nedt.2016.10.008]
- 12. Piech C, Huang J, Chen Z, Do C, Ng A, Koller D. Tuned models of peer assessment in MOOCs. 2013 Presented at: The 6th International Conference on Educational Data Mining; July 6-9, 2013; Memphis, Tennessee URL: <u>http://www.educationaldatamining.org/EDM2013/papers/rn\_paper\_23.pdf</u>
- 13. Clow D. MOOCs and the funnel of participation. 2013 Presented at: Third Conference on Learning Analytics and Knowledge; April 8-12; Leuven URL: <u>http://oro.open.ac.uk/36657/1/dougclow-lak13-revised-submitted.pdf</u>
- 14. Who.int. Short and longer courses of study URL: <u>http://www.who.int/management/newitems/en/index1.html</u> [accessed 2017-11-13] [WebCite Cache ID 6uwJMt1yG]
- 15. Ramesh A, Goldwasser D, Huang B, Daume III H, Getoor L. Learning latent engagement patterns of students in online courses. Cambridge, MA: AAAI Press; 2014 Presented at: Proceedings of the Twenty-Eighth AAAI Conference on Artificial Intelligence; July 27-31; Québec, Canada URL: <u>https://www.cs.purdue.edu/homes/dgoldwas/papers/RGHDGAAAI14.pdf</u>
- Admiraal W, Huisman B, Pilli O. Assessment in massive open online courses. Electron J E-learn 2015;13(4):207-216 [FREE Full text]
- Christensen G, Steinmetz A, Alcorn B, Bennett A, Woods D, Emanuel EJ. Hdl.voced.edu.au. The MOOC phenomenon: who takes massive open online courses and why? URL: <u>http://hdl.voced.edu.au/10707/279356</u> [accessed 2017-11-13] [WebCite Cache ID 6uwJh9Pz1]
- 18. Cole J, Foster H. Using Moodle: Teaching with the Popular Open Source Course Management System. Sebastopol, CA: O'Reilly Media; 2005.
- Zahn C, Krauskopf K, Kiener J, Hesse F. Designing video for massive open online education: conceptual challenges from a learner-centered perspective. 2014 Presented at: European MOOC Stakeholders Summit; February 10-12; Lausanne, Switzerland.
- Seaton DT, Rodenius AJ, Coleman CA, Pritchard DE, Chuang I. Analysis of video use in edX courses. 2013 Presented at: MOOCshop; July 9; Memphis, Tennessee URL: <u>https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/e249/</u> <u>e7d5d30ededa4598f961614b6a095fe62136.pdf</u>
- 21. Seaton D, Nesterko S, Mullaney T, Reich J, Ho A, Chuang I. Characterizing video use in the catalogue of MITx MOOCs. 2014 Presented at: European MOOC Stakeholders Summit; Feb 10-12; Lausanne, Switzerland.
- 22. Moser-Mercer B. MOOCs in fragile contexts. 2014 Presented at: European MOOC Stakeholders Summit; Feb 10-12; Lausanne, Switzerland URL: <u>http://www.unige.ch/inzone/files/9514/8965/4778/MOOCsinFragileContexts.pdf</u>
- 23. Ucl.ac.uk. Evidence-based healthcare MSc URL: <u>http://www.ucl.ac.uk/prospective-students/graduate/taught/degrees/</u> evidence-based-healthcare-msc [accessed 2017-11-13] [WebCite Cache ID 6uwJr3BGb]

#### Abbreviations

**CD-ROM:** Compact Disc Read-Only Memory **MOOC:** massive open online courses **OECD:** Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development



RenderX

Edited by TR Soron; submitted 19.07.17; peer-reviewed by A Benis, R Abdul Manaf; comments to author 27.09.17; revised version received 20.11.17; accepted 01.12.17; published 26.01.18. <u>Please cite as:</u> Tam G, Chan EYY, Liu S A Web-Based Course on Public Health Principles in Disaster and Medical Humanitarian Response: Survey Among Students and Faculty JMIR Med Educ 2018;4(1):e2 URL: http://mededu.jmir.org/2018/1/e2/ doi:10.2196/mededu.8495 PMID:29374007

©Greta Tam, Emily Ying Yang Chan, Sida Liu. Originally published in JMIR Medical Education (http://mededu.jmir.org), 26.01.2018. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Medical Education, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://mededu.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



# Jordan Field Epidemiology Training Program: Critical Role in National and Regional Capacity Building

Mohannad Al Nsour<sup>1\*</sup>, MD, PhD; Ibrahim Iblan<sup>2</sup>, MPH; Mohammed Rasoul Tarawneh<sup>2\*</sup>, MPH, MD

<sup>1</sup>Eastern Mediterranean Public Health Network, Amman, Jordan

<sup>2</sup>Community Medicine, Jordan Ministry of Health, Amman, Jordan

<sup>\*</sup>these authors contributed equally

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Mohannad Al Nsour, MD, PhD Eastern Mediterranean Public Health Network Abdallah Ben Abbas St, Building No 42 Amman, Jordan Phone: 962 77 546 3000 Email: <u>executive.director@globalhealthdev.org</u>

# Abstract

Field Epidemiology Training Programs (FETPs) are 2-year training programs in applied epidemiology, established with the purpose of increasing a country's capacity within the public health workforce to detect and respond to health threats and develop internal expertise in field epidemiology. The Jordan Ministry of Health, in partnership with the US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, started the Jordan FETP (J-FETP) in 1998. Since then, it has achieved a high standard of success and has been established as a model for FETPs in the Eastern Mediterranean Region. Here we describe the J-FETP, its role in building the epidemiologic capacity of Jordan's public health workforce, and its activities and achievements, which have grown the program to be self-sustaining within the Jordan Ministry of Health. Since its inception, the program's residents and graduates have assisted the country to improve its surveillance systems, including revising the mortality surveillance policy, implementing the use of electronic data reporting, investigating outbreaks at national and regional levels, contributing to noncommunicable disease research and surveillance, and responding to regional emergencies and disasters. J-FETP's structure and systems of support from the Jordan Ministry of Health and local, regional, and international partners have contributed to the success and sustainability of the J-FETP. The J-FETP has contributed significantly to improvements in surveillance systems, control of infectious diseases, outbreak investigations, and availability of reliable morbidity and mortality data in Jordan. Moreover, the program has supported public health and epidemiology in the Eastern Mediterranean Region. Best practices of the J-FETP can be applied to FETPs throughout the world.

#### (JMIR Med Educ 2018;4(1):e12) doi:10.2196/mededu.9516

#### **KEYWORDS**

field epidemiology; training program; education; capacity building; disease outbreaks; public health surveillance; epidemiological monitoring; Jordan

# Introduction

The Field Epidemiology Training Program (FETP) is a 2-year training program in applied epidemiology, modeled after the US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention's (CDC) Epidemic Intelligence Service [1]. The purpose of the FETP is to increase the epidemiologic capacity of a country's public health workforce to detect and respond to health threats and develop internal expertise in field epidemiology [2]. FETPs' curricula aim at improving public health systems and developing professional skills to ensure the country meets surveillance and

```
http://mededu.jmir.org/2018/1/e12/
```

RenderX

response requirements. The programs are established within national ministries of health and may access technical assistance from the CDC.

The model of the FETP is "learning by doing," through which a selected group of Ministry of Health public health professionals, called residents, participate in a combination of classroom instruction (25%) and fieldwork (75%) [3]. FETP curricula can be individualized to fit the needs of the country, but the common goal of each program is to improve surveillance systems, outbreak investigations, disease response, and data reporting. A large part of the program is the field component,

which exposes the residents to real-time experiences where they learn to detect and respond to diverse public health events. On graduation from the program, the residents are skilled in applied epidemiology and are highly qualified for government-level public health positions; globally, more than 80% of FETP graduates work in government and many obtain leadership positions within national health systems [1].

The Jordan FETP (J-FETP) was established in 1998 with funding from the US Agency for International Development's Jordan mission and with technical assistance from the CDC. The first cohort graduated 6 residents at the completion of the 2-year training. The J-FETP was supported by a CDC-assigned Resident Advisor from 1998 until 2007.

Since its inception in 1998, the J-FETP has been significantly transformed and expanded through 4 distinct phases. The initial phase, Jordan Data for Decision Making (J-DDM) Project (phase I), which ran from 1998 to 2001, comprised 2 separate programs: the J-FETP and the J-DDM program. The focus at that time was to improve the use of data at all levels of the Jordan Ministry of Health. From 2001 to 2004, the FETP was in its second phase as the Jordan Surveillance Project (phase II) and expanded its scope to include communicable and noncommunicable disease surveillance. Two major systems, the Mortality Surveillance System and the Behavioral Risk Factors Surveillance System, were put in place. In 2004 (phase III), the program was renamed the Jordan Applied Epidemiology Project, with an enhanced focus on surveillance systems. The current phase (phase IV) of the FETP is marked by the departure of the CDC-assigned

Resident Advisor, demonstrating a sustainable and institutionalized J-FETP. As of 2007, the program became fully sustained and is being run by the Jordan Ministry of Health.

Today, the J-FETP is housed within the Ministry of Health in the Primary Health Care Administration. The program is led by the J-FETP Coordinator, a Ministry of Health official. The program uses the standard CDC FETP curriculum with modifications and case studies based on needs assessments of Jordan's public health status. By 2017, the program had graduated a total of 63 physicians (Figure 1), with 17 residents in training. All residents who have enrolled in the program so far have been physicians, with the exception of 2 veterinarians, who enrolled during the height of the influenza epidemic in 2007. Of the graduates, 62% (39/63) work as epidemiologists at the central or governorate level of the Jordan Ministry of Health. Jordan is one of the few countries in the region that meets the international public health standard of 1 field epidemiologist per 200,000 people, with at least one FETP graduate working in 8 of the 12 governorates. All of the remaining graduates work in the region: 16% (10/63) at the government level, 13% (8/63) as regional epidemiologic experts, and 10% (6/63) with international nongovernmental organizations. The J-FETP is currently training its 13th cohort, with 14 physicians enrolled. The Ministry of Health recently incorporated the FETP into the Community Medicine Residency Program as part of the Jordan Medical Council. As a result, the J-FETP program is now accredited as a training program for the Jordanian Board Certificate in community medicine.





RenderX

Graduates of FETP will have completed 2 years toward the community medicine certificate, creating an additional financial and career benefit for FETP residents. Integration of FETP and the Jordanian Board Certificate in community medicine has made the program an appealing option for young and motivated physicians.

Up to the end of 2017, a total 63 persons had graduated from the FETP program and 17 persons are currently enrolled in the residency program. Of the total graduates, 54 were from Jordan, 2 from Palestinian territories, 2 from Iraq, 3 from Yemen, and 2 from Syria. All were physicians except for 2, who were veterinaries. Of all graduates, 62% (39/63) are working at the central or governorate level of the national health system. All graduates who are at the Ministry of Health have management positions. A total of 6 graduates are working with international organizations.

Here we describe the J-FETP, its role in building the epidemiologic capacity of Jordan's public health workforce, and its activities and achievements.

# The Jordan Field Epidemiology Training Program

The major function of the J-FETP is to improve reporting and surveillance systems, and prepare the country for outbreak investigations.

#### **Outbreak Investigations**

J-FETP graduates and residents are critical contributors to outbreak investigation in Jordan and the region. J-FETP residents are trained in proper outbreak investigation practices as part of the FETP curriculum, and residents as well as graduates are called upon regularly to investigate and respond to public health issues related to crises and emergencies.

The J-FETP residents and graduates are able to quickly detect outbreaks, collect and interpret data, then communicate with the Primary Health Care Administration on the proper response to disease outbreaks. With assistance from CDC's Outbreak Response and Prevention Branch and the World Health Organization, the J-FETP and the Ministry of Health established 5 sentinel sites in Jordan to detect and respond to foodborne illness.

The J-FETP has been a major resource in the investigation of the regional outbreak of Middle East respiratory syndrome coronavirus (MERS-CoV). In collaboration with the CDC, Jordan Ministry of Health, and the Eastern Mediterranean Public Health Network (EMPHNET), J-FETP has formed a Jordan MERS-CoV team. The J-FETP has conducted retrospective serologic and epidemiologic studies of the virus, resulting in an improved understanding of the etiology and mode of transmission of MERS-CoV, nationally and globally. J-FETP contributed to 2 investigative reports on MERS-CoV, published by the Oxford University Press. The first, "Hospital-associated outbreak of Middle East respiratory syndrome coronavirus: a serologic epidemiologic, and clinical description," found that 9 cases of a hospital-associated respiratory illness outbreak in Jordan in 2012 were positive for MERS-CoV [4]. A second

http://mededu.jmir.org/2018/1/e12/

report, "Stillbirth during infection with Middle East respiratory syndrome coronavirus," investigated the first recorded occurrence of stillbirth during infection with MERS-CoV [5]. J-FETP coleads the MERS-CoV outbreak investigation in the country.

#### The Syrian Refugee Crisis

As of a July 2014, there are over 600,000 Syrian refugees in Jordan, with the majority living in host communities throughout Jordan. The Jordan Ministry of Health provides free health care to Syrian refugees in Jordan to support the health needs of the displaced population. The Ministry of Health facilities experience the burden of addressing the unique health profile of Syrian refugees and require support in optimizing their capacity. The J-FETP established a system for collecting and reporting data regarding Syrian refugee care at Ministry of Health facilities. An FETP focal point in local governorates reports data regarding refugee health care at Ministry of Health facilities to the Primary Health Care Administration. The data inform the Jordan Ministry of Health of health trends among the Syrian population such as potential disease outbreaks, access to Ministry of Health facilities by the refugee population, and the type of care provided. With this information, the Jordan Ministry of Health is able to respond to the needs of the Syrian refugee population, prevent major population health issues, and identify needs for increased health facility capacity. The Ministry of Health is also able to communicate monthly data reports to international nongovernmental organizations to enable a collaborative humanitarian response.

#### Improvements in Surveillance Systems

The J-FETP has made advancements in health data surveillance that are well recognized in the Eastern Mediterranean Region. From the start of the J-FETP program in 1998, residents began to evaluate and plan for improvements in Jordan's health surveillance systems as part of their fieldwork and training. Efforts were made to improve the collection and analysis of, and response to, surveillance data.

Mortality and morbidity data are an essential component of health information systems and are essential in identifying national and local health needs [6]. It has been estimated that noncommunicable diseases, including cardiovascular disease, cancer, diabetes, and chronic respiratory diseases, account for 60% of total deaths in Jordan [7]. J-FETP has recognized the burden of noncommunicable diseases, assessed the trend of major diseases, and addressed the concern at the national and local government levels [8]. J-FETP has led the implementation of 3 Behavioral Risk Factors Surveillance System surveys to identify the population behaviors causing noncommunicable diseases and to assess the changes in the pattern of noncommunicable diseases. The survey was designed and conducted by J-FETP residents in 2002, 2004, and 2007. Major findings of the 2002 and 2004 surveys were published in the CDC's Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report [9,10], and the 2007 survey findings were published in the CDC's Preventing Chronic Disease journal [11]. The survey results were accessed by public health officers to provide government and policy decision makers with evidence-based information used in the context of determining national health priorities, as well as

XSL•FO RenderX

planning, evaluating, and monitoring country health programs. In response to the survey findings, the Non-Communicable Disease Directorate was established in the Ministry of Health in 2005. The Directorate is responsible for monitoring noncommunicable disease surveillance and implementing noncommunicable disease reduction programs. The Directorate is led by a J-FETP graduate, and J-FETP residents spend a portion of their training working within the Directorate.

Moreover, improvement in the surveillance systems resulted in appropriate data to study the trends of diseases and assess their burden. Such data have been used by many investigators who studied the disease trends and published their research in reputable journals. Recently, in 2017, 2 papers were published on the trends of cancer using the surveillance data [12,13].

The J-FETP has played a vital role in improving mortality data in Jordan [6]. J-FETP residents have examined and analyzed mortality data systems and death certificates in Jordan. The findings of the J-FETP projects led to a major review of mortality surveillance and a national effort to establish a modified system. In 2001, the Jordanian parliament passed a civil registration law that regulated death reporting, burial permits, and death certificates based on the recommendations of the J-FETP, demonstrating the feasibility of updating a national mortality statistics system. The death notification form was revised to comply with international standards, and the Jordan mortality surveillance system has been presented at a number of international conferences [8]. The updated procedures required better accuracy and completeness of reporting. Today, the Mortality Surveillance Unit is headed by a J-FETP graduate.

As a result, residents and graduates have been recognized for their applied epidemiology projects in surveillance systems in a number of international conferences, including events hosted by Training Programs in Epidemiology and Public Health Inventions Network, EMPHNET, the International Epidemiological Association, and the CDC Behavioral Risk Factors Surveillance System. Notable applied epidemiology projects include outbreak investigations, and evaluation of surveillance systems, mortality, noncommunicable diseases, and injuries.

#### The Jordan Infectious Disease Information System

The J-FETP recognized the need for surveillance and reporting at the local levels, as well as strong communication to the central government. For this reason, the Jordan Infectious Disease Information System (JIDIS) was created. The electronic database was installed at the local and central directorates to track cases of infectious disease. All cases of infectious disease are recorded by Ministry of Health facility staff in the JIDIS.

Each week, the FETP residents collect, examine, and organize the data from the JIDIS into a presentation for the Directorate of Communicable Diseases at the Ministry of Health. The weekly presentation communicates all cases of infectious disease throughout the country, by governorate. During each meeting, Ministry of Health officials analyze the data and discuss action or follow-up needed on any issues of concern. The central national laboratory attends the meetings as well, in order to enhance coordination between the epidemiologists and

http://mededu.jmir.org/2018/1/e12/

laboratory staff. Based on the information from the JIDIS, J-FETP residents produce communicable disease reports, which are published on the Ministry of Health website.

#### The Jordan Data for Decision Making Program

Established at the same time as the J-FETP, the J-DDM program was put in place to increase the effective use of data in setting health priorities and policies in Jordan. The program, which is supported by the CDC, encourages making cost-effective decisions on the allocation of resources to optimize the capacity of Jordan's health system. While the FETP program is a 2-year program primarily for physicians who will transition into leadership positions in the government, the J-DDM program is a 12-month on-the-job training program with 5 to 6 weeks of classroom instruction, catered to midcareer health officers at the governorate and district level. These health professionals are trained in basic epidemiology, surveillance, data collection, and analysis.

The J-DDM program and J-FETP function cohesively with one another, as joint classroom sessions are conducted when appropriate. Additionally, the J-FETP residents act as facilitators and trainers throughout the J-DDM program instruction, in addition to acting as mentors to the J-DDM participants.

The J-DDM program has graduated 53 midlevel professionals through 3 cohorts since its establishment in 1998. In recent years, the J-DDM program has contributed to progressive policy changes with regard to national health. The program has trained Ministry of Health hospital personnel and established a hospital infection control surveillance system at the local levels. Notable examples of J-DDM research are a project in Balqa, Jordan, that led to increased reporting of modifiable disease from the private sector, and a report on rubella among government school teachers that resulted in revision to the national policy on teachers' sick leave.

#### **Regional Contributions**

The J-FETP is a major source of support in public health and epidemiology in the Eastern Mediterranean Region. The J-FETP has supported regional investigations, response, and surveillance through resident and graduate expertise, and has hosted a number of residents from neighboring FETP programs.

In 2002, the J-FETP hosted 2 residents from the Palestinian territories, 1 resident from Gaza and 1 from the West Bank. The residents completed their first year of training with the J-FETP and then returned to their homes, where they completed their second year while conducting fieldwork on surveillance. After the program, each graduate went on to lead surveillance units in Gaza and the West Bank. J-FETP supported Iraq in increasing its public health capacity through enrolling 3 Iraqi physicians into the program. The 3 residents completed the program alongside their Jordanian counterparts, during which time they conducted and published investigations in Iraq on thallium poisoning (in 2008) [14] and a cholera outbreak in 2008 (F Al-lami, written communication, December 2017). J-FETP continued to offer assistance and guidance to Iraq as it established its own FETP in 2010, led by one of the Iraqi graduates of the J-FETP. Moreover, the J-FETP hosted 3 Yemeni residents. During their stay in Jordan at the Ministry

XSL•FO RenderX

of Health, Yemeni residents in turn participated in outbreak investigations in Jordan, diversifying their skills and obtaining exposure to a range of public health concerns. The Yemeni residents completed their second year in their home country, bringing their new skills and experience back to their national Ministry of Health. The residents went on to lead a major investigation of a dengue fever outbreak and presented a comprehensive report of dengue fever along the Red and Arabian seas at the EMPHNET regional conference in 2011 [15]. In addition, J-FETP also enrolled 2 Syrians as residents in the program in 2011 with a long-term plan of starting an FETP in Syria. Though the current Syrian crisis has halted efforts to establish an FETP, Jordan remains supportive of public health professionals in neighboring countries.

Beyond training residents from countries in the region, the J-FETP has extended its support to regional outbreak investigations. The J-FETP sends graduates and residents to countries throughout the region to participate in multinational investigations in coordination with the World Health Organization and international nongovernmental organizations. EMPHNET, the network that supports the strengthening of FETPs in the Eastern Mediterranean Region, is headquartered in Amman, Jordan, and therefore the J-FETP has access to additional resources to support its capacity and impact.

# Conclusion

The J-FETP has developed immensely since its inception in 1998; today the program is regarded as a model for FETPs in the region. The success of the program is a result of many factors. First, the health system in Jordan is considered to be one of the strongest in the region. The health system is widely accessed by the population, and the Ministry of Health provides 61% of all health care [16]. The health system is comparatively well funded by the national government; with 7.72% of its gross domestic product spent on health care, Jordan has among the highest public health spending levels in the Eastern Mediterranean Region. With a relatively strong Ministry of Health, the J-FETP is well supported at the central government level and can expect attention and action in response to FETP

studies and findings. Second, the J-FETP has accessed a strong pool of qualified physicians to enroll and graduate from the program. A strong system of support and technical assistance from the CDC and regional organizations such as EMPHNET has provided J-FETP with resources for growth and development.

Despite the success of the J-FETP and the accomplishments of the Jordan Ministry of Health, there remains a shortage of skilled epidemiologists in Jordan. Political unrest and humanitarian crises in the region add complexity to the public health needs in Jordan and the Eastern Mediterranean Region. The prolonged existence of these regional issues will further increase the demand for an enhanced public health response, requiring experts with field experience who are trained in outbreak emergency response. surveillance, and investigation, Additionally, as Jordan witnesses an increase in the burden of noncommunicable diseases and morbidity due to injury, J-FETP must support the Ministry of Health in addressing these health issues at the national and local levels.

As J-FETP looked to enroll a new cohort in 2017, the program intensified eligibility requirements to recruit and assess the most qualified physicians in the country. The program's primary challenge moving forward will be to ensure the sustainability of the J-FETP through appropriate internal and external funding, and ongoing improvements to the curriculum and program function.

Although this report describes the activities and achievements of J-FETP, no evaluation study has been conducted to assess and document the performance and impact of the J-FETP. Therefore, we recommended conducting a comprehensive evaluation of the J-FETP's impact on human resources and health services in Jordan.

In conclusion, the J-FETP has contributed significantly to improvements in surveillance systems, control of infectious diseases, outbreak investigations, and the availability of reliable morbidity and mortality data in Jordan. Moreover, the program has supported public health and epidemiology in the Eastern Mediterranean Region.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

#### References

- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Field Epidemiology Training Program. Atlanta, GA: US Department of Health and Human Services; 2016. URL: <u>http://www.cdc.gov/globalhealth/fetp/</u> [accessed 2018-01-27] [WebCite Cache ID <u>6wmfixPyH</u>]
- 2. White ME, McDonnell SM, Werker DH, Cardenas VM, Thacker SB. Partnerships in international applied epidemiology training and service, 1975-2001. Am J Epidemiol 2001 Dec 01;154(11):993-999. [Medline: <u>11724714</u>]
- 3. Walke HT, Simone PM. Building capacity in field epidemiology: lessons learned from the experience in Europe. Euro Surveill 2009 Oct 29;14(43) [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>19883562</u>]
- Al-Abdallat MM, Payne DC, Alqasrawi S, Rha B, Tohme RA, Abedi GR, Jordan MERS-CoV Investigation Team. Hospital-associated outbreak of Middle East respiratory syndrome coronavirus: a serologic, epidemiologic, and clinical description. Clin Infect Dis 2014 Nov 01;59(9):1225-1233 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/cid/ciu359] [Medline: 24829216]

RenderX

- Payne DC, Iblan I, Alqasrawi S, Al Nsour M, Rha B, Tohme RA, Jordan MERS-CoV Investigation Team. Stillbirth during infection with Middle East respiratory syndrome coronavirus. J Infect Dis 2014 Jun 15;209(12):1870-1872 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/infdis/jiu068] [Medline: 24474813]
- Groenewald P, Bradshaw D, Daniels J, Zinyakatira N, Matzopoulos R, Bourne D, et al. Local-level mortality surveillance in resource-limited settings: a case study of Cape Town highlights disparities in health. Bull World Health Organ 2010 Jun;88(6):444-451 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2471/BLT.09.069435] [Medline: 20539858]
- 7. World Health Organization. Noncommunicable diseases (NCD) country profiles, 2014. Jordan. Geneva, Switzerland: WHO; 2014. URL: <u>http://www.who.int/nmh/countries/jor\_en.pdf</u> [accessed 2018-01-27] [WebCite Cache ID 6wmfwPiyb]
- Sharkas G, Tarawneh M, Arqoub K, Nimri O, Al-Zughul M. Epidemiology of thyroid cancer in Jordan from 1996 to 2008. Middle East J Cancer (3 & 4) 2011;2:117-123. [doi: <u>10.13140/RG.2.1.2337.2325</u>]
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Prevalence of selected risk factors for chronic disease--Jordan, 2002. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2003 Oct 31;52(43):1042-1044 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>14586296</u>]
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Assessing risk factors for chronic disease--Jordan, 2004. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2006 Jun 16;55(23):653-655 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>16775577</u>]
- Al-Nsour M, Zindah M, Belbeisi A, Hadaddin R, Brown DW, Walke H. Prevalence of selected chronic, noncommunicable disease risk factors in Jordan: results of the 2007 Jordan Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance Survey. Prev Chronic Dis 2012;9:E25 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>22172192</u>]
- Sharkas G, Arqoub K, Khader Y, Nimri O, Shroukh W, Jadallah H, et al. Trends in the incidence of cervical cancer in Jordan, 2000-2013. J Oncol 2017;2017:6827384 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2017/6827384] [Medline: 28932241]
- 13. Sharkas GF, Arqoub KH, Khader YS, Tarawneh MR, Nimri OF, Al-Zaghal MJ, et al. Colorectal cancer in Jordan: survival rate and its related factors. J Oncol 2017;2017:3180762 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2017/3180762] [Medline: 28458690]
- 14. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Thallium poisoning from eating contaminated cake--Iraq, 2008. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2008 Sep 19;57(37):1015-1018 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>18802411</u>]
- Al Nsour M, Kaiser R, Abd EE, Walke H, Kandeel A, Bloland R. Highlights and conclusions from the Eastern Mediterranean Public Health Network (EMPHNET) conference 2011. East Mediterr Health J 2012 Feb;18(2):189-191 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 22571098]
- 16. United Nations and Jordan Ministry of Planning and International Cooperation. Needs assessment review of the impact of the Syrian Crisis in Jordan. 2013 Nov. URL: <u>http://www.arabstates.undp.org/content/dam/rbas/doc/SyriaResponse/</u> Jordan%20Needs%20Assessment%20-%20November%202013.pdf [accessed 2018-01-27] [WebCite Cache ID 6wmg4mclX]

#### Abbreviations

CDC: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention EMPHNET: Eastern Mediterranean Public Health Network FETP: Field Epidemiology Training Program J-DDM: Jordan Data for Decision Making J-FETP: Jordan Field Epidemiology Training Program JIDIS: Jordan Infectious Disease Information System MERS-CoV: Middle East respiratory syndrome coronavirus

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 27.11.17; peer-reviewed by S Abdulrahman, H Akram; comments to author 11.01.18; revised version received 28.01.18; accepted 08.02.18; published 11.04.18.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Al Nsour M, Iblan I, Tarawneh MR Jordan Field Epidemiology Training Program: Critical Role in National and Regional Capacity Building JMIR Med Educ 2018;4(1):e12 URL: <u>http://mededu.jmir.org/2018/1/e12/</u> doi:<u>10.2196/mededu.9516</u> PMID:29643050

©Mohannad Al Nsour, Ibrahim Iblan, Mohammed Rasoul Tarawneh. Originally published in JMIR Medical Education (http://mededu.jmir.org), 11.04.2018. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Medical Education, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://mededu.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

# Resident and Attending Physicians' Perceptions of Patient Access to Provider Notes: Comparison of Perceptions Prior to Pilot Implementation

Deepa Rani Nandiwada<sup>1</sup>, MD, MS; Gary S Fischer<sup>2</sup>, MD; Glenn Updike<sup>3</sup>, MD; Margaret B Conroy<sup>4</sup>, MD, MPH

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Deepa Rani Nandiwada, MD, MS Department of Medicine University of Pennsylvania Perelman School of Medicine 51 North 39th Street MAB 102 Philadelphia, PA, 19104 United States Phone: 1 9082163443 Email: deepa.nandiwada@uphs.upenn.edu

# Abstract

**Background:** As electronic health records have become a more integral part of a physician's daily life, new electronic health record tools will continue to be rolled out to trainees. Patient access to provider notes is becoming a more widespread practice because this has been shown to increase patient empowerment.

**Objective:** In this analysis, we compared differences between resident and attending physicians' perceptions prior to implementation of patient access to provider notes to facilitate optimal use of electronic health record features and as a potential for patient empowerment.

**Methods:** This was a single-site study within an academic internal medicine program. Prior to implementation of patient access to provider notes, we surveyed resident and attending physicians to assess differences in perceptions of this new electronic health record tool using an open access survey provided by OpenNotes.

**Results:** We surveyed 37% (20/54 total) of resident physicians and obtained a 100% response rate and 72% (31/44 total) of attending physicians. Similarities between the groups included concerns about documenting sensitive topics and anticipation of improved patient engagement. Compared with attending physicians, resident physicians were more concerned about litigation, discussing weight, offending patients, and communicated less overall with patients through electronic health record.

**Conclusions:** Patient access to provider notes has the potential to empower patients but concerns of the resident physicians need to be validated and addressed prior to its utilization.

(JMIR Med Educ 2018;4(1):e15) doi:10.2196/mededu.8904

#### KEYWORDS

access to information; electronic health records; physicians; internal medicine; surveys and questionnaires

# Introduction

Electronic health records (EHRs) have become a part of daily life for physicians practicing in today's technological era. EHRs are used for documentation and billing but can also increase patient engagement through portals that allow patients to contact

http://mededu.jmir.org/2018/1/e15/

RenderX

physicians, review lab work, and perform other tasks. Recent studies have shown that patients with access to their notes feel more engaged to work as a team with their health care providers. In 2012, the OpenNotes study gave nearly 20,000 patients access to their clinical notes through a patient portal. Overall, the study showed that patients were empowered by access to their notes

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Department of Medicine, University of Pennsylvania Perelman School of Medicine, Philadelphia, PA, United States

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Division of General Internal Medicine, University of Pittsburgh School of Medicine, Pittsburgh, PA, United States

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Department of Obstetrics, Gynecology, & Reproductive Sciences, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, United States

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Department of Medicine, University of Utah, Salt Lake City, UT, United States

and were more likely to follow their respective care plans. Provider concerns regarding increased time burden, patient concerns about note content, and documentation challenges were less significant than anticipated. In fact, most providers opted to continue offering their patients access to their notes after the study period concluded [1,2,3,4].

The initial OpenNotes evaluations did not evaluate perceptions of the resident physicians. As use of open clinical notes becomes more prevalent in both community and academic centers, it is imperative to evaluate perceptions of providers at all levels of training to identify barriers for comfort using OpenNotes and opportunities for education. Few studies till date have assessed internal medicine residents' perceptions of open clinical notes and compared their perceptions with those of attending physicians [5].

In this study, we evaluated differences in the perceptions of resident and attending physicians prior to implementation of patient access to provider notes to identify potential targets for curricular interventions and facilitate optimal use of EHR features while increasing patient empowerment.

# Methods

#### **Study Design**

Since November 2014, office notes in our primary academic general internal medicine clinic were made available to patients through our secure patient portal. The faculty practice clinic had 54 resident and 44 attending physicians when the pilot began. Attending physicians had 3 faculty meetings set up in the months prior to roll-out of the pilot to provide feedback and address concerns related to implementation of OpenNotes. A tip sheet derived from the OpenNotes Frequently Asked Questions resources was provided and reviewed prior to roll-out. Residents had a 20-min introduction session immediately before pilot roll-out and were also provided a tip sheet. The session and tip sheets for both groups of doctors informed them how they could document sensitive topics in a special section of the chart that would remain inaccessible to patients. A standardized survey which is publically available was provided to all physicians to assess their perceptions of current practices, benefits, patient impact, and barriers to the use of open clinical notes prior to roll-out. There were 3 free response comment sections within the survey. The OpenNotes provider survey covered many possible perceived barriers such as time, addressing sensitive issues in notes, and liability. Live surveys were distributed to the attending physicians during their regularly scheduled faculty meetings and were given to the resident physicians at the start of the 20-min introduction session. This study was reviewed by the University of Pittsburgh Quality Improvement (QI) Review Board and was deemed a QI project; therefore, it was exempt from review by the Institutional Review Board. Participation in the survey was optional.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

Descriptive statistics were generated evaluating the frequency of each response. Fisher's exact and Chi-square tests were used to determine significant differences between the responses of the attending and resident physicians. We collapsed categories of responses on survey items so that "Disagree" included disagree and somewhat disagree and "Agree" included agree and somewhat agree. Concern responses were divided so that "Not Concerned" included "not concerned" and "minimally concerned" whereas "Concerned" included "moderately," "very," and "so concerned I do not want OpenNotes." Data analysis was performed using SAS version 9.4.

### Results

A convenience sample of residents who were on their ambulatory block pre-implementation reached 37% (20/54) of resident physicians within our academic practice, with a 100% resident response rate. We obtained an overall response rate of 72% (31/44) for all our attending physicians. Of the combined group, 86% (44/51) agreed that they anticipated that OpenNotes could empower patients and help them better understand their respective care plans; 63% (44/51) expected that access to notes would make their patients worry more; 82% (42/51) were concerned that their patients would contact them with questions about the notes postimplementation. Both groups stated they anticipated changing their documentation about sensitive topics including cancer (31/51, 61%), mental health (36/51, 70%), and substance abuse (36/51, 70%).

Between resident and attending physicians, there were some significant differences in survey responses. Resident physicians were more concerned than attending physicians about patients being offended by the contents of notes (50% [10/20] vs 23% [7/31]; P=.005). Resident physicians also perceived an increased risk of litigation (50% [10/20] vs 13% [4/31]; P=.01). Overall, 53% (16/31) of the attending physicians reported that they communicated almost daily with patients electronically compared with 0% (0/20) of the resident physicians (P<.0001). Regarding sensitive topics, the resident physicians felt more likely to change documentation about weight than the attending physicians (65% [13/20] vs 34% [10/30]; P=.03; Figure 1).

We analyzed a total of 30 separate entries for the 3 free response questions (questions 14, 31, 42). Two reviewers (DRN, MC) reviewed the comments and placed them within broad response categories. A major response category was concerns about more work with little yield or impact on patient outcomes but with an anticipation of increased patient empowerment. One provider stated that "notes will be longer, less helpful for reference later, as [I] may leave out things to make [the patient] happy."

Another provider noted a personal experience stating, "Midwife let me look at my chart–allowed me to ask better questions."

Another category increased patient confusion or concerns with note interpretation such as how to approach sensitive topics and medical terminology use. Comments included, "same issues as bedside rounds of mixing doctor speak and lay terms," and "[I will be] less honest about feelings on sensitive topics."



Figure 1. OpenNotes domains in which resident physicians report greater concerns than attending physicians. Results show those who either agree (agree and somewhat agree) or are concerned (moderately, very, and so concerned I do not want to open notes).



During the introduction session, resident physicians expressed significant concerns about how much additional work OpenNotes would create for them and how they would have to change major portions of their documentation. Many questions came up during the debriefing, primarily related to legal concerns and patient misinterpretation of their notes, which correlated with survey responses.

# Discussion

RenderX

Although resident and attending physicians shared some of the same perceptions about OpenNotes, we found some significant differences. Both groups felt that OpenNotes had the potential to empower patients but were concerned about discussing

```
http://mededu.jmir.org/2018/1/e15/
```

sensitive topics in the notes. Our results corroborate with a recent qualitative analysis that showed that both attending and resident physicians were concerned about offending patients and potential litigation but felt that OpenNotes could be empowering [5]. However, our results showed that resident physicians expressed significantly more discomfort than attending physicians regarding litigation, discussing obesity, and offending their patients. Overall, our results are similar to those by Walker et al [1] that further validated our representative sample and revealed anticipation of improved patient communication and education, along with concerns about increased patient questions and litigation.

Differences in how OpenNotes was introduced to attending and resident physicians may have influenced the perception of OpenNotes. Our attending physicians were given several months to discuss potential opportunities and challenges surrounding the program, and their feedback was incorporated into logistical planning for the OpenNotes roll-out. Resident physicians, on the other hand, were introduced to OpenNotes as an initiative, regardless of their inputs. In the introduction session with the resident physicians, the overall response was of shock and concern about how much perceived additional work this would create for them and how they would have to significantly change their documentation style. To continue addressing these issues, we recommend open forums post-implementation to discuss the impact of OpenNotes on resident documentation or how patient feedback from the OpenNotes initiative could be helpful in alleviating many of these concerns. As seen in many post-implementation studies, most providers found that they made few, if any, changes to their notes post-implementation [4]. This also brings to light the need to include a more foundational curriculum addressing EHR and health portal use as patient engagement tools, medical-legal aspects of

documentation, and setting of expectations for what changes, if any, this should make on their current documentation practices. It is possible that some of these differences are related to the fact that compared with the attending physicians, the resident physicians in this study communicated with their patients significantly less outside of the clinic. This could have led to more discomfort with granting patients electronic access to their own notes. Overall, as initiatives like OpenNotes become more common, it is important to find better ways to address concerns of the resident physicians surrounding patient access portals so that providers will use these portals as tools for patient empowerment. This study has several limitations: single-center study; small sample size; and consisted of only resident physicians.

In order to prepare trainees to be comfortable with EHR features such as patient access to provider notes, concerns about documentation, litigation, and increased electronic communication need to be addressed and additional curricula need to be developed, highlighting how to use these features to empower patients prior to implementation.

#### **Authors' Contributions**

Each of the authors have contributed equally to this work from conception to manuscript development and editing.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

#### References

- Delbanco T, Walker J, Bell S, Darer J, Elmore J, Farag N, et al. Inviting patients to read their doctors' notes: a quasi-experimental study and a look ahead. Ann Intern Med 2012 Oct 02;157(7):461-470 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-157-7-201210020-00002] [Medline: 23027317]
- 2. Delbanco T, Walker J, Darer JD, Elmore JG, Feldman HJ, Leveille SG, et al. Open notes: doctors and patients signing on. Ann Intern Med 2010 Jul 20;153(2):121-125. [doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-153-2-201007200-00008]
- Esch T, Mejilla R, Anselmo M, Podtschaske B, Delbanco T, Walker J. Engaging patients through open notes: an evaluation using mixed methods. BMJ Open 2016 Jan 29;6(1):e010034 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2015-010034] [Medline: 26826154]
- 4. Walker J, Leveille SG, Ngo L, Vodicka E, Darer JD, Dhanireddy S, et al. Inviting patients to read their doctors' notes: patients and doctors look ahead: patient and physician surveys. Ann Intern Med 2011 Dec 20;155(12):811-819 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-155-12-201112200-00003] [Medline: 22184688]
- Crotty B, Anselmo M, Clarke D, Famiglio L, Flier L, Green J, et al. Opening Residents' Notes to Patients: A Qualitative Study of Resident and Faculty Physician Attitudes on Open Notes Implementation in Graduate Medical Education. Acad Med 2016 Mar;91(3):418-426. [doi: <u>10.1097/ACM.00000000000993</u>] [Medline: <u>26579794</u>]

#### Abbreviations

EHR: electronic health record


Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 05.09.17; peer-reviewed by B Crotty, J Walker, D Goergen; comments to author 01.10.17; revised version received 06.02.18; accepted 24.02.18; published 15.06.18. <u>Please cite as:</u> Nandiwada DR, Fischer GS, Updike G, Conroy MB Resident and Attending Physicians' Perceptions of Patient Access to Provider Notes: Comparison of Perceptions Prior to Pilot Implementation JMIR Med Educ 2018;4(1):e15

JMIR Med Educ 2018;4(1):e15 URL: <u>http://mededu.jmir.org/2018/1/e15/</u> doi:<u>10.2196/mededu.8904</u> PMID:<u>29907558</u>

©Deepa Rani Nandiwada, Gary S Fischer, Glenn Updike, Margaret B Conroy. Originally published in JMIR Medical Education (http://mededu.jmir.org), 15.06.2018. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Medical Education, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://mededu.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



**Original Paper** 

# Taking Constructivism One Step Further: Post Hoc Analysis of a Student-Created Wiki

Michael Pascoe<sup>1,2\*</sup>, PhD; Forrest Monroe<sup>3\*</sup>, MD; Helen Macfarlane<sup>4\*</sup>, MA

<sup>1</sup>Physical Therapy Program, School of Medicine, University of Colorado Anschutz Medical Campus, Aurora, CO, United States

<sup>2</sup>Modern Human Anatomy Program, Department of Cell and Development Biology, University of Colorado Anschutz Medical Campus, Aurora, CO, United States

<sup>3</sup>Department of Anesthesiology, School of Medicine, University of Kansas Medical Center, Kansas City, CO, United States

<sup>4</sup>School of Medicine, University of Colorado Anschutz Medical Campus, Aurora, CO, United States

<sup>\*</sup>all authors contributed equally

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Michael Pascoe, PhD Physical Therapy Program School of Medicine University of Colorado Anschutz Medical Campus 13121 E 17th Avenue Mailstop C244 Aurora, CO, 80045 United States Phone: 1 303 724 5978 Email: mike.pascoe@ucdenver.edu

## Abstract

**Background:** Wiki platform use has potential to improve student learning by improving engagement with course material. A student-created wiki was established to serve as a repository of study tools for students in a medical school curriculum. There is a scarcity of information describing student-led creation of wikis in medical education.

**Objective:** The aim is to characterize website traffic of a student-created wiki and evaluate student perceptions of usage via a short anonymous online survey.

**Methods:** Website analytics were used to track visitation statistics to the wiki and a survey was distributed to assess ease of use, interest in contributing to the wiki, and suggestions for improvement.

**Results:** Site traffic data indicated high usage, with a mean of 315 (SD 241) pageviews per day from July 2011 to March 2013 and 74,317 total user sessions. The mean session duration was 1.94 (SD 1.39) minutes. Comparing Fall 2011 to Fall 2012 sessions revealed a large increase in returning visitors (from 12,397 to 20,544, 65.7%) and sessions via mobile devices (831 to 1560, 87.7%). The survey received 164 responses; 88.0% (162/184) were aware of the wiki at the time of the survey. On average, respondents felt that the wiki was more useful in the preclinical years (mean 2.73, SD 1.25) than in the clinical years (mean 1.88, SD 1.12; P<.001). Perceived usefulness correlated with the percent of studying for which the respondent used electronic resources (Spearman  $\rho$ =.414, P<.001).

**Conclusions:** Overall, the wiki was a highly utilized, although informal, part of the curriculum with much room for improvement and future exploration.

(JMIR Med Educ 2018;4(1):e16) doi: 10.2196/mededu.9197

#### **KEYWORDS**

wiki; constructivist learning; medical education; analytics



## Introduction

#### Wiki Use and Underlying Educational Theory

Wikis belong to a broader class of "Web 2.0" online tools, which draw from social engagement of users to directly create and modify content, rather than the traditional model of publisher to consumer. Wikipedia (Wikimedia Foundation Inc, San Francisco, CA, USA) is the best-known wiki website. Web 2.0 tools and wikis have become very common not only among medical students, but also among physicians. One UK survey found that more than 80% of junior physicians used Web 2.0 tools for professional purposes, with wikis being the most common [1].

Wikis are supported by the constructivist model of learning, which states that students learn best by actively creating their own knowledge structures, in contrast to traditional behaviorism models in which education is a unidirectional flow of information from teacher to learner [2,3]. Wikis can take constructivism one step further by allowing students to collaboratively create and organize structures of knowledge. In constructivism, the entire learning process is self-directed by the learner. Wikis are a valuable supplement to classroom learning because they allow students to reformulate knowledge, integrate concepts across multiple lectures, and assure their understanding [4]. The potential for students to interact with one another through the wiki serves both a social and educational role. Students can create a "Folksonomy" (folk taxonomy) of information by tagging useful websites and resources for their peers, as opposed to a typical taxonomy of information bestowed in a top-down fashion from a lecturer or textbook [5]. Wikis can serve as part of a hybrid model between the traditional and constructivist learning environments by enabling students to self-organize and augment knowledge they receive from top-down teaching methods (Figure 1). Because teachers are also free to interact with a wiki, they too can participate by guiding the structure and content. Wikis can be powerful in the context of a course because they allow students to build on work by previous learners, creating a robust and refined document. In addition, wikis can provide task-specific benefits: when wikis were utilized for group work in a nursing program, students felt that it helped build knowledge, monitor progress, and avoid redundant work [6]. Because any user can edit any content, the wiki model allows those with the passion and knowledge to contribute to their colleagues' education. In addition, work is instantly subjected to an informal and perpetual peer-review process.

**Figure 1.** Models of learning in medical education. A wiki can serve as a hybrid model (C) between the traditional (A) and constructivist (B) learning environments by enabling learners to self-organize knowledge they receive from the teacher. The broken line in the hybrid model (C) represents the ability of the teacher to contribute and review information in the knowledge base.



Figure 2. Screenshots showing an example page of a curricular block (A) and content (B).







#### Wikis in Medical Education

Smaller and more focused wikis are becoming popular in many educational settings due to the collaboration and knowledge sharing they support. A wide variety of uses for wikis in

http://mededu.jmir.org/2018/1/e16/

XSL•FO RenderX education have been documented in the literature, including collectively annotating class reading, publishing syllabi and other class documents, concept mapping, resource sharing, and group authoring of documents [7]. Many researchers have published specifically within medical education and concluded

they have significant potential and require further study [8,9]. In addition, several medical school and graduate medical education residency program wikis are documented to contain large quantities of content with a large volume of Web traffic. For example, a medical student-initiated wiki had nearly 1600 pages and 1.2 million page views covering most aspects of their curriculum [10]. Other medical schools have utilized wikis in a more focused form. An elective at one medical school had students write brief appraisals of evidence that they then placed on Wikipedia; course reviews were favorable [11]. A pathology residency program incorporated a wiki into a course for secondand third-year residents by asking participants to write online review articles based on assigned lectures. Pretest and posttest data indicated a greater increase in test scores compared to previous years (25% versus 16%) [12]. A large internal medicine residency program incorporated a wiki to share frequently accessed links such as forms and contact information as well as brief summaries and links to curated websites with more authoritative information [13]. Their survey showed that 100% of house staff felt the wiki improved their ability to complete tasks, 89% reported it improved their efficiency, and 57% reported it improved their education. In another example, an anesthesiology department utilized a wiki for guiding residents to educational materials such as podcasts and lectures [14]. Wikis also have the potential to promote collaboration more broadly within a specialty. For example, OpenAnesthesia.org is a large and growing wiki that covers many anesthesia topics, and received more than 10,000 visitors in its first month of operation [15]. The results of these studies demonstrate the primary strengths of wikis: to hold useful, well-organized information in an easily updated format.

#### Wiki Establishment and Growth

The preclinical curriculum of the University of Colorado (first two years; MS1 and MS2) is composed of organ system-based blocks, except for the first block, Human Body block (gross anatomy). Early in the 2009-2010 academic year, students of the Class of 2013 began using Google Groups (Google Inc, Mountain View, CA, USA) to share files and Web links such as electronic flashcard sets and useful websites. However, the files were stored in a single list that quickly grew to hundreds of entries and included irrelevant or outdated items. In addition, the files were part of the Class of 2013 Google Group, which were not accessible to other classes. A wiki website was chosen because it offered an easy way for all classes to contribute in a format that most students would be familiar with due to the popularity of Wikipedia.

The block structure of the medical school curriculum served as the template for organizing wiki content, with pages for each block and subpages within each block section (eg, Human Body, Figure 2A). The wiki platform Wikispaces (Tangient LLC, San Francisco, CA, USA) was selected as the host of the wiki and a URL was established [16]. A handful of students from each successive class began posting additional material. This level of engagement is typical of wikis in which participation is not required, as suggested by a study of Wikipedia that found 1% of users make half of the page edits [17]. The wiki received an additional boost in content from an anatomy instructor (MAP),

```
http://mededu.jmir.org/2018/1/e16/
```

who contributed many diagrams (eg, the cavernous sinus, Figure 2B).

Although the benefits of wiki use in medical education have been documented, there is a paucity of information on the utilization and perceived value of a student-led wiki. Therefore, the aims of this study were to (1) quantify the utilization of a student-led wiki through website traffic analysis and (2) evaluate the perceptions of usage through individual survey of medical students at our institution. We hypothesized that the wiki would be highly utilized by medical students and perceived as useful in their studies.

## Methods

#### **Study Participants**

The University of Colorado Anschutz Medical Campus (Aurora, CO, USA) is a large academic medical center that includes programs in medicine, dentistry, pharmacy, nursing, physical therapy, and physician assistant studies. At the time of the study, the medical school enrolled approximately 160 students per class year.

#### Wiki Traffic Analysis

The utilization of the University of Colorado School of Medicine (CUSOM) wiki was quantified using Google Analytics (Google Inc, Mountain View, CA, USA), an open-source tool for collecting detailed website traffic information, which was added to the wiki in July 2011. Google Analytics defines a session as a group of interactions within a given time frame. A session was considered terminated once there was 30 minutes of inactivity. New visitors were logged specific to the browser and device that was used. A pageview was an instance of a page being loaded (or reloaded) in a browser. To gain a sense of how long users were engaging with a page of the wiki, average session duration was calculated by dividing the total duration of all sessions (in seconds) by the number of sessions. To determine degree of engagement with content, bounce rate was calculated as the percentage of single-page sessions (ie, sessions a user left the wiki from the entrance page without interacting with the page). To assess changes over time, a comparison of website traffic was performed between the Fall 2011 and Fall 2012 semesters. It is important to acknowledge the potential influence of fake visits on Web traffic for any website employing Google Analytics (ie, ghost spam). To quantify the size of this effect, we counted and subsequently filtered out the sessions originating from hostnames outside of the wikispaces subdomain [16].

To gain insight into device usage patterns, sessions were categorized by type (desktop/laptop, tablet, or mobile). The pages with the most pageviews were also determined in order to understand what resources were most utilized.

#### **Usage Survey**

To obtain individual-level data about medical student use of the wiki, a survey was developed online using Google Forms (Google, Inc). After technical functionality of the survey was tested, the survey URL was distributed by email to a convenience sample of all four current classes in the School of

Medicine (N=640; classes of 2013-2016), with one follow-up email sent as a reminder. The survey was open for 2 weeks (January 2-16, 2013). The survey (Multimedia Appendix 1) consisted of 20 questions, nine of which all respondents were presented with and an additional 11 that were presented only if the student indicated past wiki use. The survey assessed students' user experience with the wiki, including ease of navigation, satisfaction with content, and importance as part of their education. Students were also asked about self-perceived willingness and ability to edit or make contributions to the wiki. Items on the survey were formatted as choose from a list, 5-point Likert evaluation scale, or open field response. Individual student submissions were collated in a Google Spreadsheet and later downloaded to a Microsoft Excel spreadsheet (Microsoft Corp, Redmond, WA) for in-depth analysis and data cleaning. Only completed questionnaires were analyzed.

Descriptive summary statistics were calculated for close-ended usage survey questions. The Kruskal-Wallis test (nonparametric) was used to analyze differences in the six Likert scale questions of the survey (see Multimedia Appendix 1) across the groups (ie, student class year). The degree of linear association between two survey items was examined using Spearman rho rank correlation coefficient. Positive rho values between zero and .2 indicated no correlation. Values between .2 and .5 represented a weak correlation; between .5 and .8, a moderate correlation; and greater than .8, a strong to perfect correlation [18].

An alpha level of P < .05 was used to identify significant differences and statistical analyses were performed using SPSS version 25 (IBM, Armonk, NY, USA). Data are presented in the text and tables as mean and standard deviation and in figures as mean and standard error. These experimental procedures were reviewed and approved by the Colorado Multiple Institutional Review Board.

## Results

## Wiki Traffic

Quantitative data from Google Analytics were collected from July 1, 2011 to March 1, 2013 (20 months; 610 days). During this time, there were a total of 74,317 sessions (daily range: 7-368; mean 122, SD 80 sessions per day), of which 66.93% (49,741) were logged by returning visitors. During these sessions, a total of 192,545 pageviews were generated (mean 315, SD 241 pageviews per day), yielding mean 2.59 pages per session. Most sessions consisted of visiting one page of the wiki (ie, bounce rate; 46,125/74,317 sessions, 62.07%) with 6902 (9.29%) visiting two and 6582 (8.86%) three pages, respectively. The mean session duration was 1.94 (SD 1.39) minutes. There was a noticeable elevation in sessions corresponding to the occurrence of semesters (Figure 3). The number of sessions identified as ghost spam and removed from analysis was very small (8/74,317 sessions, 0.01%).

The type of device used to access the wiki most frequently was a desktop/laptop computer (69,968/74,317 sessions, 94.15%). Tablet and mobile devices accounted for 2355 (3.17%) and 1994 (2.68%) sessions, respectively. The page of the wiki site with the most pageviews was the home page (32,532/192,545, 16.90%), followed by the Head & Neck section of Human Body block (21,106/192,545, 10.96%) and the main page of the Human Body block content (10,076/192,545, 5.23%).

Key website traffic measures were compared between Fall 2011 (August 15 to December 14; 122 days) and Fall 2012 (August 14 to December 15; 124 days) semesters. These data are summarized in Table 1.

Figure 3. Trend in user sessions compared with timing of academic semesters.



Table 1. Comparison of website traffic measures between Fall 2011 and Fall 2012 semesters.

Variable	Fall semester 2011	Fall semester 2012	Percent change <sup>a</sup> , %
Sessions, n	22,992	24,861	8.13
Sessions per day, mean (SD)	188.46 (71.24)	200.49 (60.85)	6.38
Returning visitors, n (%)	12,397 (53.92)	20,544 (82.64)	65.72
New visitors, n (%)	10,595 (46.08)	4317 (17.36)	-59.25
Pageviews, n	57,926	70,009	20.86
Pageviews per day, mean (SD)	474.80 (240.54)	564.59 (213.92)	18.91
Pages per session, mean (SD)	2.43 (0.53)	2.79 (0.51)	14.81
Session duration (minutes), mean (SD)	2.20 (1.58)	2.60 (1.21)	18.18
Bounce rate, %	65.04	56.22	-13.6
Sessions via desktop/laptop, n	22,161	23,301	5.1
Sessions via smartphone/tablet, n	831	1560	87.7

<sup>a</sup>Percentage change calculated using (Fall 2012–Fall 2011)/Fall 2011 \* 100.

Table 2. Summary of medical student responses	to the survey.
---	----------------

Variable	Class of 2013	Class of 2014	Class of 2015	Class of 2016	Total	P value
Number of responses, n	73	57	19	15	164	_
Response rate, %	46	36	12	9	26	
Aware of wiki before survey, n (%)	62 (85)	49 (86)	19 (100)	15 (100)	145 (88)	—
Have edited wiki in the past, n (%)	16 (22)	14 (25)	6 (32)	0 (0)	36 (22)	_
Importance in preclinical years <sup>a</sup> , mean (SD)	2.11 (1.08)	2.77 (1.13)	3.74 (0.99)	3.80 (0.94)	2.73 (1.25)	<.001
Importance in clinical years <sup>a</sup> , mean (SD)	1.63 (0.90)	1.75 (1.06)	3.71 (0.76)	3.40 (1.14)	1.88 (1.12)	<.001
Ease of finding content <sup>a</sup> , mean (SD)	3.55 (1.03)	3.51 (0.94)	4.16 (0.77)	4.07 (0.88)	3.68 (0.98)	.0173
Willingness to contribute content <sup>a</sup> , mean (SD)	2.82 (1.22)	2.84 (1.18)	3.00 (1.11)	3.80 (0.94)	2.94 (1.19)	.0292
Ease of making changes <sup>a</sup> , mean (SD)	3.60 (1.27)	3.50 (1.38)	2.67 (0.58)	2.00 (1.41)	3.29 (1.27)	.322
Confidence of adding content <sup>a</sup> , mean (SD)	2.86 (1.41)	2.88 (1.21)	2.89 (1.29)	3.33 (1.45)	2.91 (1.33)	.705

<sup>a</sup>For this survey item, a five-point Likert scale was used with 1=not important at all and 5=essential.

#### Usage Survey

Surveys were completed by 164 of 640 students in the four medical school classes (25.6% response rate; Table 2). Overall, 145 of 164 respondents (88.4%) were aware of the CUSOM wiki prior to taking the survey. Among these students, 108 of 145 (74.5%) had heard about it from a classmate, 23 (15.9%) from someone in another class year, and 3 (2.1%) from a professor or administrator. Eleven (7.6%) did not remember how they learned about the wiki. A relatively small number of students had edited the wiki in the past (36/164, 22.0%). The Likert ratings significantly differed between groups for the importance of the wiki in preclinical and clinical years, ease of finding content, and for willingness to contribute. No significant differences were observed for ease of making changes and confidence of adding content.

Students reported using the wiki the most during the Human Body block of the preclinical years of the curriculum (58/164, 35.4%), whereas 21 and 17 respondents, respectively, used it

```
http://mededu.jmir.org/2018/1/e16/
```

RenderX

most for the Molecules to Medicine and the Cardiovascular, Pulmonary, and Renal blocks (Figure 4). Twenty-two students selected none/not applicable for this item.

Students reported content was easy to find on the wiki (mean 3.68, SD 0.98 out of 5.00; N=132). Relatively few students accessed the wiki daily in the block in which they used it most (11/145, 7.6%; Figure 5). A much greater number of students indicated that they accessed the wiki at least once a week (81/145, 55.8%).

On average, respondents felt the wiki was more useful in the preclinical years of MS1 and MS2 (mean 2.73, SD 1.25, N=143) than in the clinical years of MS3 and MS4 (mean 1.88, SD 1.12, N=120; P<.001) on a 5-point scale in which 1 indicated not important at all and 5 indicated essential. Usefulness of the wiki in the preclinical years demonstrated a positive, but weak, correlation with the percent of studying time in the preclinical years using electronic study resources (Spearman  $\rho$ =.414, P<.001; Figure 6).

Pascoe et al

Figure 4. Frequency of reported use of the wiki per block of the medical school curriculum.



Figure 6. Student-perceived usefulness as a function of percent of studying time using electronic resources. The respondents that used the wiki for a high percentage of time found it more useful (P<.001). Error bars represent standard error.



XSL•FO RenderX

Figure 7. Ability to edit the wiki as a function of willingness to edit the wiki. The numbers in each circle represent the number of respondents.



Willingness to edit the Wiki

Level of engagement with editing the wiki was assessed numerically along two dimensions with two Likert scale questions: "How willing will you be to contribute content to the wiki in the future?" and "How confident are you that you could add content if you wanted to?" Average willingness and average confidence were mean 2.94 (SD 1.19) and mean 2.91 (SD 1.33) out of 5, respectively. The most common answer was 3 to both questions (N=162). The answers were weakly correlated (Spearman  $\rho$ =.346, *P*<.001). All possible answer pairs were observed except a willingness of 5 and ability of 1 (Figure 7).

## Discussion

#### **Principal Findings**

A collaborative wiki containing valuable study resources for a medical school curriculum was established by students in a relatively short time frame. These results address a gap in the literature on a student-created wiki representing a hybrid model between traditional and constructivist learning theories. The wiki received a large volume of traffic year-round, with the most dramatic peak in visitation corresponding to timing of the fall semester. Popularity of the wiki grew with time as evidenced in the increase in many key website traffic variables from the Fall 2011 semester to the Fall 2012 semester. In a usage survey, most medical students reported awareness of the wiki as a resource (88%) and used it most often during the Human Body block (gross anatomy) of the preclinical years of the curriculum. A weak positive correlation was observed between willingness to edit the wiki and ability to edit the wiki.

The development and usage of the wiki underscores many principles of the constructivist theory of learning. Students chose to organize information in a format most meaningful to them by constructing pages that mirrored the curricular structure (year and blocks of body systems). Students also developed a rich folksonomy of useful websites and resources by providing website names, URLs, and descriptions. In one particular aspect, the CUSOM wiki served as a hybrid between traditional and constructivist models (Figure 1). An anatomy teacher in the medical curriculum added several websites and drawings (Figure

```
http://mededu.jmir.org/2018/1/e16/
```

2B) to the Human Body block of the curriculum (Figure 2A). The ability of students to self-organize content enhanced the ability to find information efficiently. This was a major improvement over the previous Google Groups platform, in which older content was buried in the timeline and very difficult to retrieve.

Experiences documented in the literature from both successful and failed wikis have provided several key factors for establishing a successful and self-sustaining wiki. It is necessary to have an initial set of content and a user-friendly explanation of how to get started on adding content, a method of reassuring users that their content will be valued, and thorough testing and rapid response to technical difficulties: Cole [19] documented a failed attempt to incorporate a wiki into an undergraduate course on information systems, in which students frequently cited technical difficulty, lack of time, lack of interest, and hesitancy to be the first to post content as reasons for not editing the course wiki, which received zero contributions. Jalali et al [20] attempted to incorporate a student-created wiki into an undergraduate medical curriculum, but were not successful due to similar reasons as the aforementioned attempt-focus group. Comments included difficulty accessing the wiki, lack of content the users were looking for, and participant lack of confidence in their own knowledge to contribute. Although the CUSOM wiki has been reasonably successful, many of the same comments were echoed in this survey. Frequent reasons for not editing the wiki included unfamiliarity with the site, a difficult interface, or uncertainty about the value of their contributions. These barriers overlap with those reported in a study of emergency room residents' beliefs about contributing to an online collaborative slideshow [18].

When asked to rate certain aspects of the wiki, some group differences emerged between the classes of medical students. Substantial differences were noted between upper-year (MS3 and MS4) and lower-year (MS1 and MS2) students in the perceived importance of the wiki in the preclinical and clinical years (Table 2). The lower ratings of the upper-year students (P<.001) may be due to their unfamiliarity with the wiki because it was not available to them at the onset of their curriculum. The lower-year students would have been aware of the wiki

during their preclinical years and then further referenced it during their clinical education. Overall, the rating of perceived importance of the wiki fell on the lower end of the Likert scale for both preclinical (mean 2.73, SD 1.25 out of 5.00) and clinical (mean 1.88, SD 1.12) years. The greater response rates of the classes of 2013 and 2014 (46% and 36%) most likely lowered the overall averages. Other subtle, yet significant, differences were seen in the ease of finding and willingness to contribute content. The classes of 2015 and 2016 found it easier to find content than their more senior counterparts. This is perhaps due, again, to their familiarity with navigating the wiki beginning in their first or second year of study. The greater perceived importance of the wiki may be reflected in the greater willingness of the classes of 2015 and 2016 to contribute content to the resource. Two variables did not yield significant groups differences (ie, P>.05): (1) ease of making changes and (2) confidence of adding content. Although there was a trend toward a greater ease of making changes by the classes of 2013 and 2014, a very limited number of response to this survey item (n=20) likely unpowered our ability to detect any true differences. The rating of confidence across each class was very close to the middle of the Likert scale (3.00), which could be viewed positively and account for the successful development of the wiki with potential improvement in the presence of early formal guidance on adding content.

If the wiki is migrated to an on-campus server, then there will be an opportunity to significantly redesign the wiki structure to better conform to guidelines of good user interface. According to Sandars and Lafferty [21], visual design, consistency, accessibility, interactivity, and many other factors should be considered for e-learning resources in medical education. As part of the redesign process, focus groups and usability testing could be leveraged to create a standardized and easy-to-use layout to replace the existing layout, which evolved organically with the wiki and has been challenging to adapt to certain topics.

The survey results revealed several interesting trends. Overall, they show that similar to many learning tools, the CUSOM wiki is useful to some but not others, and depends greatly on individual learning style. For example, students who spend more time using digital study resources unsurprisingly consider the wiki more useful. Many students found the learning objective content to be helpful, but found it difficult to locate the content they needed or were frustrated by the number of embedded documents, which were harder to edit. Additional features, such as a template that makes it easier to arrange learning objectives or a small committee of appointed editors, could address some of these shortcomings, whereas others may have to wait for a complete redesign.

#### Limitations

Major limitations of this study include a poor survey response rate (26%). In addition, responses were mostly from the classes of 2013 and 2014 (79% of respondents) and this likely introduced bias into the results from the survey. The usage survey in our study was constructed and reviewed by the authors for content validity. The survey quality could have been improved had reliability been tested (eg, Cronbach alpha) and validity demonstrated (eg, Kendall tau). Only responses from completed surveys were included in the analysis. Several survey items only had the end point of response options labeled, which left the meaning of unlabeled options open to respondent's interpretation. This ambiguity may have introduced measurement error. Our use of a convenience sample was also a limitation of this study. Detailed demographic data for the survey respondents were not collected. Although we suspect our cohort of medical students is similar to those of other institutions, demographic data would assist in determination of generalizability. Objective data about how students actually used the wiki (eg, usability testing) were not gathered. In addition, implementation of a theory-based approach would also assist in understanding the barriers to using and contributing to a wiki in medical education.

#### **Future Work**

Possible areas for future research on the wiki include repetition of the survey with future classes, investigation of the effect of requiring students to contribute, and-if the wiki is moved to a password-protected campus server-analysis of usage data at the level of individual users. Future attempts to engage students in editing the wiki will need to utilize multiple methods including a simple tutorial to reduce technical barriers, increased use of page templates to ensure user and editor-friendly pages, and possibly a curriculum component requiring students to edit the wiki to increase student buy-in and comfort. As indicated by the wide range of answers, there are users throughout the range of willing and able, unwilling and unable, willing but unable, and unwilling but able. Therefore, no single strategy will suffice to increase engagement. However, it is advisable to reduce the potential number of interventions to only those that are theory-based. Archambault et al [22] provide an excellent example of a theory-based approach in the field of medical education.

#### Conclusions

This study details the creation of a medical curriculum-specific wiki, which was led by students. The wiki received a high volume of Web traffic that grew over time and was reported to be an important resource during preclinical and clinical years by students exposed during their first and second year of medical school.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.



#### **Multimedia Appendix 1**

The text of the survey distributed to all four current classes in the School of Medicine (n=640 students; Classes of 2013 to 2016).

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 127KB - mededu\_v4i1e16\_app1.pdf]

#### References

- 1. Hughes B, Joshi I, Lemonde H, Wareham J. Junior physician's use of Web 2.0 for information seeking and medical education: a qualitative study. Int J Med Inform 2009 Oct;78(10):645-655. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2009.04.008] [Medline: 19501017]
- 2. Kundi GM, Nawaz A. From objectivism to social constructivism: the impacts of information and communication technologies (ICTs) on higher education. J Sci Tech Educ Res 2010 Jul;1(2):30-36 [FREE Full text]
- Kop R. Web 2.0 technologies: disruptive or liberating for adult education? In: Conference Proceedings of 2008 Adult Education Research Conference.: Kansas State University Libraries: New Prairie Press; 2008 Presented at: Adult Education Research Conference; 2008; St Louis, MO p. 1-6 URL: <u>http://newprairiepress.org/cgi/viewcontent.</u> <u>cgi?article=2921&context=aerc</u>
- 4. Boulos MN, Maramba I, Wheeler S. Wikis, blogs and podcasts: a new generation of Web-based tools for virtual collaborative clinical practice and education. BMC Med Educ 2006;6:41 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6920-6-41] [Medline: 16911779]
- 5. Wheeler S, Yeomans P, Wheeler D. The good, the bad and the wiki: evaluating student generated content for collaborative learning. Brit J Educ Technol 2008 Oct 16;39(6):987-995 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8535.2007.00799.x]
- 6. Collier J. Wiki technology in the classroom: building collaboration skills. J Nurs Educ 2010 Dec;49(12):718. [doi: 10.3928/01484834-20101117-02] [Medline: 21117555]
- 7. Parker K, Chao J. Wiki as a teaching tool. Interdisc J Know Learn Obj 2007;3:57-72 [FREE Full text]
- Archambault PM, van de Belt TH, Grajales FJ, Faber MJ, Kuziemsky CE, Gagnon S, et al. Wikis and collaborative writing applications in health care: a scoping review. J Med Internet Res 2013 Oct;15(10):e210 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2787] [Medline: 24103318]
- 9. Rasmussen A, Lewis M, White J. The application of wiki technology in medical education. Med Teach 2013;35(2):109-114. [doi: 10.3109/0142159X.2012.733838] [Medline: 23102056]
- 10. Thompson CL, Schulz WL, Terrence A. A student authored online medical education textbook: editing patterns and content evaluation of a medical student wiki. AMIA Annu Symp Proc 2011;2011:1392-1401 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 22195202]
- 11. Badgett R, Moore M. Are students able and willing to edit Wikipedia to learn components of evidence-based practice? Kans J Med 2011;4(3):62-69 [FREE Full text]
- 12. Park S, Parwani A, Macpherson T, Pantanowitz L. Use of a wiki as an interactive teaching tool in pathology residency education: experience with a genomics, research, and informatics in pathology course. J Pathol Inform 2012;3:32 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4103/2153-3539.100366] [Medline: 23024891]
- 13. Crotty BH, Mostaghimi A, Reynolds EE. Adoption of a wiki within a large internal medicine residency program: a 3-year experience. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2012;19(4):621-625 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/amiajnl-2011-000391] [Medline: 22140210]
- 14. UK College of Medicine Anesthesiology. 2018. URL: <u>http://mobile.wildcatanesthesia.com</u> [accessed 2018-05-19] [WebCite Cache ID 6zXTVYJrb]
- 15. Newswise. 2009 Jul 27. OpenAnesthesia website hits 10,000 visitors in first month after launch URL: <u>http://www.newswise.com/articles/openanesthesia-website-hits-10000-visitors-in-first-month-after-launch</u> [accessed 2018-05-19] [WebCite Cache ID 6zXTdzqFa]
- 16. University of Colorado School of Medicine Wiki. 2018. URL: <u>http://denversom.wikispaces.com/</u> ?responseToken=08ae9f7b8cc0eb5ea41de982215db1004 [accessed 2018-05-19] [WebCite Cache ID 6zXTyy7x0]
- 17. Chi EH. Augmented Social Cognition Research Blog from PARC. 2007 May 15. Long tail of user participation in Wikipedia URL: <u>http://asc-parc.blogspot.com/2007/05/long-tail-and-power-law-graphs-of-user.html</u> [accessed 2018-05-19] [WebCite Cache ID 6zXU5ragh]
- Archambault PM, Thanh J, Blouin D, Gagnon S, Poitras J, Fountain R, et al. Emergency medicine residents' beliefs about contributing to an online collaborative slideshow. CJEM 2015 Jul;17(4):374-386. [doi: <u>10.1017/cem.2014.49</u>] [Medline: <u>26134054</u>]
- 19. Cole M. Using Wiki technology to support student engagement: lessons from the trenches. Comput Educ 2009 Jan;52(1):141-146 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.compedu.2008.07.003]
- Jalali A, Mioduszewski M, Gauthier M, Varpio L. Wiki use and challenges in undergraduate medical education. Med Educ 2009 Nov;43(11):1117. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2923.2009.03480.x] [Medline: 19874526]
- Sandars J, Lafferty N. Twelve tips on usability testing to develop effective e-learning in medical education. Med Teach 2010;32(12):956-960. [doi: <u>10.3109/0142159X.2010.507709</u>] [Medline: <u>21090948</u>]
- 22. Archambault PM, Gagnon S, Gagnon M, Turcotte S, Lapointe J, Fleet R, et al. Development and validation of questionnaires exploring health care professionals' intention to use wiki-based reminders to promote best practices in trauma. JMIR Res Protoc 2014;3(3):e50 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/resprot.3762] [Medline: 25281856]

#### Abbreviations

CUSOM: University of Colorado School of Medicine

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 16.10.17; peer-reviewed by S Sadiq, B Worm, L DelSignore; comments to author 07.12.17; revised version received 30.01.18; accepted 10.03.18; published 14.06.18.

<u>Please cite as:</u>
Pascoe M, Monroe F, Macfarlane H
Taking Constructivism One Step Further: Post Hoc Analysis of a Student-Created Wiki
JMIR Med Educ 2018;4(1):e16
URL: http://mededu.jmir.org/2018/1/e16/
doi:10.2196/mededu.9197
PMID:29903697

©Michael Pascoe, Forrest Monroe, Helen Macfarlane. Originally published in JMIR Medical Education (http://mededu.jmir.org), 14.06.2018. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Medical Education, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://mededu.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



**Original Paper** 

## Evaluating the Effect of a Web-Based E-Learning Tool for Health Professional Education on Clinical Vancomycin Use: Comparative Study

Stuart Evan Bond<sup>1,2,3,4</sup>, BPharm, PhD; Shelley P Crowther<sup>1</sup>, BPharm, MPH; Suman Adhikari<sup>5,6</sup>, BPharm; Adriana J Chubaty<sup>7</sup>, BScPharm; Ping Yu<sup>8</sup>, PhD; Jay P Borchard<sup>9</sup>, BSc (Hons); Craig Steven Boutlis<sup>10</sup>, MBBS, PhD; Wilfred Winston Yeo<sup>2,3,11</sup>, MBChB, MD; Spiros Miyakis<sup>2,3,10</sup>, MD, PhD

<sup>7</sup>Department of Pharmacy, Prince of Wales Hospital, South Eastern Sydney Local Health District, Randwick, Australia

<sup>8</sup>School of Computing and Information Technology, Faculty of Engineering and Information Sciences, University of Wollongong, Wollongong, Australia

<sup>9</sup>Research Central, Wollongong Hospital, Illawarra Shoalhaven Local Health District, Wollongong, Australia

<sup>10</sup>Department of Infectious Diseases, Wollongong Hospital, Illawarra Shoalhaven Local Health District, Wollongong, Australia

<sup>11</sup>Division of Medicine, Wollongong Hospital, Illawarra Shoalhaven Local Health District, Wollongong, Australia

**Corresponding Author:** 

Stuart Evan Bond, BPharm, PhD Pinderfields Hospital Mid Yorkshire Hospitals NHS Trust Aberford Rd Wakefield, WF14DG United Kingdom Phone: 44 01924317043 Email: <u>stuart.bond@nhs.net</u>

## Abstract

**Background:** Internet-based learning for health professional education is increasing. It offers advantages over traditional learning approaches, as it enables learning to be completed at a time convenient to the user and improves access where facilities are geographically disparate. We developed and implemented the Vancomycin Interactive (VI) e-learning tool to improve knowledge on the clinical use of the antibiotic vancomycin, which is commonly used for treatment of infections caused by methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA).

**Objective:** The aims of this study were to evaluate the effect of the VI e-learning tool on (1) survey knowledge scores and (2) clinical use of vancomycin among health professionals.

**Methods:** We conducted a comparative pre-post intervention study across the 14 hospitals of two health districts in New South Wales, Australia. A knowledge survey was completed by nurses, doctors, and pharmacists before and after release of a Web-based e-learning tool. Survey scores were compared with those obtained following traditional education in the form of an email intervention. Survey questions related to dosing, administration, and monitoring of vancomycin. Outcome measures were survey knowledge scores among the three health professional groups, vancomycin plasma trough levels, and vancomycin approvals recorded on a computerized clinical decision support system.

**Results:** Survey response rates were low at 26.87% (577/2147) preintervention and 8.24% (177/2147) postintervention. The VI was associated with an increase in knowledge scores (maximum score=5) among nurses (median 2, IQR 1-2 to median 2, IQR 1-3; P<.001), but not among other professional groups. The comparator email intervention was associated with an increase in knowledge scores among doctors (median 3, IQR 2-4 to median 4, IQR 2-4; P=.04). Participants who referred to Web-based resources while completing the e-learning tool achieved higher overall scores than those who did not (P<.001). The e-learning

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Department of Pharmacy, Wollongong Hospital, Illawarra Shoalhaven Local Health District, Wollongong, Australia

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>School of Medicine, Faculty of Science, Medicine and Health, University of Wollongong, Wollongong, Australia

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Illawarra Health and Medical Research Institute, University of Wollongong, Wollongong, Australia

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Pinderfields Hospital, Mid Yorkshire Hospitals NHS Trust, Wakefield, United Kingdom

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Department of Pharmacy, St George Hospital, South Eastern Sydney Local Health District, Kogarah, Australia

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>St George Clinical School, Faculty of Medicine, University of New South Wales, Kogarah, Australia

tool was not shown to be significantly more effective than the comparator email in the clinical use of vancomycin, as measured by plasma levels within the therapeutic range.

**Conclusions:** The e-learning tool was associated with improved knowledge scores among nurses, whereas the comparator email was associated with improved scores among doctors. This implies that different strategies may be required for optimizing the effectiveness of education among different health professional groups. Low survey response rates limited conclusions regarding the tool's effectiveness. Improvements to design and evaluation methodology may increase the likelihood of a demonstrable effect from e-learning tools in the future.

#### (JMIR Med Educ 2018;4(1):e5) doi:10.2196/mededu.7719

#### KEYWORDS

nursing education; pharmacy education; medical education; continuing education; survey methods; antibacterial agents

## Introduction

#### **Internet-Based Learning**

Traditional face-to-face approaches to health professional education are being challenged by busy trainee schedules involving increased clinical demands and decreased available time [1,2]. These barriers can be addressed through the use of Internet-based learning (IBL) approaches, which can be completed at a time convenient to the user [3]. It may also be useful if health professional education is required across geographically disparate hospital locations. Effective IBL tools should provide entertainment and supply the user with knowledge, skills, or attitudes useful in real life [4]. Recently, there has been considerable development in novel IBL methodologies for health professional education (eg, serious games) with common topics relating to surgical skills training, critical care, and emergency triage [2,5]. Some studies showed improvements in test scores [2]; however, study design was heterogeneous and none focused on the antibiotic vancomycin as an educational target.

#### Vancomycin Education

Vancomycin is the main antibiotic used for treatment of infections caused by methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus [6]. Problems associated with vancomycin use across multiple professions include the requirement for a loading dose in serious infections, side effects when administered too rapidly, and the need to monitor vancomycin plasma levels (or concentrations) [6]. Therefore, several studies have described interventions to improve clinical use of vancomycin [7-14]. Specific topics addressed in those studies were dosing [7,9,11,14], administration [7], and therapeutic drug monitoring (TDM) [7-10,12,13]. Educational targets were nurses, doctors, or pharmacists, with one TDM study conducting multidisciplinary interventions [12]. In a previous study [15], we described the design and implementation process of a Web-based e-learning tool (Vancomycin Interactive; VI) that employed serious game design concepts including interactivity and entertainment to provide education on vancomycin. To our knowledge, this study is the first to compare outcomes of a vancomycin e-learning tool with a standard didactic email intervention.

The design and implementation methodology for the Vancomycin Interactive Web-based e-learning tool has been provided in a prior publication, "Design and Implementation of a Novel Web-Based E-Learning Tool for Education of Health Professionals on the Antibiotic Vancomycin" in the Journal of Medical Internet Research [15].

#### **Aims of This Study**

The aims of this study were to assess the VI e-learning tool versus standard email intervention for (1) effects on health professionals' vancomycin knowledge and (2) effects on quality of vancomycin use measured by both vancomycin plasma trough levels and approvals for use recorded on a computerized clinical decision support system (CDSS; Guidance MS, Melbourne Health [16]).

## Methods

This comparative pre-post intervention study took place in Illawarra Shoalhaven Local Health District (ISLHD; Vancomycin Interactive intervention site, 1000 total beds, 700 acute beds) and South Eastern Sydney Local Health District (SESLHD; comparator email intervention site, 1500 total beds, 1200 acute beds), located in New South Wales, Australia (Figure

1). These health districts cover a geographic area of 6331 km<sup>2</sup> and have an estimated population of 1.17 million, reaching from central Sydney to a 3-hour drive south [17]. The districts' 14 hospitals range from small rural facilities to large tertiary metropolitan hospitals. The comparator email site was selected due the following: a shared information technology platform with the e-learning intervention site, geographical proximity, and existing clinical and professional networks.

#### Preintervention and Postintervention Vancomycin Knowledge Survey

An anonymous Web-based survey was created using Survey Monkey (SurveyMonkey Inc, Palo Alto, CA) to determine preintervention experience/confidence and knowledge of vancomycin use among nurses, doctors, and pharmacists across two health districts [15]. A 4-point Likert scale was used to determine levels of experience and confidence relating to knowledge questions on dosing, administration, and monitoring of vancomycin (see Multimedia Appendix 1).



#### Bond et al

Figure 1. Intervention (Illawarra Shoalhaven Local Health District; ISLHD) and comparator (South Eastern Sydney Local Health District; SESLHD) sites.



Postintervention, a second survey with the same questions was sent to the intervention and comparator sites. User testing indicated that the preintervention survey would take approximately 2 minutes to complete and the postintervention surveys would take 3 minutes, because additional user feedback was sought on the VI and comparator email. Requests for survey participation are included as Multimedia Appendices 2 and 3. A survey question on resources used to answer the survey was also analyzed.

## Vancomycin Interactive and Clinical Email Intervention

Educational content was developed locally for the VI on dosing, administration, and TDM of vancomycin [6,18]. The learning objectives of the VI for target users (nurses, doctors, and pharmacists) were to improve knowledge of vancomycin dosing, administration, and TDM. The VI (ISLHD) [19] depicted a case study involving interaction between a patient and a health professional, both played by professional actors. The user interface consisted of video clips interspersed with interactive question and answer scenarios [15]. User testing indicated that the VI would take approximately 10 minutes to complete. An

```
http://mededu.jmir.org/2018/1/e5/
```

email (taking 2-3 minutes to read) with the same clinical content and learning objectives was developed as a comparator intervention (Multimedia Appendix 4). To allow for the differences in the two media, there were some minor variations in clinical content between the VI and email that related to administration of vancomycin.

Release and advertisement of the VI (email, newsletters, link on intranet home page) to the intervention site occurred on July 27, 2015. The clinical email intervention was then sent to nurses, doctors, and pharmacists at the comparator site (Multimedia Appendix 4). Following completion of the second survey, the VI website was also advertised to the comparator site. To allow for sufficient dissemination of the interventions, the postintervention survey was open from December 1, 2015 to January 31, 2016.

#### Vancomycin Trough Plasma Levels and Approvals on the Clinical Decision Support System

Vancomycin plasma levels from a 4-month period before and a 2-month period after the VI and comparator email were analyzed to determine changes in the proportion of levels in the therapeutic range. The postintervention period was limited to 2 months in order to conclude before the annual intake of new junior doctors. Criteria for dose adjustment were as follows: (1) 0-9 mg/L: increase dose; (2) 10-14 mg/L: maintain or increase dose (depending on severity of infection and clinical status); (3) 15-20 mg/L: maintain current dose; (4) 20-25 mg/L: maintain or reduce dose (depending on severity of infection and clinical status); and (5) >25 mg/L: withhold dose until trough level less than 20 mg/L and seek expert advice [6]. The number of vancomycin levels as a proportion of the total number of vancomycin CDSS approvals was analyzed to determine frequency of vancomycin use. Pharmacy dispensing software did not allow for patient-level data on vancomycin dispensing to be analyzed because vancomycin was distributed as ward stock in some hospitals. Hence, vancomycin CDSS approvals were used as the best-available indicator for total vancomycin use.

#### **Outcome Measures**

We compared total vancomycin knowledge survey scores preintervention and postintervention, within and between e-learning intervention and comparator email intervention sites. The number of vancomycin levels in the therapeutic range, the median number of vancomycin levels and ratio of vancomycin levels to CDSS vancomycin approvals between sites were also analyzed.

#### **Statistical Analyses**

Chi-square and Fisher exact tests were used for proportions. For continuous data, normality was assessed using a skewness/kurtosis statistic [20]. A skewed distribution was denoted by P<.05. Kruskal-Wallis and follow-up Wilcoxon rank-sum tests were used to investigate between effects with nonnormal distributions. Multivariate analysis was performed to examine influential factors (profession, site, pre- or postintervention) on correct survey responses. Given the limited literature in this field of research, a sample size calculation was conducted based on Monte-Carlo simulations of pilot data. This calculation was performed to estimate the sample size required for the effect of site on total knowledge score. The expected distributions of knowledge scores for the intervention (mean 3.30, SD 1.47) and control sites (mean 2.85, SD .48) were derived from pilot data. These hypothesized data structures were then randomly resampled with 10,000 iterations under different sample size conditions to estimate the required sample size to detect a difference. Based on these simulations, it was calculated that a sample size of 226 in each group was required to achieve 90% power for significance of P < .05. Statistical analyses were performed using Stata statistical software release 14 (Statacorp LP, College Station, TX, USA).

#### Ethics

Ethics approval was granted by the Joint University of Wollongong and Illawarra Shoalhaven Local Health District Health and Medical Human Research Ethics Committee (EC00150), approval number HE15/005. The VI website contained a disclaimer that anonymous data collected from the video could be used for educational and research purposes.

## Results

#### Vancomycin Knowledge Survey

The response rate to the preintervention survey was 26.87% (577 responses from 2147 email recipients). The response rates by profession were 24.4% (236/967) for nurses, 25.33% (271/1070) for doctors, and 63.6% (70/110) for pharmacists (P<.001; previously reported [15]). Postintervention, there were 177/2147 survey responses (8.24% response rate), comprising 88 nurses, 69 doctors, and 20 pharmacists (P<.001).

The median knowledge survey score for nurses increased post-VI (P<.001; Table 1). No significant differences pre- and post-VI were observed for doctors or pharmacists. At the comparator email intervention site, the median knowledge survey score increased postintervention for doctors (P=.04; Table 1).



 Table 1. Preintervention and postintervention vancomycin knowledge survey scores for the intervention site using Vancomycin Interactive and the comparator email site.

Profession	Vancomycin Interactive intervention site, median (IQR) <sup>a</sup>			Comparator site, median (IQR) <sup>a</sup>		
	Pre (n=278)	Post (n=107)	P value	Pre (n=299)	Post (n=70)	P value
Nurse	2 (1-2)	2 (1-3)	<.001	2 (1-3)	3 (2-4)	.17
Doctor	3 (2-4)	4 (2-4)	.28	3 (2-4)	4 (2-4)	.04
Pharmacist	5 (4-5)	4 (4-5)	.40	5 (4-5)	5 (4-5)	.87

<sup>a</sup>IQR: interquartile range; Out of a maximum of 5.

Table 2. Preintervention (4 months) and postintervention (2 months) vancomycin plasma trough levels for intervention and comparator sites.

Trough level (mg/L)	Vancomycin Interactive intervention site			Comparator email site		
	Pre (n=429)	Post (n=151)	P value	Pre (n=1571)	Post (n=316)	P value
0-9 (subtherapeutic), n (%)	48 (11)	17 (11)	.98	259 (16)	50 (16)	.77
10-14 (low therapeutic), n (%)	91 (21)	28 (19)	.49	362 (23)	62 (20)	.18
15-20 (therapeutic), n (%)	168 (39)	54 (35)	.46	515 (33)	98 (31)	.54
21-25 (high therapeutic), n (%)	72 (17)	36 (24)	.06	260 (17)	66 (21)	.06
>25 (supratherapeutic), n (%)	50 (12)	16 (11)	.73	175 (11)	40 (13)	.44
Median (IQR <sup>a</sup> )	18 (13-21)	17 (13-22)	.62	16 (12-21)	17 (12-22)	.14

<sup>a</sup>IQR: interquartile range.

#### **Resources Used to Answer Survey Questions**

To the question, "Did you refer to any resources to answer these questions?" 595 of 754 (78.9%) participants responded "no." Of those 595, 424 (71.3%) self-reported that they guessed some or all of the answers, whereas 171 (28.7%) reported that they knew the answers. The remaining 159 of 754 (21%) respondents self-reported that they referred to resources for answering the questions. The resources quoted were local guidelines (49/159, 30.9%) and the *Australian Medicines Handbook* or *Therapeutic Guidelines: Antibiotic* (110/159, 69.1%).

#### Multivariate Analysis of Knowledge Survey Scores

Several factors were associated with an increased knowledge survey score. Compared to nurses, pharmacists (regression coefficient 1.93, 95% CI 1.63-2.23; P<.001) and doctors (regression coefficient 0.89, 95% CI 0.70-1.09; P<.001) had increased likelihood of a higher survey score. Postintervention survey participation was also associated with a higher score (regression coefficient 0.41, 95% CI 0.20-0.62; P<.001) than preintervention. Referring to online resources was associated with a higher score compared with responses that participants self-reported that they knew or guessed the answers (regression coefficient 0.98, 95% CI 0.75-1.20; P<.001). The comparator site was not significantly associated with increased likelihood of higher survey scores (regression coefficient 0.16, 95% CI -0.02 to 0.34; P=.08).

#### Vancomycin Therapeutic Drug Monitoring

From January 1 to April 30, 2015, there were 429 vancomycin trough plasma levels taken at the intervention site (ISLHD) and 1571 levels for the comparator site (SESLHD). During the postintervention period of December 1, 2015 to January 31, 2016, there were 151 levels reported at the intervention site and

```
http://mededu.jmir.org/2018/1/e5/
```

RenderX

316 levels at the comparator site. As shown in Table 2, there were no significant postintervention differences in the proportion of vancomycin levels in the subtherapeutic (0-9 mg/L), therapeutic (10-14, 15-20, and 21-25 mg/L), or supratherapeutic (>25 mg/L) ranges. There were increases in the number of levels in the high therapeutic range (20-25 mg/L) at both sites; however, those differences did not reach statistical significance. There were no significant pre-post intervention differences in median vancomycin levels at the intervention site or comparator site (Table 2).

#### Vancomycin Trough Plasma Levels Compared With Vancomycin Clinical Decision Support System Approvals

The proportion of vancomycin trough levels to vancomycin CDSS approvals at the intervention site decreased from 429/399 preintervention (1.1 levels for every vancomycin approval) to 151/196 postintervention (0.8 levels/approval). At the comparator site, the proportion of vancomycin levels to vancomycin CDSS approvals decreased from 1571/399 preintervention (3.9 levels/approval) to 314/199 postintervention (1.6 levels/approval).

## Discussion

#### **Principal Findings**

This study compared the educational effect of an interactive Web-based e-learning tool with a comparator email intervention. Two different learning modalities were investigated among three different health professional groups. The e-learning tool was associated with improved survey scores among nurses, whereas the comparator email intervention was associated with improved scores among doctors. Not unexpectedly, pharmacists

and doctors had higher overall knowledge scores than nurses due to the greater number of questions considered relevant to those groups. Also, participants who referred to Web-based resources while completing the survey had higher survey scores than those who did not.

Concerningly, only approximately one-third of preintervention and postintervention vancomycin levels taken at both sites fell within the recommended therapeutic range of 15-20 mg/L. This figure rose to 73% when the ranges 10-14 mg/L, 15-20mg/L, and 21-25 mg/L were combined, which includes all potential recommended therapeutic ranges [6]. The proportion of vancomycin levels to CDSS approvals decreased at both sites, perhaps signifying a reduction in the ordering of unnecessary levels or shorter vancomycin courses requiring fewer levels. A greater proportion of levels/approvals was observed at the email intervention site in both preintervention and postintervention phases, which may have resulted from differences in acuity between sites.

In previous studies, strategies for improving the clinical use of vancomycin have included use of loading doses [14], implementation of guidelines [9], education [7,10,13], and CDSSs [8,11,12]. None of those educational interventions incorporated a Web-based e-learning tool, and the predominant methodology was uncontrolled pre-post intervention at single hospital sites. One study reported development of a serious game to improve general antimicrobial prescribing, but it did not focus on vancomycin [21]. A review of educational games for health professionals emphasized the need for more research with improved study methodology [22]. Our study differed in its multisite approach, comparison of an e-learning tool with a standard email intervention, and targeting of multiple health professional groups.

#### **Interpretation of Results**

The difference in efficacy between the VI (improved nurses' scores) and the email (improved doctors' scores) may have arisen from nurses' increased familiarity and engagement with online learning modules, whereas for doctors a didactic learning style may be more suitable. Additionally, the short time to read a clinical email may have been more convenient for doctors. Referring to resources was associated with improved survey scores, which emphasizes the importance of guideline access in the clinical setting. Some aspects of our study design may be applicable to facilities where there are geographic barriers to use of face-to-face education, such as rural and regional hospitals. Potential improvements to the structure of the VI through greater application of serious game methodology include more interactivity, scoring, and competition [23,24]. Those features could result in a greater level of user acceptance and effectiveness.

#### **Study Limitations**

The total number of vancomycin levels at the comparator site was considerably higher than at the intervention site, which may be due to differences in case mix (number of acute beds), antimicrobial use, and background educational culture. However, the proportion of satisfactory levels (ie, those in therapeutic range) did not differ between the sites. Furthermore, similar

```
http://mededu.jmir.org/2018/1/e5/
```

sizeable reductions in the number of vancomycin levels ordered were experienced at both sites. Some of this reduction may have been associated with seasonal variation of vancomycin use, although unlike other antibiotics, vancomycin is not typically associated with strong seasonal variation [25]. The low response rate to the postintervention survey limited the power of pre-post intervention comparisons; however, 78% of the desirable sample size was reached. Potential reasons for this reduction include the perception of staff that the postintervention survey was the same as the preintervention survey, despite clarifications that were provided in the email title and text, and appropriate advertisement in staff newsletters. The validity of the findings is supported by similar proportions of different health professionals in the two time periods. In addition, the denominator included all targeted health professionals including those not involved in the day-to-day clinical use of vancomycin, which is likely to have reduced the response rate.

The higher scores from the postintervention survey may have resulted from participant bias (ie, only more experienced and enthusiastic staff may have responded to the second survey). Time-dependent bias may also have influenced some of the improvement in survey scores, whereby increased time in a clinical role may have resulted in greater knowledge of vancomycin use over the study period. A crossover design might have partially alleviated this factor, but this was not possible in our case due to the rotation of junior doctors between the two sites. Absence of a code to allow matching of individual responses may also have limited conclusions about the effect of the interventions on knowledge level.

Pooled presurvey results were compared with pooled postsurvey results resulting in a dataset that included both independent and dependent data. Although unavoidable according to the study design, inclusion of dependent data increased the risk of type 1 error. Additionally, pooling of the survey response data when there were differences between health professional groups may have limited conclusions on pre-post differences. Although individual predictors in the multivariate regression were likely to be skewed, the normality of the error between observed and predicted values was of primary interest in this study.

There were some minor variations in clinical content between the VI and email; however, they related only to administration of vancomycin and references used for development of content were the same for both interventions. Participants who referred to guidelines while completing the survey attained higher scores than those who did not. Although this was unavoidable in a pragmatic study, it was still a desirable outcome because those participants were using recommended national or local guidelines. The time to complete the e-learning tool (10 minutes) was longer than the email intervention (2-3 minutes); the duration of the email may have been more appropriate for doctors in a busy clinical context and this has likely contributed to the low response rates. As reported in our previous study [15], there was low uptake of the VI during the study period and we did not measure the number of comparator emails read by staff. There may have been some word-of-mouth leakage of the VI to the comparator site; however, study data collection was completed before the junior doctor rotation. Given the use of paper medications charts, the number of CDSS approvals

XSL•FO RenderX

was used as a surrogate for vancomycin prescribing. Investigation of effects of the educational tools on clinical practice was beyond the scope of this study. We did not examine quality measures of vancomycin use, such as time to first therapeutic level, levels obtained at steady state, or clinical outcomes associated with the intervention; further research aims to examine these effects. Linkage of survey-participant responses was desirable, but was not achievable within the ethical requirement for an anonymous survey. The timeframe for postintervention data collection was a relatively short 2 months, which may not have been long enough for transfer of knowledge into practice. Addressing some of these limitations may improve the likelihood of demonstrating significant effects from an e-learning tool.

#### Conclusions

Different health professional groups can be educated by using different targeted learning modalities. Significant challenges can be experienced during design and evaluation of comparative e-learning research. Further studies should aim to improve structural elements of e-learning tools and enhance evaluation, including clinical outcomes, through an approach governed by a newly proposed checklist. The impact of continuous e-learning education on clinical practice needs to be assessed continuously for a long period of time.

#### Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank Michael Boland and team from Digital League for production and programming of the Vancomycin Interactive and its website. We also thank the pharmacy and infectious diseases teams at ISLHD and SESLHD for user testing of the survey and Vancomycin Interactive. No financial support was reported. The filming and production of the Vancomycin Interactive were funded internally by Illawarra Shoalhaven Local Health District. Preliminary results from this study were accepted for presentation in abstract form at the 27th European Congress of Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases, Vienna, Austria, April 22-25, 2017.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

#### **Multimedia Appendix 1**

Preintervention vancomycin knowledge survey.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 21KB - mededu\_v4i1e5\_app1.pdf]

#### **Multimedia Appendix 2**

Preintervention survey request emailed to staff at intervention/comparator sites.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 17KB - mededu\_v4i1e5\_app2.pdf]

#### Multimedia Appendix 3

Postintervention survey request emailed to staff at intervention/comparator sites.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 18KB - mededu\_v4i1e5\_app3.pdf]

#### Multimedia Appendix 4

Clinical email update sent to staff at the comparator sites.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 34KB - mededu\_v4i1e5\_app4.pdf]

#### References

- Cook DA, Levinson AJ, Garside S. Time and learning efficiency in Internet-based learning: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Adv Health Sci Educ Theory Pract 2010 Dec;15(5):755-770. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10459-010-9231-x</u>] [Medline: <u>20467807</u>]
- 2. Wang R, DeMaria S, Goldberg A, Katz D. A systematic review of serious games in training health care professionals. Simul Healthc 2016 Feb;11(1):41-51. [doi: 10.1097/SIH.00000000000118] [Medline: 26536340]
- 3. Cook DA, Levinson AJ, Garside S, Dupras DM, Erwin PJ, Montori VM. Internet-based learning in the health professions: a meta-analysis. JAMA 2008 Sep 10;300(10):1181-1196. [doi: 10.1001/jama.300.10.1181] [Medline: 18780847]
- 4. Bergeron B. Developing Serious Games. Hingham, MA: Charles River Media; 2006.
- Graafland M, Schraagen JM, Schijven MP. Systematic review of serious games for medical education and surgical skills training. Br J Surg 2012 Oct;99(10):1322-1330. [doi: 10.1002/bjs.8819] [Medline: 22961509]

- 6. Antibiotic Expert Groups. Therapeutic Guidelines: Antibiotic. Version 15. Melbourne: Therapeutic Guidelines Limited; 2014.
- Phillips CJ, Wisdom AJ, Eaton VS, Woodman RJ, McKinnon RA. The impact of a pilot continuing professional development module on hospital pharmacists' preparedness to provide contemporary advice on the clinical use of vancomycin. Springerplus 2016;5:331 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s40064-016-1966-2] [Medline: 27064954]
- Melanson SE, Mijailovic AS, Wright AP, Szumita PM, Bates DW, Tanasijevic MJ. An intervention to improve the timing of vancomycin levels. Am J Clin Pathol 2013 Dec;140(6):801-806. [doi: <u>10.1309/AJCPKQ6EAH7OYQLB</u>] [Medline: <u>24225746</u>]
- 9. Swartling M, Gupta R, Dudas V, Guglielmo BJ. Short term impact of guidelines on vancomycin dosing and therapeutic drug monitoring. Int J Clin Pharm 2012 Apr;34(2):282-285. [doi: 10.1007/s11096-012-9614-6] [Medline: 22331444]
- Coleman LK, Wilson AS. Impact of nursing education on the proportion of appropriately drawn vancomycin trough concentrations. J Pharm Pract 2016 Oct;29(5):472-474. [doi: <u>10.1177/0897190014568381</u>] [Medline: <u>25613053</u>]
- Hamad A, Cavell G, Hinton J, Wade P, Whittlesea C. A pre-postintervention study to evaluate the impact of dose calculators on the accuracy of gentamicin and vancomycin initial doses. BMJ Open 2015 Jun 04;5(6):e006610 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2014-006610] [Medline: 26044758]
- Crowley RK, Fitzpatrick F, Solanki D, FitzGerald S, Humphreys H, Smyth EG. Vancomycin administration: the impact of multidisciplinary interventions. J Clin Pathol 2007 Oct;60(10):1155-1159 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/jcp.2006.044727] [Medline: 17293388]
- 13. Dib JG, Al-Tawfiq JA, Al AS, Mohammed K, Jenden PD. Improvement in vancomycin utilization in adults in a Saudi Arabian Medical Center using the Hospital Infection Control Practices Advisory Committee guidelines and simple educational activity. J Infect Public Health 2009;2(3):141-146 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jiph.2009.07.002] [Medline: 20701874]
- Li J, Udy AA, Kirkpatrick CM, Lipman J, Roberts JA. Improving vancomycin prescription in critical illness through a drug use evaluation process: a weight-based dosing intervention study. Int J Antimicrob Agents 2012 Jan;39(1):69-72. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijantimicag.2011.08.017] [Medline: 22024354]
- 15. Bond SE, Crowther SP, Adhikari S, Chubaty AJ, Yu P, Borchard JP, et al. Design and implementation of a novel web-based e-learning tool for education of health professionals on the antibiotic vancomycin. J Med Internet Res 2017 Mar 30;19(3):e93 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.6971] [Medline: 28360025]
- 16. National Centre for Antimicrobial Stewardship. 2013. The Guidance Group URL: <u>http://www.guidancems.org.au/</u> [accessed 2017-03-19] [WebCite Cache ID 6p5eyno1F]
- 17. New South Wales Health. Services and Facilities Annual Report 2009-2010. Sydney: NSW Health; 2010.
- 18. Society of Hospital Pharmacists of Australia Publications Reference Group. In: Burridge N, editor. Australian Injectable Drugs Handbook. Sixth Edition. Collingwood: SHPA; 2015.
- 19. Bond S, Crowther S. Illawarra Shoalhaven Local Health District. 2015. Vancomycin interactive URL: <u>http://www.vancomycin.com.au/</u> [accessed 2017-02-02] [WebCite Cache ID 6nzGDot6m]
- 20. D'Agostino R, Belanger A, D'Agostino JR. A suggestion for using powerful and informative tests of normality. Am Stat 1990;44:316-321.
- 21. Castro-Sanchez E, Charani E, Moore L, Gharbi M, Holmes A. On call: antibiotics-development and evaluation of a serious antimicrobial prescribing game for hospital care. In: Games for Health. Berlin: Springer Vieweg; 2014:1-7.
- 22. Akl EA, Kairouz VF, Sackett KM, Erdley WS, Mustafa RA, Fiander M, et al. Educational games for health professionals. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2013 Mar 28(3):CD006411. [doi: <u>10.1002/14651858.CD006411.pub4</u>] [Medline: <u>23543543</u>]
- 23. Graafland M, Dankbaar M, Mert A, Lagro J, De WL, Schuit S, et al. How to systematically assess serious games applied to health care. JMIR Serious Games 2014;2(2):e11 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/games.3825] [Medline: 25654163]
- 24. Thompson D. Designing serious video games for health behavior change: current status and future directions. J Diabetes Sci Technol 2012 Jul 01;6(4):807-811 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 22920806]
- 25. Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care. Antimicrobial Use in Australian hospitals: Annual Report of the National Antimicrobial Utilisation Surveillance Program. Adelaide: Commonwealth of Australia; 2015.

#### Abbreviations

CDSS: clinical decision support system IBL: Internet-based learning ISLHD: Illawarra Shoalhaven Local Health District SESLHD: South Eastern Sydney Local Health District TDM: therapeutic drug monitoring



Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 19.03.17; peer-reviewed by D Katz, I Belan; comments to author 10.08.17; revised version received 28.11.17; accepted 21.12.17; published 26.02.18. <u>Please cite as:</u> Bond SE, Crowther SP, Adhikari S, Chubaty AJ, Yu P, Borchard JP, Boutlis CS, Yeo WW, Miyakis S Evaluating the Effect of a Web-Based E-Learning Tool for Health Professional Education on Clinical Vancomycin Use: Comparative Study JMIR Med Educ 2018;4(1):e5 URL: http://mededu.jmir.org/2018/1/e5/ doi:10.2196/mededu.7719 PMID:29483071

©Stuart Evan Bond, Shelley P Crowther, Suman Adhikari, Adriana J Chubaty, Ping Yu, Jay P Borchard, Craig Steven Boutlis, Wilfred Winston Yeo, Spiros Miyakis. Originally published in JMIR Medical Education (http://mededu.jmir.org), 26.02.2018. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Medical Education, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://mededu.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



**Original Paper** 

## Integrating Patient-Centered Electronic Health Record Communication Training into Resident Onboarding: Curriculum Development and Post-Implementation Survey Among Housestaff

Maria Alcocer Alkureishi<sup>1</sup>, MD; Wei Wei Lee<sup>2</sup>, MPH, MD; Sandra Webb<sup>3</sup>, BSc; Vineet Arora<sup>2</sup>, MAPP, MD

<sup>1</sup>Department of Academic Pediatrics, University of Chicago, Chicago, IL, United States

<sup>2</sup>Department of Medicine, University of Chicago, Chicago, IL, United States

<sup>3</sup>Department of Clinical Information Systems, University of Chicago, Chicago, IL, United States

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Maria Alcocer Alkureishi, MD Department of Academic Pediatrics University of Chicago 5841 South Maryland Ave MC 6082, Room C124 Chicago, IL, United States Phone: 1 773 834 8927 Fax: 1 773 834 5964 Email: malkureishi@peds.bsd.uchicago.edu

## Abstract

**Background:** Electronic health record (EHR) use can enhance or undermine the ability of providers to deliver effective, humanistic patient-centered care. Given patient-centered care has been found to positively impact patient health outcomes, it is critical to provide formal education on patient-centered EHR communication skills. Unfortunately, despite increasing worldwide EHR adoption, few institutions educate trainees on EHR communication best practices.

**Objective:** The goal of this research was to develop and deliver mandatory patient-centered EHR training to all incoming housestaff at the University of Chicago.

**Methods:** We developed a brief patient-centered EHR use curriculum highlighting best practices based on a literature search. Training was embedded into required EHR onboarding for all incoming housestaff (interns, residents, and fellows) at the University of Chicago in 2015 and was delivered by institutional Clinical Applications Trainers. An 11-item posttraining survey consisting of ten 5-point Likert scale questions and 1 open-ended question was administered. Responses at the high end of the scale were grouped to dichotomize data.

**Results:** All 158 of the incoming 2015 postgraduate trainees participated in training and completed surveys (158/158, 100.0%). Just over half (86/158, 54.4%) were interns and the remaining were residents and fellows (72/158, 45.6%). One-fifth of respondents (32/158, 20.2%) were primary care trainees (defined as internal medicine, pediatric, and medicine-pediatric trainees), and the remaining 79.7% (126/158) were surgical or specialty trainees. Self-perceived pre- versus posttraining knowledge of barriers, best practices, and ability to implement patient-centered EHR skills significantly increased (3.1 vs 3.9, P<.001 for all). Most felt training was effective (90.5%), should be required (86.7%), and would change future practice as a result (70.9%). The only significant difference between intern and resident/fellow responses was prior knowledge of patient-centered EHR use barriers; interns endorsed higher prior knowledge than resident peers (3.27 vs 2.94 respectively, P=.03). Response comparison of specialty or surgical trainees (n=126) to primary care trainees (n=32) showed no significant differences in prior knowledge of barriers (3.09 vs 3.22, P=.50), of best practices (3.08 vs 2.94, P=.37), or prior ability to implement best practices (3.11 vs 2.84, P=.15). Primary care trainees had larger increases posttraining than surgical/specialty peers in knowledge of barriers (0.8 vs 0.7, P=.62), best practices (1.1 vs 0.8, P=.08), and ability to implement best practices (1.1 vs 0.7, P=.07), although none reached statistical significance. Primary care trainees also rated training as more effective (4.34 vs 4.09, P=.03) and felt training should be required (4.34 vs 4.09, P=.02).

**Conclusions:** Embedding EHR communication skills training into required institutional EHR training is a novel and effective way to teach key EHR skills to trainees. Such training may help ground trainees in best practices and contribute to cultivating an institutional culture of humanistic, patient-centered EHR use.

(JMIR Med Educ 2018;4(1):e1) doi:10.2196/mededu.8976

#### **KEYWORDS**

electronic health records; EHR; patient-doctor relationship; communication

### Introduction

Electronic health record (EHR) use during clinical encounters is becoming the norm worldwide [1]. Since 2006, use of EHRs by US physicians increased by over 160% with 78% of office-based physicians and 59% of hospitals having adopted an EHR by 2013 [2]. That number has only increased with time, partly due to the financial incentives put in place by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act of 2009, which calls for not only expanded use of EHRs but also increased engagement with patients and families with the EHR [3].

Given their ubiquity in practice, it is important for providers to be aware of how EHR use in clinical encounters can alter the patient-provider interaction. Studies looking at the impact of EHR use on the patient-doctor relationship and communication have identified physician behaviors that may negatively impact the patient-doctor relationship; for example, typing during sensitive discussions and low rates of screen sharing can lead to a decrease in transparency of provider actions and patient confusion or distrust as to what their provider is doing on the computer [4,5]. As a result, patient satisfaction with the interaction and the perception of their overall quality of care may be decreased [4-11]. Similarly, best practices for patient-physician EHR interactions exist, and research shows that when EHRs are integrated in a patient-centered manner, physicians can foster patient activation and engagement by improving communication, enhancing patient understanding of their medical conditions, and promoting increased shared decision making [1,4,12,13].

Patient-centered care has been found to positively impact a number of measures such as patient compliance, satisfaction, and health outcomes [14]. Given these important benefits, mandates such as the World Health Organization's Global Strategy on People-Centered and Integrated Health Services have called for improved people-centered care that empowers, educates, and engages individuals and incorporates technology in an efficient and effective manner [15]. In the United States, the American Medical Association and Accreditation Council for Graduate Medical Education also recommend educating trainee physicians on these best practice behaviors [16,17] in order to ground them in best practices and promote a lifelong practice of effective, patient-centered care.

Despite the existence of these best practices and mandates, few trainees receive training on EHR communication skills. Challenges related to providing this training include difficulty in reaching trainees across different specialties, lack of time in an already crowded curriculum, lack of a patient-centered EHR

http://mededu.jmir.org/2018/1/e1/

use curriculum, and lack of trained educators to provide the instruction [18]. Without formal education on best practices, trainees may pick up bad habits and develop negative "workaround behaviors," informal practices designed to help them coordinate their day's work especially under conditions of time pressure and constraints [19]. Although these workarounds may help trainees get through the tasks of their day, they are generally suboptimal and can negatively influence the delivery, safety, effectiveness, and efficiency of care [19]. As such, appropriately using the EHR and information technology to not only manage the process of patient care but to also engage, communicate with, educate, and empower patients is an essential redesign of clinical practice today, and it is critical trainees learn best practice behaviors early on [18].

To address the need for instruction as well as the various obstacles generally encountered in providing training, we formed a novel partnership with our institutional EHR trainers and embedded an EHR use communication curriculum into the existing required EHR onboarding process for all incoming housestaff at the University of Chicago.

## Methods

After conducting a literature review of best practices for patient-centered communication use, we developed a comprehensive patient-centered EHR use curriculum for medical students at the Pritzker School of Medicine as part of the second-year clinical skills course [20,21]. This curriculum consisted of a 1-hour interactive lecture addressing the impact of EHR use on patient-provider communication and summarized best practices using the HUMAN LEVEL mnemonic (ie, "Honor the golden minute" to elicit patients' concerns before engaging the EHR) (Table 1) [7,20,22,23]. Students then participated in a group observed structured clinical examination where 1 student per group directly interacted with a standardized patient while the remaining students and a faculty member observed. Students were tasked with logging into and navigating a mock patient chart in the EHR and interacting with the standardized patient to discuss their chief concern, review prior labs, and provide counseling using the EHR in a patient-centered manner. A debrief and feedback from the faculty facilitator, standardized patient, and peer observers was conducted immediately after the exercise in order to highlight areas for improvement.

The above curriculum has successfully become an ongoing part of the Pritzker School of Medicine clinical skills course since 2013; however, it is time- and resource-intensive, thus limiting its direct application to all institutional postgraduate trainees [21]. As such, we consolidated the key themes and practical points of the training into a brief 15- to 20-minute, 8-slide

curriculum on key patient-centered EHR use skills targeting for postgraduate trainees. The curriculum highlighted best practices of t

for patient-centered communication skills and included a review of the HUMAN LEVEL mnemonic (Table 1) [7,20,22,23].

Table 1. HUMAN LEVEL-10 tips to enhance patient-centered electronic health record use.

Letter	Tip	Explanation
Н	Honor the "Golden Minute"	Make the start of the visit completely technology free.
		Greet the patient, start with their concerns, and establish an agenda for the visit <i>before</i> engaging technology.
U	Use the "Triangle of Trust"	Create a triangle configuration that puts you, the patient, and the computer screen at each of the three corners.
		This allows you to look at both the patient and screen without shifting your body position and also enables shared screen viewing.
М	Maximize patient interaction	Encourage patient interaction. Pause for questions and clarification. Allow time for questions and to verify understanding.
А	Acquaint yourself with chart	Review the chart before you enter the room to prepare, inform, and contextualize your visit.
Ν	Nix the screen	When discussing sensitive information, completely disengage from the electronic health record (EHR) (look at the patient, turn away from screen, take hands off keyboard, etc).
L	Let the patient look on	Share things on the screen with your patients.
Е	Eye contact	Maintain eye contact with patients as much as possible. Treat patient encounters as you would a conversation with friends or family members.
V	Value the computer	Praise the benefits of the EHR and take advantage of opportunities to use technology as a tool to engage patients (pull up lab result to review together, use graphics, etc).
E	Explain what you're doing	Be transparent about everything you do. Avoid long silences, aim for conversational EHR use by explaining what you are doing as you are doing it.
L	Log off	At the end of the visit, log off of the patient's chart while they are still in the exam room. This reassures the patient that their medical information is secure.

The curriculum was embedded in the required 4-hour EHR ambulatory onboarding for all incoming housestaff at the University of Chicago in August 2015. One of the authors (MAA) delivered a 1-hour training to 5 institutional EHR trainers and provided individual feedback on practice presentations of the material. The curriculum was not embedded in the actual EHR itself; rather, it was embedded in the training of how to use the EHR. The training was provided in person (ie, not a webinar or via webcast) and was led by our institutional EHR trainers. Learners attended the training session in groups, and during the training each learner had a desktop computer that allowed them to explore and practice the various functional abilities of the EHR with respect to their provider role (eg, how to log in, view labs and studies, place orders, write notes).

The entire EHR training session was 4 hours in length, and our content on patient-centered EHR use training was 20 minutes in length. It consisted of 8 PowerPoint slides that highlighted barriers to and best practices for patient-centered EHR use as well as institutional documentation expectations (ie, authorship and professionalism, refraining from indiscriminate importing of labs or radiology reports, keeping notes succinct and up to date).

An 11-item survey consisting of ten 5-point Likert scale questions and 1 open-ended question was administered to all participants posttraining (Multimedia Appendix 1). Average responses are reported and for some questions, responses at the high end of the scale were grouped to dichotomize data (ie,

http://mededu.jmir.org/2018/1/e1/

RenderX

4=agree and 5=strongly agree were simply categorized as "agree"). Differences between intern versus resident or primary care versus specialty/surgical trainee responses were analyzed using Wilcoxon rank-sum tests, and differences in overall preversus posttraining responses were analyzed using Wilcoxon signed-rank tests. Differences in trainee responses in relationship to the EHR instructor delivering the content were analyzed using Kruskal-Wallis tests.

## Results

A total of 158 postgraduate trainees attended the training and completed surveys (158/158, 100%). Over half (86/158, 54.4%) were interns and the remaining were residents and fellows (72/158, 45.6%). One-fifth of respondents (32/158, 20.2%) were primary care trainees (defined as internal medicine, pediatric, and medicine-pediatric trainees), and the remaining 79.7% (126/158) were surgical or specialty trainees with representation from 27 different specialties.

Overall, trainees reported significant increases in their knowledge of barriers, best practices, and ability to implement best practice strategies (3.1 vs 3.9 for all, P<.001). On a 5-point Likert scale, 90.5% of respondents (143/158) either strongly agreed or agreed that the training was effective, and 86.7% (137/158) strongly agreed or agreed that it should be required for physicians and anyone interacting with patients and the EHR. A total of 70.9% of trainees (112/158) felt they planned to change their practice and how they interact with patients and the EHR as a result of the training.

Five different EHR instructors provided the training, and there was no significant difference in ratings of training effectiveness (P=.29), need for required training (P=.53), usefulness of the mnemonic (P=.58), and likelihood of changing practice (P=.43) across instructors.

When comparing responses with regard to training level, the only significant difference between intern and resident/fellow responses was prior knowledge of barriers to patient-centered EHR use, with interns endorsing higher knowledge than their more experienced peers (3.27 vs 2.94 respectively, P=.03 from Wilcoxon rank-sum test).

Response comparison of specialty or surgical trainees (n=126) to primary care trainees (n=32) showed no significant differences in prior knowledge of barriers (3.09 vs 3.22, P=.50), best practices (3.08 vs 2.94, P=.37), or prior ability to implement best practices (3.11 vs 2.84, P=.15). Primary care trainees tended to have larger increases posttraining than their surgical or specialty peers in knowledge of barriers (0.8 vs 0.7, P=.62), best practices (1.1 vs 0.8, P=.08), and ability to implement best practices (1.1 vs 0.7, P=.07), although none reached statistical significance. Likewise, they rated the training as more effective (4.34 vs 4.09, P=.03) and tended to agree more with the statements that training should be required (4.34 vs 4.09, P=.10) and that they would change their future practice as a result (4.13 vs 3.73, P=.02).

Responses to the open-ended question "What other suggestions/comments do you have about this session?" were in general quite positive. Of note, 1 trainee stated they would have preferred more expectations of what is to be documented in patient notes. Another trainee indicated they would have preferred additional practical training, stating "I would have preferred a longer hands-on portion with more exercises rather than the entire lecture portion. Doing a training that is more case-oriented with staff helping answer questions along the way would be a much more effective use of time." Last, only 1 respondent mentioned that they had previously learned the HUMAN LEVEL mnemonic of best practices.

#### Discussion

It is imperative that today's health care trainees are able to manage the demands of the EHR while maintaining a meaningful relationship with the patient and foster patient-provider communication. Our short training resulted in measurable improvement on self-assessed patient-centered EHR use knowledge, attitude, and skills, as well as likelihood to affect future practice for incoming trainees regardless of resident and fellow levels or specialty type. It is interesting to note that interns endorsed higher prior knowledge of barriers than their more experienced peers. It may be that younger trainees are more attuned to obstacles with EHR use, whereas their more experienced peers have developed EHR workarounds and are thus less likely to endorse barriers. Whether those informally learned workarounds promote or undermine patient-centered EHR use is unclear, however, and the importance of grounding all trainees in best practices remains. Also, given primary care trainees rated training as more likely to change their future

practice, there is likely a need to tailor training for specialty and surgical trainees in order to increase its effectiveness.

Based on trainee feedback, future curricular development should aim to provide further reinforcement and specific guidance in terms of expectations of what is to be documented in patient notes. Additional opportunities for a more involved practical session with documentation exercises and real-time feedback and guidance may also be beneficial in providing reinforcement of a practical skill set as trainees begin clinical practice with patients. Furthermore, additional training touchpoints using a variety of methods (visual reminders, in-person training with standardized patients, and perhaps even embedded reminders in the EHR) not just for trainees but for attendings as well may be helpful in ensuring providers of all levels remember and employ best practices in their clinical care.

Most importantly, it is critical to provide opportunities for trainees to obtain feedback about their skills with real patients. This can come in the form of direct feedback from patients themselves as well as from faculty supervisors observing their actual clinical practice. Tools such as the validated electronic Clinical Evaluation Exercise may be helpful in order to structure feedback on patient-centered EHR use behaviors and highlight areas for improvement [24].

Our novel approach of embedding communication training into required EHR onboarding was an effective and efficient way to teach housestaff these key EHR-related skills. It is essential to teach housestaff at this critical and early point in training when they are primed to learn and incorporate skills into practice. It is equally important, however, to provide additional booster curricula in order to reinforce and promote maintenance of behaviors and elicit feedback from actual patients on provider practice in order to identify areas for improvement.

Use of institutional EHR trainers, professional information technology specialists who already routinely educate physicians on EHR use, takes advantage of existing resources at most institutions. Also, the difficulty of delivering curricula to all housestaff across specialties is alleviated by embedding it in required onboarding training. Last, strategies for best practice exist and are easily teachable to trainees. Introducing these skills early on contributes to a culture in which professional patient-centered EHR use is the norm.

While our project is currently single site and relies on self-assessed survey questions, our future work aims to provide longitudinal reinforcement of these skills and feedback on EHR communication skills in real clinical encounters to provide continued feedback and training. In addition, we realize the importance of correlating changes in patient satisfaction with training and are focusing on training faculty to promote positive role-modeling and proactively shape the "hidden curriculum" of EHR use. We are also working toward informing patients of their role with the EHR, educating them about the function of the computer in their care and inviting them to become more involved with its use not only during the visit with their provider but afterward via patient portals and secure messaging systems.

Importantly, most trainees felt that although the training was short, it was effective and should be required. As a result, our



curriculum has become a permanent part of the onboarding process for all incoming housestaff, and there are plans to expand our training to target attending physicians, midlevel providers, nurses, and support staff at the University of Chicago.

Patient-centered care has been found to positively impact a number of measures such as patient compliance, satisfaction, and health outcomes [13]. Given the increasing rates of EHR adoption, it is critical to provide physicians with formal education on patient-centered EHR communication skills; however, finding the time to teach these skills in crowded training programs poses a challenge. We found partnering with

EHR trainers who deliver required onboarding training is a novel, timely, and effective method to facilitate training on patient-centered EHR communication strategies across a variety of residency and postresidency training programs. This curriculum capitalizes on existing EHR trainers and leverages resources in a cost-effective manner to provide training to a captive audience of diverse incoming trainees. Similar training can be easily replicated at other institutions and may help ground trainees in best practices and contribute to cultivating a culture of high-quality patient care and meaningful, humanistic patient-centered EHR use.

#### Acknowledgments

We would like to thank the many Clinical Applications Trainers at the University of Chicago for their assistance with this project, as well as our trainees for their survey responses. Funding for this work was made possible by grants from the University of Chicago Academy of Distinguished Medical Educators Medical Education Grants Program and the Arnold P Gold Foundation Research Institute "Mapping the Landscape, Journeying Together" Project. None of the above funding sources were involved in the preparation, review, or approval of the manuscript.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

#### **Multimedia Appendix 1**

Patient-centered electronic medical record use training survey.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 32KB - mededu\_v4i1e1\_app1.pdf]

#### References

- 1. Frankel RM. Computers in the examination room. JAMA Intern Med 2016 Jan;176(1):128-129. [doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2015.6559] [Medline: 26619228]
- 2. Celi LA, Marshall JD, Lai Y, Stone DJ. Disrupting electronic health records systems: the next generation. JMIR Med Inform 2015;3(4):e34 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/medinform.4192] [Medline: 26500106]
- Slight SP, Berner ES, Galanter W, Huff S, Lambert BL, Lannon C, et al. Meaningful use of electronic health records: experiences from the field and future opportunities. JMIR Med Inform 2015;3(3):e30 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/medinform.4457] [Medline: 26385598]
- Alkureishi MA, Lee WW, Lyons M, Press VG, Imam S, Nkansah-Amankra A, et al. Impact of electronic medical record use on the patient-doctor relationship and communication: a systematic review. J Gen Intern Med 2016 May;31(5):548-560 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11606-015-3582-1] [Medline: 26786877]
- 5. Lee W, Alkureishi M. The impact of EHRs on communication within the doctor-patient relationship. In: Papadakos P, Bertman S, editors. Distracted Doctoring. New York: Springer; 2017:101-121.
- Lee W, Alkureishi M, Ukabiala O, Venable L, Ngooi S, Staisiunas D, et al. Patient perceptions of electronic medical record use by faculty and resident physicians: a mixed methods study. J Gen Intern Med 2016 Nov;31(11):1315-1322 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11606-016-3774-3] [Medline: 27400921]
- 7. Mann WR, Slaboch J. Computers in the exam room: friend or foe? Perm J 2004;8(4):49-51 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 26705316]
- Ratanawongsa N, Barton JL, Lyles CR, Wu M, Yelin EH, Martinez D, et al. Association between clinician computer use and communication with patients in safety-net clinics. JAMA Intern Med 2016 Jan;176(1):125-128 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2015.6186] [Medline: 26619393]
- 9. Lelievre S, Schultz K. Does computer use in patient-physician encounters influence patient satisfaction? Can Fam Physician 2010 Jan;56(1):e6-e12 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 20090064]
- 10. Nasiri S. Health Care Tech Review. Three ways to ease patient fears about health IT URL: <u>http://www.</u> <u>healthcarebusinesstech.com/3-ways-to-ease-patient-fears-about-health-it/</u> [accessed 2017-12-19] [WebCite Cache ID <u>6vqErvgbF</u>]
- Rose D, Richter LT, Kapustin J. Patient experiences with electronic medical records: lessons learned. J Am Assoc Nurse Pract 2014 Dec;26(12):674-680 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/2327-6924.12170] [Medline: 25234112]

- 12. Crampton NH, Reis S, Shachak A. Computers in the clinical encounter: a scoping review and thematic analysis. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2016 May;23(3):654-665. [doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocv178] [Medline: 26769911]
- 13. Zheng J, Yu H. Readability formulas and user perceptions of electronic health records difficulty: a corpus study. J Med Internet Res 2017 Mar 02;19(3):e59 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.6962] [Medline: 28254738]
- 14. Qamar N, Pappalardo AA, Arora VM, Press VG. Patient-centered care and its effect on outcomes in the treatment of asthma. Patient Relat Outcome Meas 2011 Jul;2:81-109 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/PROM.S12634] [Medline: 22915970]
- 15. WHO Global Strategy on Integrated People-Centered Health Services 2016-2026. 2016. URL: <u>http://apps.who.int/iris/</u> <u>bitstream/10665/180984/1/WHO\_HIS\_SDS\_2015.20\_eng.pdf</u> [accessed 2017-12-19] [WebCite Cache ID 6vqFAtDhE]
- 16. Exam room computing and patient-physician interactions.: American Medical Association Reports of Board of Trustees; 2012. URL: <u>https://www.ama-assn.org/sites/default/files/media-browser/public/hod/a13-bot-reports\_0.pdf</u> [accessed 2017-12-19] [WebCite Cache ID 6vpnzmeOP]
- 17. Accreditation Council for Graduate Medical Education (ACGME) Internal Medicine Milestone Project. 2015. URL: <u>http://www.acgme.org/portals/0/pdfs/milestones/internalmedicinemilestones.pdf</u> [accessed 2017-12-12] [WebCite Cache ID 6qmWHeyim]
- Clarke MA, Belden JL, Kim MS. How does learnability of primary care resident physicians increase after seven months of using an electronic health record? A longitudinal study. JMIR Hum Factors 2016 Feb 15;3(1):e9 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/humanfactors.4601] [Medline: 27025237]
- 19. Blijleven V, Koelemeijer K, Jaspers M. Exploring workarounds related to electronic health record system usage: a study protocol. JMIR Res Protoc 2017 Apr 28;6(4):e72 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/resprot.6766] [Medline: 28455273]
- 20. Alkureishi M, Lee W, Farnan J, Arora V. Breaking away from the iPatient to care for the real patient: implementing a patient-centered EHR use curriculum. J Teach Learn Resour 2014;10:9953.
- 21. Denton G, Shaheen A, Lee W, Esquivel E, Kelly W, Levine D, et al. Abstracts From the Proceedings of the 2014 Annual Meeting of the Clerkship Directors of Internal Medicine (CDIM). All Clin Educ 2015;27(3):346-350.
- 22. Alkureishi M, Lee W, Frankel R. Patient-centered technology use: best practices and curricular strategies. In: Shachak A, Borycki E, Reis S, editors. Health Professionals' Education in the Age of Clinical Information Systems, Mobile Computing and Social Networks. London: Academic Press; 2017:201-232.
- 23. Lee WW, Alkureishi ML, Wroblewski KE, Farnan JM, Arora VM. Incorporating the human touch: piloting a curriculum for patient-centered electronic health record use. Med Educ Online 2017;22(1):1396171 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/10872981.2017.1396171] [Medline: 29103366]
- 24. Alkureishi M, Lee W, Lyons M, Wroblewski K, Farnan J, Arora V. Electronic-clinical evaluation exercise (e-CEX): a new patient-centered EHR use tool. Patient Educ Couns 2017 Oct 10. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.pec.2017.10.005</u>] [Medline: <u>29042145</u>]

#### Abbreviations

EHR: electronic health record

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 14.09.17; peer-reviewed by S Reis, J Zheng, J Cimino; comments to author 19.10.17; revised version received 09.11.17; accepted 17.11.17; published 04.01.18.

Please cite as:

Alkureishi MA, Lee WW, Webb S, Arora V Integrating Patient-Centered Electronic Health Record Communication Training into Resident Onboarding: Curriculum Development and Post-Implementation Survey Among Housestaff JMIR Med Educ 2018;4(1):e1 URL: http://mededu.jmir.org/2018/1/e1/ doi:10.2196/mededu.8976 PMID:29301735

©Maria Alcocer Alkureishi, Wei Wei Lee, Sandra Webb, Vineet Arora. Originally published in JMIR Medical Education (http://mededu.jmir.org), 04.01.2018. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Medical Education, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://mededu.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

#### **Review**

# Medical YouTube Videos and Methods of Evaluation: Literature Review

Brandy Drozd<sup>1</sup>, BS; Emily Couvillon<sup>2</sup>, MSIS; Andrea Suarez<sup>1</sup>, MD, PhD

<sup>1</sup>McGovern Medical School of UTHealth Houston, Houston, TX, United States <sup>2</sup>School of Medicine, Georgetown University, Washington, DC, United States

**Corresponding Author:** Brandy Drozd, BS McGovern Medical School of UTHealth Houston 6431 Fannin St Houston, TX, 77030 United States Phone: 1 9792290001 Email: <u>brandy.n.drozd@uth.tmc.edu</u>

## Abstract

**Background:** Online medical education has relevance to public health literacy and physician efficacy, yet it requires a certain standard of reliability. While the internet has the potential to be a viable medical education tool, the viewer must be able to discern which information is reliable.

**Objective:** Our aim was to perform a literature review to determine and compare the various methods used when analyzing YouTube videos for patient education efficacy, information accuracy, and quality.

Methods: In November 2016, a comprehensive search within PubMed and Embase resulted in 37 included studies.

**Results:** The review revealed that each video evaluation study first established search terms, exclusion criteria, and methods to analyze the videos in a consistent manner. The majority of the evaluators devised a scoring system, but variations were innumerable within each study's methods.

**Conclusions:** In comparing the 37 studies, we found that overall, common steps were taken to evaluate the content. However, a concrete set of methods did not exist. This is notable since many patients turn to the internet for medical information yet lack the tools to evaluate the advice being given. There was, however, a common aim of discovering what health-related content the public is accessing, and how credible that material is.

(JMIR Med Educ 2018;4(1):e3) doi: 10.2196/mededu.8527

#### **KEYWORDS**

social media; YouTube; internet; health literacy; online education; videos

## Introduction

In today's world, the internet and social media are a part of everyday life. Within seconds, a handheld device can provide more information than one can possibly read. The ease and simplicity of finding information on the internet translates directly to answering health questions and concerns. By 2011, 59% of adults were looking up health information online, and internet access has expanded exponentially since then [1]. One of the most frequently used social media sites is YouTube, which was created in 2005 and now has over one billion users, allowing for hundreds of millions of hours of total video watch time each day [2]. Social media has great potential to provide easy access to medical information, but it is likely that the information received is neither accurate nor free of bias. A YouTube search on tanning bed use gives results with 68% of the videos having a positive view of bed use, with no mention of dangers such as melanoma. This is an obvious problem for the field of dermatology to address [3]. Issues related to online videos for patient education and their quality and accuracy have drawn more attention recently. Analyses of YouTube videos on heart failure, mammography, and asthma among others have been published since 2015, but there are no standardized methods or guidelines of evaluation [4-7]. The lack of regulation within online medical education is hindering progress made by physicians, but with knowledge of how YouTube videos can be assessed, the public as well as health care providers can better assess the quality of information they are receiving. The goal

of this review is to determine how studies have been able to evaluate educational videos and to give an overall look at the most common methods used.

## Methods

A thorough search was performed within both Embase and PubMed in November 2016. A data management librarian determined the search terms after a preliminary search to find which key words would supply relevant articles. Many search combinations did not generate any articles as this is a relatively new topic and YouTube was not created until 2005. Thus, our inclusion date for articles encompassed anything published after the year 2005. PubMed and Embase were chosen as the literature databases to search, as they are reputable sources of medical literature and PubMed also includes literature from the Medline database. The first search was performed in Embase with the term "patient education" AND "YouTube" OR "Online Videos" OR "Online video." In PubMed, two separate searches were performed. The first search term was ("Patient Education as Topic" [Medical Subject Headings] OR "patient education") AND ("YouTube" OR "online videos"), and the second search term was "YouTube health guidelines." One author analyzed all of the included articles, and the results were reviewed and approved by another author. Each included article was read in

Figure 1. Search results and excluded studies.

its entirety, and the methods as well as unique characteristics for each study were recorded in MS Excel formatting and compared.

The inclusion criteria for the studies to be reviewed were as follows: (1) analysis of videos intended for patients or guardians, (2) contains detailed and repeatable methods of analysis, (3) English language, and (4) analysis of videos that are made available to the public.

The Embase search ("patient education" AND "YouTube" OR "Online Videos" OR "Online video") generated 65 results, of which 20 were included for review. The first PubMed search ("Patient Education as Topic" [Medical Subject Headings] OR "patient education") AND ("YouTube" OR "online videos") had 77 results and 13 articles met the inclusion criteria. The last PubMed search ("YouTube health guidelines") gave 16 results, of which 4 articles were reviewed. This resulted in a total of 37 studies to be reviewed (see Multimedia Appendix 1). Most excluded articles were left out due to irrelevance, meaning that the studies focused more on websites than videos, tested the efficacy of personal physician-created videos on their own patients, or the videos analyzed were intended for physician use only. The excluded studies are summarized in Figure 1.

This study was exempt from requiring Institutional Review Board approval.





## Results

The same chronological process was generally followed within each piece of literature reviewed, but no two video evaluations were performed in an identical manner. The first step within each study included determining the search term(s) to be used. Multiple search terms were used to ensure that all possible patient searches could be evaluated. For example, "gallbladder disease," "gallstone disease," and "gallstone treatment" were all used to assess YouTube videos about gallstone disease, as they are likely terms used by the public [7]. Other studies used search operators in order to create comprehensive search terms [8]. Another method used for searching techniques was multiple search dates.

Methods and techniques used to determine search terms and searching criteria for YouTube videos included multiple search terms (20 studies), autocomplete function within search bar, use of search operators, multiple search dates, limited number of pages within a particular search to be analyzed (30 studies), and changing the video results to be sorted by "most viewed" (3 studies).

The next step involves determining which videos should be included in the study. Some researchers set a maximum time limit for included videos. Only one study excluded videos based on number of views, in which the videos were required to have greater than 2500 views [6]. The predetermined inclusion criteria used by various studies were English language; must not be a duplicate video; must have audio; videos directed towards the public and not only a physician; video length not greater than a predetermined maximum number of minutes (7 studies), most commonly being 10 minutes (4 studies); and must have a predetermined number of video views (1 study).

Most studies had multiple reviewers and stated the qualifications of the reviewers, which included students, residents, or physicians. The most rigorous qualification requirements involved a 1-month clinical rotation in the department of allergy and clinical immunology and successful completion of a series of learning objectives [5]. The videos were reviewed separately, followed by comparison of results, but how the differences were settled varied. The most common method deferred the discrepancy to another qualified individual or physician who would determine the final result. One study averaged the individual reviewer scores and accepted that result as the final evaluation [9]. Since these evaluations are largely subjective, interrater reliability was assessed in 15 of the articles through the calculation of a kappa score.

The source of upload allowed for categorization of videos. An analysis of educational videos on children's dental caries separated the videos into health care professionals, academic institutes, professional organizations, individual users, and product companies [10]. These were the most common source categories, but others included news agencies and health care websites as well. Three of the studies assessed the reliability of the upload sources through a modified DISCERN method for which the reliability score ranges from 0 to 5. The criterion from the original DISCERN model were clear aims, balanced/unbiased, reliable sources of information, additional resources provided, and mention of uncertainty [11-13].

To determine the accuracy of the videos, 22 of the studies created a novel scoring system. These scoring systems and other methods are summarized in Table 1. In a study on the accuracy of YouTube videos about stopping epistaxis, a point was awarded for each of the necessary steps mentioned [14]. In another study, the scoring ranged from -10 to 30, where a point was awarded for each accurate piece of information included, and a point was subtracted for each incorrect fact that could harm a patient [5]. Through the Journal of the American Medical Association guidelines used, a point is given for authorship, disclosure, source, and currency of the video [15]. Health on the Net (HON) Foundation has also created a set of 8 principles for websites to abide by called the HONcode [16]. Another method of evaluation was categorization of videos as useful, misleading, or as personal experiences. A useful video contains accurate information about any facet of the disease such as epidemiology, treatments, and procedures performed, and is misleading if it presents inaccurate information or promotes a scientifically unproven treatment [17].

Ten studies evaluated the quality of the video presentation, of which five assessed video quality according to global quality score guidelines. This rates the quality from a score of 1-5 while taking into account video flow and usefulness [11,18]. Other quality assessment guidelines constructed by reviewers included evaluation of lighting, audio, and number of pixels as well as other video characteristics [7,19].

The most common video characteristics recorded were number of views, followed by source of upload. These data, along with the frequencies of other parameters taken into account by the various studies, are summarized in Figure 2. In addition, 5 studies measured popularity by either calculating likes per 1000 views or views per day/per month.

The most common sequence of methods performed is as follows: (1) determine a search term(s); (2) establish inclusion criteria for videos; (3) determine video reliability scoring/what parameters will be taken into account; (4) review videos individually; (5) convene to discuss discrepancies and determine final results; and (6) analyze results and determine the reliability or usefulness of videos and which characteristics determine that quality.



Drozd et al

Table 1. Methods for determining accuracy and usefulness of videos.

Method	Description
Creation of a novel scoring system (22 studies)	Formation of guidelines based on scientific literature and physician exper- tise with a corresponding point system
HONcode <sup>a</sup>	Health on the Net Foundation guidelines for websites adapted for YouTube videos
Journal of the American Medical Association website guidelines	Adaptation of these guidelines to be implemented for YouTube videos
Judgment as useful, misleading, or personal experiences	Subjective categorization by the researchers based on knowledge of the topic as well as on predetermined criteria

<sup>a</sup>Health on the Net (HON) Foundation created a set of 8 principles for websites to abide by called the HONcode.

Figure 2. Video data collected by various studies as of Nov 2016 (results based on all 37 studies reviewed).



## Discussion

#### **Principal Findings**

Our review found that defining a search term, determining how to judge or score the videos, and determining the reliability of the video sources and information were the primary methods discussed throughout the studies. There were also many steps taken to ensure that the evaluations were indicative of how the general public and patients would receive and understand the information given in the YouTube videos. For example, YouTube content is constantly being modified, thus researchers performed content searches at later dates to give insight into the evolution of viewership [18]. They also took measures to include search terms that were more likely to be used by patients. A recent study on consumer health-related activities on social media determined that much of the involvement was based on convenience [20]; many researchers limited the page number and search rank of the videos to be included in their analysis. Most people searching YouTube do not take the time to look at search results in later pages, and evaluating these videos would not be an accurate representation of what the public is viewing. The previous study on consumer

RenderX

health-related social media activities also revealed that many social media users turn to the internet for emotional support during a chronic disease or illness [20]. Within the studies of this literature review that judged videos as either useful, misleading, or personal experiences, there was an emphasis on the personal experience videos, which were further evaluated for accuracy. This was not without reason as many patients feel that the information provided by their physicians is not sufficient and they turn to their online peers for support [20].

Throughout the reviewed literature, there was considerable focus on determining which video characteristics could be quantified and compared to reveal a positive correlation with video accuracy. The most commonly statistically analyzed parameters were video score versus number of likes, and video score versus source of upload. One study discovered that younger patients as well as patients with higher education are more likely to use the internet as source of health information due to their increased ability to search the Web and identify reliable information and sources [21]. If video parameters and sources can be linked to predictability of accuracy, then perhaps patients within the health literacy gap will feel more confident in navigating this pool of easily accessible medical knowledge.

#### Limitations

This paper is a comprehensive review, but it is not a systematic review. All efforts were taken to include all articles possible, but we cannot guarantee that some were not missed. In addition, this is a newly popular topic and it is likely that use of these search terms at a later date will result in an increased number of results.

#### Conclusions

Social media has the potential to aid in closing the health literacy gap and can present information in novel ways that allow even illiterate populations to learn [22]. The Internet has increased opportunities for open discussion about health and medicine as well as a created a platform for moral support [22]. However, with this increased opportunity also comes a chance for dissemination of inaccurate and even harmful information. Physicians and researchers have realized the increased impact of social media on the knowledge and compliance of their patients, as evidenced by a recent increase in published studies regarding medical YouTube video reliability. Thus, these general steps as well as the unique processes detailed throughout this review could be of use to patients in search of online medical advice. While a common sequence of methods was able to be determined, there are no substantial similarities between study methods. The inconsistency stems from the fact that there are a multitude of possible variables that contribute to both the popularity and the efficacy of educational videos. This creates a barrier to analysis duplication and the formation of a systematic process that ensures adequate information and regulation for patients. However, there was a common sequence of steps found. This topic will be an ongoing field for further research as social media engagement continues to increase across the world and as more people realize the dire need for increased health education in all populations.

#### **Authors' Contributions**

BD is the primary author of the paper and performed the review and analysis. EC determined the search terms and the databases employed. AS developed the concept and approved the final draft for submission.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

#### **Multimedia Appendix 1**

Titles of the included studies that complied with all inclusion criteria.

#### [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 29KB - mededu v4i1e3 app1.pdf]

#### References

- 1. Fox S. Pew Research Center. 2011. The social life of health information URL: <u>http://www.pewinternet.org/2011/05/12/</u> the-social-life-of-health-information-2011/ [WebCite Cache ID 6s7uh4RUN]
- 2. YouTube Statistics. URL: <u>https://www.youtube.com/yt/press/statistics.html [WebCite Cache ID 6s7kY9SuZ]</u>
- 3. Hossler EW, Conroy MP. YouTube as a source of information on tanning bed use. Arch Dermatol 2008 Oct;144(10):1395-1396. [doi: 10.1001/archderm.144.10.1395] [Medline: 18936411]
- 4. Bowers N, Chow C. Heart failure videos on YouTube the good, the bad, and the ugly: A study on the utility and education value for patients, healthcare practitioners and learners. Can J Cardiol 2016 Oct;32(10):S281. [doi: 10.1016/j.cjca.2016.07.459]
- Gonzalez-Estrada A, Cuervo-Pardo L, Ghosh B, Smith M, Pazheri F, Zell K, et al. Popular on YouTube: a critical appraisal of the educational quality of information regarding asthma. Allergy Asthma Proc 2015;36(6):e121-e126. [doi: 10.2500/aap.2015.36.3890] [Medline: 26534743]
- 6. Basch CH, Hillyer GC, MacDonald ZL, Reeves R, Basch CE. Characteristics of YouTube™ Videos Related to Mammography. J Cancer Educ 2015 Dec;30(4):699-703. [doi: <u>10.1007/s13187-014-0769-9</u>] [Medline: <u>25502853</u>]
- 7. Koller U, Waldstein W, Schatz K, Windhager R. YouTube provides irrelevant information for the diagnosis and treatment of hip arthritis. Int Orthop 2016 Dec;40(10):1995-2002. [doi: 10.1007/s00264-016-3174-7] [Medline: 27029480]
- Sorensen JA, Pusz MD, Brietzke SE. YouTube as an information source for pediatric adenotonsillectomy and ear tube surgery. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol 2014 Jan;78(1):65-70. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ijporl.2013.10.045</u>] [Medline: <u>24315211</u>]
- Yaylaci S, Serinken M, Eken C, Karcioglu O, Yilmaz A, Elicabuk H, et al. Are YouTube videos accurate and reliable on basic life support and cardiopulmonary resuscitation? Emerg Med Australas 2014 Oct;26(5):474-477. [doi: 10.1111/1742-6723.12274] [Medline: 25168312]
- ElKarmi R, Hassona Y, Taimeh D, Scully C. YouTube as a source for parents' education on early childhood caries. Int J Paediatr Dent 2017 Nov;27(6):437-443. [doi: <u>10.1111/ipd.12277</u>] [Medline: <u>27882621</u>]
- 11. Singh A, Singh S, Singh P. YouTube for information on rheumatoid arthritis A wakeup call? J Rheumatol 2012;39(5):899-903. [doi: 10.3899/jrheum.11114]
- 12. Garg N, Venkatraman A, Pandey A, Kumar N. YouTube as a source of information on dialysis: a content analysis. Nephrology (Carlton) 2015 May;20(5):315-320. [doi: 10.1111/nep.12397] [Medline: 25641264]

- Nagpal SJS, Karimianpour A, Mukhija D, Mohan D, Brateanu A. YouTube videos as a source of medical information during the Ebola hemorrhagic fever epidemic. Springerplus 2015;4:457 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s40064-015-1251-9] [Medline: 26322263]
- 14. Haymes AT, Harries V. 'How to stop a nosebleed': an assessment of the quality of epistaxis treatment advice on YouTube. J Laryngol Otol 2016 Aug;130(8):749-754. [doi: 10.1017/S0022215116008410] [Medline: 27345303]
- Staunton PF, Baker JF, Green J, Devitt A. Online Curves: A Quality Analysis of Scoliosis Videos on YouTube. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 2015 Dec;40(23):1857-1861. [doi: <u>10.1097/BRS.000000000001137</u>] [Medline: <u>26571065</u>]
- Sood A, Sarangi S, Pandey A, Murugiah K. YouTube as a source of information on kidney stone disease. Urology 2011 Mar;77(3):558-562. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.urology.2010.07.536</u>] [Medline: <u>21131027</u>]
- 17. Fat MJL, Doja A, Barrowman N, Sell E. YouTube videos as a teaching tool and patient resource for infantile spasms. J Child Neurol 2011 Jul;26(7):804-809. [doi: 10.1177/0883073811402345] [Medline: 21551373]
- Mukewar S, Mani P, Wu X, Lopez R, Shen B. YouTube and inflammatory bowel disease. J Crohns Colitis 2013 Jun;7(5):392-402. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.crohns.2012.07.011</u>] [Medline: <u>22906403</u>]
- Beydilli H, Serinken M, Eken C, Elicabuk H, Dal O, Acar E, et al. The Validity of YouTube Videos on Pediatric BLS and CPR. Telemed J E Health 2015 Aug 26. [doi: <u>10.1089/tmj.2015.0037</u>] [Medline: <u>26308389</u>]
- 20. Benetoli A, Chen TF, Aslani P. Consumer Health-Related Activities on Social Media: Exploratory Study. J Med Internet Res 2017 Oct 13;19(10):e352 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7656]
- Amante DJ, Hogan TP, Pagoto SL, English TM, Lapane KL. Access to care and use of the Internet to search for health information: results from the US National Health Interview Survey. J Med Internet Res 2015;17(4):e106 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4126] [Medline: 25925943]
- 22. Moorhead SA, Hazlett DE, Harrison L, Carroll JK, Irwin A, Hoving C. A new dimension of health care: systematic review of the uses, benefits, and limitations of social media for health communication. J Med Internet Res 2013;15(4):e85 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1933] [Medline: 23615206]

#### Abbreviations

HON: Health on the Net

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 22.07.17; peer-reviewed by C Basch, Y Hassona; comments to author 07.09.17; revised version received 22.10.17; accepted 16.11.17; published 12.02.18. <u>Please cite as:</u> Drozd B, Couvillon E, Suarez A Medical YouTube Videos and Methods of Evaluation: Literature Review

JMIR Med Educ 2018;4(1):e3 URL: <u>http://mededu.jmir.org/2018/1/e3/</u> doi:<u>10.2196/mededu.8527</u> PMID:<u>29434018</u>

©Brandy Drozd, Emily Couvillon, Andrea Suarez. Originally published in JMIR Medical Education (http://mededu.jmir.org), 12.02.2018. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Medical Education, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://mededu.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



# The Impact of a Small Private Online Course as a New Approach to Teaching Oncology: Development and Evaluation

Charlotte Vaysse<sup>1,2\*</sup>, MD, PhD; Elodie Chantalat<sup>1,2\*</sup>, MD; Odile Beyne-Rauzy<sup>2,3</sup>, MD, PhD; Louise Morineau<sup>4</sup>, MS; Fabien Despas<sup>2,5</sup>, MD, PhD; Jean-Marc Bachaud<sup>6</sup>, MD; Nathalie Caunes<sup>7</sup>, MD; Muriel Poublanc<sup>8</sup>, MSc (Healthcare Man), MSc (Research); Elie Serrano<sup>2,4</sup>, MD, PhD; Roland Bugat<sup>4</sup>, MD, PhD; Marie-Eve Rougé Bugat<sup>9</sup>, MD, PhD; Anne-Laure Fize<sup>4</sup>, MSc (Healthcare Man), MSc (Research)

<sup>8</sup>Clinical Research Department, Institut Claudius Regaud, Institut Universitaire du Cancer de Toulouse-Oncopole, Toulouse, France

<sup>9</sup>General Practice Department, Université Paul Sabatier Toulouse III, Toulouse, France

\*these authors contributed equally

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Charlotte Vaysse, MD, PhD Surgery Oncology Department Centre Hospitalier Universitaire de Toulouse, Institut Universitaire du Cancer de Toulouse-Oncopole 1 avenue Irène Joliot Curie Toulouse, 31059 France Phone: 33 531155384 Email: charlotte.vaysse@gmail.com

## Abstract

**Background:** Oncology involves complex care and multidisciplinary management of patients; however, misinformation and ineffective communication remain problematic.

**Objective:** The educational objective of our study was to develop a new teaching method to improve cancer treatment and management by emphasizing the link between hospitals (inpatients) and their surrounding communities (outpatients).

**Methods:** A team of 22 professionals from public and private institutions developed a small private online course (SPOC). Each offering of the course lasted 6 weeks and covered 6 topics: individual health care plans, cancer surgery, ionizing radiation, cancer medicines, clinical research, and oncological supportive care. For participants in the course, we targeted people working in the cancer field. The SPOC used an active teaching method with collaborative and multidisciplinary learning. A final examination was offered in each session. We evaluated participants' satisfaction rate through a questionnaire and the success of the SPOC by participants' completion, success, and commitment rates.

**Results:** Of the total participants (N=1574), 446 completed the evaluation form. Most participants were aged 31 to 45 years. Participants included 56 nurses, 131 pharmacists, 80 from the medical field (including 26 physicians), 53 from patients' associations, 28 health teachers, and 13 students (medical and paramedical). Among the participants, 24.7% (90/446) had an independent medical practice, 38.5% (140/446) worked in a public institution, and 36.8% (134/446) worked in a private institution. After completing the SPOC sessions, 85.9% (384/446) thought they had learned new information, 90.8% (405/446) felt their expectations were met, and 90.4% (403/446) considered that the information had a positive impact on their professional practice. The completion rate was 35.51% (559/1574), the success rate was 71.47% (1025/1574), and the commitment rate was 64.67% (1018/1574).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Surgery Oncology Department, Centre Hospitalier Universitaire de Toulouse, Institut Universitaire du Cancer de Toulouse-Oncopole, Toulouse, France <sup>2</sup>Faculté de Médecine, Université Paul Sabatier Toulouse III, Toulouse, France

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Department of Internal Medicine, Centre Hospitalier Universitaire de Toulouse, Institut Universitaire du Cancer de Toulouse-Oncopole, Toulouse, France

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Pôle Hospitalo-Universitaire en Cancérologie, Cancer Pharmacology of Toulouse-Oncopole and Region (Work Package 4 Research Program), Institut Universitaire du Cancer de Toulouse-Oncopole, Université Paul Sabatier Toulouse III, Toulouse, France

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Medical and Clinical Pharmacology Unit, Centre Hospitalier Universitaire de Toulouse, Toulouse, France

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Radiotherapy Department, Institut Claudius Regaud, Institut Universitaire du Cancer de Toulouse-Oncopole, Toulouse, France

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Support Care Department, Institut Claudius Regaud, Institut Universitaire du Cancer de Toulouse-Oncopole, Toulouse, France

Concerning the cost effectiveness of SPOC compared with a traditional classroom of 25 students, online education became more effective when there were more than 950 participants.

**Conclusions:** SPOCs improved the management of oncology patients. This new digital learning technique is an attractive concept to integrate into teaching practice. It offered optimal propagation of information and met the students' expectations.

(JMIR Med Educ 2018;4(1):e6) doi:<u>10.2196/mededu.9185</u>

#### **KEYWORDS**

oncology; health education; continuing education; e-learning; SPOC; small private online course; education, medical; education, medical, continuing

## Introduction

International business schools and large companies have evolved in their thinking about new forms of teaching and collaborations, whereas medical universities retain a classical teaching approach [1]. Over the last few years, many massive open online courses (MOOCs) and small private online courses (SPOCs) have taught millions of students in virtual classrooms, changed learning techniques, and redefined the traditional boundaries in university teaching [2-6]. This digital learning is a new and attractive concept to integrate into teaching methods. One major positive benefit is its wide accessibility ("anytime, anywhere, on any device"). However, a significant problem with MOOCs is their completion rate of less than 10%, with an additional drop-off rate within the first week of the course [7].

In oncology, we constantly seek new approaches to improve the management of patients. The use of MOOCs seems to be supported by some parts of the oncological community, as demonstrated in the MOOC *Diagnostic Strategies of Cancers*, which opened in autumn 2016. The first results seem promising, with 23% of participants being successfully certified [4,5].

We are also supported by improvements in communication and networking between hospitals and different caregivers, including general practitioners, nurses, physiotherapists, pharmacists, and the medical community at large. Indeed, the complexity of medical care (especially in oncology), with the multidisciplinary management of patients, is not optimal due to some ineffective communication and misinformation [8-12]. To share information and experiences, practitioners could create an environment in which individuals can express concerns and alert team members to unsafe situations.

Thus, we decided to create a SPOC, which is limited to an invited audience, whereas a MOOC is generally open to all. The educational objective was to develop a new teaching method that could help to improve cancer treatment and its management by emphasizing the community–hospital interface.

To evaluate the relevance of this new teaching method, we analyzed the main characteristics of participants, their satisfaction with the course through a feedback questionnaire, and the cost effectiveness of the SPOC compared with theoretical face-to-face education.

## Methods

Our objective was to form a strong link between all participants on the same topic. To reach our objective, we used the following

```
http://mededu.jmir.org/2018/1/e6/
```

methods: (1) a SPOC with free user access, (2) oncology-specific information delivered by specialists, (3) a virtual platform that allowed for discussion and meetings on oncological matters, and (4) a final evaluation.

#### SPOC Development Team

The development team comprised 22 professionals specializing in cancer care plus French faculty members. We divided the team into 2 subgroups: a teaching group and a project management group. Among the 22 professionals, 12 worked in a hospital, 8 worked outside the hospital (in the community), 1 specialized in the hospital–community network (and worked in the hospital and the community), 1 was an industrial pharmacist, and 1 worked within an institution (ie, Director of a Regional Health Agency).

The teaching team for the course was composed of 8 coordinator lecturer surgeons, radiotherapists, internal medical practitioners, clinical pharmacologists, a clinical researcher, and supportive care specialists; 14 other lecturers (senior nurses, hospital pharmacists, and physicians); and 8 general practitioners, dispensary pharmacists, physiotherapists, nurses, dentists, research and development managers from the pharmaceutical industry, patients, and caregivers, who provided testimonies. Teachers were volunteers and were chosen by the teaching council (ie, the course manager that introduced the SPOC, the project manager, and the Dean of the Medical Faculty of Toulouse III University). Among the 8 coordinators, we chose 6 lecturers for the 6 weeks of the SPOC, as they were specialists at our hospital (Institut Universitaire du Cancer de Toulouse-Oncopole, Toulouse, France). These 6 coordinators then chose 10 other assistant lecturers to help explore the specialties.

The teaching team and the SPOC project were managed by the project management team, which comprised 4 professionals: a project manager to oversee the project, a social officer to manage registration and forum moderation, a communications officer in charge of advertising, and a technical officer responsible for managing the multimedia elements.

#### **Target Learners and Accessibility**

Participation in the course was open to all people involved in the management of cancer patients. Our public population included health students (medical and paramedical), health professionals, and members of patient associations.

Two sessions of the SPOC have been available since October 2016, but the offerings were not linked. Registration in the first session was not needed to register in the second session.

We initially offered open access to the SPOC to facilitate dissemination of knowledge, but then decided to restrict registration to students and professionals, and then, only after verifying their motivation, we also included volunteers from patients' associations.

We limited the first offering of the course to 600 participants, whereas we did not limit inclusion for the second offering. The first SPOC opened its virtual doors on October 24, 2016, and the second on March 27, 2017. Participants registered on an outside platform and provided their characteristics. The registration home page also asked for the student's identification number or health professional identification number [13].

#### **Course Content**

We built the SPOC according to previously published information [14,15]. We planned 2 offerings of the course, each lasting 6 weeks, plus 3 supplementary weeks to provide adequate time for students to prepare for the final examination or to finish chatting on the forum.

The course covered 6 topics—week 1: individual health care plans; week 2: cancer surgery; week 3: ionizing radiation; week 4: cancer medicines; week 5: clinical research; and week 6: oncological supportive care (Figure 1).

These 6 topics were chosen by the teaching council. For each topic, at least 5 subthemes were determined in collaboration with the coordinator lecturer, and each subtheme was the subject of a video, as detailed in Table 1.

Each week, depending on the video that was shown, between 1 and 3 quizzes were presented (with a total of 75 quizzes for the 6 weeks). These consisted of multiple-choice questions with answers of true or false, fill-in-the-gap exercises, and drag-and-drop exercises.

The training was personalized: each participant could learn step-by-step and could choose his or her own learning pace. They could stop or rewatch videos, which was especially pertinent for difficult topics, or students could accelerate through a video if they were familiar with the subject. After the first session, we modified interactive parts of the forum and some of the exercises for the second session.

#### **Social Interactive Platform**

To create social and active online communication, we opened a forum and links to Facebook, Twitter, and LinkedIn for discussion. We had 23 groups of 10 or 11 participants each who worked on 3 subjects: the new secondary effects of a drug, clinical trials, and supportive care. A webinar was suggested after 3 weeks (in the middle of the SPOC). Participants could then direct questions directly to a professional in the field.

Figure 1. The 6 topics of the 6-week small private online course covering the sequential steps in the care of cancer patients.


Vaysse et al

Table 1. Topics covered in the small private online course and details of the accompanying videos.

Торіс	Subject of video
Introduction	Cancer as a chronic disease
Week 1: Individual health care plans	<ul> <li>Development of personalized care programs</li> <li>What are the elements of the health care pathway?</li> <li>A closer look at the multidisciplinary team meeting</li> <li>Link between health care facilities and home</li> <li>Care coordination mechanisms</li> <li>Interviews: Overview of the health care pathway and how to be helpful and patient—first-hand account</li> </ul>
Week 2: Cancer surgery	<ul> <li>Role of surgery in cancer treatment</li> <li>Various types of surgery</li> <li>Making the surgery less invasive</li> <li>Multidisciplinary preoperative planning is vital</li> <li>Postoperative follow-up</li> <li>Interviews: Role of the physical therapist in private practice</li> </ul>
Week 3: Ionizing radiation	<ul> <li>What is radiation therapy?</li> <li>Use of external radiation therapy</li> <li>Side effects of radiation therapy</li> <li>Innovations in radiation therapy</li> <li>What is brachytherapy?</li> <li>Different types of brachytherapy</li> <li>Interviews: Role of the dental surgeon</li> </ul>
Week 4: Cancer medicines	<ul> <li>Overview of drug-based (chemotherapy) treatment strategies</li> <li>The medication circuit (full motion design)</li> <li>Innovative cancer drugs</li> <li>Side effects</li> <li>Pharmacovigilance and adverse drug reaction reporting</li> <li>Individualized patient monitoring</li> <li>Initiation of oral cancer chemotherapy: important messages</li> <li>Interviews: Perspectives of a drug manufacturer, focus on reconciling drug treatments, role of the retail pharmacist</li> </ul>
Week 5: Clinical research	<ul> <li>Clinical research: general principles</li> <li>Joining a clinical trial</li> <li>Conduct of a clinical trial</li> <li>Monitoring of a patient participating in a clinical trial</li> <li>Focus on chemotherapy assistance by phone (EVAL COACH)</li> <li>Focus on a multidisciplinary meeting on going back home (CREDO)</li> <li>Interviews: Role of the primary care physician</li> </ul>
Week 6: Oncological supportive care	<ul> <li>What is supportive cancer care (SCC)?</li> <li>Various types of SCC (Part I)</li> <li>Various types of SCC (Part II)</li> <li>Fundamental role of patient education programs</li> <li>A continuously evolving field</li> <li>Interviews: Role of visiting nurses and home health aids</li> </ul>
Conclusion	Cancer affects everyone

#### Evaluation

Throughout the SPOC, we evaluated each participant's satisfaction through a questionnaire that included 29 questions, which were validated by the teaching and communication teams. Each question could be answered using a 4-point scale. Categorical data were presented using numbers and percentages. Participants completed an evaluation form so that we could assess their characteristics and their expectations before starting the SPOC. Participants could also complete a satisfaction feedback form after the course. The SPOCs were certified for

continuing professional development (CPD) by the Développement Professionnel Continu, according to French national recommendations (Haute Autorité de Santé). A final examination was suggested for each course. Each participant obtained a continuing health training certificate if their final score was greater than 50% (or 10/20), as recommended for CPD programs. The feedback form was designed by the project management team according to the French national recommendations for CPD programs.

We evaluated the success of the SPOCs according to the completion rate (percentage of participants who completed the

XSL•FO RenderX

6-week course out of the total number of participants registered), success rate (percentage of participants who successfully completed the examination), and commitment rate (percentage of participants who completed the 6-week course out of the total number of participants who completed the first week of the course). We performed descriptive analyses on our population. All qualitative variables are described by numbers and percentages. Categorical variables are expressed as counts and frequencies (percentages). Quantitative variables, following a Gaussian distribution in our study, are described by their means and standard deviations. We used the chi-square test to compare results between the 2 SPOC offerings.

#### **Ethical Considerations**

Our SPOC sessions were hosted by a private Web platform that respected the ethical considerations for personal data, in agreement with French law. The details are available on the FunCampus [16] and 360 Learning websites [17].

Students provided information outside these platforms (eg, through our anonymous surveys). Since we did not consider this to be personal data, in agreement with French law (Commission Nationale de l'Informatique et des Libertés), we did not need any ethical approval [18].

#### **Cost Effectiveness**

To compare the overall cost of the SPOC and the theoretical costs of comparable face-to-face education, we calculated the overall cost of the online course compared with traditional classroom teaching for the same number of participants (eg, 1000 participants). We assumed a group of 25 participants in a traditional classroom. We calculated the point where online education became more effective.

The overall cost included salaries of a project manager, course director, teachers, a community manager, a beta tester, legal assistance, a communication department, and an administrative partner (a private enterprise, specific to a SPOC).

#### Results

# Access and Participants' Characteristics in the First Session

The first course session began on October 24 and finished on December 31, 2016. It lasted 6 weeks plus 3 supplementary weeks to allow adequate time for students to prepare for the final examination.

Among the 600 participants, 176 completed the questionnaire, which provided the following data. Most participants were aged 31 to 45 years (range 18 to >50 years); 68.4% (120/176) of participants were aged over 46 years. The paramedical group was well represented, with 26.1% (46/176) being nurses. A total of 24 (13.8%) were pharmacists, pharmacy students, and dispensary pharmacists, and 17 (9.7%) were in the medical field (doctors, medical students, and residents). The completion rate

of this SPOC was 36.0% (216/660), the success rate was 66.0% (396/600), and the commitment rate was 72.0% (432/600).

# Participants' Characteristics and Course Modifications for the Second Session

The second session ran between March 27 and May 31, 2017. The course ran for 6 weeks plus 3 supplementary weeks to enable adequate time for students to prepare for the final examination.

We modified some elements of the SPOC for the second session, as follows. (1) Responding to the feedback form completed in the first SPOC, we rewrote some sentences and modified the format of the collaborative exercises. (2) To ensure that the second SPOC suited the participants, we created a beta test group from the first SPOC to test the format of the exercises and to detect any technical problems before starting the second SPOC. (3) A total of 6 volunteers from the first SPOC participated in moderating the forum, creating collaborative exercises, and encouraging engagement of the participants in the collaborative exercises. (4) We modified the format of the collaborative exercises. The initial format was а pluriprofessional discussion on one predefined subject, but there were few interactions. Each participant answered the question without considering the comments from the other participants. Thus, we switched to an exercise that fostered more collaborative homework. Moreover, participants had to evaluate the homework of the other groups.

In this second course session, of the 975 participants, 270 completed the questionnaire, which supplied the following data. Most participants were aged 31 to 45 years. The age distribution was the same as in the first course. Of the paramedical group, 42.9% (116/270) were nurses. A total of 124 (45.9%) were pharmacists, pharmacy students, and dispensary pharmacists, and 10 (3.7%) were medical students. The completion rate was 34.8% (339/975) the success rate was 76.9% (550/975) and the commitment rate was 56.9% (555/975).

#### **Evaluation of the 2 Sessions**

Of the total 1574 participants, 446 completed the evaluation questionnaire. Most participants were aged 31 to 45 years. There were 121 paramedical and social workers (including 56 nurses), 131 pharmacists, 80 participants from the medical field (including 26 physicians), 53 participants from patients' associations, 28 teachers, 17 administrative or industrial, 13 students, and 3 others (nonclassified) (Table 2).

Registration was open to participants from all countries as long as they could understand the French language; most participants lived in France (n=427, 95.7%) (Figure 2). Other participants mainly lived on African continent (n=6, 1.4%), the United States (n=6, 1.4%), or Canada (n=4, 0.9%) (Figure 3).

Among the participants, 24.9% (111/446) had an independent medical practice, 38.9% (173/446) worked in a public institution, and 36.9% (165/446) worked in a private institution.



Table 2. Characteristics of participants who completed the questionnaires in the first and second offerings of the small private online course.

Characteristic	First session (n=176)	Second session (n=270)	Overall results (n=446)
Age range (years), n (%)			
18-25	40 (22.7)	21 (7.8)	61 (13.7)
26-30	21 (11.9)	39 (14.4)	60 (13.5)
31-45	59 (33.5)	125 (46.3)	184 (41.3)
46-50	24 (13.6)	30 (11.1)	54 (12.1)
>50	32 (18.2)	55 (20.4)	87 (19.5)
Profession or specialty, n (%)			
Medicine	65 (36.9)	15 (5.6)	80 (17.9)
Pharmacist	8 (4.5)	123 (45.5)	131 (29.4)
Paramedical and social <sup>a</sup>	32 (18.2)	89 (33.0)	121 (27.1)
Teachers	9 (5.1)	19 (7.0)	28 (6.3)
Students	3 (1.7	10 (3.7)	13 (2.9)
Administrative/industrial	7 (4.0)	10 (3.7)	17 (3.8)
Patients' association	50 (28.4)	3 (1.1)	53 (11.9)
Other	2 (1.1)	1 (0.4)	3 (0.7)
Place of practice			
Independent medical practice	N/A <sup>b</sup>	45 (24.7)	45 (24.7)
Public institution	N/A	70 (38.5)	70 (38.5)
Private institution	N/A	67 (36.8)	67 (36.8)

<sup>a</sup>Including nurses, physiotherapist and osteopath, psychologists, social workers, nurse's aide, radiotherapist and radiologist technician, socioaesthetician, medical assistant.

 ${}^{b}N\!/\!A\!:$  the question was not in the questionnaire during the first session.



Netherianus Oxford London Dortmund O Bristol Cardiff o Essen Antwerp Cologne Germany Brussels Brighton Southampton . Plymouth Feigium English Channel Frankfurt uxembourg Mannheim Nurembe Guernsey Jersey Karlsruhe ନ <sup>o</sup> Stuttgart Strasbourg. Bres Augsburg Mur Zürich Tours Nantes 0 0 iechtenstein Switzesland 0 France La Rochelle Geneva Limoges **Clermont-Ferrand** Lyon 9. Milan Verona Grenolee Turin 0 0 Bordea Bay of Biscay Bolog Genoa Nime Pisa 0 Maraco Santander ۲ Florenc or pellier Marscille San Sebas Cannes o Bilbao Vitoria-Gasteiz Andorra Girona Corse /alladolid Zaragoza

Figure 2. Geographic representation of participants from France. Each blue dot represents a connection to the small private online course.





Figure 3. Geographic representation of participants from around the world. Each blue dot represents a connection to the small private online course.

Among the participants, 85.9% (383/446) thought they had learned new information (moderately: 179/446, 40.2%; considerably: 205/446, 45.9%), 90.8% (405/446) felt their expectations had been met (fully: 204/446, 45.7%; relatively: 201/446, 45.1%), and 89.9% (401/446) considered the course had a positive impact on their professional practice as a caregiver (Figure 4). The completion rate was 36.02% (567/1574), the success rate was 71.98% (1133/1574), and the commitment rate was 64.99% (1023/1574).

#### **Interactive Social Platform**

Many participants expressed their satisfaction (or dissatisfaction) by posting comments on the forum during the courses. In total, 2812 comments were posted on videos and the forum: 2367

"liked" (the first session) and nearly 84.9% (379/446) considered it positive, with 15% suggesting improvements.

#### **Cost Effectiveness**

There was an initial and fixed high cost to developing the SPOC, independently of the number of participants. The only costs that could be modified were the animations, the forum, and the registration platform. In contrast, traditional face-to-face classrooms have a low cost initially, but this then increases according to the number of students. For example, for 1000 participants, the overall cost of the SPOC was €148,000, versus €154,000 for face-to-face education (€154 per student). If we assumed a classroom with 25 students, the point where online education became more effective was 950 participants (Figure 5).



Figure 4. Representative responses to questions assessing satisfaction with the 2 sessions of the small private online course (SPOC). The original questionnaire was in French but responses were translated for this paper.



#### Has this training course brought you new knowledge?

# Do you consider that this training will have an impact in your professional practice?



#### The original questionnaire was in French that responses were translated for this paper





Figure 5. Cost comparison between the small private online course (SPOC) and traditional face-to-face classroom education.

## Discussion

#### **Principal Findings**

This SPOC was a positive experience with a completion rate of 35.5%, a success rate of 71.5%, and a commitment rate of 64.7%. Among the 1574 participants, most were aged 31 to 45 years and were paramedical practitioners (nurses, pharmacists). Most (90.4%) considered that this course had a positive impact on their professional practice. The cost effectiveness of this online education became more effective at more than 950 participants.

This SPOC was an innovative oncological teaching method and had a high completion rate (35.5%). In general, on MOOC platforms, the completion rates are between 5% and 10% [7]. Hoy suggested that, in medicine, MOOCs could be used in continuing medical education [19]. However, few medical universities use this kind of teaching [4,5,15,20-22].

A high completion rate (38%) was observed in an Australian MOOC on dementia: 4409 registrants took part in discussion boards and 3624 completed the course [23]. In addition, a French MOOC that opened in 2016, the *Diagnostic Strategies of Cancers*, had a satisfactory completion rate (23%) [4,5].

From that experience, we decided to design a SPOC that was a modified MOOC. In our SPOC, the number of registered participants and the completion rate in the second session (341/975, 34.9%) were similar to rates in the first session (261/600, 36.0%). This demonstrated that students' interest in this SPOC remained high and was not only an initial enthusiasm for a new teaching method. Also, the large difference in completion rates between MOOCs and our SPOC could be because SPOCs are developed for a targeted audience and are, therefore, able to better suit the educational needs and interests of their participants [3-5,7].

In the MOOC *Diagnostic Strategies of Cancers*, there were 2 types of learners: students in health and biology, and members

of the general public. Of the participants, 71% chose to go on to student teaching. Of the 5285 participants from 81 different countries, 1237 (23%) were successfully certified [4,5].

In our SPOC, we targeted the participant profile at medical and paramedical caregivers to create a stronger link between professionals sharing an interest in oncology. We found that nurses were the main group represented in the first session, whereas pharmacists were the main group in the second session. This could be because more information was delivered by the pharmaceutical community about this SPOC after the first course offering. Moreover, regarding age, we found that most participants were not very young: 41% were aged 31 to 45 years, 20% were aged over 50 years, and 12% were aged 46 to 50 years. Yet digital learning is a modern methodology.

The SPOC allowed experiences to be shared. The participant did not need to train alone in front of his or her computer but could also be involved in social and collaborative work. In fact, Uijl et al [24] recently evaluated 4 courses from the University Medical Center Utrecht's international Master's Program in Epidemiology. The 71 included students benefited from extended social interactions during the SPOC. There were around 1500 interactive posts across the 4 courses, in 575 discussions, of which 43% were social discussions. Of these, 90% were initiated by students, and 94% was aimed at students. The authors of this study concluded that the SPOC had a sustainable concept and created an environment suitable for learning, thus fitting with the need for social interactions in higher education [24]. The same results have been observed in other studies [25-27], as well as in our SPOC.

In the second course offering, we improved interactions between the participants through a dedicated forum with collaborative exercises. We deliberately mixed professionals from different areas and institutions: about one-third were in private practice, one-third worked in a public hospital, and one-third worked in a private institution. The result of these interactions was further complemented by peer evaluation. All these activities

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

contributed to the development of a social learning environment and (in large part) to the high completion rate. Indeed, most participants felt their expectations had been met (91%).

As shown in an online accreditation course, a professional practice forum improved learning outcomes through sharing expertise [28]. The SPOC seemed to be a good way to strengthen coherence and communication between the different caregivers (nurses, doctors, pharmacists, physiotherapists, etc). It became clear that digital learning improved communication and united the participants' efforts on one subject, thus forming a link between those working in the hospital and those working in the surrounding community. In study of a MOOC on diabetes, Wewer Albrechtsen et al reported that, among 845 caregivers, the MOOC had a positive effect on their practice of 88% and extended the professional network of 48% [29].

One major positive aspect of this teaching method is its wide accessibility. As demonstrated in our SPOC, training was accessible from a participant's computer or tablet from anywhere and at any time. We observed that 4.26% (19/446) of our participants lived outside France: they were either expatriates or foreigners who spoke French.

We analyzed the cost effectiveness of this type of education. In our study, we compared the overall cost of our SPOC with that of a traditional classroom for the same number of participants. We found that the online course was more cost effective when there were more than 950 participants. This may be for three main reasons. First, the overall cost of the SPOC was higher (because we chose a private enterprise as the service provider, outside of the university). Second, this SPOC was free of charge to participants, whereas many online teaching courses charge fees. Third, face-to-face education does not allow for the course to be offered in foreign countries (due to, for example, extra travel costs). Thus, the cost for SPOCs could be less than we have calculated. Other researchers have analyzed costs and compared them with costs of traditional education. In a randomized study, Nilsson et al [30] compared the cost effectiveness of a mobile app-guided versus a textbook-guided ultrasound course. Of the 34 participants who completed the course, there were no statistically significant differences in test

performance or diagnostic accuracy between the 2 groups. Yet textbook-guided training was significantly more cost effective than mobile app-guided training [30]. Erbe et al described different methods to study common mental health disorders; they reported that blended interventions (combining the strengths of face-to-face and Internet approaches) were feasible and could be more effective [31]. More randomized clinical trials on the effectiveness and cost effectiveness of blended treatments are necessary. Recently, Tolsgaard and Cook discussed the costs and outcomes of improving educational programs according to their context. They concluded that, even if the costs and outcomes were individually very important, perceived value also must be considered in order to decide change of current educational practices [32].

Moreover, our questionnaire raised some points that need improvement. For example, participants commented on the general nature of the topics covered during the courses and would have liked more detail, for example, about the secondary effects of chemotherapy and radiotherapy. This feedback helped us improve the content and structure of the second SPOC offering. Indeed, SPOCs are constantly evolving, with the possibility that new modules can be added, and thus forums can be developed for discussion, collaborative exercises, and interactivity between participants. Our SPOC will be integrated further for medical and paramedical (nurse) educational institutions and universities in France. To evaluate the educational effectiveness of our SPOC, we plan to test retention of knowledge over time by sending an evaluation form to participants at 1 year after they have completed the SPOC.

#### Conclusion

The clarity (information, support, access, registration, and content), communication (exercises and forum), and interactivity (assessment, collaborative exercises, and feedback) in our SPOC made this a good educational method for CPD and interprofessional education. This relatively new digital learning tool is an attractive concept to integrate teaching, especially in oncology. It offers optimal propagation of information in a cost-effective way and meets the students' expectations for training.

#### Acknowledgments

We acknowledge the professionals who participated in this SPOC: Emmanuelle Arfé, Eric Chetaille, Martine Delannes, Frédéric Despiau, Corinne Grino-Hannotel, Dany Labant, Jean-Jacques Morfoisse, Veronique Pelagatti-Charrade, Fabrice Pereira, Elodie Perez, Bruno Rokoszak, and Virgile Samson. We thank Ludger Westrick for commenting on and editing an earlier version of the manuscript.

This project was supported by the education department of the Cancer Pharmacology of Toulouse-Oncopole and Region (CAPTOR) program, a large research project devoted to innovate, evaluate, and market anticancer medications, and for all training courses linked to these domains. The project CAPTOR was financed by the French National Research Agency ("Investissements d'Avenir") and has been delivered to Toulouse III – Paul Sabatier University and to all its partners: the Toulouse Cancer Research Center (CRCT), the University Hospital of Toulouse (CHU de Toulouse), and the Institute Claudius Regaud (ICR). Thinkovery-smart digital learning agency, Nantes, France, specializing in MOOC/SPOC, helped with our project videos and the quizzes and tests.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.



#### References

- Frenk J, Chen L, Bhutta ZA, Cohen J, Crisp N, Evans T, et al. Health professionals for a new century: transforming education to strengthen health systems in an interdependent world. Lancet 2010 Dec 04;376(9756):1923-1958. [doi: <u>10.1016/S0140-6736(10)61854-5</u>] [Medline: <u>21112623</u>]
- 2. Paton C. Massive open online course for health informatics education. Healthc Inform Res 2014 Apr;20(2):81-87 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4258/hir.2014.20.2.81] [Medline: 24872906]
- 3. Lockhart BJ, Capurso NA, Chase I, Arbuckle MR, Travis MJ, Eisen J, et al. The use of a small private online course to allow educators to share teaching resources across diverse sites: the future of psychiatric case conferences? Acad Psychiatry 2017 Feb;41(1):81-85 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s40596-015-0460-4] [Medline: 26620806]
- Gardair C, Bousquet G, Lehmann-Che J, de Bazelaire C, de Cremoux P, Tran VNJ, et al. [Backstage of a massive open online course (MOOC) on cancer diagnosis]. Ann Pathol 2016 Oct;36(5):305-311. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.annpat.2016.08.013</u>] [Medline: <u>27639771</u>]
- 5. Gardair C, Bousquet G, de Bazelaire C, Lehmann-Che J, de Cremoux P, Tran VNJ, et al. [Results of the massive open online course (MOOC) on cancer diagnosis and evaluation of its impact on the perception of the pathology specialty]. Ann Pathol 2017 Apr;37(2):144-150. [doi: 10.1016/j.annpat.2017.02.001] [Medline: 28318775]
- Pappano L. The New York Times. 2012 Nov 4. The year of the MOOC URL: <u>http://www.nytimes.com/2012/11/04/education/</u> edlife/massive-open-online-courses-are-multiplying-at-a-rapid-pace.html [accessed 2017-09-25] [WebCite Cache ID <u>6tjmoCJBD</u>]
- 7. Jordan K. Initial trends in enrolment and completion of massive open online courses. Int Rev Res Open Distrib Learn 2014 Jan 15;15(1):133-160. [doi: 10.19173/irrodl.v15i1.1651]
- Leonard M, Graham S, Bonacum D. The human factor: the critical importance of effective teamwork and communication in providing safe care. Qual Saf Health Care 2004 Oct;13 Suppl 1:i85-i90 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/qhc.13.suppl 1.i85] [Medline: 15465961]
- Hesselink G, Schoonhoven L, Barach P, Spijker A, Gademan P, Kalkman C, et al. Improving patient handovers from hospital to primary care: a systematic review. Ann Intern Med 2012 Sep 18;157(6):417-428. [doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-157-6-201209180-00006] [Medline: 22986379]
- Rougé BM, Omnes C, Delpierre C, Escourrou E, Boussier N, Oustric S, et al. Primary care physicians and oncologists are partners in cancer announcement. Support Care Cancer 2016 Dec;24(6):2473-2479. [doi: <u>10.1007/s00520-015-3049-2</u>] [Medline: <u>26667626</u>]
- Rouge-Bugat M, Lassoued D, Bacrie J, Boussier N, Delord J, Oustric S, et al. Guideline sheets on the side effects of anticancer drugs are useful for general practitioners. Support Care Cancer 2015 Dec;23(12):3473-3480. [doi: 10.1007/s00520-015-2705-x] [Medline: 25814443]
- Rougé BME, Dufossé V, Paul C, Oustric S, Meyer N. Communicating information to the general practitioner: the example of vemurafenib for metastatic melanoma. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 2016 Dec;30(12):e192-e194. [doi: 10.1111/jdv.13500] [Medline: 26559518]
- 13. Parcours de soins des patients atteints de cancer. Cancer Pharmacology of Toulouse-Oncopole and Region. URL: <u>http://spoc-ps-cancer.fr/</u> [accessed 2018-02-27] [WebCite Cache ID 6xYBvPHRX]
- 14. Kellogg S. Online learning: how to make a MOOC. Nature 2013 Jul 18;499(7458):369-371. [Medline: 23878863]
- 15. Harder B. Are MOOCs the future of medical education? BMJ 2013 Apr 26;346:f2666. [Medline: 23624666]
- 16. FUN Campus. URL: https://www.fun-campus.fr/ [accessed 2018-02-27] [WebCite Cache ID 6xY5YCQrH]
- 17. 360 Learning. Learning engagement platform. URL: <u>https://fr.360learning.com/</u> [accessed 2018-02-27] [WebCite Cache ID 6xYC4W8DN]
- CNIL. Commission Nationale de l'Informatique et des Libertés. URL: <u>https://www.cnil.fr/professionnel</u> [accessed 2018-02-27] [WebCite Cache ID 6xYCGkaAi]
- Hoy MB. MOOCs 101: an introduction to massive open online courses. Med Ref Serv Q 2014;33(1):85-91. [doi: 10.1080/02763869.2014.866490] [Medline: 24528267]
- Subhi Y, Andresen K, Rolskov BS, M

  ørkeberg NP, Konge L. Massive open online courses are relevant for postgraduate medical training. Dan Med J 2014 Oct;61(10):A4923. [Medline: 25283619]
- 21. Liyanagunawardena TR, Williams SA. Massive open online courses on health and medicine: review. J Med Internet Res 2014 Jan;16(8):e191 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3439] [Medline: 25123952]
- 22. Swinnerton BJ, Morris NP, Hotchkiss S, Pickering JD. The integration of an anatomy massive open online course (MOOC) into a medical anatomy curriculum. Anat Sci Educ 2017 Jan;10(1):53-67. [doi: <u>10.1002/ase.1625</u>] [Medline: <u>27315160</u>]
- 23. Goldberg LR, Bell E, King C, O'Mara C, McInerney F, Robinson A, et al. Relationship between participants' level of education and engagement in their completion of the Understanding Dementia Massive Open Online Course. BMC Med Educ 2015 Mar 26;15:60 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12909-015-0344-z] [Medline: 25889490]
- 24. Uijl S, Filius R, Ten Cate O. Student interaction in small private online courses. Med Sci Educ 2017 Feb 14;27(2):237-242. [doi: 10.1007/s40670-017-0380-x]
- 25. Dubosson M, Emad S. The forum community, the connectivist element of an xMOOC. Univers J Educ Res 2015 Oct;3(10):680-690. [doi: 10.13189/ujer.2015.031004]

```
http://mededu.jmir.org/2018/1/e6/
```

- 26. Mohamad M, Shaharuddin S. Online forum discussion to promote sense of learning community among the group members. Int Educ Stud 2014 Dec 21;7(13) [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5539/ies.v7n13p61]
- 27. Hrastinski S. A theory of online learning as online participation. Comput Educ 2009 Jan;52(1):78-82. [doi: 10.1016/j.compedu.2008.06.009]
- 28. Janssen A, Robinson T, Shaw T. The evolution of a professional practice forum: balancing peer-to-peer learning with course objectives. JMIR Res Protoc 2014 Oct 31;3(4):e58 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/resprot.3287] [Medline: 25363273]
- 29. Wewer ANJ, Poulsen KW, Svensson L, Jensen L, Holst JJ, Torekov SS. Health care professionals from developing countries report educational benefits after an online diabetes course. BMC Med Educ 2017 May 31;17(1):97 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12909-017-0935-y] [Medline: 28566091]
- Nilsson PM, Todsen T, Subhi Y, Graumann O, Nolsøe CP, Tolsgaard MG. Cost-effectiveness of mobile app-guided training in extended focused assessment with sonography for trauma (eFAST): a randomized trial. Ultraschall Med 2017 Dec;38(6):642-647. [doi: 10.1055/s-0043-119354] [Medline: 28950381]
- 31. Erbe D, Eichert H, Riper H, Ebert DD. Blending face-to-face and internet-based interventions for the treatment of mental disorders in adults: systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2017 Sep 15;19(9):e306 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.6588] [Medline: 28916506]
- Tolsgaard MG, Cook DA. New roles for cost as an outcome: opportunities and challenges. Med Educ 2017 Dec;51(7):680-682. [doi: <u>10.1111/medu.13328</u>] [Medline: <u>28722187</u>]

#### Abbreviations

**CPD:** continuing professional development **MOOC:** massive open online course **SPOC:** small private online course

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 16.10.17; peer-reviewed by Y Subhi, C Paton; comments to author 02.11.17; revised version received 26.12.17; accepted 02.01.18; published 05.03.18.

Please cite as:

Vaysse C, Chantalat E, Beyne-Rauzy O, Morineau L, Despas F, Bachaud JM, Caunes N, Poublanc M, Serrano E, Bugat R, Rougé Bugat ME, Fize AL The Impact of a Small Private Online Course as a New Approach to Teaching Oncology: Development and Evaluation JMIR Med Educ 2018;4(1):e6 URL: http://mededu.jmir.org/2018/1/e6/ doi:10.2196/mededu.9185 PMID:29506968

©Charlotte Vaysse, Elodie Chantalat, Odile Beyne-Rauzy, Louise Morineau, Fabien Despas, Jean-Marc Bachaud, Nathalie Caunes, Muriel Poublanc, Elie Serrano, Roland Bugat, Marie-Eve Rougé Bugat, Anne-Laure Fize. Originally published in JMIR

Caunes, Muriel Poublanc, Elie Serrano, Roland Bugat, Marie-Eve Rougé Bugat, Anne-Laure Fize. Originally published in JMIR Medical Education (http://mededu.jmir.org), 05.03.2018. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Medical Education, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://mededu.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



**Original Paper** 

# Self-Reflected Well-Being via a Smartphone App in Clinical Medical Students: Feasibility Study

Elizabeth K Berryman<sup>1\*</sup>, BHSc (Nursing), MHSc, MBChB; Daniel J Leonard<sup>1\*</sup>; Andrew R Gray<sup>1\*</sup>, BA, BCom (Hons); Ralph Pinnock<sup>1\*</sup>, BSc (Med), MBChB, MHSc, MClinEd, DCH, FRACP; Barry Taylor<sup>1\*</sup>, MBChB, FRACP

Dunedin School of Medicine, University of Otago, Dunedin, New Zealand <sup>\*</sup>all authors contributed equally

**Corresponding Author:** 

Elizabeth K Berryman, BHSc (Nursing), MHSc, MBChB Dunedin School of Medicine University of Otago PO Box 56 Dunedin, 9054 New Zealand Phone: 64 274067940 Email: berel235@student.otago.ac.nz

# Abstract

**Background:** Well-being in medical students has become an area of concern, with a number of studies reporting high rates of clinical depression, anxiety, burnout, and suicidal ideation in this population.

**Objective:** The aim of this study was to increase awareness of well-being in medical students by using a smartphone app. The primary objective of this study was to determine the validity and feasibility of the Particip8 app for student self-reflected well-being data collection.

**Methods:** Undergraduate medical students of the Dunedin School of Medicine were recruited into the study. They were asked to self-reflect daily on their well-being and to note what experiences they had encountered during that day. Qualitative data were also collected both before and after the study in the form of focus groups and "free-text" email surveys. All participants consented for the data collected to be anonymously reported to the medical faculty.

**Results:** A total of 29 participants (69%, 20/29 female; 31%, 9/29 male; aged 21-30 years) were enrolled, with overall median compliance of 71% at the study day level. The self-reflected well-being scores were associated with both positive and negative experiences described by the participants, with most negative experiences associated with around 20% lower well-being scores for that day; the largest effect being "receiving feedback that was not constructive or helpful," and the most positive experiences associated with around 20% higher scores for that day.

**Conclusions:** The study of daily data collection via the Particip8 app was found to be feasible, and the self-reflected well-being scores showed validity against participant's reflections of experiences during that day.

(JMIR Med Educ 2018;4(1):e7) doi:10.2196/mededu.9128

#### KEYWORDS

mental health; medical students; medical education; bullying; teaching; mhealth

# Introduction

#### Background

RenderX

There is an increasing number of studies that have suggested that medical students experience high rates of depression and suicidal ideation [1]. A systematic review conducted in 2016 by Rotenstein et al from 167 cross-sectional studies (n=116,628) and 16 longitudinal studies (n=5728) from 43 countries found that depressive symptom prevalence is substantially higher

http://mededu.jmir.org/2018/1/e7/

among medical students than among individuals of similar age in the general population. The finding in the longitudinal analysis of this review showed an increase in depressive symptom prevalence with the onset of medical school. The overall pooled crude prevalence of depression or depressive symptoms was 27.2%, compared with 2 large representative epidemiological studies, which estimated depressive symptom prevalence in nonmedical students ranging from 13.8% to 21.0% [1,2].

Furthermore, the Australian National Mental Health Survey of Doctors and Medical Students showed that approximately one in 5 medical students (20%) had thoughts of suicide in the previous 12 months [3]. Similarly, the Rotenstein review showed a prevalence rate for suicidal ideation, extracted from 24 cross-sectional studies (n=21,002) from 15 countries, of one in 10 medical students. Currently, there are no available data on suicide rates in medical students. However, two systematic reviews of qualified doctor suicides conducted by Schernhammer and Colditz in 2004 and Damasceno et al in 2017 revealed the aggregate suicide rate ratio for male doctors, compared with the general population, was 1.41. For female doctors in the same studies, the ratio was 2.27 [4].

Many factors contribute to poor well-being and may include occupational factors, emotionally demanding situations, unrealistic expectations, and confrontations with illness, death, and dying [5-8]. Degrading experiences such as bullying or harassment at work have been shown to be associated with suicidal thoughts [9]. The New Zealand Medical Students' Association (NZMSA) surveyed their members in 2015 and reported that 54% had experienced bullying or sexual harassment while on clinical placement [10]. It has been suggested that sometimes accusations of bullying can be linked to situations that are an inevitable part of training [7]. For example, trainers giving feedback to trainees that they are not performing at the expected level [11]. However, research has clearly shown that perceived mistreatment regardless of the intention of the perpetrator is viewed by medical students as a major source of stress and well-being depletion [5,12].

Due to the reported high prevalence of depressive and suicidal thoughts in medical students, there is a need for additional research to identify the root causes of emotional distress. Recommendations from past studies have suggested adopting prospective study designs, so that the same individuals can be assessed over time [1].

#### Objectives

The primary objective of this study was to assess the feasibility of utilizing a smartphone app, such as the Particip8 app, for the collection of students' individual self-reflected experiences and sense of individual well-being. Secondary objectives were to correlate daily experiences with the self-reflected well-being score and to assess the use of the "safety pop-up feature" in prompting students to access help at an earlier stage. Qualitative data were also collected to assess the effectiveness of the Particip8 app in increasing self-awareness of well-being.

# Methods

#### **Study Design**

The methodology used for this feasibility study was a mixed qualitative and quantitative approach. The quantitative aspect utilizes the ecological momentary assessment (EMA) methods as described by Shiffman et al [13]. The qualitative data were based on grounded theory methodology and analyzed with a narrative thematic approach based on descriptions in Glaser and Strauss (2017) and Braun and Clarke (2006), respectively [14,15]. The data for the qualitative analysis were obtained from

```
http://mededu.jmir.org/2018/1/e7/
```

prestudy focus groups, as well as poststudy email surveys. An overview of the methodology is set out in Figure 1. The necessary sample size for the feasibility component of the study was determined to be 30 participants, and the duration of the study was determined to be 28 days. This was to allow sufficient opportunities for participants to explore the Particip8 app under different conditions and to achieve effective saturation of their experiences. Participants were asked to use the Particip8 app on a daily basis to record their self-reflection on well-being. Participants were able to select a face emotion scale to indicate how they felt on that particular day. Additionally, participants were also asked to select from a list provided, the experiences that they had been exposed to during that day. Participants could choose multiple experiences for the day; however, they could only log one self-reflected well-being score.

Consultation with key stake holders was undertaken before applying for ethics approval. These key stake holders included the Pro-Vice Chancellor of Health Sciences, the Dean of Māori, and the Dean of Pacifica. Other key stakeholders such as student groups that included the Otago University Medical Students Association, Te Oranga Aotearoa, NZMSA, and the Pacific Island Health Professional Student Association were also consulted. Feedback from these stakeholders was taken into consideration during the study, and as a result, previous aspects were changed and amended. Ethics approval was granted by the University of Otago Head of Department (Ethics no. D16/308).

#### **Participant Recruitment**

The participants were students recruited from the Dunedin School of Medicine. Recruitment was conducted via posters in student areas, lecture announcements, and through social media posts. A total of 29 students voluntarily applied for the study, and all 29 students met the inclusion criteria. As a result, all 29 students were enrolled in the study. The inclusion criteria included (1) The ownership of a personal Android or apple smartphone device; (2) Enrolled at the Dunedin School of Medicine in the bachelor of medicine and surgery (MBChB) degree; (3) Were currently in their 4th, 5th, or 6th year of the undergraduate MBChB program; and (4) Currently undertaking a clinical placement. The participants were provided with a code for downloading the Particip8 app once they had inquired about the study, or when they attended the prestudy focus group. A webcast was made available to students with instructions on how to download and use the Particip8 app. Both iPhone operating system (iOS, Apple Inc) and Android platforms were made available. The Particp8 app was not available for those who owned a Windows phone, or for nonsmartphone mobile devices.

The app was named "Particip8" because students were required to be active participants in their own well-being. There were eight daily questions that the students were required to answer. For example, one question asked what placement the student was on that day, another question had five questions from the World Health Organization's (five) Well-Being Index (WHO-5), and other questions related to the experiences that the student had experienced that day.

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

Figure 1. Methodology flowchart. SRW: self-reflected well-being.



Upon downloading the Particip8 app, the initial log-in page had the details of the study and asked for the participant's consent to participate in the study. All participants gave consent via the Particip8 app to be in the study. Participants were offered no financial incentives or reimbursement for participation in the study. The second page of the Particip8 app required each participant to enter their baseline demographic data such as their age, entry into medical school (either from secondary school after completing the health science first year (HSFY) program, after completing a previous degree (postgraduate), or from the "other" category that included those who have an undergraduate or postgraduate degree and have worked in allied health for a minimum of 5 years, ethnicity, as well as their gender. The webcast that had the download instructions also had instructions on how to complete the survey and how to customize the time setting for the daily push notification reminder.

#### **Evaluation of the Screening Tool Used**

The Particip8 app was specifically developed for clinical medical students, by clinical medical students. It involved using an international validated survey, the WHO-5. The question wording and order in the WHO-5 did not change. The time period of interest, however, was changed from "the last 14 days," to asking "the last 24 hours" to suit daily recording. This adaptation was reviewed by the New Zealand World Health Organization Quality of Life Group and deemed suitable to be used in this shortened time frame. Notably, however, no other published research has used it as a daily survey before. The WHO-5 was chosen because it has a sensitivity of 0.93 and a specificity of 0.83 in the detection of depression [14].

#### Figure 2. Screenshots of the app.

Berryman et al



The Particip8 app asked the WHO-5 questions daily and utilized the visual aid of a facial emoticon scale. The emoticon scale was selected to help with ease, speed, and accuracy of answering the five questions. The next page of the Particip8 app was a list of experiences that the student possibly could have experienced during the day. These experiences were chosen from the "NZMSA 2015 Bullying and Harassment Survey" and commonly experienced situations of clinical medical students [10]. Screenshots from the Particip8 app are presented in Figure 2.

#### **Statistical Methods**

The size of the study, being a total of 30 participants, was determined to be sufficient for the quantitative component. The size of the study would provide sufficiently precise estimates for standard deviations, correlations between repeated measures, and rates and patterns of missing data for designing larger studies in the future.

Appropriate summary statistics were calculated for all variables of interest. Analysis included linear mixed models (LMMs), with a random participant effect to accommodate the repeated measures over the study days. The LMMs were used to examine

```
http://mededu.jmir.org/2018/1/e7/
```

XSL•FO RenderX

associations between each of the WHO-5 items and its combined score and each of the situational (day of week, location), experiential (eg, learning something new), demographic (age, gender, ethnicity, and entry pathway), and study-related (day of study and delay before reporting) variables. Model diagnostics included examining model residual normality and homoscedasticity. Subsequently, the experiential variables (yes or no) were examined for associations with the situational, demographic, and study-related variables by using mixed logistic regression models. All statistical analyses were conducted using Stata (StataCorp) 14.2, with two-sided P<.05 considered statistically significant in all cases. No formal adjustment was made for the multiple comparisons, and marginal results should be interpreted with caution.

## Results

#### **Participant Characteristics**

A total of 29 participants were analyzed in this study. Participant characteristics (Table 1) showed the age range from 21 to 29 years, with a median age of 23 years (starting at age 19 years with high school leavers completing HSFY entry method, the majority of students would be either aged 21 years or above in 4th year medical school). The majority of participants (69%, 20/29) identified as female, with the remaining participants (31%, 9/29) identifying as male. Ethnicity was 24% (7/29) Māori, 38% (11/29) New Zealand European, and 38% (11/29) identifying as "other" (Indian, Sri Lankan, Chinese, South East Asian, and Pacific Islander). Entry pathway and student type and gender percentage were both reflective of the cohort group from which the participants were selected.

Table 1. Participant demographics.

Variable	n (%)	
Student-level		
Age (years)		
21	3 (10)	
22	6 (21)	
23	8 (28)	
24	4 (14)	
25	3 (10)	
25+	5 (17)	
Gender		
Female	20 (69)	
Male	9 (31)	
Year		
Advanced learning in medicine (ALM) 4th year	15 (52)	
ALM 5th year	5 (17)	
Trainee intern	9 (31)	
Entry pathway		
Health science first year program	21 (72)	
Other	2 (7)	
Postgraduate	6 (21)	
Student type		
Domestic	26 (90)	
International	3 (10)	
Prioritized ethnicity		
Māori	7 (24)	
European	11 (38)	
Other	11 (38)	



#### **App Feasibility Analysis**

Compliance was measured as completing the daily survey within the allotted time period. In total, 471 days were completed over the 28-day study period, resulting in an overall median compliance rate of 71% at the day level. A total of 13 participants (45%, 13/29) completed 80% to 100% of the days, achieving the required compliance threshold for EMA studies; 4 (14%, 4/29) completed between 50% to 80% of days; and 12 participants (41%, 12/29) completed less than 50% of the days. The longitudinal data showed that compliance rates steadily declined over the 28 days (data not shown. Females were nonstatistically significantly more compliant than men, and there was no evidence for associations with compliance for any of the other student demographics (age group, ethnicity, or year of study).

#### Well-Being by Day of the Week and Type of Day

For the overall score (Multimedia Appendix 1), there were differences between various days of the week (overall P=.003). Tuesday had the lowest overall well-being mean (2.91/.00), and Saturday had the highest mean (3.51/5.00). The same pattern was observed for the five individual questions, but only feeling cheerful (Q1), waking up fresh and rested (Q4), and day filled with things that interested (Q5) were statistically significantly different by the particular day of the week. Days off (mean=3.44) had higher well-being scores than days where the students attended placements (3.01, P<.001). Four of the questions showed statistically significant differences, except feeling active and vigorous (Q3).

#### Ethnicity

Māori students were 1.22 times more likely to engage in sports, social activities, or hobbies than New Zealand European students and 2.27 times more likely compared with non-New Zealand European students (overall test for ethnicity P=.009, results not shown).

#### **Entry Pathway Into Medicine**

Postgraduate and "other" students were 2.2 times more likely to feel that they "did not learn anything" (19.5% vs 8.9%, P=.02). Postgraduate and "other" students were 2.5 times more likely to feel more unsure of their knowledge and skills (46.9% vs 18.4%, P=.009) and were 3.4 times more likely to worry about exams (68.1% vs 19.8%, P=.01; results not shown).

#### **Rural Location**

Another finding was that there were differences in the results between students who were on placement in Dunedin and those who undertook placement outside of Dunedin. Some areas, such as the West Coast of the South Island, are the most isolated locations in New Zealand. Although anecdotal reports from students are that the learning and experiences in these isolated locations are extremely beneficial, the results from the study show that well-being scores are lower when students undertake a placement outside of Dunedin. Students undertaking Dunedin-based placements were 2.4 times more likely to receive constructive feedback compared with their colleagues based outside of Dunedin (P=.04). Students on placements away from Dunedin were 2.1 times as likely to experience stress or worry (P=.009; Table 2 OR results not shown) and in Multimedia Appendix 1, reported 0.6 lower (21%) scores in relation to the question about waking up feeling refreshed and well rested (Q4; P=.02).

#### Well-Being Scores by Placement

There were apparent differences in well-being scores between students assigned to different specialties for their clinical placement (Multimedia Appendix 1, overall P<.001) (Figure 3). General practice scored highest of all the specialties (mean 4.02/5.00), followed by "other" (emergency department, intensive care unit, and public health; 3.78), and surgery (3.13). The lowest scores were reported by students undertaking the lecture-based whole class learning week (2.63), psychological medicine (2.63), and women and children's health (2.51).

#### **Experiences Effect on Well-Being**

Multimedia Appendix 2 details what participants experienced and the effect on well-being score. A total of five incidents of bullying or harassment were reported by students during the study. These incidents showed to have had a significant adverse effect (AE) on the participant's well-being, and in particular, there was an AE recorded for three of the five questions; for example, feeling cheerful (Q1), feeling calm and relaxed (Q2), and day filled with things that interest me Q5). However, the daily score (P=.06; Multimedia Appendix 2) was not statistically significantly lower overall. "Receiving feedback that was not constructive or helpful" had the greatest impact on a participant's overall well-being score, being associated with 1.18 lower mean scores, equivalent to a 37% reduction in a participant's well-being (P<.001). Other large overall well-being decreases included "Felt like I didn't learn anything" (29% lower for overall score, P<.001), followed by "Felt like I was treated unfairly" (21% lower for overall score, P<.001), and "stress or worry about something outside of medical training" (20% lower for overall score, P<.001). On the other hand, the recorded experiences that increased well-being scores were as follows: "Felt confident about my knowledge or skills" (19% higher, P < .001), "engaged in a hobby, sport, or social activity" (18% higher, P<.001), and "received feedback that was constructive or helpful" (17% higher, P<.001).

#### **Constructive Feedback**

Due to the low levels of participants in the category "other specialities," it is difficult to interpret these results. However, for the other placements, there was sufficient data to analyze. With respect to "receiving constructive feedback," although there was no overall evidence for differences (P=.19), general practice was the highest at 40.0%, followed by surgery (30.5%), psych medicine (24.6%), and women and children's health (24.4%). Not surprisingly, whole class learning week, which is lecture and small tutorial-based learning, had the least amount of constructive feedback for students (14.8%).



Table 2. Experiences versus mean well-being score.

Experience	Not experienced	1 or more days	Difference	P value
Increased well-being				
Felt confident about my knowledge or skills	3.02	3.59	+0.57	<.001
Engaged in a hobby, sport, or social activity	2.92	3.45	+0.53	<.001
Received feedback that was constructive or helpful	3.05	3.57	+0.52	<.001
Felt I learnt something new	2.96	3.41	+0.45	<.001
Felt like I helped someone	3.05	3.45	+0.40	<.001
Decreased well-being				
Received feedback that was not constructive or helpful	3.21	2.03	-1.18	<.001
Felt I was bullied or harassed	3.41	2.33	-1.08	.005
Felt I didn't learn anything	3.28	2.34	-0.94	<.001
Stress or worry about something outside of medical training	3.29	2.63	-0.67	<.001
Felt I was treated unfairly	3.19	2.53	-0.66	<.02
Worried about exams	3.37	2.74	-0.63	.001

Figure 3. Mean well-being scores by placement.



#### **Qualitative Results**

The results are from a narrative analysis of the focus group verbatim text and the "free-text" email surveys. Participants felt that using the Particip8 app to track well-being was feasible because they often had small amounts of time available to complete the survey.

#### http://mededu.jmir.org/2018/1/e7/

XSL•FO RenderX Theme 1: Finding the Time

Some of the participants stated the following:

I feel like it would be quite easy because as a 4th year there is a lot of times there is waiting around and a lot of those times I tend to go on my phone, so I think that it will be easy to find time for a few minutes to

go on [and do the Particip8app]. [4th-year medical student participant]

There is a lot of down time sitting outside out-patients, waiting for consultants, etc, it is a good way to use the time productively and easily. [6th-year medical student participant]

Students are taught that regular reflection is important, but it is difficult to establish a habit. Participants also thought that an app would help establish these patterns and habits.

# Theme 2: A Tool to Help Create Habits on Self-Reflection

Some of the participants stated the following:

I think that it would be difficult at the start to get into the habit of it, but, if I say do it every day at 5 o'clock, I would like to get into the habit of it, like doing it on the bus or something. [4th-year medical student, participant]

...thinking about these questions every day, kind of makes you a bit more mindful of it, then you then, "ah," like if you are having a particularly good day, "I've had a really good day," or if things haven't gone so well, you actually sort of think about that and sort of realise things that you might have otherwise missed. [4th-year medical student participant]

# Theme 3: Daily Reflection Increased Self-Awareness of Well-Being

Some of the participants stated the following:

Sometimes it is hard to know that you are actually quite stressed out. [4th-year medical student participant]

I think as well that the environments that we're working in the hospitals, can be quite stressful environments, so it's important that we are able to take care of our well-being so that we are able to best respond to those stressful environments in a way that's not going to be like self-destructive or damaging to ourselves. [4th-year medical student participant]

I think that it is very important. It is the kind of the core of what we need to do, to do anything else you need to be well. [5th-year medical student participant]

On the email poststudy survey questionnaire, students confirmed that their overall awareness of well-being had increased by 20% on a Likert scale from poststudy qualitative results.

#### **Analysis of the Safety Feature**

Participants who had logged 3 days of low well-being scores triggered a safety feature on the Particip8 app, which alerted them and suggested places that were available for help and assistance. During the study, 41.7% (12/29) of all participants received the safety pop-up message at some stage during the study period. When asked if they sought support, most participants said that they talked to a trusted person, and 5 participants went to student health services. No participants

stated that they had gone to the Medical School Associate Dean of Student Affairs for assistance.

After taking part in the study, over 90% (26/29) of students say a measure of their own wellness was useful. A further 75% (22/29) of participants said that they would be happy for their data to be reported back to the medical school faculty with some identification, such as demographics. The remainder of the participants (25%, 7/29) agreed to the data being reported to the medical school faculty on the provision that their data remained completely anonymous.

### Discussion

#### **Principal Findings**

This study provides several important academic and practical outcomes. This feasibility study has examined the ability to collect self-reflected well-being data from medical student users via a smartphone app. The results collected, including focus group feedback and compliance percentages, show that this was overall a feasible method of collecting these data, although strategies to increase compliance would be advisable and worthwhile.

Prior studies in psychology suggest that use of the face emoticon scale can make participation more enjoyable. The study did not encounter any issues with regard to the inconvenience to participants to use the Particip8 app. A suggestion for the future development of the Particip8 app would be to add a dashboard page with a graph of a personal self-reflected well-being results over a week. Such a mechanism would allow participants to view the trends of their data and enable them to look back on past logged days themselves. The academic implication shown by this study is that surveys can be administered with ease and minimal burden to participants. This has potential generalized implications on future study methodologies, which require participants to complete short questionnaires at regular intervals.

The recorded well-being data was associated with experiences in ways that seem plausible, providing some degree of validation.

There are many challenges and practical implications that arise from conducting research by utilizing a smartphone app such as Particp8. Studies such as this are able to provide "real-time" data on the experiences of medical students and can generate a wealth of accurate prevalence data on well-being scores. However, the issue of "big data" and how to best analyze and interpret this becomes the next challenge.

#### Limitations

Several limitations influence the conclusions and recommendations drawn from this research. First, the sample was small, self-selected, and drawn from a medical student population. This allowed, as intended, for a detailed exploration of an at-risk group who are likely to benefit from reflection of personal well-being. However, this adds limitations as the sample may differ from other young people, and the extent to which the themes discerned here are applicable across other populations or university groups is unclear. Second, there is also the limitation that comes with all self-reported data,

whereby the participants may not be completely honest and candid in their reflections. One advantage of the methodology used in this study that counters this concern is that the daily survey detects change in the participants' self-reflected well-being score when experiencing different situations. This comparison with the WHO-5 score increases the credibility of the self-reflections, rather than relying on the WHO-5 score alone.

Third, there may be concerns that the collection of data, with only a small number of survey questions, may not be adequate to accurately decipher trends. On the basis of findings from this research, it is argued that because daily reporting via the Particip8 app increases the amount of data received overall, this compensates for any disadvantage of the kind identified. Furthermore, the data collected from this study were sufficient to demonstrate several statistically significant results.

Finally, another concern is that daily self-reflection could become a burden or inconvenience to users of the Particip8 app. Users may become annoyed and resentful toward the Particip8 app's daily "pop-up alerts" and push notifications to complete surveys. Despite this concern, the focus groups and poststudy results did not indicate any issue with annoyance or inconvenience. In fact, participants felt that because the survey could be usually completed in less than 1 min, the Particip8 app itself was not burdensome. Participants also noted that they appreciated the ability to complete the Particip8 app whenever they wanted, rather than at predetermined times stipulated by the researchers. Nonetheless, this feasibility study provides an initial understanding of the opportunities for successful smartphone-based collection of real-time self-reflected well-being data.

#### **Future Research**

As this was only a feasibility study with a small sample size and was of a relatively short duration, future studies should investigate the feasibility over longer durations, in particular, to assess any further decline in compliance rates.

Future research is now focused on developing an updated Particip8 app. Such an app will have additional functions such as anonymous reporting of inappropriate behavior experienced. Notably, the anonymous reporting of inappropriate behavior is something that over half of participants said that they would find useful. Participants in the study also requested a "free-text" area so that they could write and record more detailed accounts of experiences during the day. This free-text area would be similar to a reflective journal and would be useful to the user.

Another potential area for further research is the incorporation of "interventions" into the Particip8 app. These could be either online interventions that are contained within the Particip8 app itself, such as a mindfulness recording, or could be "in-person" interventions, such as attending workshops. Any changes to a user's baseline well-being could be monitored by real-time monitoring from the Particip8 app's self-reflected well-being scores. Furthermore, the data from these studies could be used to determine whether there is any correlation between improvements in self-reflected well-being scores and reduced clinician burnout, depression, anxiety, and suicide. Ultimately, this would result in optimal patient outcomes in the long term.

Given the limitations of this study, its findings serve as research questions for future investigations and studies, rather than for providing definitive answers.

#### Conclusions

In conclusion, the findings of this study suggest that the 28-day longitudinal collection of daily self-reflection well-being data via the Particip8 app was feasible. Further research is required to determine how to sustain the compliance with methodology over a longer period of time, as well as how to use the data to improve the well-being in clinical medical students.

#### Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank The Creating Positive Learning Environments research group based at Bioethics Department, The University of Otago, for their support and ongoing advice regarding this study. They would also like to thank Professor Tim Wilkinson, Professor Lynley Anderson, Dr Althea Blakey, Dr Kelby Smith-Han, and Emma Collins.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

EB and DL were both undergraduate medical students at the University of Otago, Dunedin School of Medicine, during the study period. The development of the app and software was self-funded by EB and DL. There were no financial contributions by any organization toward this feasibility study.

#### Multimedia Appendix 1

Demographic and situational predictors of well-being scores.

[XLSX File (Microsoft Excel File), 39KB - mededu\_v4i1e7\_app1.xlsx ]

#### **Multimedia Appendix 2**

Experiential predictors of well-being scores.

[XLSX File (Microsoft Excel File), 41KB - mededu\_v4i1e7\_app2.xlsx ]



#### References

- Rotenstein LS, Ramos MA, Torre M, Segal JB, Peluso MJ, Guille C, et al. Prevalence of depression, depressive symptoms, and suicidal ideation among medical students: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Am Med Assoc 2016;316(21):2214-2236. [Medline: <u>27923088</u>]
- Mata DA, Ramos MA, Bansal N, Khan R, Guille C, Di Angelantonio E, et al. Prevalence of depression and depressive symptoms among resident physicians: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Am Med Assoc 2015 Dec 08;314(22):2373-2383 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jama.2015.15845] [Medline: 26647259]
- 3. Beyondblue Doctors' Mental Health Program (bbDMHP). Beyondblue. Australia: beyondblue; 2013. National mental health survey of doctors and medical students URL: <u>https://www.beyondblue.org.au/docs/default-source/research-project-files/bl1132-report---nmhdmss-full-report\_web</u> [accessed 2018-02-21] [WebCite Cache ID 6xNnz9vKy]
- 4. Schernhammer ES, Colditz GA. Suicide rates among physicians: a quantitative and gender assessment (meta-analysis). A J Psychiatry 2004 Dec;161(12):2295-2302. [doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.161.12.2295] [Medline: 15569903]
- Dijksterhuis MG, Schuwirth LW, Braat DD, Teunissen PW, Scheele F. A qualitative study on trainees' and supervisors' perceptions of assessment for learning in postgraduate medical education. Med Teach 2013 Aug;35(8):e1396-e1402. [doi: 10.3109/0142159X.2012.756576] [Medline: 23600668]
- Rees CE, Monrouxe LV. "A morning since eight of just pure grill": a multischool qualitative study of student abuse. Acad Med 2011 Nov;86(11):1374-1382. [doi: 10.1097/ACM.0b013e3182303c4c] [Medline: 21952053]
- Wasson LT, Cusmano A, Meli L, Louh I, Falzon L, Hampsey M, et al. Association between learning environment interventions and medical student well-being: a systematic review. J Am Med Assoc 2016 Dec 06;316(21):2237-2252 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jama.2016.17573] [Medline: 27923091]
- 8. Dunn LB, Iglewicz A, Moutier C. A conceptual model of medical student well-being: promoting resilience and preventing burnout. Acad Psychiatry 2008;32(1):44-53. [doi: 10.1176/appi.ap.32.1.44] [Medline: 18270280]
- 9. Tolentino JC, Guo WA, Ricca RL, Vazquez D, Martins N, Sweeney J, et al. What's new in academic medicine: can we
- effectively address the burnout epidemic in healthcare? Int J Acad Med 2017;3(3):1-12. [doi: <u>10.4103/IJAM.IJAM\_47\_17</u>] 10. Berryman E. Bullying culture: valuing the teacher-student relationship. N Z Med J 2015 Oct 30;128(1424):13-17. [Medline: <u>26922443</u>]
- 11. Slavin SJ, Chibnall JT. Mistreatment of medical students in the third year may not be the problem. Med Teach 2017;39(8):891-893. [Medline: 28097902]
- 12. Dyrbye LN, Eacker A, Durning SJ, Brazeau C, Moutier C, Massie FS, et al. The impact of stigma and personal experiences on the help-seeking behaviors of medical students with burnout. Acad Med 2015 Jul;90(7):961-969. [doi: 10.1097/ACM.0000000000655] [Medline: 25650824]
- 13. Shiffman S, Stone AA, Hufford MR. Ecological momentary assessment. Annu Rev Clin Psychol 2008;4:1-32. [Medline: 18509902]
- 14. Glaser BG, Strauss AL. The Discovery of Grounded Theory: Strategies for Qualitative Research. United Kingdom: Routledge; 2017.
- 15. Braun V, Clarke V. Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qual Res Psychol 2006;3(2):77-101 [FREE Full text]

#### Abbreviations

AE: adverse effect EMA: ecological momentary assessment HSFY: health science first year LMM: linear mixed model MBChB: bachelor of medicine and surgery NZMSA: New Zealand Medical Students' Association

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 06.10.17; peer-reviewed by F Moir, M Earl, B Worm; comments to author 26.10.17; revised version received 15.12.17; accepted 02.01.18; published 07.03.18.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Berryman EK, Leonard DJ, Gray AR, Pinnock R, Taylor B Self-Reflected Well-Being via a Smartphone App in Clinical Medical Students: Feasibility Study JMIR Med Educ 2018;4(1):e7 URL: <u>http://mededu.jmir.org/2018/1/e7/</u> doi:10.2196/mededu.9128 PMID:29514774

©Elizabeth K Berryman, Daniel J Leonard, Andrew R Gray, Ralph Pinnock, Barry Taylor. Originally published in JMIR Medical Education (http://mededu.jmir.org), 07.03.2018. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Medical Education, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://mededu.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

#### **Review**

# Online Lectures in Undergraduate Medical Education: Scoping Review

Brandon Tang<sup>1</sup>, BSc; Alon Coret<sup>1</sup>, BArtsSc; Aatif Qureshi<sup>1</sup>, BHSc; Henry Barron<sup>1</sup>, BSc; Ana Patricia Ayala<sup>2</sup>, MISt; Marcus Law<sup>1</sup>, MD, MBA, MEd

<sup>1</sup>Faculty of Medicine, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada
 <sup>2</sup>Gerstein Science Information Centre, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Marcus Law, MD, MBA, MEd Faculty of Medicine University of Toronto Medical Sciences Building, Room 3174 1 King's College Circle Toronto, ON, M5S 1A8 Canada Phone: 1 416 978 4543 Email: marcus.law@utoronto.ca

# Abstract

**Background:** The adoption of the flipped classroom in undergraduate medical education calls on students to learn from various self-paced tools—including online lectures—before attending in-class sessions. Hence, the design of online lectures merits special attention, given that applying multimedia design principles has been shown to enhance learning outcomes.

**Objective:** The aim of this study was to understand how online lectures have been integrated into medical school curricula, and whether published literature employs well-accepted principles of multimedia design.

**Methods:** This scoping review followed the methodology outlined by Arksey and O'Malley (2005). Databases, including MEDLINE, PsycINFO, Education Source, FRANCIS, ERIC, and ProQuest, were searched to find articles from 2006 to 2016 related to online lecture use in undergraduate medical education.

**Results:** In total, 45 articles met our inclusion criteria. Online lectures were used in preclinical and clinical years, covering basic sciences, clinical medicine, and clinical skills. The use of multimedia design principles was seldom reported. Almost all studies described high student satisfaction and improvement on knowledge tests following online lecture use.

**Conclusions:** Integration of online lectures into undergraduate medical education is well-received by students and appears to improve learning outcomes. Future studies should apply established multimedia design principles to the development of online lectures to maximize their educational potential.

#### (JMIR Med Educ 2018;4(1):e11) doi:10.2196/mededu.9091

#### KEYWORDS

online lectures; undergraduate medical education; multimedia design; assessment; scoping review; e-learning

# Introduction

The modern classroom has changed significantly since the days of paper and pencil learning. Increasing numbers of elementary and secondary school students are using online textbooks, writing their tests online, and watching videos created by their teachers [1]. Accordingly, medical students who have grown up in this digital age are currently experiencing one of the most significant transformations in medical education [2]. In particular, the adoption of the flipped classroom model is reshaping undergraduate medical education by calling on students to learn from a variety of self-paced tools—including online lectures—before attending live teaching sessions [3]. This allows class time with instructors and peers to focus on a discussion of applications, clinical context, and more nuanced or challenging topics. Thus, the design of online lectures merits special attention as they become a more widespread teaching modality for foundational medical concepts.



**Textbox 1.** Summary of multimedia design principles with definitions reproduced from the Association of American Medical Colleges Institute for Improving Medical Education's Effective Use of Educational Technology in Medical Education.

- Coherence: exclude extraneous words, pictures, and sounds
- Pretraining: ensure students possess prior knowledge about names and characteristics of the main concepts
- Spatial contiguity: present corresponding words and pictures in close proximity to one another
- Temporal contiguity: present corresponding words and pictures simultaneously rather than successively
- Signaling: highlight important words
- Redundancy: pair animation and narration together without on-screen text
- Voice: use non-accented human spoken voice for narration over a machine simulated or foreign-accented human voice
- Personalization: employ conversational style, instead of formal, to present words
- Segmenting: offer narrated animation in learner-paced segments rather than a continuous unit
- Modality: pair animation and narration together instead of pairing animation and on-screen text

For the purposes of this review, online lectures were defined as primarily didactic lectures accessed through digital platforms that do not require active interaction with the video playback interface. Examples of interactivity which would merit exclusion as an online lecture included instructional media in which students "click through" or complete "drag and drop" activities.

In 2007, the Association of American Medical Colleges Institute for Improving Medical Education (AAMC-IIME) published the landmark report Effective Use of Educational Technology in Medical Education. One principal recommendation was that medical educators employ established multimedia design principles when developing instructional materials. These design principles initially emerged from educational psychology literature, as described by Richard Mayer's Theory of Multimedia Learning. Mayer described empirical evidence that people learn more effectively from multimedia, or words and pictures together, than words alone. However, simply adding words to pictures is not effective, as instructional media must be designed in accordance with how the human mind works. Based on his empirical research, Mayer outlined multimedia design principles as guiding concepts to enhance learning from multimedia presentations [4]. These principles include pragmatic concepts such as removing extraneous words, employing a conversational style, and reducing redundancy across animation, narration, and on-screen text [5]. A comprehensive list of multimedia design principles can be found in Textbox 1. In the context of medical education, it has been shown that applying multimedia design principles to medical student lectures leads to improved attainment of learning objectives both immediately and long-term [6,7].

Despite the purported benefit of careful multimedia design, it is unclear whether best practice has become routine practice in medical education. The AAMC-IIME note that a cultural lag often occurs between the development of novel educational technologies and their effective implementation [5]. Therefore, the purpose of this scoping review was to understand how online lectures have been integrated into medical school curricula, and whether multimedia design principles are being utilized in their creation. With the emergence of online lectures as an increasingly prevalent teaching modality-and given the significant being allocated their resources to

```
http://mededu.jmir.org/2018/1/e11/
```

development—understanding the application of best practice in online lecture design is of significant and immediate relevance.

# Methods

We searched OVID Medline (1946 to present, In Process & Other Non-Indexed Citations), OVID PsycINFO (1806 to present), OVID Social Work Abstracts (1968 to present), EBSCO Education Source, PROQUEST Abstracts in New Technology & Engineering, ASSIA, Canadian Research Index, CBCA Education, Computer & Information Systems Abstracts, ERIC, Computer Science Collection, Engineering Journals and PSYCTESTS, and FRANCIS, to identify articles addressing the subjects of online learning and medical education. Search strategies were developed by an academic health science librarian (APA) with input from the project leads and content experts (ML, BT). The search strategies were translated using each database platform's command language, controlled vocabulary, and appropriate search fields. Medical Subject Headings terms, American Psychological Association thesaurus terms, and text words were used for the search concepts of "e-learning", "video lectures", "medical education", and "medical students". Searches were completed on July 1, 2016 and limited to articles published between July 1, 2006 and July 1, 2016, given that we were predominantly interested in examining literature published since the release of the AAMC-IIME report in March 2007. English-language limits were applied to all databases.

All articles were independently screened (by 2 of BT, AC, AQ, or HB) through a 2-step process of abstract and full-text review to determine eligibility for inclusion. Only articles that were not excluded through abstract review underwent full-text review. Articles that ultimately met inclusion criteria were then analyzed and charted according to the following iteratively developed categories: (1) lecture topic; (2) participants and setting; (3) lecture design components; (4) process of lecture design; (5) method of assessment; and (6) results.

Primary research articles written in English were included if they (1) discussed online, didactic lectures whose primary purpose was to teach or review curricular content; (2) did not

require active interaction with the video playback interface; (3) were created by or for a medical school; (4) involved undergraduate medical students; (5) were watched independently by students; and (6) included either video, a slide deck, or an informal talking head. Articles were excluded if they discussed teaching modalities that required active participation (eg, problem-based learning), were not online, involved nonmedical doctor health care students, involved advanced trainees (eg, medical residents), were not designed by or for the medical school (eg, external YouTube channel), were watched by students in a group setting, or involved a lecture that was not a core educational component (eg, used for an extracurricular activity).

Assessment methods were then categorized according to the Kirkpatrick 4-level model of evaluation, interpreted in the context of online lecture evaluation [8]. Level 1 (reaction) was defined as learner satisfaction or confidence; Level 2 (learning) was defined as knowledge of information directly taught in the online lecture; Level 3 (transfer of learning) was defined as improved outcomes in tasks not directly taught in the online lecture (eg, practical examinations or final course grades); and Level 4 was defined as benefit to patients or organizational practice (eg, improved clinical outcomes such as quality of care).

Lastly, the rigor of studies included in the final analysis was assessed using the Newcastle-Ottawa Scale (NOS) [9]. The NOS is a widely used scale with established content validity and inter-rater reliability. It judges studies based on the following key parameters: (1) the selection of the study groups; (2) the comparability of the groups; and (3) the outcome measures employed. Within the context of this work, 2 of the authors (BT and AC) coded the articles included in the final analysis (N=45) according to the criteria outlined in the NOS. Any disagreements were resolved via a consensus discussion, and remaining areas of ambiguity were deliberated with other members of the research team.

## Results

Our search revealed 16,159 potentially relevant studies, of which 45 articles ultimately met inclusion criteria (Figure 1). Of the 238 articles that underwent full-text review, 193 (193/238, 81.1%) were excluded because they involved nondidactic lectures (75/193, 38.9%), were not primary research (51/193, 26.4%), involved nonmedical student populations (25/193, 13.0%), were duplicate articles identified through different search databases (24/193, 12.4%), had no involvement of online lectures (16/193, 8.3%), or involved videos that were not designed by the medical school (2/193, 1.0%).

Figure 1. Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) flow chart for the article search.



#### Lecture Topics, Participants, and Setting

Online lectures were employed in preclinical and clinical years, covering diverse topics such as basic sciences (12/45, 27%), clinical medicine (16/45, 36%), and clinical skills (17/45, 38%). Please refer to Multimedia Appendix 1 for a summary of all included studies, tabulated by lecture topic(s), participants and setting, lecture component(s), lecture design process, assessment method(s), assessment Kirkpatrick Level(s), and summary of results.

#### Lecture Components and Design Processes

The most common elements of online lectures included slide decks (25/45, 56%), narration (23/45, 51%), and video (18/45, 40%), with slide decks and narration typically occurring in conjunction. Several studies used the terminology online "lecture" or "module", but did not clarify the specific design of these interventions (5/45, 11%). A summary of design features can be found in Table 1. Approaches to delivering online lectures were occasionally described as well, with 16% (7/45) of lectures including self-assessment questions, and 11% (5/45) of lectures including links to additional resources.

Of the studies, 56% (25/45) commented on the development of online lectures in terms of process, content, or design (Table 2). The most frequently described process of lecture design included partnership with medical students (6/45, 13%), and either redesigning existing live lectures for an online platform

or uploading recordings of live lectures onto an online portal (10/45, 22%). Only 3 studies (3/45, 7%) commented on the use of multimedia design principles, such as the purposeful design of slide topography to enhance student learning [10-12]. Lecture content was typically selected based on existing curriculum objectives or according to expert recommendations from national organizations (7/45, 16%), such as the 6-step approach to curriculum development developed by Kern et al [13].

#### **Methods of Assessment**

All studies assessed learning outcomes (Table 3), with the most common method (39/45, 87%) being self-assessment of satisfaction, knowledge acquisition, or confidence. These all represent Kirkpatrick Level 1 and involved surveys, questionnaires, or focus groups for evaluation purposes. Higher-order assessment (Kirkpatrick Level 2) included various knowledge tests such as multiple choice, true/false, matching, key feature, or free response questions (30/45, 66%). Of all studies, 18% (8/45) assessed learning through objective structured clinical examinations (OSCEs) or other practical examinations, while 24% (11/45) correlated the use of online lectures with other performance measures, such as final course grades or United States Medical Licensing Examination (USMLE) scores. Both practical examinations and correlation to other external measures (eg, USMLE) were typically defined as Kirkpatrick Level 3, given that knowledge from the online lectures was being applied to new contexts beyond the content directly addressed in the lecture.

 Table 1. Summary of online lecture design components (N=45).

Design component <sup>a</sup>	n (%)
Slide deck (eg, Microsoft PowerPoint)	25 (56)
Audio or narration	23 (51)
Video (eg, procedural demonstration; does not include video recordings of slide decks)	18 (40)
Unspecified design (eg, only described as online "lecture" or "module")	5 (11)
Animation (eg, dynamic 2D or 3D images)	4 (9)
Visible lecturer (eg, talking head)	1 (2)

<sup>a</sup>Articles often utilized more than one design component.

Table 2.	Summary	of online	lecture (	develor	ment	(N=45)
Table 2.	Summary	or onnine	ice ture	ucverop	ment	(11-+5)

Development process <sup>a</sup>	n (%)
Lecture design	
No comment on development process	20 (44)
Developed from live lectures or recordings of live lectures	10 (22)
Medical student consultation	6 (13)
Consideration of multimedia design principles (eg, slide topography)	3 (7)
Lecture content	
Literature-driven development of content (eg, 6-step approach to curriculum development from Kern et al [13] or national specialty-specific guidelines or learning objectives)	7 (16)
Faculty or expert selection of content	6 (13)

<sup>a</sup>Articles often utilized more than one development process.

#### Tang et al

Table 3. Summary of assessment methods for online lectures (N=45). OSCE: objective structured clinical examination; USMLE: United States Medical Licensing Examination.

Assessment method <sup>a</sup>	Kirkpatrick Level	n (%)
Any method	1 to 3	45 (100)
Self-assessment of satisfaction, attitudes, knowledge, or confidence (eg, survey, questionnaire, or focus group)	1	39 (87)
Knowledge assessment (eg, multiple choice, true/false, matching, key feature, or free-response questions; content-specific knowledge test such as electrocardiogram interpretation)	2	30 (66)
Correlation to other performance measures (eg, final course grades, or USMLE)	3	11 (24)
Practical assessment (eg, OSCE, practical examination, or direct observation)	3	8 (18)
Written assignment or project	2	4 (9)

<sup>a</sup>Articles often utilized more than one assessment method.

In some cases, a practical examination was defined as Kirkpatrick Level 2, when the examination tested direct transfer of knowledge from the lecture (eg, lecture on differential diagnosis generation and an oral examination on the same topic).

Regardless of the method of assessment, almost all studies reported high satisfaction and increased knowledge following the intervention. Student self-assessment typically revealed positive attitudes toward online lectures as a teaching modality [10,11,14-31]. Moreover, students showed increased knowledge in the subject material at hand, as evaluated by pre- and postlecture knowledge assessment [14,16-18,20,22,24,25,27,28, 30,32-35]. Finally, multiple studies demonstrated that knowledge was equivalent (or better) between students learning through online lectures compared to traditional learning modalities, such as live didactic lectures [11,12,15,22,25,26,28,31,36-41], with the exception of one study that found superior student knowledge acquisition from live lectures [42].

The quality and rigor of studies included in the final analysis (N=45) were evaluated based on the criteria set out by the NOS [9]. Out of 45 studies, only 21 (21/45, 47%) had clearly established "control" and "intervention" groups, whereas the remaining studies examined learning outcomes by following a specific cohort of students over time. Moreover, studies that randomized students into 2 (or more) specific groups had, on average, more participants (210 versus 168). With regards to outcomes, the majority of studies (37/45, 82%) utilized some form of blind—or at least, objective—assessment of learning, most commonly via test performance (eg, USMLE, pre- versus postintervention testing, OSCEs, etc). The remaining minority of studies (8/45, 18%) relied solely on student satisfaction ratings of the online media.

## Discussion

#### **Integration of Online Lectures into Medical Curricula**

This review demonstrated that online lectures have been integrated into several aspects of undergraduate medical education curricula, tailored toward diverse subject matter and learners at all levels. This suggests that the flipped-classroom model—and associated online lectures—have become widely embraced by medical educators. Although preclinical students appear to prefer live lectures when given the option, online lectures are perceived to allow for increased rate and quantity

```
http://mededu.jmir.org/2018/1/e11/
```

of knowledge acquisition [43]. Online lectures may also be valuable for students in clinical settings, given the time constraints on preceptors to simultaneously teach and tend to their clinical responsibilities [44].

#### **Online Lecture Design**

Results from this review demonstrated that 10 years after the publication of Effective Use of Educational Technology in Medical Education [5], there has been a cultural lag in implementing multimedia design principles. As stated earlier, emerging evidence suggests that applying multimedia design to medical student lectures can improve learning outcomes [6,7]. Moreover, since the publication of the AAMC-IIME report in 2007, the importance of applying multimedia design principles in medical education has been emphasized in multiple publications [45,46]. Previously described barriers to implementing best practice in clinical medicine may explain the cultural lag in applying multimedia design principles in medical education, including time constraints (organizational context) and existing standards of practice (social context) [47]. Multiple studies included in this review implemented online lectures as part of broader educational interventions, and therefore, lack of time or resources may have reduced the attention paid to online lecture design. Moreover, clinician-teachers who participate in online lecture design may be unaware of multimedia design principles or may not have integrated these concepts into their standard practice. In line with this, findings from this review suggest an overall lack of awareness of the importance of conscientious online lecture design in the medical education community. Almost half of all included articles did not comment on the development process for online lectures, while nearly a quarter of studies simply uploaded lecture recordings online or repurposed slide decks from live lectures into online lectures.

#### **Assessment of Learning Outcomes**

The most common method of assessment involved student self-assessment (Kirkpatrick Level 1), consistent with other reports of assessment in medical education [48]. However, several studies did examine learning outcomes in a more objective way (eg, written test or OSCE), with the general trend being one of noninferiority for students participating in an online and/or blended educational intervention. Nonetheless, it is also important to note that in some studies, online lectures represented only one aspect of a broader curricular intervention

XSL•FO RenderX

(eg, a new program to teach bedside ultrasound). Therefore, the impact of online lectures cannot always be delineated from other aspects of an intervention, especially with respect to complex outcome measures that integrate multiple knowledge domains.

Essentially all studies reported high student satisfaction with online lectures and improved knowledge following such an intervention. However, each study assessed the use of online lectures within a particular context of students, educational topics, and assessment methods, making it difficult to directly compare relative effectiveness. Nonetheless, the broader body of literature suggested that online lectures, as a whole, were widely applicable and effective. Although positive outcomes were almost uniformly described, multimedia design principles were employed in only 3 studies, suggesting that these interventions could further optimize student learning by applying these well-established concepts [10-12].

Multiple studies reported equivalent or superior learning outcomes in medical students learning from online lectures compared to traditional didactic teaching. These findings are consistent with a large meta-analysis conducted by the United States Department of Education, which found that kindergarten to grade 12 (K-12) students in online learning conditions had better learning outcomes than those receiving in-person instruction [49]. However, the authors of this study cautioned that this does not necessarily suggest that online learning is the superior medium. Rather, it may be the conditions associated with online lectures (eg, additional learning time or access to extra resources), that lead to improved learning outcomes.

#### **Towards More Effective Use of Online Lectures**

Online teaching modalities included didactic online lectures (the definition employed in this review), interactive online modules, online courses, and many other interventions. However, the term "online lecture" was used to refer to a diverse range of online teaching modalities in published studies, and sometimes without an accompanying description of the lecture. Applying common terminology when describing online teaching modalities would help medical educators communicate more clearly about the nature of interventions, as well as delineate between different intervention designs to facilitate the study of their relative effectiveness.

In line with this goal, we propose standardized definitions to describe different online teaching modalities (Textbox 2). Accordingly, precise documentation of design processes for these different modalities can counter the cultural lag described and better disseminate an approach to transitioning toward "flipped classroom" undergraduate medical education curricula.

Further research would be helpful to identify the specific design features of online lectures that best facilitate medical student learning, given the widespread but variable application of this teaching modality. For example, future research could investigate which multimedia design principles correlate best with improved learning outcomes. Moreover, an understanding of the effectiveness of online lectures (didactic) compared to online modules (interactive), and the settings in which each modality is best applied, would allow for more purposeful application of online teaching interventions. Finally, to bridge the gap between effective use and common practice, findings from this review suggest that enhanced faculty development, updated guidelines incorporating the latest evidence on multimedia design, and fostering a culture of conscientious development of online lectures are all necessary for the continued expansion and application of online education.

Textbox 2. Proposed glossary for online teaching modalities.

- Traditional lecture
  - Description: delivered live, in-person, and with no or minimal online component; typically limited student-lecturer interaction, unless a flipped classroom format is applied
  - Design components: video, slide decks, and drawing on projector screen or blackboard
  - Interactivity: minimal (students ask questions, but do not influence lecture output or pace)
- Online lecture
  - Description: intended for students to independently watch online, at their own pace; defined by low student interaction with the teaching modality (in some ways akin to a traditional lecture except viewed online)
  - Design components: audio, slide decks, drawings on blackboard (similar to Khan Academy or other educational channels), talking head
  - Interactivity: low to minimal (students can control speed of lecture, rewind, and fast-forward)
- Online module
  - Description: intended for students to independently complete online, at their own pace; involves interactivity, in which students "click through" the module or complete "drag and drop" or other activities
  - Design components: "click-through" modules, embedded exercises (eg, matching, multiple choice questions); may also include components of online lectures
  - Interactivity: moderate to high (students actively engage with the online interface)

#### Limitations

The definition of online lecture utilized in this scoping review excluded interactive teaching tools such as self-paced online modules, meaning that it did not comprehensively capture all literature involving the use of online learning modalities in medical education. This was a purposeful decision given our understanding that Richard Mayer's principles of multimedia design were initially developed through experimentation on traditional slide deck lectures. A final limitation is that although the majority of studies did not describe the use of multimedia design principles, it is possible that these concepts were employed without being explicitly mentioned.

#### Conclusion

The integration of online lectures into undergraduate medical education is well-received by students and appears to improve knowledge, clinical skills, and other learning outcomes. Moreover, it appears that the use of multimedia design principles is not yet standard practice in the development of online lectures for medical students. As the adoption of flipped classroom learning and online lectures continues to expand, employing multimedia design principles could further optimize the potential for student learning. Further research on the design of online lectures and other online teaching modalities, enhanced faculty development, incorporation of best practice, and recognition of the importance of conscientious design are critical as online lectures become a mainstay of undergraduate medical education.

#### Acknowledgments

We greatly appreciate the assistance of Farah Friesen and Drew Countryman for their assistance with the article screening process.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

#### **Multimedia Appendix 1**

Summary of included studies.

[XLSX File (Microsoft Excel File), 27KB - mededu\_v4i1e11\_app1.xlsx ]

#### References

- 1. Nagel D. THE Journal. 2014. One-third of U.S. students use school-issued mobile devices URL: <u>https://thejournal.com/</u> <u>articles/2014/04/08/a-third-of-secondary-students-use-school-issued-mobile-devices.aspx</u> [accessed 2017-09-30] [WebCite Cache ID 6trzXbtKo]
- Cooke M, Irby DM, Sullivan W, Ludmerer KM. American medical education 100 years after the Flexner report. N Engl J Med 2006 Sep 28;355(13):1339-1344. [doi: <u>10.1056/NEJMra055445</u>] [Medline: <u>17005951</u>]
- 3. Prober CG, Heath C. Lecture halls without lectures--a proposal for medical education. N Engl J Med 2012 May 03;366(18):1657-1659. [doi: 10.1056/NEJMp1202451] [Medline: 22551125]
- 4. Mayer RE. Multimedia learning. Psychol Learn Motiv 2002;41:85-139 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S0079-7421(02)80005-6]
- 5. AAMC Institute for Improving Medical Education. Colloquium on Educational Technology: Recommendations and Guidelines for Medical Educators. 2007. Effective use of educational technology in medical education URL: <u>https://members.aamc.org/eweb/upload/effective%20use%20of%20educational.pdf.Archived [WebCite Cache ID 6ts0UeSwO]</u>
- Issa N, Mayer RE, Schuller M, Wang E, Shapiro MB, DaRosa DA. Teaching for understanding in medical classrooms using multimedia design principles. Med Educ 2013 Apr;47(4):388-396. [doi: <u>10.1111/medu.12127</u>] [Medline: <u>23488758</u>]
- Issa N, Schuller M, Santacaterina S, Shapiro M, Wang E, Mayer RE, et al. Applying multimedia design principles enhances learning in medical education. Med Educ 2011 Aug;45(8):818-826. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1365-2923.2011.03988.x</u>] [Medline: <u>21752078</u>]
- 8. Kirkpatrick D. Evaluating Training Programs. New York City: Tata McGraw-Hill Education; 1975.
- Wells G, Shea B, O'Connell D, Peterson J, Welch V, Losos M, et al. Ottawa Hospital Research Institute. 2000. The Newcastle–Ottawa Scale (NOS) for assessing the quality of non-randomized studies in meta-analysis URL: <u>http://www.ohri.ca/programs/clinical\_epidemiology/oxford.asp</u> [accessed 2018-02-04] [WebCite Cache ID 6wz5bqAEQ]
- Evans DJ. Using embryology screencasts: a useful addition to the student learning experience? Anat Sci Educ 2011;4(2):57-63. [doi: <u>10.1002/ase.209</u>] [Medline: <u>21381215</u>]
- Kalet AL, Coady SH, Hopkins MA, Hochberg MS, Riles TS. Preliminary evaluation of the Web Initiative for Surgical Education (WISE-MD). Am J Surg 2007 Jul;194(1):89-93. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.amjsurg.2006.12.035</u>] [Medline: <u>17560916</u>]
- Kalet AL, Song HS, Sarpel U, Schwartz R, Brenner J, Ark TK, et al. Just enough, but not too much interactivity leads to better clinical skills performance after a computer assisted learning module. Med Teach 2012;34(10):833-839 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3109/0142159X.2012.706727] [Medline: 22917265]

- 13. Kern D, Thomas P, Hughes M. Curriculum Development for Medical Education: A Six-Step Approach. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press; 2009.
- Malik U, Kirkby E, Tah V, Bunce C, Okhravi N. Effectiveness and acceptability of a cataract surgery teaching video for medical students. Med Teach 2012;34(2):178. [doi: <u>10.3109/0142159X.2012.644835</u>] [Medline: <u>22289004</u>]
- 15. Alnabelsi T, Al-Hussaini A, Owens D. Comparison of traditional face-to-face teaching with synchronous e-learning in otolaryngology emergencies teaching to medical undergraduates: a randomised controlled trial. Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol 2015;272(3):63. [doi: 10.1007/s0040]
- 16. Ball CA, Kurtz AM, Reed T. Evaluating violent person management training for medical students in an emergency medicine clerkship. South Med J 2015 Sep;108(9):520-523. [doi: 10.14423/SMJ.00000000000337] [Medline: 26332475]
- Belfi LM, Bartolotta RJ, Giambrone AE, Davi C, Min RJ. "Flipping" the introductory clerkship in radiology: impact on medical student performance and perceptions. Acad Radiol 2015 Jun;22(6):794-801. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.acra.2014.11.003</u>] [Medline: <u>25592027</u>]
- Bösner S, Pickert J, Stibane T. Teaching differential diagnosis in primary care using an inverted classroom approach: student satisfaction and gain in skills and knowledge. BMC Med Educ 2015 Apr 01;15:63 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12909-015-0346-x] [Medline: 25879809]
- Chapman C, White CB, Engleberg C, Fantone JC, Cinti SK. Developing a fully online course for senior medical students. Med Educ Online 2011 May 06;16 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.3402/meo.v16i0.5733</u>] [Medline: <u>21566733</u>]
- Cipriano SD, Dybbro E, Boscardin CK, Shinkai K, Berger TG. Online learning in a dermatology clerkship: piloting the new American Academy of Dermatology Medical Student Core Curriculum. J Am Acad Dermatol 2013 Aug;69(2):267-272. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jaad.2013.04.025</u>] [Medline: <u>23683728</u>]
- DiLullo C, Coughlin P, D'Angelo M, McGuinness M, Bandle J, Slotkin EM, et al. Anatomy in a new curriculum: facilitating the learning of gross anatomy using web access streaming dissection videos. J Vis Commun Med 2006 Sep;29(3):99-108. [doi: 10.1080/01405110601080738] [Medline: 17162338]
- 22. Edmond M, Neville F, Khalil HS. A comparison of teaching three common ear, nose, and throat conditions to medical students through video podcasts and written handouts: a pilot study. Adv Med Educ Pract 2016;7:281-286 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/AMEP.S101099] [Medline: 27274331]
- 23. Goldberg HR, Haase E, Shoukas A, Schramm L. Redefining classroom instruction. Adv Physiol Educ 2006 Sep;30(3):124-127 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1152/advan.00017.2006] [Medline: 16912147]
- 24. Gomes AW, Linton A, Abate L. Strengthening our collaborations: building an electronic health record educational module. J Electron Resour Med Libr 2013;10(1):1-10. [doi: 10.1080/15424065.2012.762202]
- Ilic D, Nordin RB, Glasziou P, Tilson JK, Villanueva E. A randomised controlled trial of a blended learning education intervention for teaching evidence-based medicine. BMC Med Educ 2015 Mar 10;15:39 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12909-015-0321-6] [Medline: 25884717]
- 26. Khasawneh R, Simonsen K, Snowden J, Higgins J, Beck G. The effectiveness of e-learning in pediatric medical student education. Med Educ Online 2016 Jan;21(1):29516. [doi: <u>10.3402/meo.v21.29516</u>] [Medline: <u>28165928</u>]
- 27. Kumar AB, Hata JS, Bayman EO, Krishnan S. Implementing a hybrid web-based curriculum for an elective medical student clerkship in a busy surgical intensive care unit (ICU): effect on test and satisfaction scores. J Surg Educ 2013;70(1):109-116. [doi: 10.1016/j.jsurg.2012.06.026] [Medline: 23337679]
- 28. Mojtahedzadeh R, Mohammadi A, Emami A, Rahmani S. Comparing live lecture, internet-based & computer-based instruction: a randomized controlled trial. Med J Islam Repub Iran 2014;28(136).
- 29. Liu Q, Hu R, Zhan X, Yan W. Eur Confence e-Learning. Evaluation of students' satisfaction and attitudes toward blended learning in medical education: a survey in randomized controlled trial course URL: <u>https://tinyurl.com/ychkafst</u> [accessed 2017-09-30] [WebCite Cache ID 6tsAGifub]
- Reis LO, Ikari O, Taha-Neto KA, Gugliotta A, Denardi F. Delivery of a urology online course using Moodle versus didactic lectures methods. Int J Med Inform 2015 Feb;84(2):149-154. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2014.11.001</u>] [Medline: <u>25466380</u>]
- 31. Ridgway PF, Sheikh A, Sweeney KJ, Evoy D, McDermott E, Felle P, et al. Surgical e-learning: validation of multimedia web-based lectures. Med Educ 2007 Feb;41(2):168-172. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2929.2006.02669.x] [Medline: 17269950]
- Aronoff SC, Evans B, Fleece D, Lyons P, Kaplan L, Rojas R. Integrating evidence based medicine into undergraduate medical education: combining online instruction with clinical clerkships. Teach Learn Med 2010 Jul;22(3):219-223. [doi: 10.1080/10401334.2010.488460] [Medline: 20563945]
- Blackstock U, Munson J, Szyld D. Bedside ultrasound curriculum for medical students: report of a blended learning curriculum implementation and validation. J Clin Ultrasound 2015 Mar;43(3):139-144. [doi: <u>10.1002/jcu.22224</u>] [Medline: <u>25123564</u>]
- 34. Blanco MA, Maderer A, Oriel A, Epstein SK. How we launched a developmental student-as-teacher (SAT) program for all medical students. Med Teach 2014 May;36(5):385-389. [doi: 10.3109/0142159X.2014.886770] [Medline: 24527838]
- 35. Raupach T, Grefe C, Brown J, Meyer K, Schuelper N, Anders S. Moving knowledge acquisition from the lecture hall to the student home: a prospective intervention study. J Med Internet Res 2015 Sep 28;17(9):e223 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3814] [Medline: 26416467]

- Bandla H, Franco RA, Simpson D, Brennan K, McKanry J, Bragg D. Assessing learning outcomes and cost effectiveness of an online sleep curriculum for medical students. J Clin Sleep Med 2012 Aug 15;8(4):439-443 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5664/jcsm.2042] [Medline: 22893775]
- 37. Beale EG, Tarwater PM, Lee VH. A retrospective look at replacing face-to-face embryology instruction with online lectures in a human anatomy course. Anat Sci Educ 2014;7(3):234-241. [doi: <u>10.1002/ase.1396</u>] [Medline: <u>23959807</u>]
- Cawthorn TR, Nickel C, O'Reilly M, Kafka H, Tam JW, Jackson LC, et al. Development and evaluation of methodologies for teaching focused cardiac ultrasound skills to medical students. J Am Soc Echocardiogr 2014 Mar;27(3):302-309. [doi: 10.1016/j.echo.2013.12.006] [Medline: 24433979]
- Davis J, Crabb S, Rogers E, Zamora J, Khan K. Computer-based teaching is as good as face to face lecture-based teaching of evidence based medicine: a randomized controlled trial. Med Teach 2008;30(3):302-307. [doi: 10.1080/01421590701784349] [Medline: 18484458]
- Karam-Hage M, Maher K, Brower KJ, Mullan PB, Gay T, Gruppen LD. Web-streamed didactic instruction on substance use disorders compares favorably with live-lecture format. Acad Psychiatry 2013 May 01;37(3):165-170. [doi: 10.1176/appi.ap.12010001] [Medline: 23632924]
- 41. Milic NM, Trajkovic GZ, Bukumiric ZM, Cirkovic A, Nikolic IM, Milin JS, et al. Improving education in medical statistics: implementing a blended learning model in the existing curriculum. PLoS One 2016;11(2):e0148882 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0148882] [Medline: 26859832]
- 42. Jordan J, Jalali A, Clarke S, Dyne P, Spector T, Coates W. Asynchronous vs didactic education: it's too early to throw in the towel on tradition. BMC Med Educ 2013 Aug 08;13:105 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6920-13-105] [Medline: 23927420]
- 43. Cardall S, Krupat E, Ulrich M. Live lecture versus video-recorded lecture: are students voting with their feet? Acad Med 2008 Dec;83(12):1174-1178. [doi: 10.1097/ACM.0b013e31818c6902] [Medline: 19202495]
- 44. Irby DM, Wilkerson L. Teaching when time is limited. BMJ 2008 Feb 16;336(7640):384-387 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.39456.727199.AD] [Medline: 18276715]
- 45. Dong C, Goh PS. Twelve tips for the effective use of videos in medical education. Med Teach 2015 Feb;37(2):140-145. [doi: 10.3109/0142159X.2014.943709] [Medline: 25110154]
- 46. Lau KH. Computer-based teaching module design: principles derived from learning theories. Med Educ 2014 Mar;48(3):247-254. [doi: <u>10.1111/medu.12357</u>] [Medline: <u>24528459</u>]
- 47. Grol R, Grimshaw J. From best evidence to best practice: effective implementation of change in patients' care. The Lancet 2003 Oct;362(9391):1225-1230. [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(03)14546-1]
- 48. Yardley S, Dornan T. Kirkpatrick's levels and education 'evidence'. Med Educ 2012 Jan;46(1):97-106. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2923.2011.04076.x] [Medline: 22150201]
- 49. Means B, Toyama Y, Murphy R, Bakia M, Jones K. Evaluation of evidence-based practices in online learning: a meta-analysis and review of online learning studies. Washington: U.S. Department of Education, Office of Planning, Evaluation, and Policy Development; 2009. URL: <u>https://www2.ed.gov/rschstat/eval/tech/evidence-based-practices/finalreport.pdf [WebCite Cache ID 6yGfnxWV4]</u>

#### Abbreviations

AAMC-IIME: Association of American Medical Colleges Institute for Improving Medical Education NOS: Newcastle-Ottawa Scale OSCE: objective structured clinical examination USMLE: United States Medical Licensing Examination

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 03.10.17; peer-reviewed by N Issa, C Dong; comments to author 10.12.17; revised version received 04.02.18; accepted 28.02.18; published 10.04.18.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Tang B, Coret A, Qureshi A, Barron H, Ayala AP, Law M Online Lectures in Undergraduate Medical Education: Scoping Review JMIR Med Educ 2018;4(1):e11 URL: <u>http://mededu.jmir.org/2018/1/e11/</u> doi:<u>10.2196/mededu.9091</u> PMID:29636322

©Brandon Tang, Alon Coret, Aatif Qureshi, Henry Barron, Ana Patricia Ayala, Marcus Law. Originally published in JMIR Medical Education (http://mededu.jmir.org), 10.04.2018. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative

Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Medical Education, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://mededu.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

# An Internet-Based Radiology Course in Medical School: Comparison of Academic Performance of Students on Campus Versus Those With Absenteeism Due to Residency Interviews

Andrew George Alexander<sup>1\*</sup>, MD; Deborah Deas<sup>1\*</sup>, MD, PhD; Paul Eric Lyons<sup>1\*</sup>, MD

Department of Medical Education, School of Medicine, University of California, Riverside, Riverside, CA, United States <sup>\*</sup>all authors contributed equally

**Corresponding Author:** Andrew George Alexander, MD Department of Medical Education School of Medicine University of California, Riverside School of Medicine Education Building 900 University Ave Riverside, CA, 92521 United States Phone: 1 951 827 2074 Email: andrew.alexander@medsch.ucr.edu

# Abstract

**Background:** Imaging and its optimal use are imperative to the practice of medicine, yet many students don't receive a formal education in radiology. Concurrently, students look for ways to take time away from medical school for residency interviewing. Web-based instruction provides an opportunity to combine these imperatives using online modalities.

**Objective:** A largely Web-based course in radiology during the 4th year of medical school was evaluated both for its acceptance to students who needed to be away from campus for interviews, and its effectiveness on a nationally administered standardized test.

**Methods:** All students were placed into a structured program utilizing online videos, online modules, online textbook assignments, and live interactive online lectures. Over half of the course could be completed away from campus. The Alliance of Medical Student Educators in Radiology test exam bank was used as a final exam to evaluate medical knowledge.

**Results:** Positive student feedback included the freedom to travel for interviews, hands-on ultrasound training, interactive teaching sessions, and quality Web-based learning modules. Negative feedback included taking quizzes in-person, a perceived outdated online textbook, and physically shadowing hospital technicians. Most students elected to take the course during the interview months of October through January. The Alliance of Medical Student Educators in Radiology final exam results (70.5%) were not significantly different than the national cohort (70%) who took the course in-person. Test scores from students taking the course during interview travel months were not significantly different from students who took the course before (P=.30) or after (P=.34) the interview season.

**Conclusions:** Students desire to learn radiology and often choose to do so when they need to be away from campus during the fall of their 4th year of study to accomplish their residency interviews. Web-based education in radiology allows students' interview traveling and radiology course objectives to be successfully met without adversely affecting the outcomes on a nationally normed examination in radiology. A curriculum that includes online content and live Web-based teleconference access to faculty can accomplish both imperatives.

(JMIR Med Educ 2018;4(1):e14) doi:10.2196/mededu.8747

#### **KEYWORDS**

radiology clerkship; online education; imaging; radiology rotation; Web-based education

## Introduction

Imaging is an essential part of modern medicine and its proper instruction is integral to desired patient care outcomes. As important as imaging is to diagnosis, undergraduate medical education in radiology has traditionally been an elective that often occurs in a small, closed, dark room. While the images have become digital and formal interpretation of these images often occurs hundreds or thousands of miles away through the use of the internet, medical school education in radiology is generally taught in a fixed site using a single student sitting beside a single radiologist who is talking into a dictation device. These "reading sessions" slow the learning process due to the general inability to select progressive teaching cases at the level of the learner. A realistic experience in an active radiologic reading room is unfortunately limited by the random manner in which disease occurs.

Despite the necessity for radiology in most medical specialties, only 25% of medical schools require a formal education in imaging. Of the remaining schools (where radiology is not required), 63% of students express their intentions to take it as an elective [1]. Intersecting with the imperative to become fluent in modern imaging technologies, medical students frequently choose to take radiology as an elective during the months when they are away from campus interviewing for residencies [2]. Internet blogs reference "radiation vacations" as an acknowledgment that this course may offer relaxation and a chance to be away [3]. This attitude is contrary to the needs of most future physicians and further diminishes the importance of learning the use of important tools for making diagnoses.

The science of radiology is at the forefront of a digital world, but the teaching of radiology often occurs in a very "analog" manner. Since imaging technologies are now digital, they can be presented digitally to the learner. The 96.5% of graduating medical students who will not be radiologists deserve an education that emphasizes intelligent utilization of digital imaging and imaging technology [4]. These future physicians will routinely order imaging studies without consultation from radiologists. They will perform bedside ultrasound in the emergency departments and when placing central venous access catheters. Students (and their future patients) will benefit from structured medical school lessons that include appropriate didactics and clinical scenarios. Clinical judgment is enhanced by the structured review of appropriately selected experiences and supervised critical thinking. These conditions are replicated better with a structured program than with a 4-week rotation that relies heavily upon the empiric pathology of random imaging cases. The University of California, Riverside School of Medicine mandated a 4-week radiology clerkship in the 4th year of the medical school curriculum that adheres to the principles of educating new physicians in technologies of the future and that advantages the internet learning modalities of the 21st century.

## Methods

XSL•FO

Fourth-year medical students at the University of California, Riverside enrolled in the mandatory course in radiology

```
http://mededu.jmir.org/2018/1/e14/
```

consisting of 20 days of instruction over 4 weeks, and optional activities on weekends. An online standard textbook [5] was used with hyperlinks given almost daily for reading assignments. Substantially more chapters were assigned in the initial weeks of the course so that students could quickly establish a foundation of knowledge upon which they may learn more efficiently. Videos from multiple online sources and a series of online modules from the website, Aquifer [6], were assigned throughout the course, with the preponderance assigned in the first 2 weeks. A copy of the curriculum is provided in Multimedia Appendix 1. Graded quizzes were given on days 1, 2, 3, 5, 8, 12, and 16 to add motivation and to assure that the Web-based didactic lessons were taken seriously. Students were introduced to bedside ultrasounds in week 2. Ultrasound teaching sessions were taught onsite at the university by non-radiology personnel who had previously passed advanced courses in Point of Care ultrasound. No online sessions with board-certified radiologists occurred until day 6, by which time the students had a basic understanding of the risks and side-effects of imaging, its indications, and the anatomy of the underlying structures. The American College of Radiology (ACR) Appropriateness Criteria for ordering imaging studies were referenced early on, and an app from the ACR was placed onto the students' mobile (cellular) phones. Online sessions with the radiology faculty specialist were held for 2 hours on 6 different evenings. These sessions occurred over the internet using BlueJeans or Google Hangouts technology. The radiology faculty remained at a remote university and communicated with the students, both singularly, and in small groups, at sites of the students' choice.

During the final week, each student was responsible to return to campus and present an interesting radiologic case, with digital films, to the group. On the final day, The Alliance of Medical Student Educators in Radiology (AMSER) test bank was used to administer an 80-question online final exam.

Final exam scores from the 10 different 4-week block rotations were grouped into school "trimesters." The first 3 months (July to September), the second 4 months (October to January), and the final months (February to May) were compared. These groupings represented rational segmentation from a student's standpoint: prior to interview season (July to September), during interview or travel season (October to January), and after interview season (February to May). A 2-tailed *t* test was used to compare the average performances of the 3 cohorts of students.

Feedback evaluation was obtained from the students at the end of each monthly rotation in radiology. Student feedback was consistently documented and tabulated from multiple students over the course of multiple months.

# Results

Students rated highly the hands-on ultrasound training and enjoyed the flexibility of being able to do their work online while away interviewing for residency positions. There was consistent praise for the quality of the Aquifer CORE series of online modules as a teaching tool. Online teaching sessions using either Google Hangouts or BlueJeans were highly rated.

The quality of digital images given to students via Universal Serial Bus (USB) flash drives and over the internet was appreciated. The almost universal complaints were the perceived poor readability of the textbook and the feeling that in-person quizzes were unnecessary. The most popular segment of the course was the online review of select imaging cases with the radiologist. The need for time away to interview for residency positions was highly valued, and the ability to perform online readings and modules allowed the students the freedom to travel during the radiology course while staying up with the course content (Textbox 1).

Mean final exam scores from the AMSER 80-question online quiz test bank showed no significant changes based upon the trimester that the radiology course was taken (Table 1).

Textbox 1. Student feedback on the online modules.

Pos	itive student feedback		
•	Hands-on ultra-sound workshop was motivating		
•	Flexibility for time away from school allowed low-stress interview travel		
•	CORE series of modules from Aquifer were excellent for learning		
•	Self-instruction independence was appreciated		
•	Webinars with radiologists allowed efficient understanding of didactics		
•	Final exam from The Alliance of Medical Student Educators in Radiology was fair		
Neg	Negative student feedback		
•	Quizzes felt unnecessary and should be eliminated		
•	Textbook was poor and did not align well with online didactics		
•	Time with imaging techs was wasted and should be eliminated		
•	The American College of Radiology app tables are tedious to review		
•	Opportunities to shadow with radiologists should be available		

#### Table 1. Mean final exam scores (N=40).

Months	n (%)	Mean % score	P value <sup>a</sup>
July, August, and September	6 (15)	73.3	.30
October, November, December, and January (interview months)	26 (65)	69.2	N/A <sup>b</sup>
February, March, and April	8 (20)	72.6	.34
Total	40 (100)	70.5	N/A <sup>b</sup>

<sup>a</sup>*P* values calculated as the given period versus the October to January period.

<sup>b</sup>N/A: not applicable.

# Discussion

#### **Principal Findings**

Traditional instruction in imaging and radiology requires 2 to 4 weeks of time, with the largest quantity of time spent shadowing a practicing radiologist in a reading room. Understated in the teaching of radiology are the huge number of normal findings that are seen and the rarity of abnormal findings. This learner shadowing technique is therefore time-intensive and utilizes "spoon-feeding" of seldom-seen pathologic findings found within normal findings and common maladies. Efficiently reading undifferentiated images amidst the time-restraints of modern medical group economics can adversely impact the time available for the faculty to teach. As faculty pay has become more heavily influenced by productivity bonuses, limitations of time can result in more spoon-feeding of students. This may, to some extent, compromise the time

http://mededu.jmir.org/2018/1/e14/

RenderX

required for the students to learn to think independently and critically.

Despite the drawbacks of the traditional "analog" method of shadowing radiologists, many students still enjoy this largely passive traditional adventure. The lifestyle attributes and shift work of a radiologist, the escape from the stresses of inpatient care, and the sub-optimal effort required when being "spoon-fed" take less time each day [7] than the long call schedules of internal medicine or surgery. Students have competing urgencies, so it is little wonder this important part of their education is too often referred to as a "radiation vacation."

Student's preference for this passive "spoon feeding" makes sense from their point of view. Today's students interview at an average of 13.3 residency programs [2] and travel takes time and money. Students want, and perhaps need, more time off to visit the residency programs of their choice. Radiation vacations

may be the best or only travel-friendly rotation available in some educational programs, but it may not deliver the best educational experience for the 96.5% of students who will not go into radiology.

Medical student satisfaction in German medical school subinternships showed increased student satisfaction when students were given increased academic teaching, personal involvement in learning, and more practical skills [8]. In US medical schools, students enjoy hands-on Point-of-Care ultrasound training, and believe it to be educationally useful [9]. It is clear that students in the United States are strapped for time, desire freedom, and benefit from a more independent, yet hands-on learning experience in radiology.

We accept that physicians order imaging tests without communicating with a radiologist prior to entering such an order. It is of interest, then, that 77% of medical students have not heard of the ACR Appropriateness Criteria [10] nor have they used the free ACR online app. We have an educational imperative to teach ordering physicians of the future to navigate the most effective path in their pursuit of their patients' health. We present a modular, Web-based approach, with online basic sciences and radiologic anatomy lessons preceding online selected cases. This order is similar to the method used by Ertl in which imaging technology, anatomy, side effects, risks, and content precede diagnostic decision-making and imaging [11]. Indeed, imaging diagnostics do not start the training session. Traditional radiology training focused on "spoon-feeding" (shadowing experiences) where information flowed from teacher to learner [12]. Efforts to increase educational retention and student satisfaction have been successful with activities that allow independent problem-solving, investigation, and discovery. Outcomes from such online learning programs have higher learner performances in vielded practicing evidence-based-medicine and in patient management skills [13]. Self-paced themes with faculty feedback increase student confidence and knowledge in radiology [14]. Peer-to-peer learning is highly appreciated with good outcome studies noted in teaching and learning Point-of-Care ultrasound [15]. The mix of formal online didactics, required online readings, online modules, and a de-emphasis on shadowing can improve the educational outcome of the student, increase student satisfaction, and unload the burden on the workflow of the faculty radiologist [16].

Students are still 4 to 8 years away from entering practice. It follows that their education should include training for the medical practice of the foreseeable future. New technology has delivered ultrasound images to our electronic tablets and phones. The changes in practice models have placed these compact transducers and screens into our emergency rooms and community clinics. In Peru and Nepal, a 7-day course in diagnostic ultrasound taught general outpatient practitioners to diagnose pneumonia in children with improved sensitivity and specificity compared to the World Health Organization algorithm [17]. The ultrasound exam took an average of 6.4 minutes. At a non-university hospital in Norway, cardiac and abdominal Point-of-Care ultrasounds took 5.7 and 4.7 minutes, respectively [18]. The results led to major changes in the

http://mededu.jmir.org/2018/1/e14/

XSL•FO

diagnosis of 6.5% of patients, and added additional important diagnoses in 24%.

We present a novel, largely online medical school imaging curriculum with a focus on utilization of imaging services as well as diagnostics. We believe this approach would be readily accepted by a majority of medical students who need to be away from the radiology reading rooms during interview or travel months, yet also wish to learn to efficiently and safely order imaging tests, review basic digital images, and use basic ultrasound equipment. We would argue that, with over 96% of students entering fields other than radiology, this internet-based approach could be adapted to a majority of medical colleges.

The mix of modalities, including assigned online textbook chapters, online commercial modules, video training vignettes, and teleconference didactic presentations provide for engaged learning. This is in contrast to shadowing or "spoon-feeding." The use of didactic methods that optimize Web-based independent learning makes sense for the majority of students whose priorities align with the realities of increased competitiveness for residency spots. Students can be away from campus for 4th year residency interviews and watch online videos from their hotel rooms, or while on a plane. Students may unfortunately choose "easy" clerkship electives based upon the ability to travel away from the medical school site and interview. This approach embraces the "radiation vacation" and encourages its use between the months of October and January. The absence of statistical difference in AMSER testing results from students who took the course before (P=.30) or after (P=.34) the interview or travel season confirms that medical knowledge learning outcomes showed no differences due to taking the course during the residency interview season. Additionally, students were pleased that they were allowed to be away from the university while continuing to study via their online links, online modules, and hyperlinked online textbook assignments. Online videoconferences with the radiology faculty received universal praise for effectiveness and enjoyment. Out-of-town travel did not degrade learning outcomes.

The use of evening faculty case presentation via Bluejeans or Google Hangout software allowed back-and-forth discussion of specific cases. Cases were individualized according to the lesson and the level of learning. This is in contrast to traditional shadowing where cases include random diagnoses, are often taken in the order the staff radiologist receives them, and are dictated in a manner respectful of radiology departmental efficiency. Teaching takes time and planning. The online curriculum avoids the pitfalls of shadowing, embraces the absenteeism inherent with the interview season, and teaches to the level of the curricular outcomes.

The peer-taught, hands-on ultrasound curriculum also received universally positive feedback. Student engagement was optimized by requiring each student to lead and facilitate a problem-based-learning presentation to the group of a clinical case using digital imaging. In contrast, the experience of following imaging techs in the hospital received negative feedback due to its passive shadowing nature. This was consistent with findings by others [19], therefore it was halted.

While our learning objectives (Multimedia Appendix 1) and mission may not precisely align with those of the traditional radiology subinternship, we found that scores on the nationally administered AMSER examination (70.5%) were in line with the national AMSER 20-question results (70%).

The capacity for lifelong learning in an environment of constant change is enhanced by our use of independent Web-based learning. Cost-effectiveness, side-effects, adverse outcomes, and unnecessary interventions related to false-positives and false-negatives are presented in a progressive and integrated manner due to the ability to control the presentation of online pathology during the curriculum. Use of the mobile app from the ACR prior to ordering imaging studies is taught and reinforced throughout the course. Indeed, one of the complaints of the students related to the tedious nature of continually looking up the ACR Appropriateness Criteria. Despite the students' complaints about the repetition of referring to the ACR Appropriateness Criteria, they were grateful that the ACR created such an app.

#### Conclusion

Students of the 21st century require and demand increased time to interview for residency positions. We have co-opted the traditional "radiation vacation" with online delivery of a mixed-modality Web-centered radiology experience that can be performed with substantial absenteeism from the physical medical school environment. Despite an absence of direct onsite radiologist shadowing and mentoring, AMSER testing outcomes were comparable. The course emphasis on the importance of evidenced-based imaging utilization and teleconference reviewing of specific case films with a paucity of in-person shadowing did not alter the students' course satisfaction. An effective internet-based imaging course which acknowledges course objectives, the immediate needs of the students, and those of their future patients can be taught to 21st century medical students.

#### **Multimedia Appendix 1**

Curriculum of Web-based radiology course.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 72KB - mededu\_v4i1e14\_app1.pdf]

#### References

- 1. Poot JD, Hartman MS, Daffner RH. Understanding the US medical school requirements and medical students' attitudes about radiology rotations. Acad Radiol 2012 Mar;19(3):369-373. [doi: 10.1016/j.acra.2011.11.005] [Medline: 22177282]
- 2. ResultsData 2. The National Residency Matching Program. URL: <u>http://www.nrmp.org</u> [accessed 2017-08-04] [WebCite Cache ID 6sT98yRaK]
- 3. Shi J. Diagnostic Imaging. The Problem with Radiology Rotation in Medical School URL: <u>http://www.diagnosticimaging.com/</u> resident/problem-radiology-rotation-medical-school [accessed 2017-08-04] [WebCite Cache ID 6sTAEsT5y]
- 4. Gispen F, Magid D. Assessing Medical Student Knowledge of Imaging Modality Selection Before and After a General Radiology Elective: A Comparison of MS-IIs, MS-IIIs, and MS-IVs. Acad Radiol 2016 May;23(5):643-650. [Medline: 27551703]
- 5. Gunderman R. Essential Radiology Clinical Presentation Pathophysiology Imaging Third Edition. In: New York, NY. Thieme. New York: Thieme; 2014.
- 6. Case-Based ORE(. Aquifer Radiology. on August 4, 2017 URL: <u>http://www.Aquifer.org</u> [WebCite Cache ID 6sTDGgyIW]
- DeLong S. Teaching Methods to Encourage Independent LearningThinking. Teaching Methods to Encourage Independent LearningThinking URL: <u>https://www.westpoint.edu/cfe/Literature/DeLongS\_09.pdf</u> [accessed 2018-04-23] [WebCite Cache ID 6yu3OuCis]
- Kasch R, Wirkner J, Hosten N, Hinz P, Napp M, Kessler R. Subinternship in Radiology A Practical Start to the Specialization? Rofo 2016 Nov;188(11):1024-1030 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1055/s-0042-113612] [Medline: 27657345]
- Webb EM, Cotton JB, Kane K, Straus CM, Topp KS, Naeger DM. Teaching point of care ultrasound skills in medical school: keeping radiology in the driver's seat. Acad Radiol 2014 Jul;21(7):893-901. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.acra.2014.03.001</u>] [Medline: <u>24928158</u>]
- Prezzia C, Vorona G, Greenspan R. Fourth-year medical student opinions and basic knowledge regarding the field of radiology. Acad Radiol 2013 Mar;20(3):272-283. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.acra.2012.10.004</u>] [Medline: <u>23452471</u>]
- Ertl-Wagner B, Barkhausen J, Mahnken AH, Mentzel HJ, Uder M, Weidemann J, German Association of Chairmen in Academic Radiology (KLR), German Roentgen Society (DRG). White Paper: Radiological Curriculum for Undergraduate Medical Education in Germany. Rofo 2016 Dec;188(11):1017-1023 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1055/s-0042-116026] [Medline: 27760438]
- Rahim S, Ros P. Moving Away From Spoon-Feeding as a Teaching Style in Radiology. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2016 Dec;207(6):1232-1238. [doi: <u>10.2214/AJR.16.16694</u>] [Medline: <u>27657732</u>]
- 13. Wiecha J, Vanderschmidt H, Schilling K. HEAL: an instructional design model applied to an online clerkship in family medicine. Acad Med Sep 2002;77(9):a. [Medline: <u>12228093</u>]
- 14. Lim-Dunham JE, Ensminger DC, McNulty JA, Hoyt AE, Chandrasekhar AJ. A Vertically Integrated Online Radiology Curriculum Developed as a Cognitive Apprenticeship: Impact on Student Performance and Learning. Acad Radiol 2016 Feb;23(2):252-261. [doi: 10.1016/j.acra.2015.09.018] [Medline: 26719161]
- 15. Naeger D, Conrad M, Nguyen J, Kohi M, Webb E. Students teaching students: evaluation of a "near-peer" teaching experience. Acad Radiol 2013 Sep;20(9):1177-1182. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.acra.2013.04.004</u>] [Medline: <u>23810649</u>]
- Hilmes M, Hyatt E, Penrod C, Fleming A, Singh S. Radiology in Medical Education: A Pediatric Radiology Elective as a Template for Other Radiology Courses. J Am Coll Radiol 2016 Mar;13(3):320-325. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jacr.2015.08.003</u>] [Medline: <u>26482815</u>]
- Chavez MA, Naithani N, Gilman RH, Tielsch JM, Khatry S, Ellington LE, et al. Agreement Between the World Health Organization Algorithm and Lung Consolidation Identified Using Point-of-Care Ultrasound for the Diagnosis of Childhood Pneumonia by General Practitioners. Lung 2015 Aug;193(4):531-538. [doi: <u>10.1007/s00408-015-9730-x</u>] [Medline: <u>25921013</u>]
- Andersen GN, Graven T, Skjetne K, Mjølstad OC, Kleinau JO, Olsen O, et al. Diagnostic influence of routine point-of-care pocket-size ultrasound examinations performed by medical residents. J Ultrasound Med 2015 Apr;34(4):627-636. [doi: 10.7863/ultra.34.4.627] [Medline: 25792578]
- Chen JY, Lewis PJ. The value of a medical student radiology triage program in enhancing clinical education and skills. Acad Radiol 2014 Jul;21(7):829-833. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.acra.2013.12.013</u>] [Medline: <u>24751675</u>]

#### Abbreviations

ACR: American College of Radiology AMSER: The Alliance of Medical Student Educators in Radiology

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 14.08.17; peer-reviewed by C Paton, S Khogali; comments to author 30.11.17; revised version received 31.01.18; accepted 14.03.18; published 18.05.18.

Please cite as:

Alexander AG, Deas D, Lyons PE An Internet-Based Radiology Course in Medical School: Comparison of Academic Performance of Students on Campus Versus Those With Absenteeism Due to Residency Interviews JMIR Med Educ 2018;4(1):e14 URL: <u>http://mededu.jmir.org/2018/1/e14/</u> doi:10.2196/mededu.8747 PMID:29776902

©Andrew George Alexander, Deborah Deas, Paul Eric Lyons. Originally published in JMIR Medical Education (http://mededu.jmir.org), 18.05.2018. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Medical Education, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://mededu.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



**Original Paper** 

### Mobile Technology in E-Learning for Undergraduate Medical Education on Emergent Otorhinolaryngology–Head and Neck Surgery Disorders: Pilot Randomized Controlled Trial

Li-Ang Lee<sup>1,2,3</sup>, MD, MSc; Shu-Ling Wang<sup>2,4</sup>, PhD; Yi-Ping Chao<sup>5,6</sup>, PhD; Ming-Shao Tsai<sup>1,7</sup>, MD; Li-Jen Hsin<sup>1,3</sup>, MD; Chung-Jan Kang<sup>1,3</sup>, MD; Chia-Hsiang Fu<sup>1,3</sup>, MD; Wei-Chieh Chao<sup>1,8</sup>, MD; Chung-Guei Huang<sup>9,10</sup>, MSc; Hsueh-Yu Li<sup>1,3</sup>, MD; Cheng-Keng Chuang<sup>1,2,11</sup>, MD, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Faculty of Medicine, Chang Gung University, Taoyuan, Taiwan

- <sup>5</sup>Graduate Institute of Medical Mechatronics, Department of Computer Science and Information Engineering, Chang Gung University, Taoyuan, Taiwan <sup>6</sup>Department of Neurology, Linkou Chang Gung Memorial Hospital, Taoyuan, Taiwan
- <sup>7</sup>Department of Otorhinolaryngology-Head and Neck Surgery, Chiayi Chang Gung Memorial Hospital, Chiayi, Taiwan
- <sup>8</sup>Department of Otorhinolaryngology–Head and Neck Surgery, Keelung Chang Gung Memorial Hospital, Keelung, Taiwan

<sup>9</sup>Department of Laboratory Medicine, Linkou Chang Gung Memorial Hospital, Taoyuan, Taiwan

<sup>10</sup>Graduate Institute of Biomedical Sciences, Department of Medical Biotechnology and Laboratory Science, Chang-Gung University, Taoyuan, Taiwan
<sup>11</sup>Department of Surgery, Linkou Chang Gung Memorial Hospital, Taoyuan, Taiwan

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Cheng-Keng Chuang, MD, PhD Department of Surgery Linkou Chang Gung Memorial Hospital No 5, Fu-Hsing Street, Guishan District Taoyuan, 33305 Taiwan Phone: 886 33281200 ext 3971 Fax: 886 33979361 Email: chuang89@cgmh.org.tw

#### Abstract

**Background:** The use of mobile technology in e-learning (M-TEL) can add new levels of experience and significantly increase the attractiveness of e-learning in medical education. Whether an innovative interactive e-learning multimedia (IM) module or a conventional PowerPoint show (PPS) module using M-TEL to teach emergent otorhinolaryngology–head and neck surgery (ORL-HNS) disorders is feasible and efficient in undergraduate medical students is unknown.

**Objective:** The aim of this study was to compare the impact of a novel IM module with a conventional PPS module using M-TEL for emergent ORL-HNS disorders with regard to learning outcomes, satisfaction, and learning experience.

**Methods:** This pilot study was conducted at an academic teaching hospital and included 24 undergraduate medical students who were novices in ORL-HNS. The cognitive style was determined using the Group Embedded Figures Test. The participants were randomly allocated (1:1) to one of the two groups matched by age, sex, and cognitive style: the IM group and the PPS group. During the 100-min learning period, the participants were unblinded to use the IM or PPS courseware on a 7-inch tablet. Pretests and posttests using multiple-choice questions to evaluate knowledge and multimedia situational tests to evaluate competence were administered. Participants evaluated their satisfaction and learning experience by the AttrakDiff2 questionnaire, and provided feedback about the modules.

**Results:** Overall, the participants had significant gains in knowledge (median of percentage change 71, 95% CI 1-100, P<.001) and competence (median of percentage change 25, 95% CI 0-33, P=.007) after 100 min of learning. Although there was no significant difference in knowledge gain between the two groups (median of difference of percentage change 24, 95% CI –75 to 36; P=.55), competence gain was significantly lower in the IM group compared with the PPS group (median of difference of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Graduate Institute of Clinical Medicine Sciences, Chang Gung University, Taoyuan, Taiwan

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Department of Otorhinolaryngology-Head and Neck Surgery, Linkou Chang Gung Memorial Hospital, Taoyuan, Taiwan

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Graduate Institute of Digital Learning and Education, National Taiwan University of Science and Technology, Taipei, Taiwan

percentage change -41, 95% CI -67 to -20; P=.008). However, the IM group had significantly higher scores of satisfaction (difference 2, 95% CI 2-4; P=.01), pragmatic quality (difference 1.7, 95% CI 0.1-2.7; P=.03), and hedonic stimulation (difference 1.9, 95% CI 0.3-3.1; P=.01) compared with the PPS group. Qualitative feedback indicated that the various games in the IM module attracted the participants' attention but that the nonlinearly arranged materials affected their learning.

**Conclusions:** Using M-TEL for undergraduate medical education on emergent ORL-HNS disorders, an IM module seems to be useful for gaining knowledge, but competency may need to occur elsewhere. While the small sample size reduces the statistical power of our results, its design seems to be appropriate to determine the effects of M-TEL using a larger group.

**Trial Registration:** ClinicalTrials.gov NCT02971735; https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02971735 (Archived by WebCite at http://www.webcitation.org/6waoOpCEV)

(JMIR Med Educ 2018;4(1):e8) doi: 10.2196/mededu.9237

#### **KEYWORDS**

e-learning; gamification; mobile technology; randomized controlled trial; video lecture

#### Introduction

Generalism is one of the most important aspects of the novel 6-year program of undergraduate medical education (UME) that was implemented in Taiwan in 2013. The goal of UME is to provide graduates with core knowledge and skills at the highest level of competency and then to become general physicians [1]. Clinical problems associated with otorhinolaryngology-head and neck surgery (ORL-HNS) comprise 20% to 50% of presenting complaints to a primary care provider. Therefore, educating medical students about ORL-HNS is an extremely important part of their UME. However, there have been longstanding concerns regarding the low priority assigned to ORL-HNS in the UME curriculum, and a substantial mismatch between this educational need and existing curricula has been reported to result in significant downstream effects on managing ORL-HNS problems in family medical practice [2].

Since increasing the number of hours dedicated to ORL-HNS in the classroom and hospital is not practical, novel UME requires enabling self-directed learning and augmenting learning outside the classroom [3]. The use of different learning strategies is one of the most important prerequisites of academic success [4]. Mobile technology represents the next natural frontier in the evolution of e-learning [5,6], and in this context, it has been termed mobile technology in e-learning (M-TEL). Using M-TEL can result in greater educational opportunities for undergraduate medical students while simultaneously enhancing the effectiveness and efficiency of learning. However, the adoption of e-learning and M-TEL requires the alignment of new educational and economic tools [7]. A blended e-learning approach has been reported to provide a cost saving of 24% compared with traditional didactic methods [8], and therefore M-TEL may be able to bridge the gap between current educational needs and that currently provided for undergraduate medical students. The successful application of e-learning requires that it meets the needs of both the learners and program, and it should be aligned with the contexts in which it is used [8]. Furthermore, individual differences may also play an important role in the effectiveness of M-TEL. For example, learners with a field-independent (FI) cognitive style have been reported to prefer e-learning technologies and to have a better

performance with hypermedia systems than field-dependent (FD) learners, because they use active approaches and make better transfer of concepts in new situations [9].

In this study, we have reported the results of a pilot study of the feasibility and qualitative evaluation of a novel interactive multimedia (IM) module versus a conventional PowerPoint show (PPS) module of e-learning using the same mobile device to teach emergent ORL-HNS disorders.

#### Methods

#### **Study Design and Setting**

A convenience sample of 24 consecutive student volunteers were prospectively recruited according to accessibility and individuals willing to participate in the pilot study at an academic teaching hospital (Department of ORL-HNS, Linkou Chang Gung Memorial Hospital, Taoyuan, Taiwan) from November 23, 2016 to January 14, 2017. All of them had at least a basic level of computer literacy, and they were also introduced to the practical aspects of using tablets and applications. Blinding to the purpose of the prestudy during recruitment was maintained to minimize preparation bias. This study was approved by the institutional review board of Chang Gung Medical Foundation (No.: 105-5290C). Written informed consent was obtained from all participants. The study proposal was registered at ClinicalTrials.gov (Identifier: NCT02971735). The study flowchart following the Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials (CONSORT) 2010 guidelines (Multimedia Appendix 1) [10] is shown in Figure 1.

# Establishing the M-TEL System for Emergent ORL-HNS Disorders

Emergent ORL-HNS disorders are sensitive and acute and require many consultations for the patients to receive appropriate point-of-care service and follow-up [11]. We selected the 10 most common emergent ORL-HNS disorders, including foreign body, epistaxis, ear trauma, acute otitis externa, deep neck infection, head and neck cancer and associated complications, acute otitis media, nasal trauma, acute pharyngotonsillitis, and sudden deafness (in descending order based on consultation frequency) among 300 consecutive patients who visited an otolaryngologist in 2004 at our Department of Emergency.



Figure 1. The Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials flow diagram of this pilot study. GEFT: Group Embedded Figures Test; IM: interactive multimedia; ORL-HNS: otorhinolaryngology-head and neck surgery; PPS: PowerPoint show.



To design effective instructional material, we analyzed our tasks and topics and needs of 10 undergraduate students after traditional ORL-HNS lectures [12]. We then developed the instructional content using a two-round modified Delphi method. The first round included 10 academic physicians including 2 emergency physicians and 2 ORL-HNS department chiefs who designed the learning objectives and developed the instructional content according to the needs assessment. In the second round, 10 junior residents rated the relative importance of each item. We then developed a storyboard and courseware using an instructional system design model including five phases (analysis, design, development, implementation, and evaluation) [13].

Subsequently, the content was translated into an e-learning app including a novel gamified IM module and a conventional visual-auditory text-image PPS module. We created an 80-min storyboard for each module, and both modules had the same design of user interface (Figure 2). We also created a learning map to allow the learners to assess their progress in each session or their overall progress. Moreover, both modules contained

http://mededu.jmir.org/2018/1/e8/

RenderX

simple slides for review purposes after completing the brief sessions (Figure 3).

#### The PowerPoint Show (PPS) Module

In the PPS module, we used video lectures to present the visual-auditory text-image context (multimedia learning) that was intended to reduce the cognitive load [14]. We recorded the PPS presentations with audio narrations and ink gestures using Camtasia Studio software version 8 (TechSmith, Okemos, MI, USA). Each mini video (6-8 min) contained seven voice and text-image slides for each disorder. We created a playback application to allow the learners to seek the videos (Figure 4).

#### The Interactive Multimedia (IM) Module

The content for the novel IM module was derived from and corresponded to the textbook-based learning material of the conventional PPS module. In the IM module, we used a game-based learning method to implement the instruction, in which the learners operated a character to run, jump, and interact with other characters (in a parkour style) to obtain learning materials (7 text-image slides per disorder) in the four domains of the 10 disorders (Figure 5). The instructional materials were

briefly explained using scrolling text. After they had read the material for 2 disorders or completed 10 disorders, they had to complete small game-based quizzes that were designed to emphasize the key points and enhance their working memory [15]. Notably, contexts of the game-based quizzes were different from those of the multiple-choice questionnaires (MCQs) and multimedia situational tests (MSTs).

Two investigators from the study team reviewed the instructional content of each module using the Software Evaluation Checklist [16]. This checklist includes 7 items (curriculum connections, age/grade appreciates, investment justification, layout, support

materials, instructional content, graphics/multimedia) with two (yes, no) scales (a total of 28 questions). The overall items were confirmed to be significantly correlated after computing the correlation between the 2 investigators' reviews (Spearman correlation test, r=.91, P<.001). Major bug fixes were performed before the pilot study.

#### **Selection of Participants**

The inclusion criteria were as follows: (1) age >20 years and (2) undergraduate medical students (defined as 3 or 4 years of medical school training [clerkship]). The exclusion criteria were (1) previous ORL-HNS training and (2) declining to participate.

Figure 2. User interface of the start screen contained four instructional domains, an adventure story and a review center.



Figure 3. A screenshot of the review center allowing the learners to review the acquired instruction materials anytime.





Figure 4. Screenshots of the PowerPoint Show module. Learners in this group needed to watch visual-auditory text-image videos including linearly arranged instructional slides (top, middle, bottom).



# General description 4B-2 • Henorrhaging occurs in approximately 6%-10% of patients with advanced cancer. When sible, it can be particularly distressing to patients and their caregivers. In some patients, trave be the immediate cause of death. • Head and neck cancer can cause an acute upper airway obstruction in the trachea, voice (raryngeal), or throat (pharyngeal) areas. • With the function of the trachea is the trachea is

History 4B-3 • Tumor bleeding may manifest in a variety of ways, including, hematemesis, hematochezia, melena, hemoptysis, hematuria, epistaxis, vaginal bleeding, or ulcerated skin lesions. It may also present as echymoses, petechiae, or bruising. Hemorrhage may occur as an acute catastrophic event, episodic major bleeds, or ongoing low-volume oozing, tase characteristics provide clues as to the underlying cause and guide management. • The symptoms of acute upper airway obstruction are freathing difficulty, cyanosis, choking, wheezing, gasping for air, altered consciousness, panic, or unconsciousness



Figure 5. Screenshots of the interactive multimedia module. Learners in this group operated a character to run, jump, and interact with other characters (top) to obtain instructional materials (middle) and complete small game-based quizzes (bottom).









Table 1. A general design of the multimedia situational tests.

Lee et al

Scenarios	Questions	Specifications of
		assessment
S1: Elicit history of acute otorhinolaryngology–head and neck surgery illness with an example picture.	Q1: Which is the most impossible diagnosis from four disorders?	Ability of remembering
S2: Additional symptoms and signs.	Q2: Which the less likely diagnosis from three disorders?	Ability of applying
S3: Seek critical physical findings.	Q3: Which is the most preferable diagnostic tool for further physical examination?	Ability of analyzing
S4: Interpret key physical findings of a video.	Q4: Which is the more possible diagnosis from two disorders?	Ability of analyzing
S5: Prescribe treatments according to the key features.	Q5: Which is the most effective solution?	Ability of evaluating

#### **Methods of Measurement**

There were six different face-to-face assessments in this study.

#### Group Embedded Figures Test

The 25-item Group Embedded Figures Test (GEFT) was given to the students after enrollment to assess their cognitive style [17]. The reliability of GEFT has been confirmed (Spearman-Brown reliability coefficient, .82) [18]. The cognitive style of the learners could be determined according to the number of correct answers given by the participants. We defined a GEFT score  $\leq 12$  as *FD* and >12 as *FI* in this study.

#### Multiple-Choice Questionnaires (MCQ)

In this study, the participants were required to complete the same MCQ pretest and another different posttest immediately after the M-TEL. A 15-min 10-question standard MCQs were used to evaluate the students' knowledge (range, 0-100) with regard to emergent ORL-HNS disorders. Each textbook-based MCQ was designed to be answered within 90 seconds. We established a pool of 100 MCQs and performed empirical analysis according to previous test results to determine the test difficulty and item discrimination. Before this study, the instructional content was reviewed by 2 members of staff to determine whether it was sufficient to answer all of the questions. They also used a table of specifications to ensure that there was a match between teaching and testing. Moreover, they performed judgmental analysis of the items and subsequently revised the poorly constructed items or removed the questions with an inappropriate (too easy or extremely difficult) level of difficulty. Accordingly, we constructed two different 10-question MCQ tests with the same levels of difficulty (moderate difficulty) and discrimination (good discrimination).

#### Multimedia Situational Test (MST)

The participants were required to complete the same MST pretest and another different posttest immediately after the M-TEL. The MST was a variation of the key feature test for assessments of clinical reasoning ability involving knowledge and intellectual skills (range, 0-100) [19]. A key feature was defined as a significant step in the resolution of a problem. Key feature tests were different from knowledge-based tests and can successfully predict future physician performance [20]. In this study, the MST included a set of five scenarios (a written description of a scenario with or without an image/video) for one emergent ORL-HNS disorder and five corresponding MCQs (Table 1). The MST was designed to be completed in 15 min.

```
http://mededu.jmir.org/2018/1/e8/
```

RenderX

The two MSTs were approved by a senior member of staff to ensure the validity of the content. Evaluation of the MSTs by other students showed that internal consistency reliability was acceptable (Cronbach alpha=.76). Two members of staff confirmed that these questions could be sufficiently answered after reviewing the instructional content of the M-TEL.

#### **Global Satisfaction Score**

We used the global satisfaction score (GSS; range, 0-100) to measure *learner satisfaction* after the M-TEL. GSS was measured using a visual analogue scale from 0 (very dissatisfied) to 10 (very satisfied).

#### AttrakDiff2 Questionnaire

We used the AttrakDiff2 questionnaire to compare *user learning experience*. The AttrakDiff2 questionnaire was developed to evaluate the acceptance of technical innovations focusing on *user experience* [21]. The central idea behind the AttrakDiff2 is that interactive products fulfill both the pragmatic and hedonic needs of their users. It uses four qualities (attractive, identifiable, stimulating, pragmatic) with seven anchor scales (semantic differential design with a 7-point Likert-like scale) for a total of 28 questions. The mean value of an item group creates a scale value for pragmatic quality (PQ), hedonic stimulation (HQ-S), hedonic identification (HQ-I), and attractiveness (ATT). This questionnaire has been optimized to differentiate these subqualities.

#### Anonymous Feedback

We used anonymous feedback to assess *quality of learning*. Each participant in this pilot study also provided anonymous feedback about the quality of the module used after the M-TEL.

#### Randomization

Figure 1 demonstrates the study flowchart. A balanced design with regard to age, sex, and cognitive style was assured by the randomization procedure. Using the Random Number Generator in IBM SPSS software (version 23; IBM, Armonk, NY, USA), computer-generated lists of random numbers were created for the allocation of the students, who were stratified by center with a 1:1 allocation using a fixed block size of 6 in both parallel subgroups. We concealed the allocation sequence from those assigning participants to intervention groups until the moment of assignment and adhered to our computer-generated randomization protocol.

#### Intervention

The students were unblinded after randomization. The students in the PPS group used an app on a 7-inch tablet to watch video lectures in 10 linear-designed sessions and review the instructional materials in an ordinary office environment for 100 min. Meanwhile, the IM group played a parkour-like game to find and read the instructional materials, completed small game-based quizzes, and reviewed the instructional materials.

#### **Outcome Measures**

The percentage change in MCQ score (ie. "knowledge gain") after the M-TEL was the primary outcome measure. The percentage changes in MST (ie, "competence gain"), GSS, and AttrakDiff2 questionnaire scores were the secondary outcomes.

#### Sample Size

There were 6 students who helped to establish and evaluate the M-TEL system for emergent ORL-HNS disorders (percentage change in MCQ: mean=31, standard deviation [SD]=16, effect size=1.94; percentage change in MST: mean=45, SD=52, effect size=0.87). In this pilot feasibility study, we needed to confirm that the students could gain knowledge and competence significantly. We estimated the sample sizes by a priori calculation (one-sample Wilcoxon signed-rank test, two-tailed, normal parent distribution, alpha=.05, power=0.95) and found that we needed at least 7 subjects for knowledge gain and at least 21 subjects for competence gain. Due to a fixed block size of 6, we determined that the sample size of the pilot study was 24.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

Due to the relatively small sample size in the pilot study, we analyzed all variables using a nonparametric approach. Descriptive statistics were expressed as median and 95% CI. Percentage (%) changes ([after value-before value]/[before value]  $\times$  100) in the MCQ and MST were calculated. Differences between groups were analyzed using the Wilcoxon signed-rank test or the Mann-Whitney U test as appropriate. Categorical variables were analyzed using Fisher exact test. Effect size and 95% CI were estimated using the Hodges-Lehmann method for Mann-Whitney U test and Wilcoxon signed rank test and odds ratio calculation Fisher exact test to improve the quality of the reporting of our results. Statistical analyses were performed using G\*Power 3.1.9.2 software (Heinrich-Heine University, Dusseldorf, Germany), Graph Pad Prism 7.00 for Windows (Graph Pad Software Inc., San Diego, CA, USA), and IBM SPSS Statistics 23.0 (IBM Corporation, Armonk, NY, USA).

#### Results

#### **Study Participants**

Twenty-four volunteers (15 males, 63%, and 9 females, 37%; median age 23 years, range 22-25 years; 21 FI, 87% and 3 FD, 13%) were recruited in the pilot study. Table 2 summarizes the variables of interest for the overall study cohort. There were no significant differences in age, sex, cognitive style, MCQ score, or MST score between the IM and PPS groups at baseline. After

randomization, all participants (100%) received the intended intervention. There was no protocol deviation in the prestudy.

#### **Primary and Secondary Outcomes**

Overall, all participants showed a significant improvement in MCQ score (ie, "knowledge gain"; median of percentage change 71, 95% CI 14-100; P<.001; compared with the neutral value of 0) and a significant improvement in MST score (ie, "competence gain"; median of percentage change 25, 95% CI 0-33; P=.007; compared with the neutral value of 0) after 100 min of learning.

The M-TEL positively impacted the GSS (median of difference 2.5, 95% CI 1.0-4.0; P=.002; compared with the neutral value of 5), PQ (median of difference 1.7, 95% CI 0-2.0; P=.003; compared with the neutral value of 0), HQ-S (median of difference 1.1; 95% CI 0.3-1.9; P=.04; compared with the neutral value of 0), HQ-I (median of difference 1.7, 95% CI 1.1-2.0; P<.001; compared with the neutral value of 0), and ATT (median of difference 1.4, 95% CI 0.9-2.1; P<.001; compared with the neutral value of 0).

#### Differences in Outcomes Between the Interactive Multimedia (IM) and PowerPoint Show (PPS) Modules

Figure 6 illustrates comparisons of the IM and PPS modules with regard to knowledge and competence gains. The PPS group had significant improvements in knowledge (median of difference of percentage change 25, 95% CI 0-40; P=.007) and competence (median of difference of percentage change 20, 95% CI 20-40; P=.005), whereas the IM group had a significant improvement in knowledge (median of difference of percentage change 25, 95% CI 0-40; P=.01) but not competence (median of difference of percentage change 0, 95% CI -20 to 20; P=.78).

Although the percentage change in MCQ was not significantly different between the two groups (median of difference -24, 95% CI -75 to 36; P=.55), the percentage change in MST in the IM group was significantly lower than that in the PSS group (median of difference -41, 95% CI -67 to -20; P=.008). Figure 7 illustrates comparisons of the IM and PPS modules with regard to satisfaction and learning experience. However, the IM group had significantly higher GSS (median of difference 2, 95% CI 0-4; P=.01), PQ (median of difference 1.7, 95% CI 0.1-2.7; P=.03), and HQ-S scores (median of difference 1.9, 95% CI 0.3-3.1; P=.01) compared with the PPS group.

#### **Qualitative Feedback**

The qualitative feedback from the PPS group emphasized that they found the PPS module "easy to use and follow," "clear layout," "enhanced knowledge," "suitable small sessions," and "simulated lectures." However, they also reported that the module was "tedious," "hypnogenetic," and "difficult to play back." The IM group reported that the IM module was "fun learning (attractive)," contained "enjoyable small game-based quizzes," and was an "amazing learning experience." However, they also considered it "difficult to use and follow," that it contained "nonlinear instructional materials" and "some tough games."



Table 2. Demographic data, cognitive style, learning outcomes, and satisfaction.

	-				
Variables	Overall, N=24	Interactive multi- media group, N=12	PowerPoint show group, N=12	Effect size, median of difference (95% CI) or odds ratio (95% CI) <sup>a</sup>	<i>P</i> value <sup>b</sup>
Demographics			·		
Age in years, median (95% CI)	23 (22-23)	23 (22-23)	23 (22-24)	0 (-1 to 0)	.32
Male sex, n (%)	15 (63)	7 (58)	8 (67)	-0.09 (-0.49 to 0.32)	>.99
Cognitive style					
Group Embedded Figures Test score, median (95% CI)	18 (17-18)	18 (15-18)	17 (17-18)	0 (-1 to 1)	.80
Field-dependence, n (%)	3 (13)	2 (17)	1 (8)	-0.13 (-0.54 to 10.28)	>.99
Learning outcomes					
Multiple-choice question_before, median (95% CI)	40 (40-50) <sup>c</sup>	40 (40-50) <sup>c</sup>	40 (30-60) <sup>c</sup>	5 (-10 to 10)	.52
Multiple-choice question_after, median (95% CI)	70 (60-80) <sup>c</sup>	70 (50-80) <sup>c</sup>	70 (60-80) <sup>c</sup>	0 (-10 to 10)	.71
Percentage change in multiple-choice question, median (95% CI)	71 (14-100) <sup>d</sup>	63 (0-100)	84 (0-125)	-24 (-75 to 36)	.55
Multimedia situational test_before, median (95% CI)	80 (60-80) <sup>c</sup>	80 (60-100)	70 (40-80) <sup>c</sup>	20 (0-20)	.13
Multimedia situational test_after, median (95% CI)	80 (80-100) <sup>c</sup>	80 (60-80)	90 (80-100) <sup>c</sup>	-20 (-20 to 0)	.02
Percentage change in multimedia situational test, median (95% CI)	25 (0-33) <sup>d</sup>	0 (-20 to 33)	29 (25-75)	-41 (-67 to -20)	.008
Learning satisfaction					
Global satisfaction score, median (95% CI)	8 (6-9) <sup>d</sup>	8 (7-9) <sup>d</sup>	6 (3-8)	2 (0-4)	.01
Learning experience (AttrakDiff2 questionnair	re)				
Pragmatic quality, median (95% CI)	1.7 (0-2.0) <sup>d</sup>	1.8 (1.4-2.4) <sup>d</sup>	0 (-1.0 to 2.0)	1.7 (0.1-2.7)	.03
Hedonic stimulation, median (95% CI)	1.1 (0.3-1.9) <sup>d</sup>	1.7 (0.9-2.3) <sup>d</sup>	-0.2 (-1.7 to 1.6)	1.9 (0.3-3.1)	.01
Hedonic identification, median (95% CI)	1.7 (1.1-2.0) <sup>d</sup>	2.0 (1.4-2.0) <sup>d</sup>	1.1 (-0.6 to 2.3)	0.8 (-0.3 to 2.3)	.18
Attractiveness, median (95% CI)	1.4 (0.9-2.1) <sup>d</sup>	1.7 (0.9-2.1) <sup>d</sup>	$1.2 (0.4-2.1)^{d}$	0.2 (-0.5 to 1.0)	.59

<sup>a</sup>Effect sizes were calculated with the use of Hodges-Lehmann method for Mann-Whiney U test and Wilcoxon signed-rank test, or odds ratio calculation for Fisher exact test.

<sup>b</sup>Mann-Whiney U test (continuous variables) or Fisher exact test (categorical variables).

<sup>c</sup>P<.05, before versus after, Wilcoxon signed-rank test (two-tailed).

 $^{d}P$ <.05, compared with a neutral value ("0" for multiple-choice question and multimedia situational test, or "5" for "global satisfaction score" or "0" for "ArakDiff2"), Wilcoxon signed-rank test (two-tailed).



**Figure 6.** Gains of knowledge and competence. There was no significant difference in multiple choice (MCQ) test scores between the interactive multimedia (IM) and PowerPoint show (PPS) groups (left). The multimedia situational test (MST) score of the IM group was significantly lower than that of the PPS group (right). Data are expressed as median (95% CI). "a" indicates significance.



**Figure 7.** Satisfaction and learning experience. Global satisfaction score (GSS) of the IM group was significantly higher than that of the PowerPoint show (PPS) group (left). Using the AttrakDiff2 questionnaire, pragmatic quality (PQ) and hedonic stimulation (HQ-S) in the IM group were significantly higher than those of the PPS group. There were no significant differences in hedonic identification (HQ-I) and attractiveness (ATT) between the two groups (right). Data are expressed as median (95% CI). "a" indicates significance.



#### Discussion

#### **Principal Findings**

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to investigate the benefits of M-TEL to improve knowledge and competence of emergent ORL-HNS disorders. Our findings indicate that using well-designed M-TEL instructional materials can help undergraduate medical students to reinforce their existing knowledge (intermediate effect) and competence (small effect) of such a sensitive and important subject and provide an enjoyable learning experience (small-to-intermediate effect). In addition, our findings suggest that an IM module has the potential to provide an instructional approach to enhance knowledge as effectively as a PPS module. Although the PPS module was superior to the IM module with regard to competence gained (small effect), the students preferred the IM module to the PPS module because of it being more efficient and enjoyable to use (small-to-intermediate effect). However, qualitative feedback recommended that both modules needed to have better quality of design and function. Since the

```
http://mededu.jmir.org/2018/1/e8/
```

RenderX

development of the IM module was more time-consuming (3 months vs 1 months) and more expensive (US \$12,500 vs US \$2500) than that of the PPS module, the IM module needs to be further improved with regard to competence gain in the future. For example, we can modify the IM model according to the teaching strategies and principles of instructional design and pedagogy used in virtual patient cases to support the development of clinical reasoning skills [22].

#### Limitations

Some caveats of our study merit comment. First, we included a convenience sample which may have led to exclusion bias. A more even distribution of the cognitive styles will provide more accurate data. However, FD volunteers are not frequently encountered in our undergraduate medical students (less than 10%). Moreover, it is very difficult to perform probability sampling at a regular medical school. Second, we did not investigate social interaction, self-motivation, and self-regulation (important elements of e-learning) in detail [23-25]. The effects of M-TEL on these factors during the learning process will be

closely monitored when the M-TEL app is made available to the students.

#### **Comparison With Prior Work**

The role of M-TEL, especially as it pertains to the undergraduate medical student, is evolving. It is superior to classical learning in that it provides opportunities to learn outside of the classroom via the Internet and computer software [26]. A systematic review of the impact of e-learning for undergraduate medical students suggested that e-learning is equivalent and possibly superior to traditional learning regarding knowledge, skills, attitude, and satisfaction [27,28]. Our preliminary results are similar to previous studies, in that the interactive elements of M-TEL for medical education could facilitate learning complex topics with promising results in terms of knowledge gain and attitude [29-33]. However, M-TEL may not be an approach that is suitable for all [34].

Most previous studies have compared interactive e-learning with text-based learning or classroom lectures. Fundamental differences among these learning methods such as a learner-focused design [35] and unlimited learning place/time [36] may be confounding factors. The focus of an M-TEL course is the learner, since there is no instructor. Therefore, the developers need to understand the knowledge base (needs assessment) and learning preference of the learners when establishing the module [4,35]. Learning preferences are conscious and intentional strategies to achieve well-defined ends and include three layers: core (cognitive style), intermediate (information processing), and external (instructional preference) [37]. Since learning preferences are often observed to favor rewarded responses to high frequency or high likelihood questions [38], an M-TEL course needs to clearly explain the required information to the learner. E-learning has moved into a more student-centered model in a systematic review [9]. Therefore, it is better to take the learner's individual cognitive style and instructional preference into consideration in the development of the M-TEL. Moreover, significant differences in perceived ease of use, external control, behavioral intention, and use of e-learning between males and females have been reported when adopting an e-learning platform [39]. Although not statistically significantly different in this pilot study,

cognitive style and gender of the participants should be controlled in randomized controlled trials.

Unlike traditional classroom lectures, learners can start and stop M-TEL (or text-based learning) at any time or place of their choosing [36]. When M-TEL learners want to review instructional content, they can immediately do so and reduce the errors involved in teaching and learning. Of note, this may be unfair to students only receiving classroom instruction, because M-TEL learners can study when they are most receptive and spend more time to comprehend the learning materials. In this study, the PPS module was similar to the online learning and flipped classroom, and the learners could choose and review the content by themselves. Despite the relatively low reported level of satisfaction, the PPS module was more familiar to our students with a lower cognitive load, and this allowed a deeper understanding to facilitate superior competence gain compared with the IM module. Since the majority of our subjects had FI cognitive style, it could have an impact on the outcome of competence gain. In the past, Bertini et al [40] found that FI learners are more likely to be worse at "tests requiring learners to recall information in the form or structure that it was presented" than FD learners. In the study, MSTs have been designed for evaluating competence with regard to the clinical reasoning process. The nonlinear structure of presentation of the IM module might limit FI learners to recall information to answer a 5-question MST. However, interactive game-based learning seems to be a promising didactic tool to achieve higher long-term knowledge retention [41].

#### Conclusions

The use of different learning strategies is one of the most important prerequisites of academic success among undergraduate medical students and can lead to a positive attitude toward learning [4]. M-TEL using an IM module seems to be an effective, enjoyable, and pragmatic way to instruct emergent ORL-HNS disorders in undergraduate medical students. However, results from this pilot study suggest that instructors may need to provide other learning methods to reinforce students' competency. While the small sample size reduces the statistical power of our results, especially with regard to cognitive style, its design seems to be appropriate to determine the effects of M-TEL using a larger group.

#### Acknowledgments

This work was financially supported by grants from the Ministry of Science and Technology, Taiwan, ROC (104-2511-S-182-010 & 105-2511-S-182A-006) and a grant from the Chang Gung Medical Foundation, Taiwan, ROC (CMRPG3C1732). The funding source had no role in the design and conduct of the study; collection, management, analysis, and interpretation of the data; preparation, review, or approval of the manuscript; and the decision to submit the manuscript for publication. We are indebted to our trained study staff, especially Chung-Fang Hsiao, Hsiu-Yen Yu, Cheng-Hao Yang, Hao-Xiang Zhang, and Ming-Xuan Chen.

#### **Authors' Contributions**

LAL, SLW, YPC, HYL, and CKC participated in the conception and design of this work. LAL, YPC, MST, LJH, CJK, CHF, WCC, and HYL collected data. LAL, SLW, YPC, MST, HYL, and CKC analyzed and interpreted data. LAL, SLW, YPC, LJH, CJK, CHF, WCC, and HYL carried out the development of the project software. All authors participated in the writing of the manuscript and take public responsibility for it. LAL, SLW, YPC, CGH, HYL, and CKC revised it critically for important

intellectual content. All authors reviewed the final version of the manuscript and approve it for publication. All authors attested to the validity and legitimacy of the data in the manuscript and agree to be named as author of the manuscript.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

#### **Multimedia Appendix 1**

CONSORT-EHEALTH checklist (V 1.6.1).

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 927KB - mededu\_v4i1e8\_app1.pdf]

#### References

- 1. Fazio SB, Demasi M, Farren E, Frankl S, Gottlieb B, Hoy J, et al. Blueprint for an undergraduate primary care curriculum. Acad Med 2016 Dec;91(12):1628-1637. [doi: 10.1097/ACM.00000000001302] [Medline: 27415445]
- Glicksman JT, Brandt MG, Parr J, Fung K. Needs assessment of undergraduate education in otolaryngology among family medicine residents. J Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2008 Oct;37(5):668-675. [Medline: <u>19128674</u>]
- Raupach T, Grefe C, Brown J, Meyer K, Schuelper N, Anders S. Moving knowledge acquisition from the lecture hall to the student home: a prospective intervention study. J Med Internet Res 2015 Sep 28;17(9):e223 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3814] [Medline: 26416467]
- 4. Fung K. Otolaryngology--head and neck surgery in undergraduate medical education: advances and innovations. Laryngoscope 2015 Feb;125 Suppl 2:S1-14. [doi: 10.1002/lary.24875] [Medline: 25124523]
- Yavner SD, Pusic MV, Kalet AL, Song HS, Hopkins MA, Nick MW, et al. Twelve tips for improving the effectiveness of web-based multimedia instruction for clinical learners. Med Teach 2015 Mar;37(3):239-244. [doi: 10.3109/0142159X.2014.933202] [Medline: 25109353]
- Zhu E, Lilienthal A, Shluzas LA, Masiello I, Zary N. Design of mobile augmented reality in health care education: a theory-driven framework. JMIR Med Educ 2015 Sep 18;1(2):e10 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mededu.4443] [Medline: 27731839]
- Buabbas AJ, Al-Shawaf HM, Almajran AA. Health sciences students' self-assessment of information and communication technology skills and attitude toward e-learning. JMIR Med Educ 2016 Jun 20;2(1):e9 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mededu.5606] [Medline: 27731863]
- 8. Taveira-Gomes T, Ferreira P, Taveira-Gomes I, Severo M, Ferreira MA. What are we looking for in computer-based learning interventions in medical education? A systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2016 Aug 01;18(8):e204 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5461] [Medline: 27480053]
- 9. Chen S. A cognitive model for non-linear learning in hypermedia programmes. Br J Educ Technol 2002 Sep;33(4):449-460. [doi: 10.1111/1467-8535.00281]
- Eysenbach G, CONSORT-EHEALTH Group. CONSORT-EHEALTH: improving and standardizing evaluation reports of Web-based and mobile health interventions. J Med Internet Res 2011 Dec 31;13(4):e126 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1923] [Medline: 22209829]
- Choi KJ, Kahmke RR, Crowson MG, Puscas L, Scher RL, Cohen SM. Trends in otolaryngology consultation patterns at an academic quaternary care center. JAMA Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2017 May 01;143(5):472-477. [doi: 10.1001/jamaoto.2016.4056] [Medline: 28056150]
- 12. Lee LA, Chao YP, Huang CG, Fang JT, Wang SL, Chuang CK, et al. Cognitive style and mobile e-learning in emergent otorhinolaryngology-head and neck surgery disorders for millennial undergraduate medical students: randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2018;20(2):e56 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.8987]
- 13. Morrison GR, Ross SM, Kalman HK, Kemp JE, editors. Designing Effective Instruction. 7th edition. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley Inc; 2013.
- 14. Clark RC, Mayer RE, editors. E-Learning and The Science of Instruction: Proven Guidelines for Consumers and Designers of Multimedia Learning. 4th Ed. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley Inc; 2016.
- Baniqued PL, Allen CM, Kranz MB, Johnson K, Sipolins A, Dickens C, et al. Working memory, reasoning, and task switching training: transfer effects, limitations, and great expectations? PLoS One 2015;10(11):e0142169 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0142169] [Medline: 26555341]
- 16. Cennamo K, Ross JD, Ertmer PA, editors. Technology Integration for Meaningful Classroom Use: A Standards-Based Approach. Belmont, CA: Cengage Learning; 2013.
- 17. Witkin HA, Oltman PK, Raskin E, Karp SA, editors. A Manual for The Embedded Figures Tests. Palo Alto, CA: Consulting Psychologists Press; 1971.
- Chapelle C, Green P. Field independence/dependence in second-language acquisition research. Lang Learn 1992;42(1):47-83. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1467-1770.1992.tb00700.x</u>]

- 19. Farmer EA, Page G. A practical guide to assessing clinical decision-making skills using the key features approach. Med Educ 2005 Dec;39(12):1188-1194. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2929.2005.02339.x] [Medline: 16313577]
- 20. Hrynchak P, Takahashi SG, Nayer M. Key-feature questions for assessment of clinical reasoning: a literature review. Med Educ 2014 Sep;48(9):870-883. [doi: 10.1111/medu.12509] [Medline: 25113114]
- 21. Hassenzahl M, Burmester M, Koller F. AttrakDiff: Ein Fragebogen zur Messung wahrgenommener hedonischer und pragmatischer Qualität. In: Ziegler J, Szwillus G, editors. Mensch & Computer 2003. Weisbaden, German: Vieweg+Teubner Verlag; 2003:187-196.
- 22. Posel N, Mcgee JB, Fleiszer DM. Twelve tips to support the development of clinical reasoning skills using virtual patient cases. Med Teach 2015;37(9):813-818. [doi: 10.3109/0142159X.2014.993951] [Medline: 25523009]
- El Bialy S, Jalali A. Go where the students are: a comparison of the use of aocial networking sites between medical students and medical educators. JMIR Med Educ 2015 Sep 08;1(2):e7 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mededu.4908] [Medline: 27731847]
- 24. de Araujo Guerra Grangeia T, de Jorge B, Franci D, Martins Santos T, Vellutini Setubal MS, Schweller M, et al. Cognitive load and self-determination theories applied to e-learning: impact on students' participation and academic performance. PLoS One 2016 Mar 31;11(3):e0152462 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0152462] [Medline: 27031859]
- Alegría DA, Boscardin C, Poncelet A, Mayfield C, Wamsley M. Using tablets to support self-regulated learning in a longitudinal integrated clerkship. Med Educ Online 2014 Mar 12;19(1):23638. [doi: <u>10.3402/meo.v19.23638</u>] [Medline: <u>24646438</u>]
- 26. Doherty I, Sharma N, Harbutt D. Contemporary and future eLearning trends in medical education. Med Teach 2015 Jan;37(1):1-3. [doi: 10.3109/0142159X.2014.947925] [Medline: 25154534]
- 27. Rasmussen K, Belisario JM, Wark PA, Molina JA, Loong SL, Cotic Z, et al. Offline eLearning for undergraduates in health professions: a systematic review of the impact on knowledge, skills, attitudes and satisfaction. J Glob Health 2014 Jun;4(1):010405 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7189/jogh.04.010405] [Medline: 24976964]
- 28. George PP, Papachristou N, Belisario JM, Wang W, Wark PA, Cotic Z, et al. Online eLearning for undergraduates in health professions: a systematic review of the impact on knowledge, skills, attitudes and satisfaction. J Glob Health 2014 Jun;4(1):010406 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7189/jogh.04.010406] [Medline: 24976965]
- 29. Worm BS. Learning from simple ebooks, online cases or classroom teaching when acquiring complex knowledge. A randomized controlled trial in respiratory physiology and pulmonology. PLoS One 2013 Sep 9;8(9):e73336 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0073336] [Medline: 24039917]
- 30. Banna J, Grace Lin MF, Stewart M, Fialkowski MK. Interaction matters: strategies to promote engaged learning in an online introductory nutrition course. J Online Learn Teach 2015 Jun;11(2):249-261 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 27441032]
- Gaupp R, Körner M, Fabry G. Effects of a case-based interactive e-learning course on knowledge and attitudes about patient safety: a quasi-experimental study with third-year medical students. BMC Med Educ 2016 Jul 11;16:172 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12909-016-0691-4] [Medline: 27400872]
- 32. Back DA, von Malotky J, Sostmann K, Hube R, Peters H, Hoff E. Superior gain in knowledge by podcasts versus text-based learning in teaching orthopedics: a randomized controlled trial. J Surg Educ 2017;74(1):154-160. [doi: 10.1016/j.jsurg.2016.07.008] [Medline: 27651055]
- Bredesen IM, Bjøro K, Gunningberg L, Hofoss D. Effect of e-learning program on risk assessment and pressure ulcer classification - a randomized study. Nurse Educ Today 2016 May;40:191-197. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.nedt.2016.03.008</u>] [Medline: <u>27125172</u>]
- 34. Oproiu GC. A study about using e-learning platform (Moodle) in university teaching process. Procedia Soc Behav Sci 2015 May;180:426-432. [doi: 10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.02.140]
- 35. Hoa D, Micheau A, Gahide G. Creating an interactive web-based e-learning course: a practical introduction for radiologists. Radiographics 2006;26(6):e25; quiz e25. [doi: 10.1148/rg.e25] [Medline: 17018663]
- 36. Eggermont S, Bloemendaal PM, van Baalen JM. E-learning any time any place anywhere on mobile devices. Perspect Med Educ 2013 Mar 30 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s40037-013-0045-4] [Medline: 23670682]
- 37. Curry L. Cognitive and learning styles in medical education. Acad Med 1999 Apr;74(4):409-413. [Medline: 10219223]
- Chapman DM, Calhoun JG. Validation of learning style measures: implications for medical education practice. Med Educ 2006 Jun;40(6):576-583. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2929.2006.02476.x] [Medline: 16700774]
- 39. Ramírez-Correa PE, Arenas-Gaitán J, Rondán-Cataluña FJ. Gender and acceptance of e-learning: a multi-group analysis based on a structural equation model among college students in Chile and Spain. PLoS One 2015;10(10):e0140460 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0140460] [Medline: 26465895]
- 40. Bertini M, Pizzamiglio L, Wapner S, Wapner S, editors. Field Dependence in Psychological Theory, Research and Application: Two Symposia in Memory of Herman A. Witkin. 1st ed. Hilisdale, NJ: Lawrence Eribaum Associates; 1986.
- 41. Karbownik MS, Wiktorowska-Owczarek A, Kowalczyk E, Kwarta P, Mokros Ł, Pietras T. Board game versus lecture-based seminar in the teaching of pharmacology of antimicrobial drugs-a randomized controlled trial. FEMS Microbiol Lett 2016 Apr;363(7). [doi: 10.1093/femsle/fnw045] [Medline: 26912120]

#### Abbreviations

**ATT:** attractiveness CONSORT: Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials FD: field-dependent FI: field-independent **GEFT:** Group Embedded Figure Test GSS: global satisfaction score HQ-I: hedonic identification HO-S: hedonic stimulation IM: interactive multimedia MCQ: multiple-choice questionnaire **MST:** multimedia situational test M-TEL: mobile technology in e-learning **ORL-HNS:** otorhinolaryngology-head and neck surgery **PPS:** PowerPoint show **PQ:** pragmatic quality UME: undergraduate medical education

Edited by K Eddens; submitted 13.11.17; peer-reviewed by B Worm, C Fernández; comments to author 11.12.17; revised version received 26.12.17; accepted 01.01.18; published 08.03.18.

Please cite as:

Lee LA, Wang SL, Chao YP, Tsai MS, Hsin LJ, Kang CJ, Fu CH, Chao WC, Huang CG, Li HY, Chuang CK Mobile Technology in E-Learning for Undergraduate Medical Education on Emergent Otorhinolaryngology–Head and Neck Surgery Disorders: Pilot Randomized Controlled Trial JMIR Med Educ 2018;4(1):e8 URL: http://mededu.jmir.org/2018/1/e8/ doi:10.2196/mededu.9237 PMID:29519776

©Li-Ang Lee, Shu-Ling Wang, Yi-Ping Chao, Ming-Shao Tsai, Li-Jen Hsin, Chung-Jan Kang, Chia-Hsiang Fu, Wei-Chieh Chao, Chung-Guei Huang, Hsueh-Yu Li, Cheng-Keng Chuang. Originally published in JMIR Medical Education (http://mededu.jmir.org), 08.03.2018. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Medical Education, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://mededu.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



**Original Paper** 

# Improving Internal Medicine Residents' Colorectal Cancer Screening Knowledge Using a Smartphone App: Pilot Study

Zubair Khan<sup>1</sup>, MD; Umar Darr<sup>1</sup>, MD; Muhammad Ali Khan<sup>2</sup>, MD; Mohamad Nawras<sup>1</sup>, BS; Basmah Khalil<sup>1</sup>, MD; Yousef Abdel-Aziz<sup>1</sup>, MD; Yaseen Alastal<sup>3</sup>, MD; William Barnett<sup>1</sup>, MS; Thomas Sodeman<sup>3</sup>, MD, FACP, FACG; Ali Nawras<sup>3</sup>, MD, FACP, FACG

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Zubair Khan, MD Department of Internal Medicine University of Toledo Medical Center 3000 Arlington Avenue Toledo, OH, 43614 United States Phone: 1 4193834000 Email: zubair.khan@utoledo.edu

#### Abstract

**Background:** Colorectal cancer (CRC) is the third most common type of cancer and the second leading cause of cancer death in the United States. About one in three adults in the United States is not getting the CRC screening as recommended. Internal medicine residents are deficient in CRC screening knowledge.

**Objective:** The objective of our study was to assess the improvement in internal medicine residents' CRC screening knowledge via a pilot approach using a smartphone app.

**Methods:** We designed a questionnaire based on the CRC screening guidelines of the American Cancer Society, American College of Gastroenterology, and US Preventive Services Task Force. We emailed the questionnaire via a SurveyMonkey link to all the residents of an internal medicine department to assess their knowledge of CRC screening guidelines. Then we designed an educational intervention in the form of a smartphone app containing all the knowledge about the CRC screening guidelines. The residents were introduced to the app and asked to download it onto their smartphones. We repeated the survey to test for changes in the residents' knowledge after publication of the smartphone app and compared the responses with the previous survey. We applied the Pearson chi-square test and the Fisher exact test to look for statistical significance.

**Results:** A total of 50 residents completed the first survey and 41 completed the second survey after publication of the app. Areas of CRC screening that showed statistically significant improvement (P<.05) were age at which CRC screening was started in African Americans, preventive tests being ordered first, identification of CRC screening tests, identification of preventive and detection methods, following up positive tests with colonoscopy, follow-up after colonoscopy findings, and CRC surveillance in diseases.

**Conclusions:** In this modern era of smartphones and gadgets, developing a smartphone-based app or educational tool is a novel idea and can help improve residents' knowledge about CRC screening.

(JMIR Med Educ 2018;4(1):e10) doi:10.2196/mededu.9635

#### **KEYWORDS**

colorectal cancer; cancer screening; early detection of cancer; residents' education; smartphone; mobile apps

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Department of Internal Medicine, University of Toledo Medical Center, Toledo, OH, United States

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Department of Gastroenterology, University of Tennessee Health Science Center, Memphis, TN, United States

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Department of Gastroenterology, University of Toledo Medical Center, Toledo, OH, United States

#### Introduction

Colorectal cancer (CRC) is the third most commonly diagnosed cancer among both men and women in the United States. It is the second leading cause of cancer-related death overall. Incidence and mortality rates have been declining because of increased awareness of risk factors such as smoking and red meat consumption, and improvement in screening rates and treatment modalities [1-3]. According to the American Cancer Society (ACS), 135,430 new cases and 50,260 deaths from CRC were expected to occur in 2017, and the lifetime risk of developing CRC is about 1 in 21 (4.7%) for men and 1 in 23 (4.4%) for women [4]. The management of CRC is associated with substantial health care costs, with national expenditures exceeding US \$14 billion annually [5,6]. There are striking disparities by age, race, and tumor subsite despite a reduction in CRC incidence and mortality overall. The goal of further reducing CRC incidence and mortality can be achieved by ensuring access to high-quality health care, incentivizing healthy lifestyles, and increasing CRC screening. Meester and colleagues and others estimated that achieving the US National Colorectal Cancer Roundtable's goal of increasing screening prevalence to 80% by 2018 would prevent 277,000 CRC cases and 203,000 deaths by 2030 [7-10]. About one in three adults in the United States is not getting CRC screening as recommended. According to the US National Health Interview Survey, CRC screening in accordance with the guidelines among adults 50 years of age and older increased from 34% in 2000 to 63% in 2015 [11].

Generally, it is expected that as resident physicians advance in their training, CRC screening rates should improve with the expected improvement in knowledge of CRC screening. Wong measured performance outcomes in multiple screening categories over 3 years of training and found that actual patient screening rates were similar across all years [12]. One of the reasons for this lack of improvement in CRC screening could be residents' deficient knowledge about CRC screening, even though guidelines from the American College of Gastroenterology (ACG), ACS, and US Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF) are mostly in agreement about screening modalities and age [13-15]. Akerman et al [16] assessed residents' CRC screening knowledge via a Web-based survey and concluded that there were many deficiencies. They concluded that fecal occult blood testing for screening purposes

remains undervalued, and confusion about administering the test persists. The distinction between screening and prevention needs further reinforcement [16].

Primary medical care of many underserved populations is practices. resident outpatient dependent on The physician-in-training role in health maintenance and screening has been assessed by various studies [17-21]. Other factors could be responsible for the compromise in effective health maintenance and screening in resident practice in addition to residents' knowledge deficiencies. One of these factors could be provider turnover every few years. Some studies even estimate that as many as 50% of patients are lost to follow-up of their chronic medical conditions and screenings when resident physicians graduate and pass their patients on to new providers [22].

Besides addressing other factors to improve health maintenance and screening in residents' practice, improving medical knowledge about preventive health and screening is the key. One of the reasons for residents' deficient knowledge about CRC screening is lack of training and educational tools. We conducted this comprehensive study to improve internal medicine residents' CRC screening knowledge via a pilot approach using a smartphone app.

#### Methods

#### **Survey Design**

This pilot study was completed in 3 parts. Initially, we designed a questionnaire based on the CRC screening guidelines of the ACS, ACG, and USPSTF; we then requested institutional review board approval. The institutional review board of the University of Toledo Medical Center then granted the request for approval after reviewing the app and the survey questionnaire (no. 201713). The survey contained 14 questions on 7 areas of CRC screening, Textbox 1 outlines. We emailed the questionnaire via a SurveyMonkey (SurveyMonkey Inc, San Mateo, CA) link to all the residents of an internal medicine department. We analyzed the responses after 4 weeks. The first question simply asked for the year of training, to create a subset for analysis by year of training. Respondents had the ability to answer with multiple correct choices for some questions, reflecting the multiple options presented in the source guidelines. Multimedia Appendix 1 shows the survey form.

Textbox 1. The 7 areas of colorectal cancer screening tested in the survey and covered in the app.

Screening in average risk and with positive family history of colorectal cancer Identification of screening tests Prevention methods Detection methods Following up positive tests with colonoscopy Follow-up after colonoscopy findings Surveillance in diseases



#### **App Design**

In the second part, we designed a smartphone app. The decision to use a smartphone app for education was purely experimental and was based on the recent advancement in technology of smartphones and gadgets and the subsequent growth of the smartphone app industry. First, we collected information about CRC screening based on the ACG, ACS, and USPSTF guidelines, and then made a screen tree based on this information. The screen tree consisted of a total of 9 screens, including the main screen, as Figures 1,2,3, and 4 show. The smartphone app was created on an online app creation portal (Mobincube, San Francisco, CA, USA). We designed the app keeping in mind simplicity yet ensuring good visibility of the information. The portal subscription we obtained for the app creation and publication was without advertisements to avoid any conflicts of interest. We tested the trial version of the app on a smartphone and a tablet before publication.

Then we uploaded the app onto the Google Developers Console (Google Inc, Mountain View, CA, USA) and published it the Google Play Store (Google Inc) for Android users. We also sent the app to Apple support for testing before publication in the App Store (Apple Inc, Cupertino, CA, USA). All the residents were introduced to the app via emails and flyers. We tracked the number of app downloads via a developer account in both the Play Store and the App Store. The app was purely educational and there were no interactive components in the app. The purpose of the app was to improve residents' knowledge about CRC screening.

In the third and final part, we repeated the survey after 4 weeks and compared the responses with those of the first survey. Weekly reminders were sent to residents to complete both the surveys. We gave residents no incentives to complete the surveys. We applied the Pearson chi-square test and the Fisher exact test to look for statistical significance.

Figure 1. Screenshots of the main screen and family history screen. ACS: American Cancer Society; ACG: American College of Gastroenterology; CRC: colorectal cancer.





Figure 2. Screens showing follow-up after findings and surveillance in diseases.



Figure 3. Screens giving information about preventive and detection tests in average-risk patients. ACS: American Cancer Society; ACG: American College of Gastroenterology; FIT: fecal immunochemical test; USPSTF: US Preventive Services Task Force.



XSL•FO RenderX

Figure 4. Screens showing alternative methods of colon cancer screening and screening tests to be followed by colonoscopy if positive. CT: computed tomography.



#### Results

#### **Survey Response Rates**

We analyzed and compared the data in 3 subsets. In the first subset, we compared responses to the survey questions from respondents in the same training year to determine improvement in knowledge in each training year individually after publication of the smartphone app. In the second subset analysis, we compared responses between each of the 3 resident training years (ie, postgraduate year [PGY]-1, PGY-2, and PGY-3) to look for differences in knowledge between different training levels at baseline and differences in knowledge improvement after publication of the smartphone app. In the third and final analysis, we analyzed responses in aggregate to look for overall improvement in knowledge.

We emailed the survey link to 59 residents during the first phase and allowed 4 weeks for completion of the survey, with weekly reminders sent via email. A total of 50 residents completed the survey, for response rate of 85%. Of the 50 respondents, there were 22 PGY-1 residents, 15 PGY-2 residents, and 13 PGY-3 residents. After publication of the app, we emailed the survey link again. A total of 41 residents responded to the second survey, for a response rate of 69%; of the respondents, there were 20 PGY-1 residents, 11 PGY-2 residents, and 10 PGY-3 residents.

#### Assessment of Residents' Knowledge

The first few survey questions assessed the resident's knowledge about CRC screening in average-risk patients and with a family

```
http://mededu.jmir.org/2018/1/e10/
```

RenderX

history of CRC (Multimedia Appendix 2). Most of the residents correctly identified the screening age in such patients. The residents were lacking knowledge about the ACG recommendation to start screening for CRC in African Americans at age 45 years. But after using the smartphone app, their knowledge improved significantly, from only 4 residents (8%) responding correctly before using the app to 29 residents (71%) responding correctly after using the app (P<.001). Although not statistically significant, knowledge about offering preventive tests first (P=.01) and offering colonoscopy every 5 years to patients with family history of CRC in a first-degree relative at age less than 60 years (P=.17) all improved.

When asked to identify screening modalities for CRC screening, many residents were lacking the knowledge about the various tests that can be offered. The number of correct responses indicating their knowledge about computed tomography (CT) colonography every 5 years, double-contrast barium enema every 5 years, sigmoidoscopy every 10 years with annual fecal immunochemical testing at home, and fecal DNA testing every 1 to 3 years increased with statistical significance after intervention (Multimedia Appendix 3). The residents were also tested on their ability to identify preventive tests, which can detect precancerous polypoid lesions. Most residents could identify only colonoscopy every 10 years as a preventive test at baseline, but after the intervention, more of them, at all training levels, correctly identified flexible sigmoidoscopy every 5 years, CT colonography every 5 years, and double-contrast barium enema every 5 years as preventive tests (Multimedia Appendix 4).

Detection methods only can detect CRC; they can't prevent it as prevention methods do by detecting precancerous polypoid lesions. Stool-based CRC screening tests are the detection methods. Residents knowledge for correctly identifying detection methods was not satisfactory at baseline but improved significantly after education with the app, and they were able to identify annual fecal immunochemical testing, fecal occult blood testing at home, and fecal DNA testing every 1 to 3 years as CRC detection methods (Multimedia Appendix 5). Most residents could identify sigmoidoscopy and fecal occult blood testing as the tests that are to be followed by colonoscopy if the test result is positive. At baseline, they did not all know that positive results on CT colonography, double-contrast barium enema, fecal immunochemical testing, and fecal DNA testing should also be followed by colonoscopy. After using the smartphone app, however, more of the residents identified these tests as needing to be followed by colonoscopy (Multimedia Appendix 6).

The residents were also tested on the recommended follow-up after colonoscopy screening. Overall, the residents' knowledge was not satisfactory on the follow-up periods of 10 years in the case of small hyperplastic rectal polyps being found, 5 years for 1 or 2 small tubular adenomas, 3 years for 3 to 10 adenomas, 1 to 3 years for more than 10 adenomas, and 2 to 6 months for sessile adenomas. Knowledge improved, but this was statistically significant only in the case of knowledge about the follow-up of sessile adenomas and of more than 10 adenomas (Multimedia Appendix 7). Finally, residents were asked about surveillance for CRC in familial adenomatous polyposis, Lynch syndrome, and inflammatory bowel disease. Residents' knowledge about CRC surveillance in familial adenomatous polyposis was lacking before using the smartphone app but improved significantly after the educational intervention (Multimedia Appendix 8).

#### Discussion

#### **Principal Findings**

Most of the recommendations for CRC screening from the ACG, ACS, and USPSTF are similar. For our study, we extracted commonalities and only tested recommendations that were similar between all of these guidelines. Apart from these organizations, others also publish guidelines, most of which reinforce the already-stated recommendations, but they also make some new recommendations, adding to the confusion for residents and other health care professionals. Recently, the US Multi-Society Task Force on Colorectal Cancer made new recommendations, in which they divided the screening tests into three tiers based on performance features, costs, and practical considerations [23]. In our study, we tested the knowledge of residents to identify these screening tests but didn't test for division of these tests into three tiers.

Our study showed that, regardless of the levels of training, residents in one internal medicine department were lacking knowledge about CRC screening. This finding agrees with that of Sharma et al [24,25], who investigated the understanding of CRC screening among primary care physicians and internists. There was no difference in residents' knowledge between baseline and after the educational intervention in the form of a

smartphone app: knowledge improved equally among all 3 PGY levels. This finding is consistent with a study in 2005 [26], which showed no statistically significant difference in CRC screening rates between different years of training.

Our study was different from previously reported ones in that, first, ours was very comprehensive and covered all aspects of CRC screening and, second, it used the novel approach of a smartphone app for education of the residents. Previously reported studies, such as that of Akerman et al [16], only tested for identification of CRC screening tests. Beyond testing for knowledge of CRC screening in average-risk patients and with a family history of CRC, we also tested the important concept of differentiation between prevention and detection tests, which is acknowledged in the ACG and ACS guidelines. Residents were lacking knowledge in other areas of CRC screening, such as identifying tests other than colonoscopy, screening in African American patients, following up positive tests with colonoscopy, follow-up after colonoscopy findings, and surveillance for CRC in various diseases such as familial adenomatous polyposis, Lynch syndrome, and inflammatory bowel disease.

Our study showed that residents were knowledgeable about screening of average-risk patients with colonoscopy at age 50 years and those with a family history of CRC. Because ACS guidelines state that colonoscopy should be offered at age 40 years to patients with a family history of CRC in a first-degree relative at or over age 60 years and ACG guidelines state that screening in these patients should be the same as for average-risk patients, we considered both responses correct in our survey analysis. The areas that showed improved knowledge after use of the smartphone app were correctly identifying all of the CRC screening tests, differentiating between prevention and detection tests, and correctly identifying these tests. Also, the postsurvey results showed improved knowledge of screening tests that need to be followed by colonoscopy if the test result is positive. The areas that didn't improve much were the follow-up of a screening colonoscopy in case of findings, as well as surveillance for CRC in various diseases.

Residents' knowledge about alternative CRC screening methods is important, as some patients do not wish to have colonoscopies because of the invasive nature of the test. Residents can only offer alternative, less-invasive methods if they have knowledge about them. Although the use of screening colonoscopies has increased over the last few years, it is still far from the National Colorectal Cancer Roundtables' goal of achieving 80% by 2018, and awareness of alternative methods is important in achieving this target. It is important for residents to know about follow-up after colonoscopy findings and surveillance for CRC in various diseases, as residents ultimately take care of the primary needs of these patients in the clinic.

Various educational strategies have been employed in the past for improving knowledge of CRC screening, ranging from didactic lectures, as shown by Lane et al [27], to an interactive case-based model, as shown by Schroy et al [28]. These educational methods showed variable improvement in knowledge, and additional interventions may be needed to improve screening performance. In this modern era of smartphones and gadgets, developing a smartphone-based app

XSL•FO RenderX

or educational tool can work very well for residents' education, as shown by Shaw and Tan [29]. Using a smartphone app to improve internal medicine residents' knowledge of CRC screening is a novel idea and worked very well in our study.

#### **Study Limitations**

Our response rate was good, but our study was limited by being a single-center study with a small sample size. This intervention can be expanded to other institutions to determine the validity of our results in a multicenter setting. In addition, this study did not check whether the residents' improved knowledge translated into their clinical practice in terms of an improved CRC screening rate. A multi-institutional study is being planned, and the original study will be expanded to determine the app's effect on the screening rate. Here it is important to mention that, although this study was not intended to observe a change in practice, a few residents reported that the app was a readily available tool on their smartphone and was helpful to them when they encountered the issue of CRC screening of their patients in an outpatient setting.

#### Conclusion

While residents seem knowledgeable about colonoscopic CRC screening in average-risk patients, we found significant deficiencies in other areas of the comprehensive evaluation. A smartphone-based app or educational tool is a novel idea and can help improve residents' knowledge about CRC screening. A smartphone-based educational tool can be a part of residents' orientation before the start of their residency to reinforce their knowledge about age-appropriate and specific screenings.

#### **Authors' Contributions**

ZK designed the study, developed the smartphone app, collected data, conducted statistical analysis, drafted the manuscript, did critical revision, and approved the final manuscript. UD, MN, BK, YAA, and YA collected data and drafted the manuscript. MAK designed the study, collected data, and critically revised the study. WB did statistical analysis and drafted the manuscript. TS and AN did a critical revision for intellectual content and gave final approval of the manuscript.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

#### **Multimedia Appendix 1**

Survey form emailed via SurveyMonkey to residents.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 33KB - mededu\_v4i1e10\_app1.pdf]

#### Multimedia Appendix 2

Screening in average-risk patients and with a positive family history of colorectal cancer.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 24KB - mededu\_v4i1e10\_app2.pdf]

#### **Multimedia Appendix 3**

Identification of colorectal cancer screening tests.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 32KB - mededu\_v4i1e10\_app3.pdf]

#### **Multimedia Appendix 4**

Identification of colorectal cancer prevention methods.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 31KB - mededu\_v4i1e10\_app4.pdf]

#### **Multimedia Appendix 5**

Identification of colorectal cancer detection methods.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 29KB - mededu\_v4i1e10\_app5.pdf]

#### Multimedia Appendix 6

Identification of positive tests to be followed by colonoscopy.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 33KB - mededu\_v4i1e10\_app6.pdf]

Identification of follow-up after colonoscopy.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 32KB - mededu\_v4i1e10\_app7.pdf]

#### Multimedia Appendix 8

Identification of surveillance for colorectal cancer in various diseases.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 30KB - mededu v4i1e10 app8.pdf]

#### References

- Jemal A, Siegel R, Xu J, Ward E. Cancer statistics, 2010. CA Cancer J Clin 2010;60(5):277-300 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3322/caac.20073] [Medline: 20610543]
- 2. Edwards BK, Ward E, Kohler BA, Eheman C, Zauber AG, Anderson RN, et al. Annual report to the nation on the status of cancer, 1975-2006, featuring colorectal cancer trends and impact of interventions (risk factors, screening, and treatment) to reduce future rates. Cancer 2010 Feb 01;116(3):544-573 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.24760] [Medline: 19998273]
- 3. Vogelaar I, van Ballegooijen M, Schrag D, Boer R, Winawer SJ, Habbema JDF, et al. How much can current interventions reduce colorectal cancer mortality in the U.S.? Mortality projections for scenarios of risk-factor modification, screening, and treatment. Cancer 2006 Oct 01;107(7):1624-1633 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.22115] [Medline: 16933324]
- 4. American Cancer Society. Colorectal cancer facts & figures 2017-2019. Atlanta, GA: American Cancer Society; 2017. URL: <u>https://www.cancer.org/content/dam/cancer-org/research/cancer-facts-and-statistics/colorectal-cancer-facts-and-figures-2017-2019.pdf</u> [accessed 2018-03-08] [WebCite Cache ID 6xliPrZTN]
- Mariotto AB, Yabroff KR, Shao Y, Feuer EJ, Brown ML. Projections of the cost of cancer care in the United States: 2010-2020. J Natl Cancer Inst 2011 Jan 19;103(2):117-128 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jnci/djq495] [Medline: 21228314]
- May FP, Glenn BA, Crespi CM, Ponce N, Spiegel BMR, Bastani R. Decreasing black-white disparities in colorectal cancer incidence and stage at presentation in the United States. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2017 May;26(5):762-768. [doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-16-0834] [Medline: 28035021]
- Aleksandrova K, Pischon T, Jenab M, Bueno-de-Mesquita HB, Fedirko V, Norat T, et al. Combined impact of healthy lifestyle factors on colorectal cancer: a large European cohort study. BMC Med 2014 Oct 10;12:168 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12916-014-0168-4] [Medline: 25319089]
- Kabat GC, Matthews CE, Kamensky V, Hollenbeck AR, Rohan TE. Adherence to cancer prevention guidelines and cancer incidence, cancer mortality, and total mortality: a prospective cohort study. Am J Clin Nutr 2015 Mar;101(3):558-569 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3945/ajcn.114.094854] [Medline: 25733641]
- 9. Song M, Giovannucci E. Preventable incidence and mortality of carcinoma associated with lifestyle factors among white adults in the United States. JAMA Oncol 2016 Sep 01;2(9):1154-1161 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2016.0843] [Medline: 27196525]
- Meester RGS, Doubeni CA, Zauber AG, Goede SL, Levin TR, Corley DA, et al. Public health impact of achieving 80% colorectal cancer screening rates in the United States by 2018. Cancer 2015 Jul 01;121(13):2281-2285 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.29336] [Medline: 25763558]
- 11. National Center for Health Statistics. Health, United States, 2015: With Special Feature on Racial and Ethnic Disparities. Report No: 2016-1232. Hyattsville, MD: National Center for Health Statistics; May 2016.
- 12. Wong RJ. Marked variations in proximal colon cancer survival by race/ethnicity within the United States. J Clin Gastroenterol 2010 Oct;44(9):625-630. [doi: 10.1097/MCG.0b013e3181c64a7a] [Medline: 19996985]
- Rex DK, Johnson DA, Anderson JC, Schoenfeld PS, Burke CA, Inadomi JM, American College of Gastroenterology. American College of Gastroenterology guidelines for colorectal cancer screening 2009 [corrected]. Am J Gastroenterol 2009 Mar;104(3):739-750. [doi: 10.1038/ajg.2009.104] [Medline: 19240699]
- 14. Levin B, Lieberman DA, McFarland B, Smith RA, Brooks D, Andrews KS, American Cancer Society Colorectal Cancer Advisory Group, US Multi-Society Task Force, American College of Radiology Colon Cancer Committee. Screening and surveillance for the early detection of colorectal cancer and adenomatous polyps, 2008: a joint guideline from the American Cancer Society, the US Multi-Society Task Force on Colorectal Cancer, and the American College of Radiology. CA Cancer J Clin 2008;58(3):130-160 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3322/CA.2007.0018] [Medline: 18322143]
- Bibbins-Domingo K, Grossman DC, Curry SJ, Davidson KW, Epling JW, García FAR, et al. Screening for colorectal cancer: US Preventive Services Task Force recommendation statement. JAMA 2016 Jun 21;315(23):2564-2575. [doi: 10.1001/jama.2016.5989] [Medline: 27304597]
- Akerman S, Aronson SL, Cerulli MA, Akerman M, Sultan K. Resident knowledge of colorectal cancer screening assessed by web-based survey. J Clin Med Res 2014 Apr;6(2):120-126 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.14740/jocmr1610w] [Medline: 24578753]
- 17. Borum ML. Cancer screening in women by internal medicine resident physicians. South Med J 1997 Nov;90(11):1101-1105. [Medline: 9386051]

- 18. Borum ML. Medical residents' colorectal cancer screening may be dependent on ambulatory care education. Dig Dis Sci 1997 Jun;42(6):1176-1178. [Medline: <u>9201080</u>]
- Kerns JW, Krist AH, Woolf SH, Flores SK, Johnson RE. Patient perceptions of how physicians communicate during prostate cancer screening discussions: a comparison of residents and faculty. Fam Med 2008 Mar;40(3):181-187 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>18320396</u>]
- An PG, Ashburner JM, Fosburgh BW, Atlas SJ. Performance on preventive cancer screening tests in the ambulatory setting by internal medicine resident physicians. Teach Learn Med 2010 Jan;22(1):45-49. [doi: <u>10.1080/10401330903446362</u>] [Medline: <u>20391283</u>]
- 21. Ward SH, Parameswaran L, Bass SB, Paranjape A, Gordon TF, Ruzek SB. Resident physicians' perceptions of barriers and facilitators to colorectal cancer screening for African Americans. J Natl Med Assoc 2010 Apr;102(4):303-311. [Medline: 20437737]
- 22. Caines LC, Brockmeyer DM, Tess AV, Kim H, Kriegel G, Bates CK. The revolving door of resident continuity practice: identifying gaps in transitions of care. J Gen Intern Med 2011 Sep;26(9):995-998 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11606-011-1731-8] [Medline: 21559852]
- 23. Rex DK, Boland CR, Dominitz JA, Giardiello FM, Johnson DA, Kaltenbach T, et al. Colorectal cancer screening: recommendations for physicians and patients from the U.S. Multi-Society Task Force on Colorectal Cancer. Am J Gastroenterol 2017 Jul;112(7):1016-1030. [doi: 10.1038/ajg.2017.174] [Medline: 28555630]
- 24. Sharma VK, Corder FA, Raufman JP, Sharma P, Fennerty MB, Howden CW. Survey of internal medicine residents' use of the fecal occult blood test and their understanding of colorectal cancer screening and surveillance. Am J Gastroenterol 2000 Aug;95(8):2068-2073. [doi: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.2000.02229.x] [Medline: 10950059]
- 25. Sharma VK, Vasudeva R, Howden CW. Colorectal cancer screening and surveillance practices by primary care physicians: results of a national survey. Am J Gastroenterol 2000 Jun;95(6):1551-1556. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1572-0241.2000.02093.x</u>] [Medline: <u>10894595</u>]
- Willett LL, Palonen K, Allison JJ, Heudebert GR, Kiefe CI, Massie FS, et al. Differences in preventive health quality by residency year. Is seniority better? J Gen Intern Med 2005 Sep;20(9):825-829 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1525-1497.2005.0158.x] [Medline: 16117750]
- 27. Lane DS, Messina CR, Cavanagh MF, Chen JJ. A provider intervention to improve colorectal cancer screening in county health centers. Med Care 2008 Sep;46(9 Suppl 1):S109-S116. [doi: 10.1097/MLR.0b013e31817d3fcf] [Medline: 18725822]
- Schroy PC, Glick JT, Geller AC, Jackson A, Heeren T, Prout M. A novel educational strategy to enhance internal medicine residents' familial colorectal cancer knowledge and risk assessment skills. Am J Gastroenterol 2005 Mar;100(3):677-684. [doi: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.2005.41336.x] [Medline: 15743368]
- 29. Shaw CM, Tan SA. Integration of mobile technology in educational materials improves participation: creation of a novel smartphone application for resident education. J Surg Educ 2015;72(4):670-673. [doi: 10.1016/j.jsurg.2015.01.015] [Medline: 25823746]

#### Abbreviations

ACS: American Cancer Society ACG: American College of Gastroenterology CRC: colorectal cancer CT: computed tomography FIT: fecal immunochemical test PGY: postgraduate year USPSTF: US Preventive Services Task Force

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 11.12.17; peer-reviewed by A Koskan, W Leclercq, I Wani; comments to author 24.01.18; revised version received 11.02.18; accepted 11.02.18; published 13.03.18.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Khan Z, Darr U, Khan MA, Nawras M, Khalil B, Abdel-Aziz Y, Alastal Y, Barnett W, Sodeman T, Nawras A Improving Internal Medicine Residents' Colorectal Cancer Screening Knowledge Using a Smartphone App: Pilot Study JMIR Med Educ 2018;4(1):e10 URL: <u>http://mededu.jmir.org/2018/1/e10/</u> doi:<u>10.2196/mededu.9635</u> PMID:<u>29535080</u>



©Zubair Khan, Umar Darr, Muhammad Ali Khan, Mohamad Nawras, Basmah Khalil, Yousef Abdel-Aziz, Yaseen Alastal, William Barnett, Thomas Sodeman, Ali Nawras. Originally published in JMIR Medical Education (http://mededu.jmir.org), 13.03.2018. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Medical Education, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://mededu.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

#### **Original Paper**

# Consensus on Quality Indicators of Postgraduate Medical E-Learning: Delphi Study

Robert Adrianus de Leeuw<sup>1,2</sup>, MSc, MD; Kieran Walsh<sup>3</sup>, MSc, PhD; Michiel Westerman<sup>2</sup>, MD, PhD; Fedde Scheele<sup>1</sup>, PhD, Prof Dr Med

<sup>1</sup>Athena Institute for Transdisciplinary Research, VU University Amsterdam, Amsterdam, Netherlands

<sup>2</sup>VU University Medical Center, Amsterdam, Netherlands

<sup>3</sup>British Medical Journal Learning, British Medical Association, London, United Kingdom

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Robert Adrianus de Leeuw, MSc, MD Athena Institute for Transdisciplinary Research VU University Amsterdam De Boelelaan 1118 Amsterdam, 1081 HV Netherlands Phone: 31 618390269 ext 18390269 Email: <u>r.deleeuw@vumc.nl</u>

#### Abstract

**Background:** The progressive use of e-learning in postgraduate medical education calls for useful quality indicators. Many evaluation tools exist. However, these are diversely used and their empirical foundation is often lacking.

**Objective:** We aimed to identify an empirically founded set of quality indicators to set the bar for "good enough" e-learning.

**Methods:** We performed a Delphi procedure with a group of 13 international education experts and 10 experienced users of e-learning. The questionnaire started with 57 items. These items were the result of a previous literature review and focus group study performed with experts and users. Consensus was met when a rate of agreement of more than two-thirds was achieved.

**Results:** In the first round, the participants accepted 37 items of the 57 as important, reached no consensus on 20, and added 15 new items. In the second round, we added the comments from the first round to the items on which there was no consensus and added the 15 new items. After this round, a total of 72 items were addressed and, of these, 37 items were accepted and 34 were rejected due to lack of consensus.

**Conclusions:** This study produced a list of 37 items that can form the basis of an evaluation tool to evaluate postgraduate medical e-learning. This is, to our knowledge, the first time that quality indicators for postgraduate medical e-learning have been defined and validated. The next step is to create and validate an e-learning evaluation tool from these items.

#### (JMIR Med Educ 2018;4(1):e13) doi:10.2196/mededu.9365

#### **KEYWORDS**

postgraduate medical education; continuing medical education; e-learning; distance education; quality tool; quality indicators; education, medical; education, medical, continuing; education, distance

#### Introduction

E-learning, which also goes by many other names, is taking up a strong position in medical curricula because of its flexibility, richness, and potential for resource sharing and for high value in light of its cost [1]. E-learning is suggested as an eligible instrument for interprofessional learning [2], and Goh described e-learning not as just hype, but as a core aspect of medical education in the future [3]. However, the debate on what denotes good-quality e-learning is ongoing. More explicitly, the lack of knowledge on what constitutes good-quality e-learning has been identified as one of the main inhibitors of its usefulness [4]. Cook postulated that e-learning is not always cheaper or more efficient than traditional forms of medical education. However, he also stated that e-learning can be a very important innovation when it becomes "low-cost, low-tech, but instructionally sound 'good enough' online learning" [5]. The problem is that there is no useful model for "just good enough" postgraduate medical

```
http://mededu.jmir.org/2018/1/e13/
```

e-learning. The literature shows that there are no specific working models for this target audience [6] and that the models and tools that are used are diverse. We have previously provided a list of quality indicators [6] and tried to find the underlying constructs of which items are important and meet the needs of learners [7]. In this way, we tried to provide the categories necessary to evaluate postgraduate e-learning. Both for educators involved in postgraduate e-learning and for users themselves, it is crucial to know that e-learning is worth their investment in it. Previous research showed that users are less motivated and less eager to undertake an e-learning module when they are in doubt about its quality [7]. Furthermore, experts believe that it is necessary to know what quality features are required and expected of an e-learning course before it is created [7].

In response to this debate on what constitutes good-quality medical e-learning, we set out to provide an empirically based set of quality indicators. Thus, we performed a Delphi procedure to evaluate suggested quality indicators from the literature. To our knowledge, this study is the first international consensus by both educational experts and experienced users on quality indicators in postgraduate medical e-learning.

#### Methods

In this study, we performed a Delphi procedure to determine consensus on the possible quality indicators for e-learning in postgraduate medical education.

#### **Study Design**

Escaron et al describe the Delphi method as being well suited to informing health education [8]. It is based on the concept of pooled intelligence and should enhance the individual judgments and capture the collective opinion of experts [9]. We performed the Delphi digitally, facilitated by RAD, because online Delphi studies reduce costs, time, and effort [9] and are not limited by geographical boundaries. The downside is that participants have a consultative role and disagreements are hard to explore. This is even more the case when using a digital medium to communicate. To maximize the effectiveness of the Delphi, we followed the guidelines of de Villiers et al [9]. We first provided a definition of e-learning to the expert panel, then started with a questionnaire of items. After analyzing the results, we removed items without consensus, added comments on the remaining items, and, if applicable, added new items.

#### **E-Learning Definition**

For this Delphi we chose the following, slightly adapted definition from Sangrà et al: "E-learning is an approach to teaching and learning, representing all or part of the educational model applied, that is based on the use of electronic media and devices as tools for improving access to training, communication and interaction and that facilitates the adoption of new ways of understanding and developing learning" [10]. To simplify the discussion, we chose to talk about stand-alone, asynchronous, and distant e-learning (and not learning management systems). We provided all participants with this definition and an explanation in the introduction of the Delphi.

#### **Expert Panel Selection**

For this study, we used 2 expert groups: medical educators and end users. Medical educators are experts in the theory and practice of creating e-learning and end users know what it's like to use the e-learning in their daily practice. A suitable expert is defined in the literature as someone who possesses the relevant knowledge and experience and whose opinions are respected by fellow workers in their field [9]. For this study, we defined an educational expert as a member of a national medical education platform (usually a university- or government-led foundation aimed at improving and validating medical education) or someone who has been published in peer-reviewed international journals on the subject of medical e-learning, and who has had at least 3 years' experience with medical education and e-learning development. We defined experienced postgraduate users as postgraduate residents who graduated at least 2 years ago and who have had exposure to e-learning throughout their postgraduate training.

We selected experts by means of an inquiry to the National Education Board in the Netherlands and from author contacts. We invited experienced users in the Netherlands and Great Britain because we had local contacts there. An expert panel usually consists of 15 to 30 participants, with 5 to 10 participants per category [9]. Our aim was to have 10 experts and 10 experienced users but, as we believe that educational experts have a better background in the theoretical grounding of education, we preferred to have a few more educational experts on the panel. We thus aimed for 13 experts and 10 users [9].

#### **Questionnaire Development**

The initial set of indicators was based on 2 previous studies and contained quality characteristics from the literature [6] (72 items) and from focus group discussions (resulting in 57 items) with both experts and end users [7] (see Figure 1). These previous studies gave a total of 57 items in 6 themes on 3 subjects: motivate, learn, and apply. The subject motivate consisted of indicators that increase the learner's level of motivation in the theme, called starting motivators, and indicators that form a barrier to starting or finishing the e-learning, called starting barriers. The next step was the subject learn, which consisted of all pedagogical indicators that either facilitate (learning enhancers) or limit (learning discouragers) the learning experience. The subject apply was made up of indicators that help the learner to translate and apply the e-learning into their daily practice (real world translators). Finally, the theme poor preparation (6 items) consisted of indicators that help an author prepare for the creation of an e-learning resource. Items such as "Plan a feasible budget to prevent incompletion of the e-learning due to lack of funds" were not originally aimed at the end user and therefore evaluated only by the experts.

The questionnaire started with introductory text explaining the subjects, providing a definition of e-learning, and asking the experts and users to imagine e-learning that was "just good enough" and targeted at medical postgraduates. After that, the experts and end users evaluated the individual items on a 5-point Likert scale and were able to add comments [9].



Figure 1. Subjects and themes of postgraduate medical e-learning quality indicators.<sup>a</sup>The preparation theme is aimed at e-learning authors only.



After we agreed on the content of the questionnaire, we performed a pilot round with 5 participants (2 educators and 3 end users). After incorporating their feedback on the items, we invited the experts to fill out the questionnaire digitally. We started the first round with 57 items.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

After each round, we worked out consensus by calculating the rate of agreement: (agreement – disagreement/agreement + disagreement + indifferent)  $\times$  100%. We used a rate of agreement of two-thirds to accept an item. An item was rejected when there was no consensus after 2 rounds, or when an item was rejected by a rate of agreement lower than –66% in the first round (the rate of agreement scale ranges from –100 to 100). There is no consensus in the literature regarding the best rate of agreement to be used; the range used has been between 51% and 80% [11]. We chose to use two-thirds as proposed by de Villiers et al [9].

The Ethical Review Board of the Association for Medical Education gave ethical consent (file number 475), after which all participants gave their written informed consent.

#### Results

We sent the first invitation emails out on March 19, 2017, and received the final response on July 20, 2017. We invited 23 experts, of whom 13 replied and participated, 9 did not reply to the invitation, and 1 did not consider himself an expert on postgraduate medical e-learning. We invited 17 experienced users, of whom 5 did not reply, 2 could not participate due to other obligations, and 10 were able to participate. In total, we had 23 participants, of whom 23 responded in both rounds. Of the participants, 13 (57%) were male. The average age of the experts was 49 years and that of the users was 31 years. The

```
http://mededu.jmir.org/2018/1/e13/
```

experts came from the Netherlands (n=7), Great Britain (n=3), Canada (n=2), and South Africa (n=1). They had an average of at least 3 years' experience creating or evaluating medical e-learning and together had published 29 articles. A total of 4 were members of the Dutch Association for Medical Education expert group on e-learning. The users were Dutch (n=7) and British (n=3), and had more than 3 years' experience as residents, and had attended on average more than 2 e-learnings during their residency.

In the first round, 37 items were accepted as important, with a rate of agreement of above two-thirds. No items were rejected, there was no consensus on 20 items, and 15 new items were added by the participants (Figure 2). In the second round, we added the comments from the first round on the items without consensus and added the 15 new items (35 items in total). We also added 3 explorative questions based on comments from the first round, exploring the usefulness of a list of indicators. Multimedia Appendix 1 shows all items, rate of agreement, and consensus.

The first explorative question was "Do you think it is possible to define a minimum and general set of criteria that can be generalized for all types of medical e-learning?" A total of 17 participants thought this was possible, 5 were not sure, and 1 thought it was too complicated. Worries about such a list of indicators included the following:

But I would be concerned that to be applicable for all types of medical e-learning it might be too general and therefore not practically useful [Medical educator 1]

Yes, but it's like evidence-based medicine: you must be able to deviate with motivation. [Medical educator 4]

The experts also raise the concern of a fast-changing definition of e-learning:

the term e-learning is in a fast-changing technological world with different needs and skills for makers (and for users) and is difficult to define—without makeror user-focused definition and context [Medical educator 1]

*e-learning doesn't mean anything in particular, tech can be used in every aspect of med-ed, and lots of different tech can be used for different purposes....* [Medical educator 5]

Participants mentioned that which form of e-learning these indicators are about is very important to explain.

The second explorative question was "Do you think a 10-question survey, like the one mentioned in the introduction, would be of added value to the current evaluation tools?" It was thought by 14 (64%) to be of added value, 7 (32%) were not sure, and 1 (4%) thought it was not of added value. Arguments were

...*it would help setting priorities* [Medical educator 8]

...general design principles probably will apply to e-learning as well. So why the need of a specific tool? I think there may be added value in evaluating the specific additive value of technology. But I am not sure. That's why I am participating in this Delphi. [Medical educator 3]

The third explorative question was to explore how many items participants considered to be workable. The general opinion was "the less the better, but as much as needed". When asked for a number, participants responded with a range of numbers from 10 to 20.

We then evaluated the remaining 35 items (see Multimedia Appendix 1). There was consensus that just 2 items should be included, 3 were rejected, and there was no consensus on the rest. After this round, a total of 72 items were addressed and, of these, 37 were accepted and 34 rejected (see Table 1).

Figure 2. Flowchart of the Delphi results.





#### Table 1. The final quality indicators. Items 32-37 are expert theme preparation items.

#### Subject and item

#### Motivate

- 1. Create a feeling of importance within the learner
- 2. Create a feeling of responsibility within the learner
- 3. Provide enough time to complete the e-learning
- 4. Define the purpose of the e-learning (knowledge, skills, and behavior or attitude)
- 5. Formulate the learning objectives and preferably visualize them
- 6. Provide an overview of all content
- 7. Prevent concerns about the quality of the content
- 8. Do not force, although obligation might be possible
- 9. Create the feeling that the learner is being taken seriously
- 10. Use a flexible platform, so that the content can be modified by the educator
- 11. Provide easy accessibility from all locations and devices
- 12. Use easy and clear navigation
- 13. Use a simple layout with a sitemap
- 14. Software should be safe and secure
- 15. Access should be fast
- 16. Make clear which device is needed and advise the learner about the skills needed

#### Learn

- 17. Enable the learner to personalize the module
- 18. Allow nonlinear learning
- 19. Show what has already been achieved and what has not yet been done (progress bar)
- 20. Provide technical support
- 21. Add summaries
- 22. Give feedback
- 23. Add exercises and assignments
- 24. Create interaction with the content
- 25. Do not stress or frustrate the learner
- 26. Avoid nonadaptive content
- 27. Do not create too distractive a design or learning activities

#### Apply

- 28. Make the content translatable to the real world
- 29. Update and maintain the e-learning
- 30. Provide sources of information and keep access available after the course is finished
- 31. Evaluate the e-learning after the course and collect feedback
- 32. Know your target audience and adapt learning objectives accordingly
- 33. Identify the authors at the beginning of the e-learning
- 34. Create a timeline with objectives and expectations of the production stage
- 35. Form a development team with at least 1 content expert, 1 educational expert, and 1 information technology expert, and let them all commit a certain amount of time before starting the development
- 36. Plan a feasible budget to prevent incompletion of the e-learning due to lack of funds
- 37. Consider an appropriate learning environment and learning management system

#### Discussion

#### **Principal Findings**

We performed an international Delphi study with educational experts and experienced users that led to 37 quality indicators for postgraduate medical education. To our knowledge, this is the first list of quality indicators for postgraduate medical e-learning with an evidence-based foundation: first selecting all the indicators mentioned in the literature, then adding to this list by focus group discussions, and finally selecting the items using a Delphi.

Cook et al wrote in 2009 that internet-based learning is associated with a positive effect, but that future research should directly compare different internet-based interventions [12]. Developing peer-reviewed training and guidelines for e-learning should also be the foundation of academic e-learning [13]. However, to compare e-learning or e-education methods and to guide authors, we need to provide them with a tool. These indicators should form the basis for such an e-learning evaluation tool that can help to compare different types of education with e-learning. To evaluate the effect of e-learning in postgraduate medical education, we need a list of indicators. We believe that these indicators should be supported by experts in the field and the final end users of the e-learning resources. This study produced such a list.

After the first round of the Delphi, the experts expressed the challenges of an evaluation of this type. The term *e-learning* can be confusing, the *added value* to a landscape of many other evaluation tools might be limited, and the indicators may be *too general*. The term e-learning, as discussed in the introduction, is broad. However, when it is well defined, we believe it can still be a workable term. There are many quality models in the literature [14], and e-learning has been evaluated many times [15]. But these models are aimed at different target audiences, the origin of the indicators is ill defined, and the validation is

limited, when present at all. The final indicators from our study are quite generic and are difficult to translate back to postgraduate learning. It could very well be that the items identified in this study are applicable to graduates or other groups of learners.

#### Limitations and Strengths

Potential pitfalls in Delphi studies are the imposition of preconceptions on respondents and poor techniques for summarizing and presenting the group response. We tried to limit these pitfalls by producing a simple and straightforward questionnaire. Participant selection was limited to those who responded and, by choice, from the countries of the authors' residence. Therefore, our study lacked a certain cultural diversity, making the results possibly less generalizable.

The strength of the final indicators lies in the balance of general aspects of evaluation and the specifics added when needed. We believe that the 6 themes (motivation, barriers, learning enhancers, learning discouragers, real-life translation, and poor preparation) are general enough to be applied to all kinds of e-learning.

#### Conclusion

Creating e-learning for postgraduates is not enough; evaluation and improvement should not be additional but mandatory to ensure maximum effect. E-learning quality indicators can be sorted into 3 groups (motivate, learn, and apply) with 5 general themes (motivators, barriers, learning enhancers, learning discouragers, and real-life translators) and a list of items that can be used in preparing e-learning resources.

This study provided a list of quality indicators for postgraduate medical e-learning. This list is unique in its evidence-based foundation and in the way that it applies broad themes with specific indicators. The most logical next step is to create and validate an evaluation tool based on these indicators.

#### Acknowledgments

We wish to express our greatest gratitude to the participants of the Delphi. Without their feedback, patience, and time, we could not have completed this study.

#### **Authors' Contributions**

All authors contributed equally in the preparation of the study protocol. Experts were supplied mainly by RAD and KW, and users were mainly suggested by RAD, FS, and KW. RAD carried out Delphi facilitation, data collection, and analysis. All authors wrote and corrected the final manuscript.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

#### Multimedia Appendix 1

Delphi results per question and per round.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 76KB - mededu\_v4i1e13\_app1.pdf]

#### References



- 1. Liyanagunawardena TR, Williams SA. Massive open online courses on health and medicine: review. J Med Internet Res 2014 Jan;16(8):e191 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3439] [Medline: 25123952]
- Tolks D, Schäfer C, Raupach T, Kruse L, Sarikas A, Gerhardt-Szép S, et al. An introduction to the inverted/flipped classroom model in education and advanced training in medicine and in the healthcare professions. GMS J Med Educ 2016;33(3):Doc46 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3205/zma001045] [Medline: 27275511]
- 3. Goh PS. eLearning or technology enhanced learning in medical education-hope, not hype. Med Teach 2016 Sep;38(9):957-958. [doi: 10.3109/0142159X.2016.1147538] [Medline: 26982639]
- 4. Voutilainen A, Saaranen T, Sormunen M. Conventional vs. e-learning in nursing education: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Nurse Educ Today 2017 Mar;50:97-103. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.nedt.2016.12.020</u>] [Medline: <u>28038371</u>]
- 5. Cook DA. The value of online learning and MRI: finding a niche for expensive technologies. Med Teach 2014 Nov;36(11):965-972. [doi: 10.3109/0142159X.2014.917284] [Medline: 25072533]
- De Leeuw RA, Westerman M, Nelson E, Ket JCF, Scheele F. Quality specifications in postgraduate medical e-learning: an integrative literature review leading to a postgraduate medical e-learning model. BMC Med Educ 2016 Dec 08;16:168 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12909-016-0700-7] [Medline: 27390843]
- 7. de Leeuw RA, Westerman M, Scheele F. Quality indicators for learner-centered postgraduate medical e-learning. Int J Med Educ 2017 Apr 27;8:153-162 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5116/ijme.58ce.60aa] [Medline: 28456781]
- Escaron AL, Chang WR, Stanton P, Vangala S, Grogan TR, Clarke RM. Testing an adapted modified Delphi method: synthesizing multiple stakeholder ratings of health care service effectiveness. Health Promot Pract 2016 Mar;17(2):217-225. [doi: 10.1177/1524839915614308] [Medline: 26537371]
- 9. de Villiers MR, de Villiers PJT, Kent AP. The Delphi technique in health sciences education research. Med Teach 2005 Nov;27(7):639-643. [doi: 10.1080/13611260500069947] [Medline: 16332558]
- 10. Sangrà A, Vlachopoulos D, Cabrera N. Building an inclusive definition of e-learning: an approach to the conceptual framework. Int Rev Res Open Distrib Learn 2012 Apr 13;13(2):145. [doi: <u>10.19173/irrodl.v13i2.1161</u>]
- 11. Hasson F, Keeney S, McKenna H. Research guidelines for the Delphi survey technique. J Adv Nurs 2000 Oct;32(4):1008-1015. [Medline: <u>11095242</u>]
- 12. Cook DA, Beckman TJ, Thomas KG, Thompson WG. Measuring motivational characteristics of courses: applying Keller's instructional materials motivation survey to a web-based course. Acad Med 2009 Nov;84(11):1505-1509. [doi: 10.1097/ACM.0b013e3181baf56d] [Medline: 19858805]
- Ruiz JG, Mintzer MJ, Leipzig RM. The impact of e-learning in medical education. Acad Med 2006 Mar;81(3):207-212. [Medline: <u>16501260</u>]
- 14. Ruggeri K, Farrington C, Brayne C. A global model for effective use and evaluation of e-learning in health. Telemed J E Health 2013 Apr;19(4):312-321 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2012.0175] [Medline: 23472702]
- 15. Taveira-Gomes T, Ferreira P, Taveira-Gomes I, Severo M, Ferreira MA. What are we looking for in computer-based learning interventions in medical education? A systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2016 Aug 01;18(8):e204 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5461] [Medline: 27480053]

Edited by P Bamidis; submitted 08.11.17; peer-reviewed by B Worm, S Ganesh; comments to author 18.12.17; revised version received 17.01.18; accepted 09.04.18; published 26.04.18.

<u>Please cite as:</u> de Leeuw RA, Walsh K, Westerman M, Scheele F Consensus on Quality Indicators of Postgraduate Medical E-Learning: Delphi Study JMIR Med Educ 2018;4(1):e13 URL: <u>http://mededu.jmir.org/2018/1/e13/</u> doi:10.2196/mededu.9365 PMID:29699970

©Robert Adrianus de Leeuw, Kieran Walsh, Michiel Westerman, Fedde Scheele. Originally published in JMIR Medical Education (http://mededu.jmir.org), 26.04.2018. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Medical Education, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://mededu.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

#### **Original Paper**

## Instructional Video and Medical Student Surgical Knot-Tying Proficiency: Randomized Controlled Trial

Katarzyna Bochenska<sup>1\*</sup>, MD; Magdy P Milad<sup>2\*</sup>, MD; John OL DeLancey<sup>3\*</sup>, MD; Christina Lewicky-Gaupp<sup>1\*</sup>, MD

<sup>1</sup>Division of Female Pelvic Medicine and Reconstructive Surgery, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Northwestern University Feinberg School of Medicine, Chicago, IL, United States

<sup>2</sup>Division of Minimally Invasive Gynecology, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Northwestern University Feinberg School of Medicine, Chicago, IL, United States

<sup>3</sup>Division of Female Pelvic Medicine and Reconstructive Surgery, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI, United States

<sup>\*</sup>all authors contributed equally

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Katarzyna Bochenska, MD Division of Female Pelvic Medicine and Reconstructive Surgery Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology Northwestern University Feinberg School of Medicine Prentice Women's Hospital 250 E Superior St Suite 05-2370 Chicago, IL, 60611 United States Phone: 1 312 472 3874 Email: kbochens@nm.org

#### Abstract

Background: Many senior medical students lack simple surgical and procedural skills such as knot tying.

**Objective:** The aim of this study was to determine whether viewing a Web-based expert knot-tying training video, in addition to the standard third-year medical student curriculum, will result in more proficient surgical knot tying.

**Methods:** At the start of their obstetrics and gynecology clerkship, 45 students were videotaped tying surgical knots for 2 minutes using a board model. Two blinded female pelvic medicine and reconstructive surgery physicians evaluated proficiency with a standard checklist (score range 0-16) and anchored scoring scale (range 0-20); higher numbers represent better skill. Students were then randomized to either (1) expert video (n=26) or (2) nonvideo (n=24) groups. The video group was provided unlimited access to an expert knot-tying instructional video. At the completion of the clerkship, students were again videotaped and evaluated.

**Results:** At initial evaluation, preclerkship cumulative scores (range 0-36) on the standard checklist and anchored scale were not significantly different between the nonvideo and video groups (mean 20.3, SD 7.1 vs mean 20.2, SD 9.2, P=.90, respectively). Postclerkship scores improved in both the nonvideo and video groups (mean 28.4, SD 5.4, P<.001 and mean 28.7, SD 6.5, P=.004, respectively). Increased knot board practice was significantly correlated with higher postclerkship scores on the knot-tying task, but only in the video group (r=.47, P<.05).

**Conclusions:** The addition of a Web-based expert instructional video to a standard curriculum, coupled with knot board practice, appears to have a positive impact on medical student knot-tying proficiency.

(JMIR Med Educ 2018;4(1):e9) doi:10.2196/mededu.9068

#### KEYWORDS

knot tying; video; proficiency; medical student



#### Introduction

Many senior medical students lack simple surgical and procedural skills such as knot tying [1]. Initiatives including first and second year medical school electives have been proposed to provide early instruction in surgical skills and operating room etiquette [2-4]. The transition from a primarily didactic to a clinically based curriculum between the second and third year of medical school can also be anxiety provoking. In a study performed by Stewart et al [5], medical students entering their clinical years had low levels of confidence and high anxiety related to performing common procedural skills such as knot tying. Following a 4-hour preclinical training course, the students reported increased confidence and proficiency and lowered levels of anxiety. Focused surgical skills electives have also been implemented to help prepare senior medical students for entering residency [6-8].

There is no standardized method of teaching medical students knot-tying skills and several curricula have been proposed [9-11]. Gershuni et al [12] suggested a proficiency-based suturing and knot-tying program early in the fourth year of medical school and Naylor et al [13] demonstrated the benefits of a simulator-based curriculum with third-year medical students. Computer-based video instruction (CBVI) has also been used to teach medical students suturing and knot tying [14-16]. Xeroulis et al [17] demonstrated that medical students taught suturing and knot tying with CBVI showed greater retention of skills at 1 month than controls and students taught by instructors with concurrent or summary feedback. The authors concluded that CBVI could be an efficient and useful adjunct for basic skills training. Similarly, Yeung et al [18] performed a prospective randomized controlled trial comparing the use of text versus video as an education tool for laparoscopic intracorporeal knot tying with medical students. The authors found that the video group achieved superior conceptual understanding of the task compared to the text group.

Additionally, if medical students cannot tie surgical knots, they are often marginalized in the operating room. DiMaggio et al [19] demonstrated the importance of simulation practice in a study evaluating medical students who participated in a 2-day surgical skills laboratory session before starting their surgery clerkship. Students who completed this session expressed that participation in the cadaver laboratory allowed them a greater opportunity to suture in the operating or emergency room during their clerkship.

Overall, in our practice, we have noted that third-year medical students participating in their obstetrics and gynecology clerkship have a dearth of knot-tying experience. Using a prospective, randomized controlled study design, we sought to determine whether having access to an expert knot-tying training video would result in more proficient surgical knot tying.

#### Methods

Between November 2015 and March 2016, 55 third-year medical students were approached at the start of their obstetrics and gynecology clerkships for inclusion in this Institutional Review

```
http://mededu.jmir.org/2018/1/e9/
```

Board-exempt study. As this was an educational intervention, the trial did not require prospective registration.

As part of the standard curriculum at Northwestern University's Feinberg School of Medicine in Chicago, IL, all medical students underwent a 1-hour knot-tying education session on the first day of their clerkship. This session involved both didactics and a hands-on knot-tying workshop led by an attending physician. Participating medical students were then randomized to either the standard curriculum ("no video" group) or to the "video" group. Students in the video group received unlimited access to a Web-based expert instructional video on surgical knot tying (courtesy of Dr John OL DeLancey). Students in both groups received access to a knot-tying board for home practice for the duration of their clerkship. At the conclusion of their clerkship, all students received access to the expert knot-tying video.

On the second day of their clerkship, students in both groups were videotaped tying as many square, two-handed knots as they could on a knot-tying board in 2 minutes. Students in both groups also provided demographic (sex, age, race) and prior experience information (number of prior surgical rotations, comfort level with knot tying with range 0-10 and higher numbers indicating more comfort), family members in medicine, and if they were anticipating entering a surgical career. At the conclusion of their 4-week clerkship, students were again videotaped completing the knot-tying task and a satisfaction survey was administered (range 0-10 on nine measures, higher values indicating higher satisfaction with how knot tying was taught during the rotation). Students also self-reported the number of times they had viewed the expert video and practiced knot tying outside of the clinical setting using their knot board.

Videos of students performing the knot-tying tasks were viewed by two blinded female pelvic medicine and reconstructive surgery physicians who evaluated medical student proficiency using a standard knot-tying checklist (score range 0-16) and an anchored scale (range 0-20). The standard knot-tying checklist responses were 1=yes and 2=no on eight knot-tying metrics, including the following: sutures start crossed, index finger lifts suture to form loop, fingers pinch together, push suture through and grasp/tighten, hook thumb under suture, form loop, fingers pinch together, and push suture through and grasp/tighten. The anchored scale was based on a modified objective structured assessment of technical skill scale, which assigned scores from 1 to 5 on four separate procedure domains: respect for tissue, time and motion, instrument handling, and flow of operation and forward planning [20]. Higher scores represented better skills on both metrics. At the completion of the 4-week rotation, all students were again videotaped and evaluated. Statistical analysis was carried out using SPSS version 20 (Chicago, IL, USA). Paired t tests, Student t tests, Fisher exact, and Pearson correlations were calculated.

#### Results

Of the initial 55 medical students approached for the study, 3 students declined to participate and 2 transferred from the clerkship. Of the remaining 50 students, 26 students were randomized to the video group and 24 to the nonvideo group.

XSL•FO RenderX

In total, 5 students were lost to follow up and did not complete either of the videotaped tasks. Ultimately, a total of 45 medical students completed both preclerkship and postclerkship knot-tying videotaped tasks and were included in the final analysis: 22 students in the video and 23 students in the nonvideo group (Figure 1).

Participants in the nonvideo and video groups did not differ in age (mean 25.4, SD 1.8 years vs mean 25.0, SD 2.4 years; P=.46) or gender (52%, 13/24 female vs 43%, 9/24 female; P=.46; Table 1). Students also did not differ in their number of

Figure 1. Study enrollment.

prior surgical rotations (P=.52) or median comfort level with knot tying at the start of the rotation (P=.55).

Thirteen of 45 students (29%) in the entire cohort reported having family members who were physicians and 10 students (22%) reported planning on entering surgical fields; this did not differ between groups (P=.53 and P=.72, respectively). Additionally, preclerkship standard checklist and anchored scale scores on the knot-tying task were not significantly different (P=.90) between the two groups.



Table 1.	Demographics and	l student-reported	measures	(N=45).
----------	------------------	--------------------	----------	---------

Variables	Nonvideo group (n=24)	Video group (n=21)	P value
Age (years), mean (SD)	25.4 (1.8)	25.0 (2.4)	.46
Sex (female), n (%)	13 (54)	9 (43)	.46
Prior surgical rotations, median (range)	1 (0-4)	1 (0-4)	.52
Comfort level (IQ), median (range)	3 (2-5)	4 (1-5)	.55
Have family members who are physicians, n (%)	8 (33)	5 (24)	.53
Plan to enter surgical field, n (%)	6 (25)	4 (19)	.72



Table 2. Knot-tying metrics (N=45).

Prerotation, mean (SD)	Postrotation, mean (SD)	P value
9.7 (3.8)	12.5 (3.1)	.001
10.5 (3.7)	15.9 (2.9)	<.001
20.3 (7.1)	28.4 (5.4)	<.001
9.0 (4.9)	12.9 (0.7)	.002
11.5 (4.8)	15.8 (3.7)	.002
20.2 (9.2)	28.7 (6.5)	.001
	Prerotation, mean (SD) 9.7 (3.8) 10.5 (3.7) 20.3 (7.1) 9.0 (4.9) 11.5 (4.8) 20.2 (9.2)	Prerotation, mean (SD)         Postrotation, mean (SD)           9.7 (3.8)         12.5 (3.1)           10.5 (3.7)         15.9 (2.9)           20.3 (7.1)         28.4 (5.4)           9.0 (4.9)         12.9 (0.7)           11.5 (4.8)         15.8 (3.7)           20.2 (9.2)         28.7 (6.5)

The median number of self-reported board practice times did not vary significantly between groups (P=.66); it was median 5 (range 0-20) in the nonvideo group and median 3 (range 0-20) in the video group. Student performance on the knot-tying tasks as evaluated by the standard checklist and anchored scale improved significantly through the course of the rotation in both groups (Table 2).

For the entire cohort, increased knot board practice was not correlated with higher postclerkship scores on the knot-tying task (r=.19, P=.23). When stratified by access to the knot-tying video, increased knot board practice was significantly correlated with higher postclerkship scores on the knot-tying task, but only in the video group (r=.47, P<.05) compared to the nonvideo group (r=.11, P=.62). Interrater scoring reliability was high (intraclass correlation coefficient 0.98, 95% CI 0.95-0.97). Both the nonvideo and video groups reported high rates of satisfaction with their knot-tying educational experiences (mean 39.0, SD 4.5 vs mean 40.7, SD 3.4, P=.17).

#### Discussion

In this prospective, randomized controlled study, addition of an expert instructional video to a standard curriculum, coupled with knot board practice, appears to have a positive impact on medical student knot-tying proficiency. These findings suggest that self-directed learning is more effective when augmented with an instructional video. The basic tenants of self-directed medical student learning include diagnosing needs, formulating goals, identifying resources, implementing appropriate activities, and evaluating outcomes [21]. In this study, appropriate activities in learning knot tying included knot board practice outside of the clinical setting, which was augmented with instructional video viewing for half of the study participants.

Self-directed learning is a critical component of modern medical student education. Technical skills, such as knot tying, are increasingly being taught in a simulated environment but additional practice, usually at home, is necessary to achieve task competency. Green et al [8] recently published data suggesting the benefit of home video exercises in teaching technical skills. Additionally, as the costs of operating room time have increased, simulation is becoming an increasingly important adjunct to medical student education [22]. Learning basic skills in a simulation center or practice at home with availability of an educational video, can serve to foster a strong surgical skills' foundation in medical students. All medical students enrolled in this study were given access to knot-tying boards, which they could use at home. Availability of these resources likely facilitated knot-tying practice outside of the clinical setting.

Our study has several strengths and limitations. We performed a randomized controlled trial to evaluate the role of an expert educational video in medical student knot-tying proficiency. Our study population included medical students who had completed variable amounts of surgical clerkships. Additionally, knot-tying proficiency was evaluated by blinded trained gynecologists in a structured fashion with excellent interrater reliability. Limitations of our study include a relatively small sample size and its focus on a single institution. Because students were asked to record how many times they both viewed the expert video and practiced using the knot board at the conclusion of the rotation, recall bias may be a factor in students' responses. Future studies may benefit from implementing a logging methodology in which medical students can report their knot board and video use in an ongoing fashion. Additionally, although medical students were advised to not view the video if they were randomized to the nonvideo group, inadvertent crossover may have occurred between the groups.

Based on our analysis, Web-based video instruction appears to be a valuable adjunct to a standard knot-tying medical student curriculum. Additional prospective studies are necessary with focus on addressing the role of knot-tying practice outside of the clinical setting and the availability of practice materials, such as knot-tying boards and instructional videos.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.


## **Multimedia Appendix 1**

CONSORT - EHEALTH checklist (V 1.6.1).

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 108KB - mededu\_v4i1e9\_app1.pdf]

## References

- 1. Davis CR, Toll EC, Bates AS, Cole MD, Smith FCT. Surgical and procedural skills training at medical school a national review. Int J Surg 2014;12(8):877-882 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijsu.2014.05.069] [Medline: 24909137]
- Sammann A, Tendick F, Ward D, Zaid H, O'Sullivan P, Ascher N. A surgical skills elective to expose preclinical medical students to surgery. J Surg Res 2007 Oct;142(2):287-294. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jss.2007.03.034</u>] [Medline: <u>17640670</u>]
- Riboh J, Curet M, Krummel T. Innovative introduction to surgery in the preclinical years. Am J Surg 2007 Aug;194(2):227-230. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.amjsurg.2006.12.038</u>] [Medline: <u>17618810</u>]
- 4. Agarwal A, Wong S, Sarfaty S, Devaiah A, Hirsch AE. Elective courses for medical students during the preclinical curriculum: a systematic review and evaluation. Med Educ Online 2015;20:26615 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 25968131]
- Stewart RA, Hauge LS, Stewart RD, Rosen RL, Charnot-Katsikas A, Prinz RA, Association for Surgical Education. A CRASH course in procedural skills improves medical students' self-assessment of proficiency, confidence, and anxiety. Am J Surg 2007 Jun;193(6):771-773. [doi: 10.1016/j.amjsurg.2007.01.019] [Medline: 17512294]
- 6. Peyre SE, Peyre CG, Sullivan ME, Towfigh S. A surgical skills elective can improve student confidence prior to internship. J Surg Res 2006 Jun 01;133(1):11-15. [doi: 10.1016/j.jss.2006.02.022] [Medline: 16580692]
- Brunt LM, Halpin VJ, Klingensmith ME, Tiemann D, Matthews BD, Spitler JA, et al. Accelerated skills preparation and assessment for senior medical students entering surgical internship. J Am Coll Surg 2008 May;206(5):897-904; discussion 904. [doi: 10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2007.12.018] [Medline: 18471719]
- Green CA, Vaughn CJ, Wyles SM, O'Sullivan PS, Kim EH, Chern H. Evaluation of a surgery-based adjunct course for senior medical students entering surgical residencies. J Surg Educ 2016;73(4):631-638. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jsurg.2016.03.011</u>] [Medline: <u>27168383</u>]
- 9. Antiel RM, Thompson SM, Camp CL, Thompson GB, Farley DR. Attracting students to surgical careers: preclinical surgical experience. J Surg Educ 2012;69(3):301-305. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jsurg.2011.10.001</u>] [Medline: <u>22483128</u>]
- Morris M, Caskey R, Mitchell M, Sawaya D. Surgical skills training restructured for the 21st century. J Surg Res 2012 Sep;177(1):33-36. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jss.2012.03.060</u>] [Medline: <u>22534253</u>]
- Meyers MO, Meyer AA, Stewart RD, Dreesen EB, Barrick J, Lange PA, et al. Teaching technical skills to medical students during a surgery clerkship: results of a small group curriculum. J Surg Res 2011 Apr;166(2):171-175. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jss.2010.05.019</u>] [Medline: <u>20828751</u>]
- Gershuni V, Woodhouse J, Brunt LM. Retention of suturing and knot-tying skills in senior medical students after proficiency-based training: Results of a prospective, randomized trial. Surgery 2013 Oct;154(4):823-829; discussion 829 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.surg.2013.07.016] [Medline: 24074421]
- Naylor RA, Hollett LA, Valentine RJ, Mitchell IC, Bowling MW, Ma AM, et al. Can medical students achieve skills proficiency through simulation training? Am J Surg 2009 Aug;198(2):277-282. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.amjsurg.2008.11.036</u>] [Medline: <u>19362285</u>]
- Nousiainen M, Brydges R, Backstein D, Dubrowski A. Comparison of expert instruction and computer-based video training in teaching fundamental surgical skills to medical students. Surgery 2008 Apr;143(4):539-544. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.surg.2007.10.022</u>] [Medline: <u>18374052</u>]
- 15. Summers AN, Rinehart GC, Simpson D, Redlich PN. Acquisition of surgical skills: a randomized trial of didactic, videotape, and computer-based training. Surgery 1999 Aug;126(2):330-336. [Medline: <u>10455902</u>]
- Jowett N, LeBlanc V, Xeroulis G, MacRae H, Dubrowski A. Surgical skill acquisition with self-directed practice using computer-based video training. Am J Surg 2007 Feb;193(2):237-242. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.amjsurg.2006.11.003</u>] [Medline: <u>17236854</u>]
- Xeroulis GJ, Park J, Moulton C, Reznick RK, Leblanc V, Dubrowski A. Teaching suturing and knot-tying skills to medical students: a randomized controlled study comparing computer-based video instruction and (concurrent and summary) expert feedback. Surgery 2007 Apr;141(4):442-449. [doi: 10.1016/j.surg.2006.09.012] [Medline: 17383520]
- 18. Yeung P, Justice T, Pasic RP. Comparison of text versus video for teaching laparoscopic knot tying in the novice surgeon: a randomized, controlled trial. J Minim Invasive Gynecol 2009;16(4):411-415. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jmig.2009.02.011</u>] [Medline: <u>19364680</u>]
- 19. DiMaggio PJ, Waer AL, Desmarais TJ, Sozanski J, Timmerman H, Lopez JA, et al. The use of a lightly preserved cadaver and full thickness pig skin to teach technical skills on the surgery clerkship--a response to the economic pressures facing academic medicine today. Am J Surg 2010 Jul;200(1):162-166. [doi: 10.1016/j.amjsurg.2009.07.039] [Medline: 20637348]
- 20. Martin JA, Regehr G, Reznick R, MacRae H, Murnaghan J, Hutchison C, et al. Objective structured assessment of technical skill (OSATS) for surgical residents. Br J Surg 1997 Feb;84(2):273-278. [Medline: 9052454]
- 21. Spencer JA, Jordan RK. Learner centred approaches in medical education. BMJ 1999 May 08;318(7193):1280-1283 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 10231266]

RenderX

## JMIR MEDICAL EDUCATION

22. Bridges M, Diamond DL. The financial impact of teaching surgical residents in the operating room. Am J Surg 1999 Jan;177(1):28-32. [Medline: 10037304]

## Abbreviations

CBVI: computer-based video instruction

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 27.09.17; peer-reviewed by M Bradley, J Lanzer; comments to author 19.10.17; revised version received 11.01.18; accepted 17.01.18; published 12.04.18.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Bochenska K, Milad MP, DeLancey JOL, Lewicky-Gaupp C Instructional Video and Medical Student Surgical Knot-Tying Proficiency: Randomized Controlled Trial JMIR Med Educ 2018;4(1):e9 URL: <u>http://mededu.jmir.org/2018/1/e9/</u> doi:<u>10.2196/mededu.9068</u> PMID:29650503

©Katarzyna Bochenska, Magdy P Milad, John OL DeLancey, Christina Lewicky-Gaupp. Originally published in JMIR Medical Education (http://mededu.jmir.org), 12.04.2018. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Medical Education, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://mededu.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Publisher: JMIR Publications 130 Queens Quay East. Toronto, ON, M5A 3Y5 Phone: (+1) 416-583-2040 Email: <u>support@jmir.org</u>

https://www.jmirpublications.com/

